Safety, Comfort, Efficiency

Inspiring Progress™



@ Ingersoll Rand

We are the world leader in creating and sustaining safe,
comfortable and efficient environments.

Our Vision

We are dedicated to driving progress for our shareholders,
employees and communities by achieving:

Dramatic Growth,
by focusing on innovative solutions for
our customers

Operational Excellence,
by pursuing continuous improvement in
all of our operations

Dual Citizenship,

by bringing together the talents of all
Ingersoll Rand people to leverage the
capabilities of our global enterprise



Chairman's Message

With the June 2008 acquisition of Trane, our company began
a new chapter in its long and proud history. Today, Ingersoll Rand
is the world leader in creating and sustaining safe, comfortable

and efficient environments.

In these areas we bring uniquely qualified expertise
to bear on critical needs of customers and people
around the world. We deliver solutions that promote
high-performance buildings, grocery stores, homes,
schools, health care and recreational facilities,
commercial and industrial operations, and numerous
other environments essential to commerce and
society. We do so with a company that projects a
profoundly larger global scale, and leading brands in
commercial and residential building, climate control,
industrial and security markets.

Our transformed business portfolio positions
Ingersoll Rand to remain at the center of daily life,
even during the extraordinarily challenging economic
conditions we currently face. Our refrigeration
solutions enable the continuing availability of fresh,
safe and nutritious foods, and are helping to extend
the shelf life of harvests. Our air conditioning and
heating systems create comfortable, productive
and energy-efficient environments for residential,
commercial and institutional buildings. Our industrial
products enable process, manufacturing and assembly
operations to efficiently convert raw materials and
components into finished goods. Our security
solutions protect people and property at home, at
work and in public venues throughout the world.

We are more directly connected to people’s lives
than ever. At the same time, we have rarely been
tested by as many challenges at once as we are today.
Beginning in the latter half of 2008, most of the
markets in which we participate severely contracted
and have yet to show signs of a meaningful recovery.
Our 2008 financial performance reflected the dramatic
economic downturn, and we responded with difficult
but necessary actions to restructure our operations
in line with foreseeable demand. The restructuring
actions we implemented will result in a net savings
of $100 million in 2009 and significantly benefit our
long-term business performance.

More immediately, we are focused on cash
generation as we seek to strengthen our balance sheet
and manage our debt, which increased considerably

*Cash flow from operating activities of both continuing and discontinued operations, less capital expenditures of $306 million, and excluding tax

payments of $594 million on prior period divestiture gains.

due to the acquisition of Trane. Despite the economic
downturn, we generated $619 million of available
cash flow* in 2008 and reduced our outstanding debt
by approximately $900 million since the acquisition
of Trane. In addition, through an intense focus on
acquisition synergies, productivity and working capital
reduction, we remain on track to achieve our debt-
related targets and commitments. In fact, we
exceeded our 2008 synergies target of $75 million
by 40 percent, and expect to achieve $395 million in
total synergies savings by the end of 2010.

A Powerful Combination

Much of our success in driving synergies, cost
reductions and productivity improvement stems
from the more natural linkages that now exist across
our businesses and their alignment with our core
platforms of safety, comfort and efficiency. As a result,
our businesses continue to find much in common
with each other, whether related to manufacturing,
technologies, markets, channels or support
functions. These shared interests translate into more
effective and efficient operations, enhanced business
opportunities, and improved customer experiences.
Even better, we know that many more opportunities
will emerge as we continue to discover new
capabilities from our combined business offering.

We have already seen how this new portfolio
can deliver customer-pleasing solutions and expanded
business opportunities. Just two weeks after the
Trane acquisition, our Hussmann business began
servicing walk-in coolers and providing other services
to a Trane Commercial Systems customer in the airline
industry. At the request of the developer working on
a new arena in Orlando, Florida, Trane Commercial
Systems and Ingersoll Rand’s Security Technologies
business delivered a coordinated solution for HVAC,
controls, security and fire protection. In China,
a long-standing customer relationship with our
Industrial Technologies business opened the door for
Trane Commercial Systems to win an HVAC project
for a steel manufacturing plant.

Revenue by Segment*

@ Air Conditioning Systems & Services
46% $7.5B

® Climate Control Technologies
21% $3.4B

@ Industrial Technologies
18% $2.98B

@ Security Technologies
15% $2.5B

Revenue by Type*

@ Replacement
45%

@ New Equipment
30%

@ Recurring
25%

*2008 Pro Forma
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Revenue by End Market*

A - Parts and Service
25%

B — Commercial Construction N.A.

23%

C - Residential Construction N.A.
12%

D - International Construction
11%

E - Industrial / Process
9%

F — Supermarket Refrigeration
8%

G - Truck and Trailer
6%

H - Bus, Container and Other
3%

I - Golf and Utility Vehicles
3%

*2008 Pro Forma
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Similarly, we are serving our customers more
effectively through integrated manufacturing and
technology. For example, Trane’s Compressor Center
of Excellence helped Thermo King quickly move
forward with a compressor remanufacturing project
that provides customers with a less-expensive
alternative during these challenging economic times.
In China, Trane Commercial Systems and Industrial
Technologies employees presented a combined
energy-savings seminar to more than 150 customers
and government officials, offering our unique
expertise to provide ideas and solutions to reduce
energy consumption.

The Trane acquisition also has generated
considerable efficiencies and benefits for our company
and our customers. Our larger global scale enhances
our purchasing power across all categories of direct
and indirect materials and logistics, and ensures
we remain cost-competitive across our markets.

In addition, we have a number of opportunities to
achieve synergies and cost savings in the areas of
services, parts and distribution.

Our Business Operating System continues to drive
operational excellence, and the infusion of Trane’s
organizational best practices across our six Enterprise
Focus Areas (EFAs) is accelerating the company’s
continuous-improvement efforts. The EFAs, described
in more detail on page 3, develop standard, enterprise-
wide processes related to business planning and
execution, customer-focused solutions, manufacturing
and services excellence, leadership and employee
engagement. These processes, in turn, are formalized
as institutional practices through tools and modules
that comprise the company’s Business Operating
System. In this way, all of our businesses around the
world use the same processes to drive business
planning, innovation, productivity, talent development,
customer satisfaction, and other areas critical to our
market leadership in safety, comfort and efficiency.

At the Forefront
of Sustainable Growth

Trane substantially enhances our ability to develop
and deliver environmentally beneficial solutions,
particularly relating to energy efficiency. Through Trane
we offer industry-leading energy efficient heating,
ventilation and air conditioning systems and solutions
for both new and existing buildings. We also have
the industry’s largest network of engineers trained

in developing green buildings. In fact, more than
500 of our engineers have achieved the U.S.

Green Building Council’s Leadership in Energy and
Environmental Design (LEED) certification. Trane also
is a recognized leader in energy services and
performance contracting with capabilities that span
from the initial modeling of energy savings through
delivery of turnkey energy solutions and service

for the life cycle of the facility.

Across all of our businesses we help our customers
achieve their sustainability goals while enabling
improved productivity, efficiency and safety and
security. Through our Industrial Technologies Sector
we offer energy-efficient tools, air compressors and
zero-emission Club Car vehicles to help customers
in industries as diverse as manufacturing plants and
hotel properties achieve their environmental goals.
Through our Security Technologies Sector we offer
building security solutions that include doors, locks,
hardware, and electronic and biometric access control
systems, including products that incorporate recycled
materials. Through our Climate Control Technologies
Sector we offer innovative refrigeration systems
that feature industry-leading energy efficiency for
preserving foods and perishables during transportation
and in grocery stores and ensuring the safety of
our food supply.

We continue to manage our own operations with
a heightened understanding of our obligations to the
environment, the health and safety of our employees
and our customers’ employees, and the welfare of
our communities. This includes a focus on reducing
our energy and water consumption, our greenhouse
gas emissions, and the use of materials harmful to
the environment. Also, through monetary donations
by our company and employees, and through
employee volunteers, we are helping to make the
communities in which we live and work better.
Beginning on page 4 of this report we provide an
overview of our commitment to sustainable business
practices and the way we support our customers’
sustainability efforts. A more detailed sustainability
report can be found on our company’s website:
www.ingersollrand.com.

| know that the approximately 60,000
Ingersoll Rand employees around the world share my
pride in building a company that plays a vital role in
economic and societal development and the well-
being of people across the globe. Together we are
providing solutions that improve the health, safety,
security and comfort of the world’s citizens, and doing
so with increasingly energy-efficient technologies and
an enterprise commitment to sustainable business
practices. By positioning ourselves at the intersection
of critical global needs, and by continuously developing
industry-leading innovations to address these needs,
Ingersoll Rand stands prepared to capitalize on
long-term market trends for the benefit of customers,
employees, shareholders and communities around
the world.

/z.é,fm/ /%4“;_/

Herbert L. Henkel
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
April 2009



Ingersoll Rand Business Operating System (BOS)

Ingersoll Rand’s six Enterprise Focus Areas (EFAs) address the strategic activities identified as critical for driving the
company’s long-term success. They include processes related to business planning and execution, customer-focused

solutions, manufacturing and supply-chain excellence, leadership and employee engagement. In turn, the EFAs create

and institutionalize the tools and modules that comprise the company’s Business Operating System.

Strategic Management

Strategy

Development

We develop long-term

plans based on environmental
scanning, SWOT analysis,
competitive and market data,
and Blue Sky thinking.

Goal
Setting

We establish performance
commitments every year
against annual operating plans
and hold ourselves accountable
for results.

Global Leadership

Employee

Engagement

We continuously monitor our
employees’ relationship with
Ingersoll Rand and develop
programs to engage them in
the success of our company.

Customer Value

Voice of

Customer

We understand the drivers of
customer satisfaction across their
many experiences and interactions
with us and proactively respond
to their feedback.

Innovation

Idea
Generation

We know which markets represent
the best opportunities and how to
identify unmet needs of customers.
We then use this knowledge to
create exciting solution concepts
and generate customer enthusiasm.

Leadership Selection
and Assimilation

We hire, rapidly assimilate, and
promote leaders, ensuring they
understand and adhere to our
values, Code of Conduct and
Code of Leadership.

Channel
Development

We strive to provide

superior customer experiences
by continually evaluating

and developing our

channel partners.

Idea
Assessment

We manage our portfolio of
projects over multiple years and
focus our resources on solution
concepts that represent the best
opportunities for success and
that will deliver unparalleled
customer satisfaction.

World Class Operations

Manufacturing
Excellence

We seek continuous improvement
in variable and fixed cost
productivity while meeting
customer requirements for quality,
on-time delivery, product reliability
and safety.

Supply Chain

Excellence

We leverage our global scale,
manage our supply base and
optimize logistics across all areas
of our direct and indirect spend
to drive value in quality, delivery,
cost, service and innovation.

Life Cycle Management

Service
Relationships

We drive recurring revenue growth
via a service culture focused on
delivering innovative solutions that
extend our customer relationship
over the entire equipment

life cycle.

Services

Productivity

We generate services-

related productivity improvement
by leveraging back-office
administration and enhancing
technician efficiency.

Evaluating

Results

We regularly track our

progress and connect our merit
programs and career progression
to individual, business and
corporate performance.

Talent

Stewardship

Our leaders are accountable for
the development, mentoring and
retention of our talent and
ensuring the current readiness of
our leadership bench.

Customer-centric

Culture

“It’s all about the Customer.”

We place the customer’s interests
at the forefront of all our business
decisions and actions.

Idea

Implementation

We develop customer solutions in
an efficient and effective manner
to deliver them with superior
quality while meeting project
schedules, cost targets and
budgets.

Asset

Velocity

We generate strong free cash
flow by aggressively managing
our working capital, including
capital expenditures, inventory,
receivables and payables.

Warranty

Management

We seek to continuously reduce
warranty costs through a culture
focused on reliability and quality,
supported by robust warranty
processes and data.

>

>

BOS Processes
& Tools

v

Long Range Plan
Annual Operating Plan
Operations Review
Earnings Review
Monthly Business Review
Goal Deployment

Leader Manager Index

Talent Management Process
Employee Engagement Process
Code of Leadership

Organization and
Leadership Review

Performance Management Process

Customer/Channel Survey Process
Channel Development Module
Channel Assessment Tool

Channel Categorization Tool

Employee Rewards &
Recognition Module

New Market Entry Process Module

Strategic Importance Analysis
Outcome-Driven Innovation®

Opportunity Scorecard /
Portfolio Assessment

Core Phase-Gate
Design for Six Sigma

Lean Six Sigma

Productivity Pipeline

Process Capability

Quality and Supplier Development
Environment, Health and Safety

Enterprise Warranty Systems
and Processes

Solution Selling / Service
Culture Training

Service Solution Repository
Service Execution Best Practices
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Through our employees’
volunteer efforts, we are

helping to improve the
communities in which we
live and work.

4 Ingersoll Rand

We recognize our responsibility to operate our businesses in

a manner that achieves environmentally beneficial results, reduces
waste and ensures the health and safety of our employees and
communities. The same responsibility extends to the help we provide
our customers in advancing their sustainability initiatives.

We have made significant strides in achieving
progress against our long-term sustainability goals.
In 2008 we established a Sustainability Strategy
Council, which has responsibility for defining and
leading our sustainability efforts, and we continue to
provide leadership in the areas of green buildings,
energy efficiency and refrigeration technologies.
We participate in forums dedicated to advancing
sustainable business practices, including the Business
Roundtable’s S.E.E. Change and Climate Resolve
initiatives, the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency’s
GreenChill Advanced Refrigeration Partnership,
SmartWay and Climate Leaders initiatives, and the
Clinton Climate Initiative. And we have established
enterprise-wide environmental, energy, and safety
goals that keep us focused on continuous
improvement.

Based on our performance, in 2008 we were
pleased to be listed for the first time on the Dow
Jones Sustainability Index for North America, as well
as several KLD Research & Analytics, Inc., socially
responsible investment indices. The following provides
a summary of our activities to generate sustainable
progress for Ingersoll Rand and for our customers,
employees and communities.

Improving Our Operations

We are committed to reducing the impact of our
operations and to using resources wisely. To meet
that commitment, all of our facilities worldwide

operate according to a common framework for the
responsible management of environmental, health
and safety (EHS) issues.

Our EHS Policy requires that we establish
performance targets and work toward achieving them,
develop EHS standards to promote regulatory
compliance and performance improvements, conduct
periodic audits against those standards, and share
best practices worldwide across the company.

To help drive continued improvement in our EHS
performance, we recently adopted five-year goals.
Specifically, by 2013 we plan to reduce our recordable
and lost-time accident rates by 67 percent and rates
of energy use, greenhouse gas emissions, and
non-hazardous waste generation by 15 percent.

In addition, we plan to implement programs at all
Ingersoll Rand sites to recycle or reuse aluminum cans,
cardboard, glass, oils, paper, plastics, scrap metal
and wood.

Reducing our Energy
and Environmental Footprint

Across our operations we are driving programs to reduce
our energy use, waste and environmental footprint.
In many cases these initiatives are spearheaded by
Green Teams that have been established at a number
of our facilities. Ingersoll Rand’s corporate EHS group
has launched a Green Ambassador project with the
goal of creating a global network of representatives
from all of our Green Teams. Green initiatives have



been instrumental in identifying opportunities and
driving improvements that include:

» recycling toner cartridges, metal, paper, cardboard,
aluminum, and plastic;

» removing disposable Styrofoam™ cups from
the workplace and providing all employees with
reusable coffee mugs;

» promoting less expensive and more
environmentally friendly commuting alternatives
like carpooling, public transportation and biking;

> implementing telecommuting;
» using green cleaning products; and

» selecting waste handling contractors that recycle
universal wastes (e.g., fluorescent light bulbs)
instead of disposing them.

Our pursuit of green initiatives often encompasses
a facility’s design. For example, our new facility in
Taicang, China, was designed to achieve superior
energy efficiency and environmental performance
and is among the first manufacturing sites in China
to achieve the U.S. Green Building Council’s
Leadership in Energy and Environmental Design
(LEED) certification.

Energy conservation has become an increasingly
important sustainability issue, from the impact of
energy use on greenhouse gas emissions to the high
costs of energy in today’s markets. As a result, energy
efficiency is a top priority for our own facility
operations as well as in our product development
strategy. The energy-saving actions implemented
around our global operations include installing timers
on power switches for building ventilation systems,
promoting equipment maintenance procedures that
improve efficiency, requiring staff to switch off
all electrical equipment not in use, and delivering
additional employee training and information on
energy-saving procedures. Many of these ideas emerge
from Energy Treasure Hunts, in which employees seek
hidden opportunities for energy savings.

In addition, we are carefully managing the
refrigerants we use in our products, such as
hydrofluorocarbons. Within our own operations, we
routinely monitor for leaks and we quickly repair any
breaches. We also provide leak detection and repair
services to our customers.

Other environmentally beneficial efforts deliver
contributions beyond our immediate sustainability
goals. At our Club Car business, a battery-recycling
program enabled channel partners to safely and
lawfully dispose all spent batteries, regardless of their
make or source of design. The program meets all
environmental laws, creates a new revenue stream for
Club Car and gives our channel partners incentive to
participate. At our Hussmann facility in Powder
Springs, Georgia, recycling became an opportunity
to help the community and benefit those less

fortunate. Facility staff researched local recyclers

to find the best partner for a recycling program that
would generate revenue, which in turn is donated
to a local charitable organization to provide help
for needy individuals.

Remaining Focused on
Employee Safety and Health

Ingersoll Rand is committed to business practices
that uphold the highest safety and health standards
and to promoting a culture where safety and health
are integrated into all business processes. We use
Six Sigma analytical tools to understand the root
causes of safety incidents, develop targeted
solutions, track results against the appropriate
metrics and continuously evaluate our progress.
Our current area of focus is to ensure this world-
class safety culture is shared consistently across all
Ingersoll Rand facilities globally.

At our Trane facilities in particular, a robust
safety management system developed over the past
eight years has driven remarkable improvements
in safety and established HVAC-industry-leading
performance. We have safety standards in place
that include training, employee awareness and
responsibility, and leadership commitment. Facilities
are audited to ensure compliance with applicable
regulations and with safety management standards.
Ergonomics-related injuries and illness as well as
other safety incidents have declined significantly at
Trane because of this rigorous approach. The internal
focus on safety also has established a discernable
business advantage as Trane’s leadership in service
technician safety reflects professionalism and sound
operating practices when on-site at a customer’s
facility. As a result of these clear business benefits,
Ingersoll Rand has since adopted Trane’s safety
management system.

On January 1, 2008, Ingersoll Rand adopted
two policies to help improve our health and safety
performance. First, where it is consistent with local
laws and standards of care, each Ingersoll Rand
facility with more than 200 employees must have
automated external defibrillators (AEDs) in place.

Through donations and
employee volunteers we
support philanthropic
organizations and causes
throughout the world,
including Ugandan schoo
(left) and Habitat for

Is

Humanity projects (right).

We have integrated a
safety philosophy into all
of our business processes,

and are committed to a
culture where safety is
paramount across all of
our operations.

2008 Annual Report

5



“All of us have a role to play
in making our company, our
communities, and our planet
as safe and environmentally
sound as they can be.”

— Herbert L. Henkel
Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer

The revolutionary

Schlage LiNK system allows
homeowners to control
and monitor access to their
homes from a computer
or web-enabled

mobile phone.
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In addition, the company implemented a policy to
strictly prohibit tobacco use of any kind within
company buildings and vehicles.

Supplier Management

We are asking our suppliers to participate in
programs that lead to improved sustainability
practices, including formal assessments that address
important areas relating to safety and regulatory
compliance. In particular, we work with suppliers
to reduce disposable packaging, optimize cube
allocation and reduce fuel consumption during
shipping. Continuous improvement events with
suppliers focus on reducing waste in the supply
chain. And we stress operating legally and ethically
as a fundamental requirement of our business
relationship with suppliers, including compliance
with the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (FCPA) and
similar anti-corruption laws.

In addition, Ingersoll Rand Logistics is leading
two initiatives to improve energy performance: the
Oracle Transportation Management Program and
SmartWay. The Oracle Transportation Management
system consolidates multiple less-than-truckload
(LTL) shipments and creates one truckload (TL)
move. Among the benefits of this system are
optimizing routing of freight between parcel,

LTL and TL modes; reduced need for duplicate
or emergency shipments; alignment of shipping
resources to ensure prompt loading and unloading
of freight, which lowers idling and waiting time for
carriers; and better tracking of in-transit materials
by the customer and Ingersoll Rand. This
optimization/consolidation effort will result in
lower costs, better service to the customer, and
fewer carriers on the road, which will reduce
fuel consumption and associated emissions.
Ingersoll Rand recently joined the U.S.
Environmental Protection Agency’s SmartWay
program. The SmartWay program represents a
voluntary commitment between Ingersoll Rand
and its inbound and outbound logistics carriers to
improve air quality and reduce fuel consumption.
Throughout 2009, we will phase in new
requirements of our carriers, including a “no-idle”
policy at all North American Ingersoll Rand plants
if the truck will be stationary for more than 30
minutes and/or is equipped with an auxiliary power
unit, such as our TriPac product from Thermo King.
Additionally, carriers must demonstrate improved
efficiency during transit through innovations such
as Ingersoll Rand’s nitrogen tire filling system, which
offer better fuel economy, longer tire life and safer
operating conditions.

Delivering Sustainability

to Our Customers

Our definition of sustainability includes efforts to
improve the quality of life, economic growth, and
the well-being of societies while operating in an
environmentally responsible manner. Our portfolio of
products, systems and solutions makes Ingersoll Rand
uniquely qualified to help our customers meet
important sustainability challenges they face every
day, such as energy efficiency, food preservation, and
security. By providing critical products, services

and systems that create and sustain safe, comfortable,
and efficient environments, we ensure that our
customers remain at the forefront of solutions for

a cleaner, healthier and safer world.

Contributing to
the Spectrum of Safety

At Ingersoll Rand, safety has multiple connotations
relating to the foods we consume and perishables
we use, the security of people and possessions, and
the tools and equipment that help perform jobs
safely and more easily. Our refrigeration systems
improve the safety of the global food supply,
pharmaceuticals, and critical perishables we rely on
in our everyday lives. That expertise is becoming
increasingly important across the world as

substantial quantities of the food harvested and
produced today are lost or wasted as the result of
improper refrigeration.

Our ability to provide systems to ensure a
temperature-controlled supply chain—or “cold
chain”— enables delivering foods from farms to
consumers in a manner that ensures food safety and
freshness. The cold chain consists of an integrated
system for preserving perishable foods during
all phases of harvest, storage, transport and
merchandising. As a result, cold chains improve the
quality of life, drive economic growth, ensure the
integrity of perishables, reduce waste and help meet
increasing demand for food, especially in emerging
markets, such as China and India, where food
demand is rapidly growing.

The United States Centers for Disease Control
and Prevention estimates that 76 million cases of
food-borne illness occur nationwide each year. A
new Ingersoll Rand technology — the Environment
Management System (EMS) — combats food-borne
illnesses linked to E. coli, Salmonella, molds, viruses
and other health- or life-threatening microorganisms
within our food supply. EMS includes a patented
surface and air sanitation technology that uses



oxygen ions to cleanse the ambient environment
across a range of applications—including packaging
rooms, distribution centers, cold storage facilities,
and transport refrigeration units —killing bacteria,
viruses and molds that reduce the quality, safety and
shelf life of perishable products.

Throughout the world, Ingersoll Rand’s security
solutions are enhancing the safety of people in
their homes and in commercial, institutional and
government buildings. Our expertise extends to
securing critical venues, such as hospitals, sports
stadiums and arenas, nuclear facilities, and airports.
We are especially proud to be a leader in providing
safe, secure and productive learning environments
for students, school staff and visitors. To achieve
this, we provide tools to help schools address
security issues within the campus and beyond —
recognizing that security planning is an ongoing
process that requires a solution that uniquely
fits each situation. Our safe schools website
(www.safeschools.ingersollrand.com) provides
information to school officials on resources for
understanding and preventing school violence and
frequently asked questions. The company also
shares its expertise in helping schools to locate,
assess and apply for federal, state, private
foundation and corporate grants to pay for school
security programs.

Energy-efficient Solutions

Throughout our history we have delivered
increasingly efficient products across the range of
our businesses to enhance customers” productivity
and decrease their operating costs. In recent years,
the demand for more energy-efficient solutions has
dramatically increased due to the confluence of
environmental concerns and financial interests.
With the acquisition of Trane we have expanded
our role as an influential supplier of energy-efficient
innovations across our global markets. In particular,
buildings are a significant source of greenhouse gas

emissions globally, exceeding the emissions that result
from transportation and manufacturing. Trane’s
market-leading solutions help customers reduce the
energy use and greenhouse gas emissions associated
with heating, ventilating and air conditioning
systems in homes and buildings around the world.
In addition, energy and indoor air — factors
influenced by heating, ventilation and air conditioning
systems and services — represent nearly two-thirds
of the points needed to earn U.S. Green Building
Council’s Leadership in Energy and Environmental
Design (LEED) certification for commercial buildings.
With more than 500 LEED-certified engineers, Trane
leads the industry with expertise and tools to help
our customers achieve their sustainability goals.

Our energy-efficiency expertise also extends to
refrigeration technologies. Hussmann refrigerated and
frozen food display cases and Protocol refrigeration
systems enable customers to achieve GreenChill
certification, a designation created by the U.S.
Environmental Protection Agency to recognize stores
for using environmentally friendlier commercial
refrigeration systems.

Through enhanced lighting, Hussmann
“EcoShine” LED lights contribute to energy savings
and increased sales as a result of improved product
visibility within refrigerated display cases. Improved
visibility allows customers to open the doors less,
reducing the amount of time that the refrigeration
equipment needs to run. In addition, Hussmann
EcoShine lights use far less energy than traditional
fluorescent lights they typically replace.

Our Thermo King business provides industry-
leading energy-efficient solutions for refrigerated
transportation. Thermo King’s new SLX trailer
refrigeration unit brings increased reliability, low fuel
consumption, low emissions, and low noise along with
improved performance. Compared to its predecessors,
the SLX improves fuel efficiency by up to 20 percent
depending on how the equipment is used. This fuel
savings translates into reduced gas and particulate

Our Club Car business is
the largest manufacturer of
zero-emission vehicles (left).

Our high-efficiency
residential air conditioning
systems (right) and
programmable controls
offer homeowners superior
comfort and energy
management.

Through Trane we engage
industry-leading expertise
to develop energy-efficient

HVAC systems for any
climate, situation or locatiol
in the world (top) and
through our Industrial
Technologies business we
ensure optimum
compressed-air systems

n

performance, which saves

electricity and reduces

greenhouse gas emissions.
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Innovative “EcoShine”
LED lights from Hussmann
are more energy efficient
than fluorescent lights
and improve visibility of
food products in the
display case.

The TriPac auxiliary
heating and cooling

temperature management
system from Thermo King
provides truckers the
comforts of home while on
the road, while reducing
diesel-fuel use and
emissions.
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emissions and up to a 35 percent reduction in
nitrogen oxide emissions compared to previous units.
In addition, 99 percent of the SLX unit is recyclable
at the end of its useful life.

The Charge Assist™ technology, a feature on the
new Trane ComfortLink™ Il systems, enables technicians
to simply push a button and ensure the proper
refrigerant charge for home air conditioning systems.
As a result, the Charge Assist technology enhances
reliability and efficiency, and reduces energy use.

With more than a century of experience and
expertise, our Industrial Technologies business has
been instrumental in delivering energy-efficient
solutions across all types of manufacturing operations
and process industries. In addition to efficient air
compressors, tools, and material handling equipment,
we conduct detailed assessments of facilities’
compressed-air consumption, and provide
recommendations for the most suitable and efficient
configuration of compressed-air systems, saving
electricity and reducing greenhouse gas emissions.
And through its leadership in electric compact
vehicles, our Club Car business remains the largest
manufacturer of zero-emission vehicles.

Ensuring Comfort at Work,
Home and Play

Healthy, climate-controlled environments ensure

the physical comfort of people at home, work or play.
At the same time, the notion of comfort includes
peace of mind and the ability to perform tasks

with less effort. Our company leads in developing
solutions to ease the way we work and the quality of
our indoor spaces.

In addition to its industry leading air conditioning
systems and furnaces, Trane offer the CleanEffects”
whole-house air filtration system, which removes up
to 99.98 percent of particles and allergens from the
air, making the home a more healthful place for living.
And for commercial, institutional and government
buildings around the world, Trane engineers design
and create systems that provide ventilation air,
humidity and building pressure control to provide an
ideal work environment for employees and visitors.

To help mitigate Repetitive Strain Injuries, our
Industrial Technologies Sector continues to develop
innovative products and solutions that promote
ergonomic processes in manufacturing and assembly
operations. These products, which include balancers,
hoists, handling devices and torque-reaction
equipment, help improve working conditions for
operators while maximizing production uptime.

Thermo King’s TriPac auxiliary heating and
cooling temperature management system eliminates
the need to idle truck and tractor engines for heating,
cooling and powering accessories in the cab or
sleeper compartment. As a result, the TriPac delivers
the creature comforts truck drivers seek while on the
road even as they benefit from consuming up
to 85 percent less fuel than diesel-engine idling. At
the same time, the TriPac helps drivers enjoy longer
duration between required cab-engine oil changes
and filter replacements.

Our Club Car golf cars make any round of golf a
comfortable experience, regardless of the final score,
and its Precedent line of vehicles leads the industry
with superior performance paired with driver-pleasing
features. In addition to providing a smooth ride over
all types of golf-course terrain, Precedent golf cars
provide motor braking down to a very low speed,
which improves vehicle control and convenience by
allowing the driver to adjust both speed and braking
with the accelerator pedal. Also, a hill-descent feature
provides more control and confidence when
traveling downhill.

Our pioneering Schlage LiNK residential lock
provides the unmatched comfort that comes from
peace of mind for families on the go. Schlage LiNK
allows homeowners to remotely monitor doors and
grant entry to their homes from any computer or
cell phone with an Internet connection. As a result,
homeowners can avoid making a trip home to let
in school-aged children, maintenance people, or
surprise guests. In addition, the system sends text
message alerts to keep homeowners apprised of
activity and will enable remote adjustment of the
home’s thermostat to achieve optimal heating and
cooling energy efficiency.

Progress is {sJi&dgldy with Ingersoll Rand
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Ingersoll-Rand Company Limited US Mailing Address:

/7 One Centennial Avenue
Piscataway, NJ 08855
@ Ingersoll Rand (732) 6527000

NOTICE OF 2009 ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS

The Annual General Meeting of Shareholders of Ingersoll-Rand Company Limited will be held on
Wednesday, June 3, 2009, at 2:30 p.m., local time, at Crowne Plaza Dublin—Northwood located at Northwood
Park, Santry Demesne, Santry, Dublin 9, Ireland, to consider and vote upon the following proposals:

1. To elect twelve directors to hold office for one year.

2. To consider and approve an advisory proposal relating to the company’s executive
pay-for-performance compensation policies and procedures.

3. To approve the Amended and Restated Incentive Stock Plan of 2007.

4. To approve the appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as independent auditors of the
company and authorize the Board of Directors to fix the auditors’ remuneration.

5. To conduct such other business properly brought before the meeting.

Only shareholders of record as of the close of business on April 6, 2009, are entitled to receive notice of and
to vote at the Annual General Meeting.

Directions to the meeting can be found in Appendix A of the attached proxy statement.

Whether or not you plan to attend the meeting, please provide your proxy by either using the internet
as directed in the accompanying proxy card or filling in, signing, dating, and promptly mailing the
accompanying proxy card in the enclosed.

By order of the Board of Directors,

BARBARA A. SANTORO

Vice President—Corporate Governance
and Secretary

Piscataway, New Jersey

April 22, 2009
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Ingersoll-Rand Company Limited US Mailing Address:
One Centennial Avenue

Pis , NJ 08855
@ Ingersoll Rand (132 652.7000

PROXY STATEMENT
INFORMATION CONCERNING VOTING AND SOLICITATION

In this proxy statement, “Ingersoll Rand,” the “Company,” “we,” “us” and “our” refer to Ingersoll-Rand
Company Limited, a Bermuda company, or, for any information prior to January 1, 2002, to Ingersoll-Rand
Company, a New Jersey corporation, which, as of that date, became an indirect, wholly-owned U.S. subsidiary of
Ingersoll-Rand Company Limited.

Under our Bye-laws and Bermuda law, audited financial statements must be presented to shareholders at an
annual general meeting of shareholders. To fulfill this requirement, we will present at the 2009 Annual General
Meeting of Shareholders (the “Annual General Meeting”) our audited consolidated financial statements for the
2008 fiscal year. Copies of these consolidated financial statements are contained in our Annual Report on Form
10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2008, which is being mailed to shareholders together with this
proxy statement.

This proxy statement and the enclosed proxy card are first being mailed to you on or about April 22, 2009.

Why Did I Receive This Proxy Statement?

We sent you this proxy statement, together with the enclosed proxy card, because our Board of Directors is
soliciting your proxy to vote at the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders to be held on June 3, 2009. This
proxy statement summarizes the information you need to know to vote on an informed basis.

How Do I Attend The Annual General Meeting?

All shareholders are invited to attend the Annual General Meeting. Either an admission ticket or proof of
ownership of Class A common shares, as well as a form of personal identification, must be presented in
order to be admitted to the Annual General Meeting. If you are a shareholder of record, your admission ticket
is attached to the enclosed proxy card. If you plan to attend the Annual General Meeting, please vote your proxy,
but keep the admission ticket and bring it to the Annual General Meeting together with a form of personal
identification.

If your shares are held in the name of a bank, broker or other holder of record and you plan to attend the
Annual General Meeting, you must present proof of your ownership of Class A common shares, such as a bank
or brokerage account statement, together with a form of personal identification to be admitted to the Annual
General Meeting. If you would rather have an admission ticket, you can obtain one in advance by mailing a
written request, along with proof of your ownership of Class A common shares, to:

Secretary

Ingersoll-Rand Company Limited
One Centennial Avenue
Piscataway, New Jersey 08855

No cameras, recording equipment, electronic devices, large bags, briefcases or packages will be
permitted at the Annual General Meeting.



Who May Vote?

You are entitled to vote if you owned the Company’s Class A common shares at the close of business on
April 6, 2009, which we refer to as the record date. At that time, there were 319,115,673 shares of the
Company’s Class A common shares outstanding and entitled to vote. Each share of the Company’s Class A
common share that you own entitles you to one vote on all matters to be voted upon at the Annual General
Meeting.

How Do I Vote?
Shareholders of record can cast their votes by proxy by:
*  using the internet and voting at the website as directed on the enclosed proxy card; or

e completing, signing and returning the enclosed proxy card.

To vote your shares directly, you may attend the Annual General Meeting and cast your vote in person.
Shareholders who hold their shares through a broker must vote their shares in the manner prescribed by their
broker.

The internet voting procedures are designed to authenticate votes cast by use of a personal identification
number. The procedures allow shareholders to appoint a proxy to vote their shares and to confirm that their
instructions have been properly recorded. If you are a shareholder of record and you would like to vote by using
the internet, please refer to the specific instructions contained on the enclosed proxy card. If you vote by using
the internet, you do not need to return the enclosed proxy card. In order to be timely processed, an internet vote
must be received by 11:59 p.m. Eastern Time on June 2, 2009.

How May Employees Vote Under Our Employee Plans?

If you participate in the Ingersoll-Rand Company Employee Savings Plan, the Ingersoll-Rand Company
Employee Savings Plan for Bargained Employees, the Ingersoll-Rand/Thermo King de Puerto Rico Retirement
Savings Plan, the Trane Employee Stock Ownership Plan, the Trane Savings Plan or the Trane 401(k) and Thrift
Plan, then you may be receiving these materials because of shares held for you in those plans. In that case, you
may use the enclosed proxy card to instruct the plan trustees of those plans how to vote your shares, or give those
instructions over the internet. They will vote these shares in accordance with your instructions and the terms of
the plan.

If you do not provide voting instructions for shares held for you in any of these plans, the plan trustees will
vote these shares in the same ratio as the shares for which voting instructions are provided.

May I Revoke My Proxy?

You may revoke your proxy at any time before it is voted at the Annual General Meeting in any of the
following ways:

* by notifying the Company’s Secretary in writing at Ingersoll-Rand Company Limited, One Centennial
Avenue, Piscataway, New Jersey 08855;

* by submitting another properly signed proxy card with a later date or another internet proxy at a later
date; or

e by voting in person at the Annual General Meeting.

You may not revoke a proxy merely by attending the Annual General Meeting. To revoke a proxy, you must
take one of the actions described above.



How Will My Proxy Get Voted?

If you properly complete, sign and date the enclosed proxy card and send it to us or properly deliver your
proxy over the internet, your proxy holder (one of the individuals named on the enclosed proxy card) will vote
your shares as you have directed. Under the rules of The New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”), if your broker or
nominee is a member of the NYSE and holds your shares in its name, the broker or nominee may vote your
shares on Items 1 and 4 (routine matters) if it does not receive instructions from you. However, your broker or
nominee may not vote your shares on Items 2 and 3 (non-routine matters) if it does not receive instructions from
you and, accordingly, such shares will not be counted as votes for or against the non-routine matter, but rather
will not be counted at all.

If you do not specify on the enclosed proxy card that is sent to the Company (or when giving your
proxy over the internet) how you want to vote your shares, the proxy holders will vote them “FOR” the
election of all nominees for director as set forth under Item 1, “FOR” the approval of the advisory (non-
binding) proposal set forth in this proxy statement under Item 2, “FOR” the approval of the Amended and
Restated Incentive Stock Plan of 2007 under Item 3 and “FOR” the approval of appointment of
independent auditors under Item 4.

What Constitutes A Quorum?

The presence of at least two persons present in person and representing in person or by proxy a majority of
all outstanding Class A common shares is necessary to constitute a quorum for the conduct of business.
Abstentions and broker non-votes (shares held by a broker or nominee that are represented at the Annual General
Meeting, but with respect to which the broker or nominee is not empowered to vote on a proposal) are treated as
“shares present” for the purposes of determining whether a quorum exists.

What Vote Is Required To Approve Each Proposal?

The affirmative vote of a majority of the Class A common shares represented and voting at the Annual
General Meeting is required to approve each proposal.

Although abstentions and broker non-votes are counted as “shares present” at the Annual General Meeting
for the purpose of determining whether a quorum exists, they are not counted as votes cast and, accordingly, will
not affect the outcome of the vote.

Who Pays The Expenses Of This Proxy Statement?

We have hired Georgeson Shareholder Communications Inc. to assist in the distribution of proxy materials
and the solicitation of proxies for a fee estimated at $19,000, plus out-of-pocket expenses. Proxies will be
solicited on behalf of the Board of Directors by mail, in person and by telephone. We will bear the cost of
soliciting proxies. We will also reimburse brokers and other custodians, nominees and fiduciaries for their
reasonable out-of-pocket expenses for forwarding proxy materials to the persons for whom they hold shares.

How Will Voting On Any Other Matter Be Conducted?

Although we do not know of any matters to be presented or acted upon at the Annual General Meeting other
than the items described in this proxy statement, if any other matter is proposed and properly presented at the
Annual General Meeting, the proxy holders will vote on such matters in accordance with their best judgment.



PROPOSALS REQUIRING YOUR VOTE

Item 1. Election of Directors

In June 2008, the company’s Bye-laws were amended to change the vote standard for the election of
directors from a plurality of votes cast to a majority of votes cast in uncontested elections. A majority of the
votes cast means that the number of votes cast “for” a director nominee must exceed the number of votes cast
“against” that director nominee. In contested elections, the vote standard will continue to be a plurality of the
votes cast. In addition, the Bye-laws were amended to provide that if a director is not re-elected in a
non-contested director election, the director shall tender his or her resignation to the Board of Directors and the
Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee will make a recommendation to the Board of Directors on
whether to accept or reject the resignation, or whether other action should be taken. The Board of Directors will
act on the Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee’s recommendation and publicly disclose its
decision and the rationale behind it within 90 days from the date of the certification of the election.

Each director of the Company, other than Mr. Lichtenberger, is being nominated for election for a one-year
term expiring at the 2010 Annual General Meeting or until their successors, if any, are elected and qualified.
Mr. Lichtenberger has indicated his intention to retire from the Board of Directors, upon completion of his
one-year term expiring at the start of the Annual General Meeting.

The Board of Directors recommends a vote FOR this proposal.

Ann C. Berzin—age 57, director since 2001

e Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Financial Guaranty Insurance Company (insurer of municipal
bonds and structured finance obligations), a subsidiary of General Electric Capital Corporation, from
1992 to 2001.

e Director of:
e Constellation Energy Group, Inc.
. Kindred Healthcare, Inc.

o Other Activities: Director, ArtsConnection

Jared L. Cohon—age 61, director since 2008

e President of Carnegie Mellon University since 1997 and also appointed Professor of Civil and
Environmental Engineering and Professor of Engineering and Public Policy.

e Dean of the School of Forestry and Environmental Studies at Yale University from 1992 to 1997.

e Faculty member the Department of Geography and Environmental Engineering at Johns Hopkins
University, where he also served as Assistant and Associate Dean of Engineering and Vice Provost for
Research from 1986 to 1992.

o Other Activities:

e Appointed by President George W. Bush to serve on his Homeland Security Advisory Council in
2002.

Gary D. Forsee—age 59, director since 2007
e President, University of Missouri System since February 2008.

e Chairman of the Board (from 2006-2007) and Chief Executive Officer (from 2005-2007) of Sprint
Nextel Corporation.



e Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer of Sprint Corporation from 2003 to 2005.
e Vice Chairman—Domestic Operations of BellSouth Corporation from 2002 to 2003.
*  Vice Chairman and President of BellSouth International from 2001 to 2002.
e Director of Great Plains Energy Inc.
e Other Activities:
. Trustee, National Board of Trustees, Boy Scouts of America

o Trustee, National Association of Basketball Coaches Foundation

Peter C. Godsoe—age 70, director since 1998

e Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer of The Bank of Nova Scotia (a Canadian-based
international bank) from 1995 until retirement in 2004.

e Director of:
e Barrick Gold Corporation
e Lonmin plc
*  Onex Corporation
*  Rogers Communications Inc.
e Other Activities:
e Director, Perimeter Institute for Theoretical Physics
o Director, Canadian Council of Christians and Jews

J Director, Mount Sinai Hospital

Edward E. Hagenlocker—age 69, director since 2008
e Vice-Chairman of Ford Motor Company from 1996 until his retirement in 1999.
e Chairman of Visteon Automotive Systems from 1997 to 1999.
e Director of:
. Air Products and Chemicals, Inc.

e AmeriSourceBergen Corporation

Herbert L. Henkel—age 61, director since 1999

e Chairman of the Board (since May 2000) and President and Chief Executive Officer (since October
1999) of the Company.

e President and Chief Operating Officer of the Company from April 1999 to October 1999.

e Chief Operating Officer of Textron Inc. (a multi-industry company with operations in aircraft,
automotive, industrial and finance) from 1998 to March 1999.

e Vice President of Textron Inc. responsible for Textron Industrial Products Segment from 1993 to 1998.
e Director of:

*  3M Company

. C.R. Bard, Inc.



Constance J. Horner—age 67, director since 1994

Guest Scholar at the Brookings Institution from 1993 to 2005.

Commissioner of U.S. Commission on Civil Rights from 1993 to 1998.

Assistant to the President and Director of Presidential Personnel from 1991 to 1993.
Deputy Secretary, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services from 1989 to 1991.
Director of:

e Pfizer Inc.

. Prudential Financial, Inc.

Other Activities:

. Trustee, The Prudential Foundation

e Fellow, National Academy of Public Administration

Theodore E. Martin—age 69, director since 1996

President and Chief Executive Officer of Barnes Group Inc. (manufacturer and distributor of precision
springs and custom metal parts) from 1995 until retirement in 1998.

Director of:

. C. R. Bard, Inc.

e Strong Tool Company

e Unisys Corporation

Other Activities:

J Director, Edna McConnell Clark Foundation

e Trustee (emeritus), Syracuse University

Patricia Nachtigal—age 62, director since 2002

Senior Vice President and General Counsel of the Company since 2000.

Vice President and General Counsel of the Company from 1992 to 2000.

Other Activities:

e Vice Chair, Board of Governors, Rutgers, The State University of New Jersey
e Trustee, Rutgers, The State University of New Jersey

e Advisory Trustee, National Multiple Sclerosis Society—Greater North Jersey Chapter Board of
Trustees

Orin R. Smith—age 73, director since 1995

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Engelhard Corporation (provider of specialty chemical
products, engineered materials and industrial commodities management services for various industries)
from 1995 until retirement in 2000.

President and Chief Executive Officer of Engelhard Corporation from 1984 to 1995.
Director of Vulcan Materials Company.

Other Activities: Trustee, Duxbury Bay Maritime School.

6



Richard J. Swift—age 64, director since 1995

Chairman of Financial Accounting Standards Advisory Council from January 2002 until December
2006.

Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer of Foster Wheeler Ltd. (provider of design,
engineering, construction, manufacturing, management and environmental services) from 1994 until
2001.

Director of:

e CVS Caremark Corporation
e Hubbell Incorporated

e Kaman Corporation

e Public Service Enterprise Group

Tony L. White—age 62, director since 1997

Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer of Applied Biosystems Inc. (a developer,
manufacturer and marketer of life science systems and genomic information products) from 1995 until
retirement in 2008.

Executive Vice President of Baxter International Inc. (provider of medical products and services) from
1993 to 1995.

Director of C.R. Bard, Inc.



Item 2. Approval of Executive Pay-For-Performance Compensation Policies and Procedures

Many of our shareholders have expressed an interest in a non-binding advisory vote on the overall executive
pay-for-performance compensation policies and procedures employed by the Company, as described in the
Compensation Discussion and Analysis (CD&A) in this Proxy Statement. We believe that both the Company and
shareholders benefit from responsive corporate governance policies and constructive and consistent dialogue.
Thus, with Board of Directors’ approval, the Company announced in October 2008 that the Company would
provide shareholders with the right to cast an advisory vote on our compensation program at the annual meeting
of shareholders in 2009.

This proposal, commonly known as a “Say-on-Pay” proposal, gives you as a shareholder the opportunity to
endorse or not endorse our executive pay program and policies through the following resolution:

“Resolved, that the shareholders approve the overall executive pay-for-performance compensation
policies and procedures guided by the Company’s five design principles (general program
competitiveness, pay for performance, internal parity, alignment with various business strategies and
shareholder alignment) and employed by the Company, as described in the Compensation Discussion
and Analysis in this Proxy Statement.”

Because your vote is advisory, it will not be binding upon the Board of Directors. However, the
Compensation Committee will take into account the outcome of the vote when considering future executive
compensation arrangements.

In considering your vote, please be advised that our compensation policies and procedures are guided by
five design principles, as described in the CD&A in this Proxy Statement:

e General program competitiveness

e Pay for performance

e Internal parity

e Alignment with various business strategies

e Shareholder alignment

By following these five design principles, we believe that our compensation policies and procedures enable
a pay-for-performance culture and are strongly aligned with the long-term interests of our shareholders.

The Board of Directors recommends a vote FOR this proposal approving the pay-for-performance
compensation policies and procedures employed by the Company.



Item 3. Approval of the Amended and Restated Incentive Stock Plan of 2007

The Company’s shareholders are being asked to approve the Company’s Amended and Restated Incentive
Stock Plan of 2007 (the “2007 Plan”), which amends the existing plan (i) to increase the number of the
Company’s Class A common shares reserved for issuance under the 2007 Plan by 13,000,000 shares, (ii) to
provide that net settlement shares retained by the Company in order to satisfy the tax withholding obligations of a
plan participant with respect to awards other than stock options or stock appreciation rights shall not be counted
against the limit set forth in Section 3 of the 2007 Plan and (iii) to provide that for all awards issued on or after
June 3, 2009, each share issued in connection with awards other than stock options or stock appreciation rights
shall count as the issuance of 2.05 shares for purposes of the share limit set forth in Section 3 of the 2007 Plan.

Both the Compensation Committee and the Board of Directors have approved these amendments, subject to
shareholder approval at the annual general meeting.

Increasing the number of the Company’s Class A common shares reserved for issuance will assure that a
sufficient number of shares remains available for issuance under the 2007 Plan in order to allow the Company to
continue to use equity incentives to attract, retain and motivate the services of key individuals and other
personnel essential to the company’s long-term growth and financial success. The company relies significantly
on equity incentives in the form of stock options and other stock-based awards believing that such equity
incentives are necessary for the company to remain competitive in the marketplace for executive talent and other
key employees. Incentive awards made to newly-hired or continuing employees are based on both competitive
market conditions and individual performance. The Company has had shareholder-approved incentive
compensation programs since 1959 as a means of providing long-term incentives to key executives and other key
employees of the Company and its subsidiaries. The Board of Directors believes that these plans have proved to
be an important means of attracting, retaining and motivating key personnel and are necessary for the Company
to achieve superior performance in the future. Therefore, shareholder approval of the amendment of the 2007
Plan is vitally important.

Clarifying the treatment of shares that are retained by the Company in order to satisfy the withholding
obligations of a plan participant with respect to awards of other than stock options or stock appreciation rights
allows the Company to conserve share usage under the 2007 Plan by counting against the share limit only those
shares actually issued to plan participants in connection with such awards.

The following is a summary of the principal features of the 2007 Plan and is qualified in its entirety by
reference to the 2007 Plan. The summary does not purport to be a complete description of all the provisions of
the 2007 Plan.

A marked copy of the 2007 Plan (as proposed to be amended and restated) is attached to this proxy
statement as Appendix B.

Description of the 2007 Plan

The 2007 Plan currently authorizes the issuance of up to 14,000,000 shares in connection with such stock
incentives. As of April 6, 2009, the Company has made incentive awards amounting to 12,149,958 Class A
common shares reserved for issuance under the 2007 Plan. As a result, 1,850,042 Class A common shares remain
available for incentive awards under the 2007 Plan. This amount includes shares that have been forfeited or
otherwise terminated without issuance of shares. Including the additional 13,000,000 shares that we are asking
shareholders to approve for issuance under the 2007 Plan, there would be 14,850,042 shares available for issuance
under the 2007 Plan, which represents approximately 4.7% of the outstanding shares as of April 6, 2009. The
closing price of the Class A common shares on the NYSE composite tape on April 6, 2009 was $16.30. Shares not
issued because of the termination or cancellation of individual stock incentives can be reused under the 2007 Plan.
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The 2007 Plan permits the grant of stock incentives to key employees as determined by the Compensation
Committee and to all non-employee directors. Approximately 1,000 employees (approximately 2% of all
employees) are currently considered eligible for the grant of stock incentives. We cannot state the value or
number of shares subject to any particular stock incentive to be granted to key employees, since these matters
will be determined by the Compensation Committee in the future based on the guidelines described below under
the heading “Compensation Discussion and Analysis”. We expect, therefore, that key employees will continue to
be granted stock incentives on a basis generally comparable to prior grants.

The following table sets forth information with respect to grants made in fiscal year 2009 through April 6,
2009 under the 2007 Plan to each of our current Named Executive Officers, our current executive officers as a
group, our current directors who are not executive officers as a group and all employees (excluding our current
executive officers and directors) as a group. Restricted Stock Units (RSUs) were provided to Named Executive
Officers, other than the CEO, and plan participants beginning in February 2009 to help manage the usage of
shares.

Performance Stock Units(1)

Restricted
Stock Units Performance Threshold Maximum
Name Options (#) # Shares (#) # Target (#) #
HL.Henkel .......................... 425,000 0 55,200 222,618 445,236 890,472
SR.Shawley ......................... 65,625 13,125 7,728 44,524 89,048 178,096
MW.Lamach ........................ 66,125 13,225 6,624 53,429 106,858 213,716
P.Nachtigal .......................... 48,420 9,684 6,624 32,651 65,302 130,604
JR. Bolch ........................... 50,000 10,000 6,624 35,619 71,238 142,476
Current executive officers as a group (11
PEISONS) © vt vttt et eenn 920,120 99,024 104,420 545,581 1,091,162 2,182,324
Current directors who are not executive
officersasagroup ................... — — — — — —
All current employees, excluding our current
executive officers and directors (970
PEISONS) © vt vttt et eenn 3,043,912 822,158 36,484 395,660 791,320 1,582,640

(1) Amounts represent the threshold, target and maximum number of shares of our Class A common shares
which may be earned under the 2007 Plan in accordance with the terms of our 2009-2010 Performance
Stock Unit awards and 2009-2011 Performance Stock Unit awards. Performance stock units will be earned,
if at all, following the end of the performance period, subject to the achievement of certain performance
metrics. See “Compensation Discussion and Analysis” contained in this proxy statement for a description of
our Performance Stock Unit Program.

The Company intends to continue to grant equity incentives under the 2007 Plan to eligible officers and key
employees. No determination has been made as to which of the persons eligible to participate in the 2007 Plan
will receive awards under the 2007 Plan in the future and, therefore, the future benefits to be allocated to any
individual or to various groups of eligible participants are not presently determinable.

Stock Options and Stock Appreciation Rights

Stock options and stock appreciation rights are forms of stock incentives. Neither options nor stock
appreciation rights may be granted at less than the fair market value of our Class A common shares on the date of
grant. The term of an option or a stock appreciation right cannot exceed ten years. The 2007 Plan prohibits
amending, or canceling and re-granting, an option or a stock appreciation right to lower the exercise price.

Stock appreciation rights entitle the holder to receive Class A common shares with a value equal to the
difference between the opening price of the Class A common shares on the NYSE on the exercise date and the
fair market value at the time the rights were granted. Payment is made in Class A common shares. Stock
appreciation rights may be granted either independently or in conjunction with options.
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Options and stock appreciation rights terminate within specified periods upon the holder’s termination of
employment. A holder of options or rights may not exercise them under any circumstances once they have
expired.

For employees who are not classified as an executive officer of the Company, shares purchased under an
option may be paid for in cash (or its equivalent) in full at the time of the exercise or through the cashless
exercise method subject to the Company withholding for the payment of taxes associated with the exercise of
options. For executive officers, shares purchased under an option may only be paid in cash (or its equivalent) in
full at the time of the exercise.

Stock Awards

The 2007 Plan permits the payment of incentive awards in Class A common shares. A stock award may, but
need not, be contingent in whole or in part upon the attainment of certain pre-established performance objectives,
as described below. Shares subject to an award may be issued at the time the award is granted, or at any time
thereafter, or in installments and may be subject to forfeiture as the Compensation Committee may decide.

Performance-Based Awards

The 2007 Plan sets forth the following performance criteria that the Compensation Committee may apply to
determine the amount of performance-based awards: consolidated earnings before or after taxes (including
earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization), net income, operating income, earnings per share,
book value per share, return on shareholders’ equity, expense management, return on invested capital,
improvements in capital structure, profitability of an identifiable business unit or product, maintenance or
improvement of profit margins or revenue, stock price, market share, revenues or sales, costs, available cash
flow, working capital, return on assets, total shareholder return, productivity ratios and economic value added, in
each case determined without regard to extraordinary items. The maximum amount of performance-based awards
that may be awarded to a participant during any calendar year cannot exceed: (i) with respect to performance-
based awards that are options or stock appreciation rights, 750,000 shares and (ii) with respect to performance-
based awards that are not options or stock appreciation rights, $10,000,000 in value on the date of the award. In
addition, the Compensation Committee can reduce, but not increase, the amount of any performance-based award
payable to a participant as it deems appropriate in its discretion.

Limitation on Full Value Awards

The 2007 Plan provides for equity-based awards that fall into two categories: (a) stock options and stock
appreciation rights in which potential incentive compensation is based on appreciation in the value of shares
(“Appreciation Awards”) and (b) all other stock-based awards in which the potential incentive compensation is
based on the full value of shares (“Full Value Awards”). In recognition of the differences between these
categories, the 2007 Plan limited the awards of Full Value Awards to 25% of the total number of shares
authorized under the 2007 Plan. The amended 2007 Plan provides that for all awards issued on or after June 3,
2009, the 25% limit on Full Value Awards shall not apply; instead, each share issued in connection with Full
Value Awards shall count as 2.05 shares for purposes of the overall share limit set forth in Section 3 of the 2007
Plan.

Certain Practices Prohibited

The 2007 Plan prohibits re-pricing of options and stock appreciation rights or the cancellation of options and
stock appreciation rights in exchange for such awards with lower exercise prices. Adjustments to outstanding
awards based on standard anti-dilution provisions are permitted. The amount of performance-based awards
actually paid to any participant under the 2007 Plan cannot be greater than the amount determined by the
applicable performance goal formula.
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Adjustment and Change in Control Provisions

The 2007 Plan provides that in the event of a reorganization, recapitalization, split-up or consolidation of
Class A common shares of, or other significant corporate transaction involving, the Company, shares subject to a
stock incentive shall be equitably adjusted as to number, classification, exercise price or fair market value (in the
case of stock appreciation rights) and date of exercise.

Upon a change in control, all outstanding stock options and stock appreciation rights shall become fully
vested and exercisable, all performance periods and performance goals associated with performance-based
awards shall be deemed to have been met at their target level and all other stock-based awards shall become
vested and payable. In addition, the Compensation Committee has authority to take certain actions upon a change
in control, including, without limitation, cancellation of awards for fair value.

Term, Administration and Amendment

The 2007 Plan has a term of ten years and is administered by the Compensation Committee which is
composed of independent directors. In general, the Compensation Committee is authorized to interpret the 2007
Plan, to establish, amend and rescind any rules and regulations relating to the 2007 Plan and has full authority to
establish the terms and conditions of awards consistent with the provisions of the 2007 Plan (including the
authority to waive any such terms and conditions at any time). The Compensation Committee may amend the
2007 Plan as it deems necessary to permit the granting of awards to meet the requirements of the Code or other
applicable law. In addition, all determinations in respect of awards to any key employee or to non-employee
directors are made, based upon the recommendations of such Committee, by a committee consisting of all “non-
employee directors” under Rule 16b-3 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and as “outside directors”
under Section 162(m) of the Code and the regulations promulgated thereunder.

The 2007 Plan may be amended, altered or discontinued by the Board of Directors at any time without
shareholder approval. No such amendment, alteration or discontinuation may, however, (1) increase the total
number of shares that may be issued under the Plan or change the maximum number of shares for which awards
may be granted to any participant or (2) diminish the rights of a participant under any outstanding award without
their consent.

U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences

The following is a brief description of the U.S. Federal income tax consequences generally arising with
respect to the grant, exercise and disposition of stock options and other stock-based incentives, based on current
U.S. Federal income tax laws. This summary is not intended to be exhaustive, does not constitute tax advice and,
among other things, does not describe state, local or foreign tax consequences, all of which may be substantially
different.

Section 162(m). Section 162(m) of the Federal income tax laws may limit our ability to deduct certain
compensation payable to certain executive officers. The 2007 Plan has been designed so that we will be able to
deduct the compensation payable with regard to non-qualified options as well as restricted stock or restricted
stock units that will become vested upon the achievement of performance objectives, without regard to this limit.

Stock Options. Generally, the grant of a stock option will create no tax consequences for the participant or
the Company. Upon exercise of a nonqualified option (which all options granted under the 1998 and 2007 Plans
have been), the participant will generally recognize ordinary income equal to the excess of the share’s fair market
value on the exercise date over the option exercise price. The Company generally will be entitled to a tax
deduction at the same time and in the same amount. Upon exercise of an incentive stock option (as defined in the
Code), no taxable income will be recognized by the participant and the Company will not be entitled to a tax
deduction by reason of such exercise. However, if shares purchased pursuant to the exercise of an incentive stock
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option are sold within two years from the date of grant or within one year after the transfer of such shares to the
participant, then the participant will recognize ordinary income in the year of disposition equal to the difference,
with certain adjustments, between the fair market value of the shares at the date of exercise and the option
exercise price and the Company will generally be entitled to a tax deduction at the same time and in the same
amount. In the event of a sale of shares purchased upon exercise of either a nonqualified option or an incentive
stock option, any appreciation above or depreciation below the fair market value at the date of exercise will
generally qualify as capital gain or loss. If shares purchased upon the exercise of a nonqualified option are
transferred to the participant subject to restrictions, then, depending upon the nature of the restrictions, the
income realized by the participant and the Company’s tax deduction may be deferred and measured by the excess
of the fair market value of the shares over the option price at the time the restrictions lapse.

Restricted Stock Units. A participant generally will not recognize taxable income on the grant of a
restricted stock unit until shares subject to the award are distributed. The amount of this ordinary income will be
the fair market value of the shares on the date of distribution. Any dividend equivalents paid on the restricted
stock units are taxable as ordinary income when paid to the participant.

Restricted Stock. Generally, a participant who receives restricted stock will recognize ordinary income at
the time that the restricted stock is no longer subject to a substantial risk of forfeiture. The amount of this
ordinary income will be the fair market value of the shares on that date. However a participant may elect under
Section 83(b) of the Internal Revenue Code, within 30 days after the grant, to recognize ordinary income on the
date of grant in an amount equal to the excess of the fair market value of the shares on that date over the amount,
if any, paid for the restricted shares. By reason of such an election, the participant will have a tax basis in the
restricted shares equal to the fair market value of the shares (determined without regard to the restriction imposed
on the shares under the 2007 Plan) on the date of grant. If the shares are forfeited after an 83(b) election, the
participant will not be entitled to a deduction, loss or credit for the ordinary income recognized or the taxes paid
in respect of the election, but will generally be entitled to a capital loss for the amount, if any, paid for the
restricted shares.

Stock Awards. A participant will recognize taxable income on the grant of unrestricted stock in an amount
equal to the fair market value of the shares on the grant date. Subject to certain limitations, the Company will
generally be entitled to a deduction at the same time and in the same amounts as the ordinary income recognized
by the participant.

Stock Appreciation Rights (SARs). A participant generally will not recognize taxable income at the time
stock-settled SARs are granted but will recognize ordinary income upon the exercise of a stock-settled SAR in an
amount equal to the difference between the fair market value of shares received on exercise and the fair market
value of shares on the date the SAR was granted. Subject to certain limitations, the Company will generally be
entitled to a deduction at the same time and in the same amounts as the ordinary income recognized by the
participant.

The Board of Directors recommends a vote FOR this proposal to approve the Amended and Restated
Incentive Stock Plan of 2007.
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Item 4. Approval of Appointment of Independent Auditors

Under Bermuda law, shareholders have the authority to appoint the independent auditors of the Company
and to authorize our Board of Directors to fix the auditors’ remuneration. At the Annual General Meeting,
shareholders will be asked to appoint PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP (“PwC”) as our independent auditors for the
fiscal year ending December 31, 2009, and to authorize the Board of Directors to fix the independent auditors’
remuneration. PwC has been acting as our independent auditors for many years and, both by virtue of its long
familiarity with the Company’s affairs and its ability, is considered best qualified to perform this important
function.

Representatives of PwC are expected to be present at the Annual General Meeting and to be available to
respond to appropriate questions. They will have an opportunity to make a statement if they so desire.

The Board of Directors recommends a vote FOR the proposal to appoint PwC as independent
auditors of the Company and to authorize the Board of Directors to fix the auditors’ remuneration.

Audit Committee Report

While management has the primary responsibility for the financial statements and the reporting process,
including the system of internal controls, the Audit Committee reviews the Company’s audited financial
statements and financial reporting process on behalf of the Board of Directors. The independent auditors are
responsible for performing an independent audit of the Company’s consolidated financial statements in
accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) and to issue a
report thereon. The Audit Committee monitors those processes. In this context, the Audit Committee has met and
held discussions with management and the independent auditors regarding the fair and complete presentation of
the Company’s results. The Audit Committee has discussed significant accounting policies applied by the
Company in its financial statements, as well as alternative treatments. Management has represented to the Audit
Committee that the Company’s consolidated financial statements were prepared in accordance with United States
generally accepted accounting principles, and the Audit Committee has reviewed and discussed the consolidated
financial statements with management and the independent auditors. The Audit Committee also discussed with
the independent auditors the matters required to be discussed by Statement on Auditing Standards No. 61, as
amended (Communication With Audit Committees), as adopted by the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States).

In addition, the Audit Committee has received and reviewed the written disclosures and the letter from PwC
required by the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board regarding PwC’s communications with the Audit
Committee concerning independence and discussed with PwC the auditors’ independence from the Company and
its management in connection with the matters stated therein. The Audit Committee also considered whether the
independent auditors’ provision of non-audit services to the Company is compatible with the auditors’
independence. The Audit Committee has concluded that the independent auditors are independent from the
Company and its management.

The Audit Committee discussed with the Company’s internal and independent auditors the overall scope
and plans for their respective audits. The Audit Committee meets separately with the internal and independent
auditors, with and without management present, to discuss the results of their examinations, the evaluations of
the Company’s internal controls and the overall quality of the Company’s financial reporting.
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In reliance on the reviews and discussions referred to above, the Audit Committee recommended to the

Board of Directors, and the Board has approved, that the audited financial statements be included in the
Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2008, for filing with the
Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”). The Audit Committee has selected PwC, subject to
shareholder approval, as the Company’s independent auditors for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2009.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Richard J. Swift (Chair)
Ann C. Berzin

Peter C. Godsoe

Edward E. Hagenlocker
H. William Lichtenberger
Theodore E. Martin

Fees of the Independent Auditors

The following table shows the fees paid or accrued by the Company for audit and other services provided by

PwC for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007:

(a)

(b)

(©)

(d)

2008 2007
Audit Fees(a) ... .vvnei $16,671,000  $13,435,000
Audit-Related Fees(b) . ... 100,000 1,695,000
Tax Fees(C) . ... o 3,890,000 2,215,000
All Other Fees(d) . ... ..ot 301,000 4,000
Total ..o $20,962,000  $17,349,000

Audit Fees for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively, were for professional
services rendered for the audits of the annual consolidated financial statements of the Company and include
quarterly reviews, statutory audits, issuance of consents, comfort letters and assistance with, and review of,
documents filed with the SEC. Audit fees for December 31, 2008 and December 31, 2007, also include fees
related to the audit of internal controls.

Audit-Related Fees consist of assurance and related services that are reasonably related to performing the
audit and review of our financial statements. Audit-Related Fees for the year ended December 31, 2008
include services related to audits of employee benefit plans and Audit-Related Fees for the year ended
December 31, 2007 include services related to audits performed in connection with dispositions, audits of
employee benefit plans and special reports pursuant to agreed-upon procedures.

Tax Fees for the year ended December 31, 2008 include consulting and compliance services in the U.S. and
non-U.S. locations. Tax Fees for the year ended December 31, 2007 include consulting services in the U.S.
and non-U.S. locations and tax compliance services primarily in non-U.S. locations.

All Other Fees for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively, include consulting services in
the U.S. and non-U.S. locations and license fees for technical accounting software.

The Audit Committee has adopted policies and procedures which require that the Audit Committee

pre-approve all non-audit services that may be provided to the Company by its independent auditors. The policy:
(i) provides for pre-approval of an annual budget for each type of service; (ii) requires Audit Committee approval
of specific projects over $100,000, even if included in the approved budget; and (iii) requires Audit Committee
approval if the forecast of expenditures exceeds the approved budget on any type of service. The Audit
Committee pre-approved all of the services described under “Audit-Related Fees,” “Tax Fees” and “All Other
Fees.” The Audit Committee has determined that the provision of all such non-audit services is compatible with
maintaining the independence of PwC.
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SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT

The following table sets forth as of April 6, 2009, the beneficial ownership of our Class A common shares
by (i) nominee for director of the Company, (ii) each current executive officer of the Company named in the
Summary Compensation Table below, and (iii) all directors and current executive officers of the Company as a

group:

Options
Exercisable

Class A ESP Within 60

Name Common Shares(a) Shares(b) Days(c)
AC.Berzin . ... .. 4,000 — 9,000
JL.Cohon ... .. 4,240 — 96,192
G.D.FOrsSee . ... 1,000 — —
P.C.GOdSOE ..o 6,000 — 22,500
E.E.Hagenlocker . ........ ... .., 3,257 — 40,608
H.L.Henkel ....... ... . .. . . . i 6,000 10,815 2,762,150
CJ. HoOmer . .. 1,791 — —
H. W. Lichtenberger ......... ... .. .. ... 19,500 — 22,500
TE Martin . . ... . 10,571 — 22,500
OR.Smith ... ... 7,500 — 22,500
R SWift .. 1,500 — 9,000
T.L.WHhite .. ... 1,500 — 22,500
M.W.Lamach ......... . .. . . . 9,205 1,420 298,103
S.R.Shawley . ..o 41,436 3,639 241,503
JR.Bolch ... . — 1,097 118,103
P.Nachtigal ........ .. 77,884 1,430 466,636

All directors and current executive officers as a group

(22 persons)(d) « .« vt 208,196 65,160 4,683,778

(a) Unless otherwise indicated, all shares are held directly. No director or executive officer of the Company
owns 1% or more of the outstanding Class A common shares.

(b) Represents Class A common shares held by the trustee under the Ingersoll-Rand Company Employee
Savings Plan (“ESP”) (which now includes amounts previously held in the IR/Clark Leveraged Employee
Stock Ownership Plan) and the Trane Savings Plan for the benefit of executive officers.

(c) Represents Class A common shares as to which directors and executive officers had options exercisable
within 60 days of April 6, 2009, under the Company’s Incentive Stock Plans.

(d) The Class A common shares beneficially owned by all directors and current executive officers as a group
(including shares issuable under exercisable options) aggregated approximately 1.5% of the total
outstanding Class A common shares. Class A common shares and common share equivalents notionally
held under the IR Directors Deferred Compensation Plan (the “Director Deferral Plan I”’) and the IR
Directors Deferred Compensation and Stock Award Plan II (the “Director Deferral Plan II”” and, together
with the Director Deferral Plan I, referred to as the “Director Deferral Plans”) (both of which are referred to
below under the heading “Compensation of Directors”), the IR Executive Deferred Compensation Plan (the
“EDCP Plan I’) and the IR Executive Deferred Compensation Plan II (the “EDCP Plan II”” and, together
with the EDPC Plan I, the “EDCP Plans”), and the supplemental employee savings plan and common share
equivalents resulting from dividends on deferred stock awards are not counted as outstanding shares in
calculating these percentages because they are not beneficially owned; the directors and executive officers
have no voting or investment power with respect to these shares or share equivalents.
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The following table sets forth each shareholder which, as of April 6, 2009, is known by us to be the
beneficial owner of more than 5% of the outstanding Class A common shares of the Company:

Amount and Nature of Percent
Name and Address of Beneficial Owner Beneficial Ownership of Class

Southeastern Asset Management, Inc. . ......................... 35,478,348(a) 11.1%
6410 Poplar Ave., Suite 900
Memphis, TN 38119

(a) Information regarding Southeastern Asset Management, Inc. and its stockholdings was obtained from a
Schedule 13G (Amendment No. 1) filed with the SEC on February 6, 2009. The filing indicated that, as of
December 31, 2008, Southeastern Asset Management, Inc. had (i) sole investment power as to 29,591,348
of such shares and (ii) shared investment power as to 5,887,000 of such shares. Southeastern Asset
Management, Inc. had (a) sole voting power as to 24,447,457 of such shares, (b) shared voting power as to
5,887,000 of such shares and (c) no voting power as to 5,143,891 of such shares.

Equity Compensation Plan Information

The following table provides information as of December 31, 2008, with respect to the Company’s Class A
common shares that may be issued under equity compensation plans:

Weighted- Number of Securities
Average Remaining Available for
Number of Securities to  Exercise Price of  Future Issuance Under
be Issued upon Outstanding Equity Compensation
Exercise of Outstanding Options, Plans (Excluding
Options, Warrants and Warrants and Securities Reflected in
Plan Category Rights* Rights First Column)

Equity compensation plans approved by security

holders ......... ... i 38,783,418 $31.22 8,610,962
Equity compensation plans not approved by

security holders .............. .. ... .. .... — — —
Total ... .. .. .. 38,783,418 $31.22 8,610,962

* Includes shares that have been earned by plan participants who have elected to defer the distribution of such
shares.

After its fiscal year end, the Company used shares available under its 2007 Incentive Stock Plan to issue
annual and long-term incentive equity awards to its employees. 3,964,032 options, 921,182 restricted stock units,
1,882,482 performance stock units! were issued. The awards reduced the number of shares currently available
under the 2007 Incentive Stock Plan. As of April 6, 2009, there were:

e 31,213,576 options outstanding with a weighted average price of $29.46 and a weighted average
remaining term of 5.77 years, of which 138,548 options will expire prior to the Annual General
Meeting.

e 4,132,391 full value shares outstanding in the form of unvested restricted stock units, unvested
performance shares, unvested performance stock units, unvested employment shares or shares reserved
for future distributions under the Company’s deferred compensation plans.

e 1,850,042 shares remain available for issuance under the 2007 Incentive Stock Plan.

I Amounts represent the target number of shares of Class A common shares which may be earned under the
2007 Incentive Stock Plan in accordance with the terms of the 2009-2010 Performance Stock Unit awards
and 2009-2011 Performance Stock Unit awards. Performance stock units will be earned, if at all, following
the end of the performance period, subject to the achievement of certain performance metrics. See
“Compensation Discussion and Analysis” contained in this proxy statement for a description of our
Performance Stock Unit Program.

17



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Corporate Governance Guidelines
Our Corporate Governance Guidelines, together with the charters of the various Board committees, provide

a framework for the corporate governance of the Company. The following is a summary of our Corporate
Governance Guidelines. You can find a copy of our Corporate Governance Guidelines, which include our
guidelines for determining the independence of directors, attached to this proxy statement as Appendix C. In
addition, our Corporate Governance Guidelines, as well as the charters of each of our Board committees, are
available on our website at www.ingersollrand.com under the heading “Investor Relations—Corporate

Governance.” Copies of these documents are also available, free of charge, in print to any shareholder who
requests them.

Role of the Board of Directors

The Company’s business is managed under the direction of the Board of Directors. The role of the Board is
to oversee the management and governance of the Company and monitor senior management’s performance.

Board Responsibilities
The Board’s core responsibilities include:
e selecting, monitoring, evaluating and compensating senior management;
e assuring that management succession planning is ongoing;
e reviewing the Company’s financial controls and reporting systems;
e reviewing the Company’s ethical standards and compliance procedures; and

e evaluating the performance of the Board, Board committees and individual directors.

Director Compensation and Stock Ownership

It is the policy of the Board that directors’ fees be the sole compensation received from the Company by any
non-employee director.

The Company has a share ownership requirement of 20,000 Class A common shares for all non-employee
directors. Non-employee directors who have not met their share ownership requirement of 20,000 shares must
receive at least 30% of their annual retainer in the form of Class A common shares. Non-employee directors who
have met their share ownership requirement of 20,000 shares may receive their annual retainer in either cash or
Class A common shares or a combination of both.

Board Size and Composition

The Board consists of a substantial majority of independent, non-employee directors. In addition, our
Corporate Governance Guidelines require that all members of the committees of the Board must be independent
directors. The Board has the following four standing committees: Audit Committee, Compensation Committee,
Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee, and Finance Committee. The Board of Directors has
determined that each member of each of these committees is “independent” as defined in the NYSE listing
standards. Committee memberships and chairs are rotated periodically.

Board Advisors

The Board and its committees may, under their respective charters, retain their own advisors to carry out
their responsibilities.
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Executive Sessions

The Company’s independent directors meet privately in regularly scheduled executive sessions, without
management present, to consider such matters as the independent directors deem appropriate. These executive
sessions are required to be held no less than twice each year.

Lead Director

The Board appoints a Lead Director annually from among the independent directors who are not Board
committee chairs. Our current Lead Director, whose term will expire at the end of the annual general meeting, is
Tony L. White. Beginning after the annual general meeting, our Lead Director will be Ann Berzin. Our Lead
Director: (a) presides at all meetings of the directors at which the Chairman is not present, including executive
sessions of the directors; (b) serves as a liaison between the Chairman and the independent directors;

(c) approves the information sent to the directors; (d) with input from the other independent directors, approves
Board meeting agendas and Board meeting schedules to assure that there is sufficient time for discussion of all
agenda items; (e) has the authority to call meetings of the independent directors; and (f) is available for direct
communication from major shareholders.

Board Evaluation

The Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee assists the Board in evaluating its performance and
the performance of the Board committees. Each committee also conducts an annual self-evaluation. The
effectiveness of individual directors is considered each year when the directors stand for re-nomination.

Director Orientation and Education

The Company has developed an orientation program for new directors and provides continuing education
for all directors. In addition, the directors are given full access to management and corporate staff as a means of
providing additional information.

Director Nomination Process

The Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee reviews the composition of the full Board to
identify the qualifications and areas of expertise needed to further enhance the composition of the Board, makes
recommendations to the Board concerning the appropriate size and needs of the Board and, on its own or with the
assistance of management or others, identifies candidates with those qualifications. In considering candidates, the
Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee will take into account all factors it considers appropriate,
including breadth of experience, understanding of business and financial issues, ability to exercise sound
judgment, diversity, leadership, and achievements and experience in matters affecting business and industry. The
Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee considers the entirety of each candidate’s credentials and
believes that at a minimum each nominee should satisfy the following criteria: highest character and integrity,
experience and understanding of strategy and policy-setting, sufficient time to devote to Board matters, and no
conflict of interest that would interfere with performance as a director. Shareholders may recommend candidates
for consideration for Board membership by sending the recommendation to the Corporate Governance and
Nominating Committee, in care of the Secretary of the Company. Candidates recommended by shareholders are
evaluated in the same manner as director candidates identified by any other means.

Director Independence
The Board has determined that all of our directors, except H. L. Henkel and P. Nachtigal, who are
employees of the Company, are independent under the standards set forth in Exhibit I to our Corporate

Governance Guidelines, which are consistent with the NYSE listing standards. A copy of Exhibit I to our
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Corporate Governance Guidelines is available at our website, www.ingersollrand.com, under the heading
“Investor Relations—Corporate Governance.” In making its determination, the Board examined relationships
between directors or their affiliates with the Company and its affiliates and determined that each such
relationship did not impair the director’s independence. In particular, with respect to each of the most recent
three completed fiscal years, the Board considered that the Company purchased products from Sprint Nextel
Corporation, where Mr. Forsee served as Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer until October 2007,
in aggregate amounts substantially less than 1% of the revenues of each of the Company and Sprint Nextel
Corporation in any such year. Consequently, the Board determined that this relationship did not affect

Mr. Forsee’s status as an independent director.

Shareholder Communications with Directors

Shareholders and other interested parties wishing to communicate with the Board, the non-employee
directors or any individual director (including our Lead Director and Compensation Committee Chair) may do so
either by sending a communication to the Board and/or a particular Board member, in care of the Secretary of the
Company, or by e-mail at irboard@irco.com. Depending upon the nature of the communication and to whom it
is directed, the Secretary will: (a) forward the communication to the appropriate director or directors; (b) forward
the communication to the relevant department within the Company; or (c) attempt to handle the matter directly
(for example, a communication dealing with a share ownership matter).

Code of Conduct

The Company has adopted a worldwide Code of Conduct, applicable to all employees, directors and
officers, including our Chief Executive Officer, our Chief Financial Officer and our Controller. The Code of
Conduct meets the requirements of a “code of ethics” as defined by Item 406 of Regulation S-K as well as the
requirements of a “code of business conduct and ethics” under the NYSE listing standards. The Code of Conduct
covers topics including, but not limited to, conflicts of interest, confidentiality of information, and compliance
with laws and regulations. A copy of the Code of Conduct is available at our website located at
www.ingersollrand.com under the heading “Investor Relations—Corporate Governance” and a copy is also
available, free of charge, in print to any shareholder who requests it. Amendments to, or waivers of the
provisions of, the Code of Conduct, if any, made with respect to any of our directors and executive officers will
be posted on our website.

Committees of the Board

Audit Committee

Members: Richard J. Swift (Chair)
Ann C. Berzin
Peter C. Godsoe
Edward E. Hagenlocker
H. William Lichtenberger
Theodore E. Martin

Key Functions:

e Review annual audited and quarterly financial statements, as well as the Company’s disclosures under
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Conditions and Results of Operations,” with
management and the independent auditors.

e Obtain and review periodic reports, at least annually, from management assessing the effectiveness of
the Company’s internal controls and procedures for financial reporting.
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e Review the Company’s processes to assure compliance with all applicable laws, regulations and
corporate policy.

e Recommend the public accounting firm to be proposed for appointment by the shareholders as our
independent auditors and review the performance of the independent auditors.

e Review the scope of the audit and the findings and approve the fees of the independent auditors.

e Approve in advance permitted audit and non-audit services to be performed by the independent
auditors.

o Satisfy itself as to the independence of the independent auditors and ensure receipt of their annual
independence statement.

The Board of Directors has determined that each member of the Audit Committee is “independent” for
purposes of the applicable rules and regulations of the SEC and as defined in the NYSE listing standards and has
determined that each member of the Audit Committee meets the qualifications of an “audit committee financial
expert,” as that term is defined by rules of the SEC.

A copy of the charter of the Audit Committee is available at our website, www.ingersollrand.com, under the
heading “Investor Relations—Corporate Governance.”

Compensation Committee

Members: Orin R. Smith (Chair)
Jared L. Cohon
Gary D. Forsee
Constance J. Horner
Tony L. White

Key Functions:
e Establish executive compensation policies.

e Review and approve the goals and objectives relevant to the compensation of the Chief Executive
Officer, evaluate the Chief Executive Officer’s performance against those goals and objectives and set
the Chief Executive Officer’s compensation level based on this evaluation.

*  Approve compensation of officers and key employees.
e Administer the Company’s equity compensation plans.

e Review and recommend changes in principal employee benefit programs.

For a discussion concerning the processes and procedures for determining executive and director
compensation and the role of executive officers and compensation consultants in determining or recommending
the amount or form of compensation, see “Compensation Discussion and Analysis” and “Compensation of
Directors”, respectively.

The Board of Directors has determined that each member of the Compensation Committee is “independent”
for purposes of the applicable rules and regulations of the SEC and as defined in the NYSE listing standards. In
addition, the Board has determined that each member of the Compensation Committee qualifies as a “Non-
Employee Director” within the meaning of Rule 16b-3 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and an “outside
director” within the meaning of Section 162(m) of the Code.

A copy of the charter of the Compensation Committee is available at our website, www.ingersollrand.com,
under the heading “Investor Relations—Corporate Governance.”
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Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee

Members:

Gary D. Forsee (Chair)
Jared L. Cohon
Constance J. Horner
Orin R. Smith

Tony L. White

Key Functions:

L]

Identify individuals qualified to become directors and recommend the candidates for all directorships.
Recommend individuals for election as officers.
Review the Company’s Corporate Governance Guidelines and make recommendations for changes.

Consider questions of independence and possible conflicts of interest of directors and executive
officers.

Take a leadership role in shaping the corporate governance of the Company.

The Board of Directors has determined that each member of the Corporate Governance and Nominating

Committe

e is “independent” for purposes of the applicable rules and regulations of the SEC and as defined in the

NYSE listing standards.

A copy of the charter of the Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee is available at our website,

www.inge

rsollrand.com, under the heading “Investor Relations—Corporate Governance.”

Finance Committee

Members:

H. William Lichtenberger (Chair)
Ann C. Berzin

Peter C. Godsoe

Edward E. Hagenlocker
Theodore E. Martin

Richard J. Swift

Key Functions:

Review proposed borrowings and issuances of securities.
Recommend to the Board the dividends to be paid on our common shares.
Review cash management policies.

Review periodic reports of the investment performance of the Company’s employee benefit plans.

The Board of Directors has determined that each member of the Finance Committee is “independent” for
purposes of the applicable rules and regulations of the SEC and as defined in the NYSE listing standards.

A copy of the charter of the Finance Committee is available at our website, www.ingersollrand.com, under
the heading “Investor Relations—Corporate Governance.”
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Board, Committee and Annual Meeting Attendance

The Board and its committees held the following number of meetings during the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2008:

6
1
Compensation COMMIIEE . . . . ..ottt ettt et e e e 9
Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee . . ... ............coouvunon... 7
Finance COMMIIEE . ... ...ttt e 7
Each incumbent director attended 85% or more of the total number of meetings of the Board and the
committees on which he or she served during the year. The Company’s non-employee directors held four
independent director meetings without management present during the fiscal year 2008.

The Company expects all Board members to attend the annual general meeting, but from time to time other
commitments prevent all directors from attending the meeting. All of the directors attended the most recent
annual general meeting of shareholders, which was held on June 4, 2008.

Compensation of Directors

Director Compensation

For fiscal year 2008, non-employee directors received an annual cash retainer of $80,000. When board or
committee meetings exceeded the regularly scheduled meetings (6 meetings for the Board and each Committee
other than Audit, and 8 meetings for the Audit Committee) or when unscheduled planning sessions were held at
the request of management, each non-employee director received an additional $2,500 for attending such meeting
or session. The chair of the Audit Committee received a $30,000 annual cash retainer and the chairs of the
Compensation Committee, Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee and Finance Committee each
received a $10,000 annual cash retainer. Each director who served as Lead Director received, on a pro-rated
basis, a $15,000 annual cash retainer and each Audit Committee member (other than the Audit Committee chair)
received a $5,000 annual cash retainer. In addition, each non-employee director was credited with common share
equivalents representing $95,000 in fair market value of Class A common shares for the 2008 fiscal year. The
common share equivalents were credited to an account maintained for each non-employee director (a “Deferred
Compensation Account”) in our Director Deferral Plan II (as described below).

Beginning in fiscal year 2009, non-employee directors will no longer defer compensation to the Director
Deferral Plans. As such, non-employee directors who have met their share ownership requirement of 20,000
shares will receive an annual retainer of $175,000 (to be paid in either cash or Class A common shares, or a
combination of both, at the option of each non-employee director). Non-employee directors who have not met
their share ownership requirement of 20,000 shares will receive at least $52,500 of the $175,000 annual retainer
in the form of Class A common shares and will have the option to elect to receive a higher percentage of their
annual retainer in the form of Class A common shares. Director compensation relating to Committee service will
remain unchanged from fiscal year 2008.

Director Deferred Compensation

The Director Deferral Plans are unfunded, non-qualified plans that enable non-employee directors to defer
receipt of all or a part of their cash retainer and other fees. In light of the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004, a
“mirror plan” for the Director Deferral Plan I was created (referred to in this proxy statement as the Director
Deferral Plan II). The purpose of this mirror plan is not to provide additional benefits to directors, but merely to
preserve the tax treatment of the original Director Deferral Plan I, which is a plan that was in place prior to
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December 31, 2004. Each director is fully vested in amounts credited to the director’s Deferred Compensation
Account. Prior to August 1, 2007, all 2007 fiscal year distributions under the Director Deferral Plans were made
in cash based on the value of the account at the time of distribution. Effective August 1, 2007, all distributions of
credited amounts deemed to be invested in Class A common shares will now be settled in Class A common
shares at the time of distribution rather than in cash. All distributions of credited amounts deemed to be invested
in other investment options will continue to be settled in cash.

In December 2008, the Board determined that it would cease deferrals of compensation into its Director
Deferral Plans, effective as of December 31, 2008.

2008 Director Compensation

The compensation paid or credited to our non-employee directors for the year ended December 31, 2008, is
summarized in the table below:

Fees earned

or paid All Other

in cash Compensation Total
Name ($)(a) ($)(b) ($)
AC. Berzin . ... ... . 100,000 95,000 195,000
JL.Cohon(C) ...ov i 51,667 55,416 107,083
G.D.Forsee ...........iiii 92,500 95,000 187,500
P.C.Godsoe . ... 92,500 95,000 187,500
E. E. Hagenlocker(c) ............c.cooiiiiiiiinon .. 54,167 55,416 109,583
CJ Horner ......... ... i 100,000 95,000 195,000
H.W. Lichtenberger ........... .. .. . ... .. . ... 107,500 95,000 202,500
TE. Martin . ......... .. 102,500 95,000 197,500
OR.Smith ...... ... ... . . . 107,500 95,000 202,500
RJI.Swift ... 125,000 95,000 220,000
TL.White ......... .. . 97,500 95,000 192,500

(a) The amounts in this column represent the $80,000 annual cash retainer, the Committee Chair retainers, the
Audit Committee Member Retainer, the Board, Committee and other meeting or session fees, and the Lead
Director fees as summarized in the table below:

Board,
Audit Committee
Committee and Other
Cash Chair Member Meeting or Lead
Retainer Retainer Retainer Session Director
($) $) $) Fees($) Fees($)
AC.Berzin ......................... 80,000 — 5,000 15,000 —
JL.Cohon.......................... 46,667 — — 5,000 —
GD.Forsee ............ ... ... ... ... 80,000 5,000 — 7,500 —
PC.Godsoe ......................... 80,000 — 5,000 7,500 —
E. E. Hagenlocker .................... 46,667 — 2,500 5,000 —
CJ Horner .......................... 80,000 5,000 — 15,000 —
H.W. Lichtenberger ................... 80,000 10,000 5,000 12,500 —
TE. Martin.......................... 80,000 — 5,000 10,000 7,500
OR.Smith .......................... 80,000 10,000 — 17,500 —
RJ.Swift ..... ... ... ... . ... ... 80,000 30,000 — 15,000 —
TL.White .......................... 80,000 — — 10,000 7,500

(b) The amounts in this column represent the $95,000 retainer provided to each non-employee director in the
form of Class A common shares for fiscal year 2008.
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(c) The compensation reflected for Dr. Cohon and Mr. Hagenlocker commenced in June 2008 when they
became directors.

For each non-employee director at December 31, 2008, the following table reflects unexercised stock
options, all of which are vested:

Stock
Options(#)
A C.BEerzin ... 9,000
JL.Cohon .. ... . 96,192
G.D.FOrsee . ... 0
P.C.GOdSOE . . oo 22.500
E.E.Hagenlocker . .. ... ... . i e 40,608
C.J HOMET . .. 0
H. W. Lichtenberger . ... ... ... e 22.500
T.E.Martin . . .. ... 22,500
O.R.Smith . ... 22,500
R. I SWIft 9,000
T.L.White .. ... 22,500
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COMPENSATION DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS AND EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Compensation Discussion and Analysis

The role of the Compensation Committee, which is composed solely of independent directors, is to oversee
the Company’s compensation plans and policies, administer its equity-based plans (including the review and
approval of stock option grants and other forms of equity compensation to executive officers) and review and
approve all compensation relating to executive officers, including the six named executive officers named in the
Summary Compensation Table (the “NEQOs”). Decisions regarding the compensation elements and amounts for
the CEO are decided exclusively by the Compensation Committee, and the CEO is not privy to this information
until decisions have been made. Decisions regarding compensation for the other executive officers are decided by
the Compensation Committee based on recommendations made by management and the CEO. In addition, the
Compensation Committee is responsible for reviewing employee benefit plans and making recommendations to
the Board of Directors for significant amendments or termination of the Company’s executive incentive
compensation plans and equity-based plans as well as its principal pension and welfare plans. The full details of
the Compensation Committee’s duties are described in the Charter of the Compensation Committee, which is
available on our website at www.ingersollrand.com.

The Compensation Committee has the authority to retain an independent compensation consultant and has
on occasion used Frederic W. Cook & Co., Inc., which the Company does not otherwise use for any other
purpose.

Since the beginning of fiscal year 2008, the Compensation Committee has addressed a number of additional
items, including:

e The continuing review and refinement of the Company’s executive compensation philosophy to reflect
its transformation following the acquisition of Trane Inc. in June 2008;

e The reconfiguration of the peer group of companies against which the Company’s executive
compensation plan is benchmarked;

e The review and refinement of the fiscal 2009 equity award program to help manage the usage of shares,
and to better align executive officer compensation with the Company’s five design principles described
below; and

¢ The recommendation to the Board of Directors to review and approve a shareholders advisory vote on
executive compensation (i.e., “say on pay”), in which shareholders can cast an annual, nonbinding vote
regarding the company’s compensation philosophy and programs.

Compensation Philosophy—Beliefs and Principles

The purpose of the Company’s executive compensation programs is to enable it to attract, retain, deploy and
focus the talents and energies of employees who are capable of meeting the current and future goals of the
Company, most notably, the creation of shareholder value.

Five design principles govern the executive compensation programs:

1. General program competitiveness:

Total compensation opportunities within the Company must serve to attract and retain top performers.
All of the Company’s executive compensation programs are based on market data to ensure their
competitiveness. We establish our program target award levels at or near the median (50t percentile) of the
markets in which we operate.
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2. Pay for performance:

A large percentage of an executive’s total compensation opportunity is contingent on, and variable
with, performance. Performance is measured on: 1) actual business unit and Company financial performance
against pre-established business plans (beginning in performance year 2009, part of the compensation
opportunity is also based on the Company’s Earnings per Share (EPS) growth relative to the S&P 500
Industrial Index) and 2) the executive’s demonstrated ability to achieve Company objectives, develop and
carry out strategic initiatives, contribute to both the growth and operational excellence of the Company, and
demonstrate collaboration in the pursuit of a one-company culture. Total compensation can exceed the
market median if performance exceeds the target. Conversely, if performance falls short of the target, total
compensation can fall below the currently prevailing market median.

3. Internal parity:

An employee’s total compensation opportunity is proportionate with work contribution, which is a
function of each individual’s role. Thus, jobs of similar value are assigned similar compensation
opportunity, based on job grading and evaluation.

4. Alignment with various business strategies:

The executive compensation programs are structured to be flexible in recognizing that individuals
within business units must focus on specific financial measures to meet the short and long term plans of the
business unit for which they are accountable. This principle, in conjunction with the Company-wide
philosophy of general competitiveness, pay for performance and internal parity, determines the award
opportunity for business unit leaders. Thus, it is not only possible but also desirable for certain sector or
business unit leaders to earn substantial awards in years when their units outperform the Company as a
whole. Conversely, if a sector or business unit fails to meet its annual plan, that sector or business unit’s
leader may earn a lesser award in that year than his or her peers in a business unit or sector that met or
exceeded its goals.

5. Shareholder alignment:

The value of the variable compensation components, i.e., annual cash incentive payments plus equity-
based awards, which make up a substantial portion of the executive’s compensation, is directly linked to the
financial performance of the Company and to the value of the Company’s Class A common shares. Thus,
the variable pay programs provide a strong incentive to create shareholder value, and establish clear
alignment of the interests of our shareholders and of the executives.

Executive Compensation Programs
Program Structure and Compensation Committee Judgment

The Company has designed the executive compensation programs in particular to reward improvement in
sales, earnings and other financial measures, as well as operational excellence and sustained individual
performance. Because we operate in an ever-changing environment that is affected by economic, technological,
regulatory and competitive factors beyond our control, the Compensation Committee may consider such factors
in its process of setting specific performance targets for annual incentive awards and in actually determining such
awards.

The Company makes decisions relating to program design and pay adjustments in the context of the guiding
principles and overall compensation objectives described above as well as market practices. To accomplish these
objectives, we must have compensation and benefits programs that provide competitive total rewards relative to
the labor markets for our executives while controlling costs for the benefit of our shareholders. We intend total
compensation opportunities to be targeted at or near the median of the markets in which we operate. The position
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of each particular executive in the targeted range may fluctuate in any given year based on salary increases,
annual incentives and equity-based plan grants, all of which are driven by attainment of individual, business unit
and corporate financial measures which are described below. In addition, the targeted range itself will vary from
year to year depending upon changes in compensation for the peer group of companies and employment market
competitiveness in general. Therefore, while the Compensation Committee believes that it is important to base
compensation decisions on the most recent data available, it retains the discretion to go above or below the
targeted award ranges for any individual or for any specific element of compensation. Although the
compensation programs provide the Compensation Committee with formulaic guidelines and a framework within
which to set a particular executive’s compensation, ultimately, the Compensation Committee uses their collective
judgment when determining precisely how much to pay that executive. Consequently, the actual amounts of
compensation that we pay to our executives may be more or less than the targeted compensation opportunity in
any given year.

Tax and Accounting Considerations

The Company generally intends the variable compensation paid to the NEOs to qualify as performance-
based within the meaning of Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code so as to be tax deductible by the
Company, which benefits our shareholders. In order to qualify as performance based, the compensation must,
among other things, be paid pursuant to a shareholder approved plan upon the attainment of objective
performance criteria. The Compensation Committee believes that tax deductibility of compensation is an
important factor, but not the sole factor, in setting executive compensation policy and in rewarding superior
executive performance. Accordingly, although the Compensation Committee generally intends to avoid the loss
of a tax deduction due to Section 162(m), it reserves the right to pay amounts that are not deductible in
appropriate circumstances. In determining variable compensation programs, the Company considers other tax
and accounting implications of particular forms of compensation such as the implications of Section 409A of the
Code governing deferred compensation arrangements and favorable accounting treatment afforded certain equity
based plans that are settled in shares; however, the forms of variable compensation utilized are determined
primarily by their effectiveness in providing maximum alignment with key strategic objectives and the interests
of our shareholders.

Timing of Awards

All equity and non-equity awards are granted at the first meeting of the Compensation Committee each year,
which is usually held the first Wednesday of February. The timing of this meeting allows management to review
the prior year performance and assemble all of the necessary information for the Compensation Committee’s
consideration. This meeting date usually follows the release of prior year earnings results. The date is not
selected or changed to increase the value of stock option awards for executives. In 2009, since the Company’s
annual earnings release was on February 11, 2009, the Compensation Committee held a telephonic meeting on
February 12, 2009 to approve the annual grant of equity awards, including stock options, which were granted and
priced on February 12, 2009. This delay was intended to enable the market to assimilate the information
contained in the earnings release of February 11, 2009, which is one day before the exercise price of the stock
options was established.
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Peer Group Comparison

The Compensation Committee periodically reviews and evaluates the executive officer compensation
practices against the practices and pay levels of other similar companies with which we compete for executive
talent. These comparisons are conducted throughout the year through a variety of methods such as: direct
analysis of the proxy statements of other diversified industrial companies (see peer group below) ranging in size
from approximately $11 billion to $58 billion in revenues, a review of compilations of survey data of companies
of similar size in a range of industries published by several independent consulting firms, and a review of
customized compensation surveys performed by independent consulting firms. No single source of information
controls the decision on compensation. The Peer Group has been revised to reflect the new company makeup
resulting from the two major divestitures in 2007 as well as the acquisition of Trane in June 2008. Some of the
companies included in these compensation surveys are the same as those comprising the Standard & Poor’s 500
Industrial Index referred to in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K under the caption “Performance
Graph.”

Diversified Industrial Peer Group Members

3M

Cummins, Inc.

Danaher Corp/DE
Dupont

Eaton Corp

Emerson Electric
Honeywell International
Illinois Tool Works Inc.
ITT Industries Inc.
Johnson Controls Inc.
Paccar Inc.

Parker Hannifin Corp
PPG Industries
Raytheon

Textron

Tyco International
United Technologies

The Compensation Committee anticipates that the peer group will change if the Company’s size or lines of
business change, or if the peer companies show changes in their businesses or operations. Any change to the
compensation peer group is subject to Compensation Committee approval.

Total Direct Compensation

An executive’s total direct compensation opportunity is comprised of four key programs: base salary, the
annual incentive matrix (“AIM”) program, the performance share program (the “PSP”) and the stock option/
restricted stock unit/ program.

Base Salaries

We determine base salaries for the Company’s executive officers, including the NEOs, by evaluating the
responsibilities of the executive officers and their competence to perform their role and by reference to the
competitive marketplace for executive talent, as described above.

The Annual Incentive Matrix (AIM) Program

The AIM program is an annual cash incentive program that provides rewards for the achievement of
pre-established annual performance objectives, which are based on the annual operating plan of the Company’s
business units, sectors, and enterprise as a whole. An annual target award level, expressed as a percentage of base
salary, is established for each participant. The target award level is based on the relative importance of each
participant’s role within the Company as well as the compensation levels of similar jobs in other comparable
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companies. The program provides annual cash awards that are contingent on, and variable with, specific
performance measures, associated with individual, business unit and enterprise performance. Awards can range
from zero to 150% of target. As previously disclosed by the Company, the Compensation Committee in August
2008 approved a change to the AIM program under which the maximum cash incentive award was increased
from 150% of the target amount to 200% of the target amount for all participants in the program, consistent with
the prevailing market practices of the peer group. In addition, the financial measure weighting will change to
50% Earnings per Share (EPS) and 50% Available Cash Flow (ACF). Both these changes are applicable to AIM
awards to be paid in February 2010, for performance year 2009.

2008 Performance Targets

For fiscal year 2008, the pre-established performance targets compared to the actual reported performance
results are as follows:

Pre-Established Performance Actual Reported

Targets Performance Results
Earnings Per Share (EPS) .............. $3.90 $ 3.34
Available Cash Flow (ACF) ............ $1.1B $654M
Return on Equity (ROE) ............... 9% 9.9%

The CEO’s 2008 AIM Award

The CEO’s AIM opportunity for the fiscal year 2008 was based on a target award level of 175% of base
salary, which for the 2008 performance period (paid in February 2009) was $2,231,250 (175% of base salary of
$1,275,000). Actual awards under the program for the 2008 performance year could vary according to
performance from zero to 150% of the target, in this case, up to $3,346,875. Performance is measured against
pre-established objectives for three financial measures and are weighted as follows:

Earnings Per Share (EPS) vs. Plan .. ...... .. .. .. . . . . 60%
Available Cash Flow (ACF) vs.Plan .. ......... . ... ... . ... ... . 20%
Return on Equity vs. Plan .. ... ... . 20%

The Compensation Committee reviews the annual performance against the financial measures as described
above, and then applies the Compensation Committee’s collective judgment regarding the CEO’s overall
performance. The calculation is as follows:

2008 Company Financial Committee CEO’s AIM
AIM Target for the Performance vs. Plan Judgment Award
CEO
Weight
¢ EPS 60%
e ACF 20%
0,
* ROE 20% , 0 to 150% of
175% of Base Salary X X Adjustment of = Target
Award
0to 150%
2008 Actual X 2008 Actual X 2008 Actual = 2008 Actual
$2,231,250 57.9% 110.3% $1,425,000
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For the fiscal year 2008 performance period, to a great extent influenced by the difficult economic climate
facing all global companies, the actual results for EPS and ACF were below the Company’s 2008 annual
operating plan; however, ROE performance exceeded the annual operation plan. Based on these financial results,
the Compensation Committee awarded the CEO an AIM award of $1,425,000 which was approximately 36%
below the target award level established for 2008, and 53% below the actual award earned for 2007 performance.

The AIM Award for Other Named Executive Officers (NEOs)

The other NEOs fall into the categories of: sector presidents or functional staff leaders (such as the Chief
Financial Officer and the General Counsel).

Sector presidents receive AIM awards that are based on a target award level expressed as a percentage of
salary, and are a function of their individual performance, the financial performance of their sector (measured by
sales, operating income (OI), available cash flow (ACF), return on invested capital (ROIC)), and the financial
performance of the enterprise as a whole. The calculation is as follows:

2008 AIM Enterprise and
Targets for Sector
Sector Individual Financial Committee
Presidents Performance Performance Judgment AIM Award
Achievements o Sales
of Pre- Adjustment
65% to 90% established LJe) of Award 0to 150%
of X | Individual X | ®ACF X = of Target
Base Salary Objectives SROIC
- 0 to
0 to 125% 125%

The relative weight assigned to each performance category varies by sector depending on the particular
business strategy and circumstances for each unit. For sector participants the emphasis is on individual and sector
performance, but with some exposure to the performance of the enterprise as a whole, that is, 10%. If the
financial performance category is at or below 75% of plan (Enterprise and/or Sector), the program produces a
zero award for that category, and that in turn results in a zero award for that category, which can significantly
impact the AIM award.

Similarly, functional staff leaders receive AIM awards that are based on a target award level, expressed as a
percentage of base salary, and are a function of their individual performance and the financial performance of the
enterprise. The calculation is as follows:

2008 AIM Enterprise
Targets for Staff Individual Financial Committee

Leaders Performance Performance Judgment AIM Award

Weight
50% to 90% Achievements of o EPS 60% Adjustment of 0to 150% of
of < Pre-established < 5 X Award _ Target
Base Individual * ACF 20%

Salary Objectives ¢ ROE 20%

0 to 125%
0to 125%

For functional staff leaders, the emphasis is on individual performance and enterprise performance
measured in terms of EPS, ACF and ROE. As with the sector presidents, if the financial performance category is
at or below 75% of plan, the program produces a zero award for that category, and that in turn results in a zero
award for that category, which can significantly impact the AIM award.
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The resulting AIM award calculations for all the NEOs are as follows:

AIM Target Actual Award as
Award Level Actual Award a % of Target
Name Title $) ($) (%)
H.L.Henkel .................... Chairman, Chief Executive 2,231,250 1,425,000 64.0%
Officer, and President
S.R.Shawley . ................... Senior Vice President and 472,500 290,559 61.5%
Chief Financial Officer
M. W.Lamach ................... President, Chief Operating 517,500 390,920 75.5%
Officer and Sector
President(a)
P.Nachtigal ..................... Senior Vice President and 393,750 227,981 57.9%
General Counsel
JR Bolch ....... ... ... ......... Senior Vice President 450,000 184,590 41.0%
JV.Gelly ... Former Chief Financial 495,000 143,303 29.0%
Officer

(a) In February 2009 Mr. Lamach was elected President and Chief Operating Officer and continues to serve as
Senior Vice President and President, Trane Commercial.

Senior Executive Performance Plan

The Senior Executive Performance Plan (the “SEPP”) is a shareholder approved plan that funds the annual
cash incentive awards (AIM) that may be granted to each of the NEOs. The pool is established based on the
profit after tax in excess of 6% Return on Equity (“ROE”). Thus, if the Company fails to generate profits in
excess of 6% ROE, no pool is created to fund the AIM awards for the NEOs. In such case, any cash incentive
awards to the NEOs are at the discretion of the Compensation Committee and would not be considered to be
made under the SEPP. Since the inception of this shareholder approved plan over a decade ago, the Company has
always generated more than sufficient profit to fund the plan, that is, well in excess of the 6% ROE threshold.
The pool established by the formula described above represents the maximum amount that the Compensation
Committee can approve as performance-based cash compensation for its NEOs in accordance with
Section 162(m) of the Code. The Compensation Committee generally exercises its discretion to pay less than the
maximum amount to the NEOs after considering the factors described in the AIM Program section above.

Performance Share Program (PSP)

The PSP program provides awards for the achievement of both pre-established annual financial performance
(EPS) and strategic initiatives of the Company. Annual target award levels, expressed as a number of Class A
common share equivalents, are established for each participant. The maximum payout opportunity is 200% of the
annual target award level. The PSP awards for the 2008 performance year have a one year vesting period and the
awards, once vested, are made in the form of Class A common shares.

As the Company previously disclosed, on October 4, 2008, the Compensation Committee approved certain
changes to the Company’s long-term incentive compensation programs to be implemented beginning with the
2009 performance year. Under the revised incentive compensation programs, the current one year performance
period under the Company’s PSP Program will be changed to three year performance periods starting with the
year 2009 in order to increase the long-term nature of incentive compensation for PSP participants. In addition,
PSP awards will be made based on the Company’s relative EPS growth as compared to the peer group companies
in the S&P 500 Industrial Index over the three year performance period. To transition between the current one
year PSP program and the revised three year PSP program, there will be a one-time PSP award with a two year
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performance period for 2009 through 2010 which will be based on the Company’s EPS growth relative to the
S&P 500 Industrial Index peer group and the publicly announced Trane acquisition synergy savings. In addition,
the Compensation Committee determined the 2008 PSP awards by placing primary emphasis on financial
objectives in light of the current economic environment. The Compensation Committee retains the authority and
discretion to make downward adjustments to the calculated PSP award amounts, either as a percentage or a dollar
amount, or not to grant any award regardless of actual performance against goals.

For fiscal year 2008, the calculation of the CEO’s PSP payment is as follows:

2008 Committee
PSP Target Financial Performance Judgment PSP Award
100,000 common Adjustment _ 0 to 200%
share equivalents X EPS vs. of Award of Target
Plan
0-200%
2008 Actual X 2008 Actual 2008 Actual 2008 Actual
100,000 55.2% 100% 55,200
The 2008 PSP calculation for the other NEOs is as follows:
Committee
2008 PSP Targets EPS Performance Judgment PSP Award
From 12,000 shares to EPS vs. Afdf“mgm 0 to 200%
14,000 shares X Plan ot Awar _ of Target
0-200%
The resulting PSP award calculation for all of the NEOs is as follows:
PSP Target EPS Committee Resulting
Award Level Factor Judgment Award
H.L.Henkel ........... ... ... ... .. .. ... .... 100,000 shares  55.2% No Adjustment 55,200 shares
S.R.Shawley . ...... ... oo 14,000 shares  55.2% No Adjustment 7,728 shares
M.W.Lamach .................... ... ... .... 12,000 shares  55.2% No Adjustment 6,624 shares
P.Nachtigal .......... ... . .. . . i 12,000 shares  55.2% No Adjustment 6,624 shares
JJR. Bolch ... ... 12,000 shares  55.2% No Adjustment 6,624 shares
LV.Gelly(@) oo 14,000 shares  55.2% No Adjustment 3,294 shares

(a) Mr. Gelly left the Company on June 4, 2008 and therefore received a pro-rated award (pro-rated at 42.6%).

As depicted above, as a result of 2008 performance being below plan, the program produced awards below
their target opportunity for all current NEOS, including the CEO.

For fiscal year 2008, the pre-established performance target for EPS was $3.90, while the fiscal year 2008
EPS actual performance used to calculate the PSP award was $3.34, that is, 85.6% of the enterprise business

plan.
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Stock Options/Restricted Stock Units

The Company’s 2008 stock option program supports the Company’s belief in the principle of pay for
performance. The Company’s stock option program had both a short-term and a long-term dimension. It was
short term in that it is an annual plan with award size based on annual performance. It was long term in that the
stock options vest one-third a year over the three years following the grant. In addition, the value created through
the rising market value of our Class A common shares over the ten-year term of the options is a reflection of the
effectiveness of our sustained long-term efforts. Stock options under the Company’s Incentive Stock Plans are
granted annually at an exercise price equal to the fair market value of Class A common shares on the date of
grant and can never be issued at less than fair market value.

On February 12, 2009, the Compensation Committee approved a change to the Company’s equity grant
approach whereby options would no longer be used as the primary equity vehicle for eligible participants (other
than the CEO(M), but instead a mix of options and restricted stock units (“RSUs”) would be utilized. The RSUs
will vest ratably over 3 years and any accrued dividend equivalents will be paid in cash at the time of vesting. As
a result of this change, eligible participants may receive (i) stock options, (i) RSUs or (iii) a combination of both
stock options and RSUs under the Company’s Incentive Stock Plan of 2007. Those participants receiving
combination grants will receive a split with 50% of the intended grant value in stock options and the balance
translated into RSUs using a 1:5 conversion ratio (one RSU for every five stock options), resulting in
approximately a 15% decrease in the total value of the combination grant.

The Compensation Committee believes that this revised approach conserves share usage under the
Company’s Incentive Stock Plan and better balances risk and reward to equity plan participants. The
Compensation Committee plans to review the Company’s equity grant policies on a regular basis to ensure the
best approach for the Company and its shareholders.

The Compensation Committee also approved on October 4, 2008 the elimination of the use of the EPS
factor to determine the number of stock option/RSUs that may be awarded. Stock option/RSU grants made in
2009 and thereafter will be forward-looking (based on the established market value for the job along with the
individual’s sustained performance measured against leadership competency-based objectives), and therefore the
use of a prior year’s financial metric is no longer used.

2008 Stock Option Award for the CEO

2008 Stock Individual Committee Stock Option
Option Target Performance Judgment Awards
200% of base

salary e Strategic
Leadership Objectives 0 to 150%
Adjustment of Target
of Award
0-150%
2008 Actual 2008 Actual 2008 Actual 2008 Actual
500,000 X 100% X 85% 425,000

For the other NEOs, the same methodology is used to calculate the stock option/RSU award with the only
difference being that the individual performance score is based on each participant’s leadership competency-
based objectives.

(M To ensure that the CEO’s variable compensation is 100% performance based, his award remains solely in
the form of stock options. The CEO’s stock option grant, awarded in February 2009, was 15% below his
target award.
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Calculation of Award for other NEOs:

2008 Stock
Stock Option Individual Committee Option/RSU
Target Performance Judgment Award

90%-125% of
either base salary

or market
midpoint Achievements of Pre-
X established Individual X = 0 to 150%
Leadership Adjustment of Target
Competency-Based of Award
Objectives
X 0-150% X

The resulting Stock Option/RSU Awards for all of the NEOs are as follows:

Actual Actual Total
2008 Stock Stock Actual Award as a
Option Option RSU % of Target

Target Award Award (%)
H.L.Henkel ....... ... ... i 500,000 425,000 N/A 85%
S.R.Shawley . ... 131,250 65,625 13,125 84%
M.W.Lamach . ... ... 132,250 66,125 13,225 84%
P.Nachtigal . ..... .. ... 96,840 48,420 9,684 84%
JJR.BoICh .. 100,000 50,000 10,000 84%
JoVLGelly(a) - oo N/A N/A N/A N/A

(a) Since Mr. Gelly left the Company on June 4, 2008, he was not eligible for an option award.

The Mix of Total Direct Compensation

The chart below shows the relative proportion of each program by executive category (based on target
award levels):

Total
Base Annual Stock Performance Variable Pay Total Direct
#In Salary Incentive  Option/RSU Share Opportunity Compensation
Category Program Program Program Program at Target at Target

Chairman, President,

CEO ............... 1 17% 29% 32% 22% 83% 100%
Other Current Named

Executive Officers . . .. 5 31% 27% 30% 12% 69% 100%
Other Current Officers &

Senior Leaders . ...... 36 42% 27% 24% 7% 58% 100%
Total Group ........... 42 21% 29% 31% 19% 79% 100%
Analysis Regarding Mix:

e Total variable pay opportunity is comprised of the AIM program, stock option/RSU program and PSP
program, and, together with the base salary, comprises the total direct compensation.

*  79% (total variable pay opportunity) of executive compensation opportunity was contingent on, and
variable with, performance against pre-established business plans, while 50% (stock option/RSU and
PSP programs) was contingent on, and variable with, stock price performance.
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*  Employees with higher levels of responsibilities had a greater portion of their pay opportunity at risk,
that is, dependent on individual, business unit, sector and Company performance.

*  83% of the CEO’s total direct compensation opportunity is contingent on performance; 69% of total
direct compensation for the other current NEOs is contingent on performance.

e As the chart clearly reflects, the Company has deliberately chosen to put less emphasis on base salary
and more emphasis on variable pay in structuring the executives’ compensation packages. Although we
do not use mathematical weightings when determining the mix of the various compensation
components, we lean heavily toward variable pay to more closely align the pay of our executives with
the creation of value for our shareholders. The value of the variable pay components (AIM, PSP and
stock option/RSU) is directly tied to Company performance, and therefore the bulk of executives’
annual total direct compensation opportunity hinges on the successful performance of the Company.
This is consistent with compensation practices of peer companies as well as general industry survey data
for companies of our size, and reflects our pay for performance principle.

Executive Deferred Compensation Plans (EDCP Plans)

The Executive Deferred Compensation Plan (the “EDCP Plan I”’) and the Executive Deferred Compensation
Plan II (the “EDCP Plan II”” and, together with the EDCP Plan I, the “EDCP Plans”) enable and encourage
eligible employees to defer receipt of a part of their annual salary, AIM award and/or PSP award in exchange for
investments in Class A common shares or mutual fund investment equivalents. Refer to the Nonqualified
Deferred Compensation table for a more detailed description of the EDCP Plans.

Share-Ownership Guidelines

A formal share-ownership program has been established by the Company, which requires that its senior-
most executives achieve and maintain ownership of Class A common shares or Class A common share
equivalents at or above a prescribed level. The requirements are as follows:

Number of

Participants Individual Ownership

as of Requirement (Shares
12/31/08 and Equivalents)
Chief Executive Officer ............ ... ... . . . . 1 150,000 shares
Executive Vice Presidents & Chief Operating Officer .......... 0 75,000 shares
Senior Vice Presidents . ................ ... ... . ... 9 40,000 shares
Corporate Vice Presidents ............ .. .. ... ........... 10 15,000 shares
Other Participants . ......... .. .. ... . . i 22 6,000 shares

The share-ownership program requires the accumulation of shares (or Class A common share equivalents)
over a five-year period starting in February 2004 (or the date the person becomes subject to share-ownership
requirements, if later) at the rate of 20% of the required level each year. Ownership credit is given for actual
Class A common shares owned, deferred compensation that is invested in Class A common shares within the
EDCP Plans, Class A common share equivalents accumulated in the qualified and non-qualified employee
savings plans and RSUs that have vested as well as share equivalents awarded under the PSP Program. Neither
stock options nor stock appreciation rights count towards meeting the share-ownership target. If executives fall
behind their scheduled accumulation level over the five years, or they fail to maintain their required level of
ownership after the five-year accumulation period, their right to exercise stock options will be limited to “buy
and hold” transactions until the required ownership level is achieved. As of March 31, 2009, all of the officers
subject to the share-ownership guidelines were in compliance with these requirements.

Executive Perquisites

The Company’s philosophy is to provide perquisites at levels consistent with prevailing market practice.
Company-leased cars are provided for business and personal use, with the estimated value associated with
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personal use taxable to the executives. Also provided are medical examinations and appropriate, physician-
recommended medical tests under the Executive Health Program. Financial counseling and tax-preparation
services, a portion of which is imputed to the executive’s income, are also provided. In addition, for security and
safety reasons and to maximize his availability for Company business, the Board of Directors requires the CEO
to travel exclusively on Company-provided aircraft for both business and personal purposes. The value
associated with this personal travel is imputed to the CEO’s income in accordance with IRS regulations. Since
the Company’s policy mandates that the CEO utilize Company-provided aircraft, the Company pays a gross-up
to reimburse federal, FICA and state taxes resulting from this imputation. The incremental cost to the Company
for perquisites is reported in “All Other Compensation” shown in the Summary Compensation Table. In addition,
if any NEO participates in the Company’s general relocation program, the benefits received as part of that
relocation are also considered perquisites by the SEC and are reported as “All Other Compensation” in the
Summary Compensation Table. These relocation benefits include a gross-up payment to reimburse applicable
taxes resulting from relocation expenses that are imputed as income to the employee, including federal, state and
FICA taxes.

Retirement Programs and Other Benefits

The Company and its subsidiaries maintain a number of defined benefit pension plans for their officers and
other employees. The purpose of the pension plans is to provide for fixed benefits upon retirement based on the
individual’s age and number of years of service. These plans® include:

e the qualified Ingersoll-Rand Pension Plan Number One (the “Pension Plan”);
e the Ingersoll-Rand Supplemental Pension Plans; and
e the Elected Officers Supplemental Programs

The Pension Plan is a funded, tax qualified, non-contributory defined benefit plan that covers the majority of
the Company’s salaried U.S. employees. The Pension Plan provides for normal retirement at age 65. Vesting
occurs after five years of service regardless of age. The formula to determine the lump sum benefit under the
Pension Plan is: 5% of final average pay (the five highest out of the last ten years of eligible compensation) for
each year of credited service. A choice for distribution between an annuity and a lump sum option is available.
For the current NEOs, based on the average of their age, service and compensation history, the average
replacement income generated by the Pension Plan, expressed as a percentage of pre-retirement annual cash
compensation, is approximately 1%.

The Supplemental Pension Plans are unfunded, non-qualified, non-contributory defined benefit restoration
plans, i.e., they provide benefits to each individual U.S. participant in the amounts which would have been
payable under the Pension Plan had payments under the Pension Plan not been subject to IRS limits on annual
compensation recognized to calculate the Pension Plan benefits. Benefits under the Supplemental Pension Plans
are available only as a lump sum after termination unless the lump sum value is deferred under the EDCP Plans
in accordance with plan provisions. Approximately 350 employees are covered under the Supplemental Pension
Plans. For the current NEOs, based on the average of their age, service and compensation history, the average
replacement income generated by the Supplemental Pension Plans, expressed as a percentage of pre-retirement
annual cash compensation, is approximately 2.6%.

@ In light of the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004, “mirror plans” for the Ingersoll-Rand Supplemental
Pension Plan (the “Supplemental Pension Plan I"’), Elected Officer Supplemental Program (the “EOSP I”)
and the EDCP Plan were created. These mirror plans are the Ingersoll-Rand Supplemental Pension Plan II
(the “Supplemental Pension Plan II”” and, together with the Supplemental Pension Plan I, the “Supplemental
Pension Plans”), the Elected Officer Supplemental Program II (the “EOSP Plan II” and, together with the
EOSP Plan I, the “EOSP Plans”) and the EDCP Plan II. The purpose of these mirror plans is not to provide
additional benefits to participants, but merely to preserve the tax treatment of the original programs, that is,
plans that were in place prior to December 31, 2004. The mirror plan benefit is calculated by subtracting the
original benefit value to avoid double-counting the benefit.
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The EOSP Plans are unfunded, non-qualified, non-contributory defined benefit plans, designed to replace a
percentage of a participant’s final average pay based on his or her age and years of service at the time of
retirement. Final average pay is defined as the sum of the individual’s current annual salary plus the average of
the individual’s three highest AIM awards during the most recent six years. No other elements of compensation
(other than salary and AIM awards) are included in the definition of the final average pay. The EOSP Plans
provide a benefit pursuant to a formula in which 1.9% of a participant’s final average pay is multiplied by the
participant’s years of service (up to a maximum of 35 years) and then reduced by the value of other retirement
benefits the participant will receive that are provided by the Company under certain qualified and non-qualified
retirement plans as well as Social Security. If additional years of service were granted to an NEO as part of his or
her employment agreement, those additional years of service are reflected on the Pension Benefits table in this
proxy statement. Participation in the EOSP Plans is limited to elected officers of the Company, of which there are
currently 19 participants. Unreduced benefits under the EOSP Plans are available at age 62 and benefits are only
available as a lump sum after termination unless the lump sum value is deferred under the EDCP Plans in
accordance with plan provisions. For the current NEOs, based on the average of their age, service and
compensation history, the average replacement income generated by the EOSP Plans, expressed as a percentage
of pre-retirement annual cash compensation, is approximately 40.1%.

The Company offers a qualified, defined contribution (401(k)) plan called the Ingersoll-Rand Company
Employee Savings Plan (the “ESP”) to its salaried and hourly U.S. workforce. The ESP is a plan that provides a
dollar for dollar Company match on the first six percent of the employee’s contributions to the ESP. The ESP has
a number of investment options and is an important component of the Company’s retirement program. For the
current NEOs, based on the average of their age, service and compensation history, the average replacement
income generated by the company match in the ESP, expressed as a percentage of pre-retirement annual cash
compensation, is approximately 0.8%.

The Company also has a non-qualified, defined contribution plan. The Ingersoll-Rand Company
Supplemental Employee Savings Plan (the “Supplemental ESP”) is an unfunded plan that makes up matching
contributions that cannot be made to the ESP due to IRS or plan limitations. The Supplemental ESP consists of
notional Company contributions only. For investment purposes, these notional contributions are deemed to be
invested in Class A common shares of the Company. There is no investment discretion in this plan.
Approximately 350 employees are covered under this plan. For the current NEOs, based on the average of their
age, service and compensation history, the average replacement income generated by the Supplemental ESP,
expressed as a percentage of pre-retirement annual cash compensation, is approximately 1.1%.

The Company provides an enhanced, executive long-term disability plan to officers and other senior leaders.
The plan provides for a higher monthly maximum than the standard group plan, a more favorable definition of
disability and has an underlying individual policy that is portable when the executive terminates.

Discontinued (Frozen) Benefit Plans

The following plans represent old legacy benefit plans that are now frozen and no longer offered to new
employees. Since several of our NEOs are long-tenured, they retain benefits under these plans, and therefore the
plans are described in detail below to provide full disclosure.

The Company established a 10-Year Annuity Program (the “10-Year Annuity Plan”) to provide additional
post-employment payments to executive officers to make up for a reduction in the amount of life insurance the
executive officers could purchase under the Company’s Group Term Life Insurance Plan. Pursuant to the
10-Year Annuity Plan, the Company has entered into arrangements with Mr. Henkel and Ms. Nachtigal under
which the Company is obligated to pay Mr. Henkel $125,000 and Ms. Nachtigal $45,000 annually for a ten-year
period commencing the later of age 62 (or 65 in the case of Ms. Nachtigal) or termination of employment with
the Company, so long as their employment with the Company is not terminated for cause and as long as they
meet certain non-competition obligations. In Mr. Henkel’s case, he must work until age 62 in order to qualify for
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this benefit. In the event of death, the benefits payable to Mr. Henkel and Ms. Nachtigal would be paid to their
respective estates to the extent not already paid. In the case of Mr. Henkel, the Company is a beneficiary of a life
insurance policy on Mr. Henkel and, based on actuarial assumptions, the life insurance proceeds receivable by
the Company will defray the costs associated with this program. Participation in the 10-Year Annuity Plan was
frozen in 1999. For the current NEOs, based on the average of their age, service and compensation history, the
average replacement income generated by the 10-Year Annuity Plan, expressed as a percentage of pre-retirement
annual cash compensation, is approximately 1.1%.

The Senior Executive Death Benefit program was established in 1988 to provide Company officers with pre
and post retirement death benefits, which had previously been provided under the Company’s Group Term Life
Insurance Plan. Under the Senior Executive Death Benefit program, the Company provides Mr. Henkel and
Ms. Nachtigal with life insurance coverage of one times annual base salary and AIM program award (increased
in certain instances to account for income tax obligations payable by the executive’s estate in respect of such
supplemental coverage). Participation in this plan was frozen in 1999.

The Company established the Estate Enhancement Program in 1998 to provide a means for executive
officers to accumulate estate assets through an insurance benefit. In accordance with the Estate Enhancement
Program, in 1999 and 2000, Ms. Nachtigal waived her right to receive $100,000 ($200,000 in the aggregate) of
distributions under the then existing PSP program. In connection with these waivers, the Company entered into
an arrangement under which it purchased life insurance policies on the life of Ms. Nachtigal, the proceeds of
which are payable to designees of Ms. Nachtigal. The program is designed in such a way that the cost of the life
insurance policies is unlikely to exceed the cost the Company would have incurred with respect to the
distributions waived by Ms. Nachtigal. Participation in this plan was frozen in 2002.

The Management Incentive Unit Plan (the “MIU Plan”) was established to provide an incentive to attract
and retain top performers and to focus the attention of the participants on shareholder value. The MIU Plan has
since been replaced with other long-term incentive awards. Participation is frozen and no new MIU awards under
this plan have been made since 1990. The MIU Plan is a non-qualified plan that provides quarterly cash
payments of dividends and accruals of Class A common share equivalents to active participants based upon the
number of MIU units previously awarded to a participant. When cash dividends are paid on the Company’s
Class A common shares, a participant is paid a cash amount equal to one-half of the dividends the participant
would have received had the participant owned one share of Class A common share for each MIU unit granted to
the participant. The remaining one-half of each cash dividend is credited to an account for the participant and is
converted into Class A common share equivalents which also are held in the participant’s MIU account. The
one-half portion of the dividend that is credited as a Class A common share equivalent is included in the pension
value of accumulated benefit column of the Pension Benefits table. Following retirement, distributions of the
Class A common share equivalents (and not the underlying MIUs granted to the participant) are made in cash
equal to the fair market value of one share of Class A common share for each Class A common share equivalent
credited to the participant’s account. There are 16 active participants remaining in the MIU Plan, one of whom is
Ms. Nachtigal. For the current NEOs, based on the average of their age, service and compensation history, the
average replacement income generated by the MIU Plan, expressed as a percentage of pre-retirement annual cash
compensation, is approximately 0.14%.

Trane Benefit Plans

When the Company purchased Trane in June 2008, the purchase agreement stipulated that we would
maintain (for a period of no less than one year for qualified plans and two years for non-qualified plans) benefit
plans that were no less favorable in the aggregate than what Trane had in place prior to the acquisition date. To
honor this commitment, the Company agreed to maintain the Trane benefit plans until the end of the covenant
period. No NEO is covered by a Trane plan.
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2008 Chief Executive Officer Compensation

Mr. Henkel’s annual salary has remained at $1,275,000 since his last increase in August 2007.

On February 12, 2009, the Compensation Committee approved incentive awards (as described above) to
Mr. Henkel as follows:

ATIM PrOQram . . ...ttt e e ettt e e e e $1,425,000
PSP Program . ....... ... .. 55,200 Class A
common share

equivalents
Stock Option Program . .......... .. . i 425,000 options

2008 Compensation of Other Named Executive Officers

During 2008, in accordance with the policies stated above, the current NEOs named in the Summary
Compensation Table, other than Mr. Henkel, were granted salary increases averaging 11.1%. Messrs. Shawley
and Lamach were promoted to new positions during 2008 and therefore the increase for these NEOs is comprised
of both a merit and a market increase. Annual cash incentive awards to these executives were granted based on
the achievement of performance objectives of the type described above, the Company’s financial performance
and the contributions made by these executives. These executives were granted annual cash incentive program
awards averaging approximately 51% of year-end salary. In addition, these executives were granted PSP program
awards in the form of Class A common share equivalents, which will vest and be issued as Class A common
shares in February 2010 (subject to continued employment if not already retirement eligible), averaging
approximately 22% of year-end salary. These awards are commensurate with the extent to which the NEOs
performed relative to the programs’ performance objectives. We did not include Mr. Gelly in these calculations
since he was only active for six months during 2008, received no salary increase and received a pro-rated PSP
award for 2008.

The NEOs were also granted stock options/RSUs in respect of the Company’s Class A common shares, as
indicated in the Grants of Plan-Based Awards table in the “Actual Stock and Option Awards” column, in
accordance with the practices referred to above.

Severance Arrangements

In connection with external recruiting of executive officers, the Company generally enters into employment
agreements that provide for severance payments upon certain terminations of those officers, other than in the
event of a change in control. Messrs. Henkel and Lamach have such arrangements.

Change In Control Provisions

The Company has entered into change-in-control agreements with its executive officers. All participants are
subject to a double trigger, meaning that payments would only be received if an employee is terminated or
resigns for “good reason” within 2 years following a change in control. The Company provides these
change-in-control agreements to its executive officers so as to allow them to act in the best interests of
shareholders in the event of a change-in-control situation without the distraction of potential negative
repercussions of a change-in-control on their own position with the Company. Refer to the Post Employment
Benefits section of the Proxy for a more detailed description of the change in control provisions.
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Compensation Committee Report

We have reviewed and discussed with management the Compensation Discussion and Analysis contained in
this proxy statement.

Based on our review and discussion, we recommended to the Board of Directors that the Compensation
Discussion and Analysis be included in this proxy statement as well as the Company’s Annual Report on Form
10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008.

COMPENSATION COMMITTEE

Orin R. Smith (Chair)
Jared L. Cohon

Gary D. Forsee
Constance J. Horner
Tony L. White
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Executive Compensation

The following table provides summary information concerning compensation paid or accrued by the

Company to or on behalf of our Chief Executive Officer, both our former and current Chief Financial Officer and
each of our three other most highly compensated executive officers (collectively, the named executive officers,
or the “NEOs”) for services rendered during the last fiscal year.

SUMMARY COMPENSATION TABLE

Change in
Pension
Non- Value and
Equity Nonqualified
Incentive Deferred All
Name and Stock Option Plan Compensation Other
Principal Salary Bonus Awards Awards Compensation Earnings Compensation
Position Year $)@) &)  Gbd)  ®© (QICY $)(e) ®® Total ($)
H.L.Henkel............... 2008 1,275,000 — 976,291 3,641,625 1,425,000 7,104,694 525,269 14,947,879
Chairman of the Board, 2007 1,231,250 — 5,204,425 2,421,311 3,000,000 2,514,481 444,790 14,816,257
President and Chief 2006 1,200,000 — — 2,747,154 5523313 8,040,996 702,934 18,214,997
Executive Officer
S.R.Shawley .............. 2008 489,583 — 136,681 2,074,407 290,559 2,516,223 1,399,554 6,907,007
Senior Vice President and 2007 416,667 — 520,442 459,122 405,425 678,044 101,629 2,581,329
Chief Financial Officer
M.W.Lamach ............. 2008 557917 — 58,577 557,529 390,920 333,436 96,743 1,995,122
Senior Vice President 2007 508,333 — 312,265 144,671 477,085 100,323 83,638 1,626,315
2006 488,333 — — 167,168 812,698 225,730 81,273 1,775,202
P.Nachtigal ............... 2008 522917 — 117,155 511,791 227,981 1,442,315 121,923 2,944,082
Senior Vice President and 2007 497,500 — 624,531 430,455 449,250 733,181 114,573 2,849,490
General Counsel 2006 468,333 — — 488,490 727,798 1,230,806 105,783 3,021,210
JJR.Bolch ................ 2008 479,167 — 58,577 435,265 184,590 171,442 349,795 1,678,836
Senior Vice President
JV.Gelly ................ 2008 235,513 — 29,591 466,280 143,303 — 895,441 1,770,128
Former Senior Vice 2007 131,522 — 111,226 55,654 148,253 63,819 22,765 533,239

President and Chief
Financial Officers (through
6/4/08)

(a)

(b)

Pursuant to the EDCP Plans, a portion of a participant’s annual salary may be deferred into a number of
investment options. A portion of the salary of Mr. Henkel (20%) was deferred into the EDCP Plans in 2006,
2007 and 2008. Amounts shown in this column are not reduced to reflect Mr. Henkel’s election to defer
receipt of his salary into the EDCP Plans.

Beginning in fiscal year 2007, the Compensation Committee decided that PSP program awards earned in
such year would be paid in stock (instead of cash) after a one-year vesting period. The amounts shown in
this column reflect the compensation costs of the PSP award for financial reporting purposes for the year
under FAS 123(R) and do not reflect amounts paid to or realized by the NEOs. For a discussion of the
assumptions made in determining the FAS 123(R) values see Note 17, “Share-Based Compensation”, to the
Company’s consolidated financial statements contained in the 2008 Annual Report. For retirement eligible
participants, the cost of the PSP award is expensed in the year of grant. For participants who are not
retirement eligible, the FAS 123(R) grant date fair value of the PSP award is spread over the number of
months of service required for the grant to become non-forfeitable, disregarding any adjustments for
potential forfeitures.

Fiscal year 2006 awards under the PSP program were made in cash and were therefore reported in the
column entitled “Non-Equity Incentive Plan Compensation.”
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()

(d)

(e)

This column as it pertains to 2006 does not reflect a benefit to the Company in its financial statements of
$784,248 as a result of an accounting change to the reporting of Mr. Henkel’s stock awards granted in 1999.
On August 2, 2006, the Compensation Committee decided that previously granted stock awards would be
settled in Class A common shares rather than cash, as was the practice in the past. Due to this change, the
Company marked down to market the value of Mr. Henkel’s stock awards due to the difference in the stock
price between the beginning of fiscal year 2006 and August 2, 2006. This one-time benefit would have the
effect of artificially reducing Mr. Henkel’s total compensation in 2006.

The amounts in this column reflect the compensation costs of stock options for financial reporting purposes
for the year under FAS 123(R) and do not reflect amounts paid to or realized by the NEOs. For a discussion
of the assumptions made in determining the FAS 123(R) values see Note 17, “Share-Based Compensation”,
to the Company’s consolidated financial statements contained in its 2008 Annual Report. For retirement
eligible participants, the entire amount of the stock option award is expensed in the year of grant. For
participants who are not retirement eligible, the grant date fair value of the options is accrued over the
number of months of service required for the grant to become non-forfeitable, disregarding any adjustments
for potential forfeitures in accordance with FAS 123(R).

For 2007 and 2008, this column only reflects the amounts earned as annual awards under the AIM program.
PSP program awards, which are paid in Class A common shares after a one-year vesting period, are listed in
the column entitled “Stock Awards.” Unless deferred into the EDCP Plans, AIM program payments are
made in cash. For 2008, no AIM payments were deferred by the NEOs.

For 2006, this column reflects the combined amounts earned as annual awards under the AIM program and
the PSP programs. Unless deferred into the EDCP Plans, payments were made in cash and, in the case of the
PSP program, were based on the value of the Class A common shares on the date of the determination of the
final award.

Amounts reported in this column reflect the aggregate increase in the actuarial present value of the benefits
under the Pension Plan, Supplemental Pension Plans, EOSP Plans, the MIU Plan and the 10-Year Annuity
Plan, as applicable. The change in pension benefits value is attributable to the additional year of service and
age, the annual AIM award and any annual salary increase. Amounts are higher for those NEOs who are
older and closer to retirement than for those who are younger and further from retirement since the period
over which the benefit is discounted to determine its present value is shorter and the impact of discounting is
therefore reduced.

In 2008, the change in pension benefits value was, to a large extent, attributable to the unanticipated change
in interest and discount rates. Decreasing interest rates, compounded by increasing discount rates, cause the
value of the lump sum under the EOSP II to increase. The change in pension benefits value that is
attributable to these provisions is $2,148,800 for Mr. Henkel. For younger NEOs, this change had a more
moderate impact. The remaining change in pension benefits value for the NEOs is attributable to an
additional year of service and age, the 2008 AIM award and any annual salary increase.

In 2007, the change in pension benefits is attributable to an additional year of service and age, the 2007 AIM
award and any annual salary increase.

In 2006, the EOSP Plan IT was amended to change the definition of final average pay to mean the sum of
(i) the individual’s current annualized salary, plus (ii) the average of the three highest AIM awards to that
individual during the most recent six years. The previous definition of final average pay was based on the
individual’s current annualized salary, plus the average of the five highest AIM awards made to that
individual during the most recent six years. No other elements of compensation (other than salary and AIM
awards) are included in the definition of the final average pay. The change in pension benefits value that is
attributable to the amendment to the definition of final average pay in the EOSP II accounted for
$4,004,633, $0 and $451,066 for Messrs. Henkel, Lamach and Ms. Nachtigal, respectively. The remaining
change in pension benefits value is attributable to an additional year of service, the 2006 AIM award and
any annual salary increase.
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)

In 2006, 2007 and 2008 there were no above-market or preferential earnings on any non-qualified deferred
compensation, and therefore no such amounts are reflected in this column.

The amounts reflected in this column include:

L]

for Ms. Nachtigal the cash portion of the dividend paid pursuant to the Company’s MIU Plan.

Company contributions to the accounts of the NEOs under the ESP, as well as amounts credited to the
accounts of such executive officers under the Supplemental ESP, which provide benefits which would
have been provided under the applicable tax-qualified plan but for Internal Revenue Code and qualified
plan restrictions on such benefits;

for Mr. Henkel and Ms. Nachtigal under the Senior Executive Death Benefit program, a portion of their
respective life insurance policy premiums representing the difference between the cost of age graded
insurance and premiums paid by such NEOs;

for Ms. Nachtigal, income recognized during the term of the split-dollar life insurance policies
purchased by the Company pursuant to the Estate Enhancement Program. The income amount is based
on the face amount of the policy and the age of the insured under the policy;

the aggregate incremental cost to the Company for providing certain perquisites to the NEOs. For
security and safety reasons and to maximize his availability for Company business, the Board of
Directors requires Mr. Henkel to travel exclusively on Company-provided aircraft for business and
personal purposes. The incremental cost to the Company of personal use of the Company aircraft is
calculated based on the hourly average variable operating costs to the Company. Variable operating
costs include fuel, maintenance, on-board catering and landing fees. The hourly average variable cost is
multiplied by the amount of time flown for personal use to derive the incremental cost. The
methodology excludes fixed costs that do not change based on usage, such as pilots’ and other
employees’ salaries, management fees and training, hanger and insurance expenses. In 2008, the
Company provided relocation benefits to Mr. Shawley, including reimbursement of household moving
expenses, payment of the full appraised value of his homes and reimbursement for documented capital
improvements made to his homes. In 2008, Mr. Bolch was also provided with relocation benefits,
including reimbursement of household moving expenses and reimbursement of home sale and purchase
closing costs. In 2007, the Company provided relocation benefits to Mr. Shawley, including
reimbursement of household moving expenses, and a monthly stipend for temporary housing to

Mr. Gelly. In 2006, the Company also provided relocation benefits to Mr. Henkel, including
reimbursement of household moving expenses and reimbursement of home sale and purchase closing
costs. The Company provides its executive officers with Company-leased cars for business and
personal use. The incremental cost of the Company-leased cars is calculated based on the lease,
insurance, fuel and maintenance costs to the Company. In addition, the Company provides its executive
officers with (i) financial counseling services, which may include tax preparation and estate planning
services, (ii) medical services through an on-site physician under the Executive Health Program and
(iii) wellness reimbursement for health club memberships;

The EDCP Plan II was amended in August 2, 2006 to eliminate the 20% supplemental amount. For all
NEOs in prior years, the 20% supplemental amounts were included in the Restricted Stock Awards
column of the Summary Compensation Table. All prior 20% supplemental amounts that had not vested
as of August 2, 2006 were accelerated. The accelerated supplemental amounts consist of 20,513 shares,
3,704 shares, 10,278 shares and 7,513 shares for Messrs. Henkel, Lamach, Shawley and Ms. Nachtigal,
respectively;

for Messrs. Henkel and Shawley and Ms. Nachtigal, the estimated year over year increase in the value
of the retiree medical plan. The increase was calculated based on the methods used for financial
statement reporting purposes;

for Mr. Henkel, those payments that reimbursed him for the income taxes payable in respect of his
personal usage of company provided aircraft;
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e for Mr. Gelly, the severance payment made to him under the terms of his employment agreement.

The following table summarizes the components of this column for fiscal year 2008:

ESP Senior

(including Executive Estate Aircraft Relocation Integration
Supple- Death Enhance- Retiree Usage  Benefits Meeting

MIU mental Benefit ment Medical Tax Tax Tax

Plan ESP) Program Program Perquisites Plan Gross-up Gross-up Gross-Up Severance Total
Name ($) ($) ($) ($) ($)(a) ($) ($) ($)(b) ($)(c) ($) ($)
H.L. Henkel . . ... — 256,500 26,458 — 212,063 3,400 26,848 — — — 525,269
S.R. Shawley .... — 53,701 — — 856,185 4,700 — 482,349 2,619 — 1,399,554
M. W. Lamach ... — 62,100 — — 31,912 — — — 2,731 — 96,743
P. Nachtigal ..... 17,948 58,330 6,209 2,373 33963 3,100 — — — — 121,923
J.R.Bolch ...... — 54,586 — — 279,291 — — 13,431 2,487 — 349,795
J.V.Gelly ...... — 23,026 — — 34,892 — — 12,523 — 825,000 895,441

(a) The following table summarizes the incremental value of each type of perquisite provided to the NEOs in fiscal year 2008:

Executive Misc. Spousal
Aircraft Financial Health Relocation Benefits for
Usage Consulting Car Usage Program Benefits Integration Meeting
Name ($) ($) ($)(@) ($) ($)(ii) ($)
H.L.Henkel ........... 168,272 10,420 29,287 4,084 — —
S.R. Shawley .......... — 9,109 16,787 2,330 826,513 1,446
M. W.Lamach ......... — 8,340 21,316 750 — 1,506
P. Nachtigal... .......... — 8,340 24,296 1,327 — —
J.R.Bolch ............ — 8,373 15,009 1,664 252,979 1,266
JLV.Gelly............. — 9,373 9,374 — 16,145 —

(i) The Executive Vehicle Program provides that after 50,000 miles or three years (whichever comes first) the executive can purchase
the Company car at book value. In 2008 Mr. Bolch, in accordance with the policy, chose to purchase his Company car. The
difference between the resale value and the book value ($4,132) is included in this column.

(i) To aid Mr. Shawley’s relocation, due to his required move to North Carolina as a result of his promotion to CFO, the Company
agreed to reimburse him for the full difference between the appraised values of his homes as well as documented capital
improvements. For Mr. Bolch, the relocation benefit amount shown above includes the loss on the sale of the property.

(b) Represents the gross-up for Mr. Shawley relating to the items in (ii) above.

(c) In October 2008 a Board of Directors meeting was held in Bermuda, and to help facilitate a spirit of cooperation among the leadership of
the combined Company (as a result of the Trane acquisition) some executive officers’ spouses also traveled to Bermuda. The amounts
reflected in this column pertain to the cost of travel, entertainment and gifts for the executive spouses.
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2008 GRANTS OF PLAN-BASED AWARDS

The following table shows all plan-based awards granted to the NEOs during fiscal 2008. This table is
supplemental to the Summary Compensation Table and is intended to complement the disclosure of stock option
awards and grants made under non-equity incentive plans in the Summary Compensation Table.

Estimated Future Payouts Estimated Future Payouts Closin Grant
Under Non-Equity Under Equity Price ng Date
Plan Awards Incentive Plan Awards

Exercise Security Fair
Actual or Base Underlying Value of
Stock Price of Options on Stock

and Option Grant and
Number Option Awards  Date Option
of Units Threshold Target Maximum Threshold Target Maximum Awards ($/Sh) ($/Sh) Awards

Name Grant Date #(@)  ($)b) ($)(b) ($)(b) #He) @) @) @  (e) () ($)(g)
H. L. Henkel

AIM .. February 15,2008 2,231,250 3,346,875

PSP ... February 15,2008 100,000 100,000 200,000 116,300 39.00 39.31 4,535,700

Options  February 15, 2008 225,000 337,500 337,500 39.00 39.31 3,641,625
S. R. Shawley

AIM .. February 15,2008 472,500 708,750

PSP ... February 15,2008 10,000 10,000 20,000 11,630 39.00 39.31 453,570

Options  February 15, 2008 45,000 67,500 48,510 39.00 39.31 523,423

Options  June 4, 2008 100,000 43.41 43.20 1,507,000
M. W. Lamach

AIM .. February 15,2008 517,500 776,250

PSP ... February 15,2008 12,000 12,000 24,000 13,956 39.00 39.31 544,284

Options  February 15, 2008 45,000 67,500 48,510 39.00 39.31 523,423

Options  June 4, 2008 100,000 43.46 42770 1,465,000
P. Nachtigal

AIM .. February 15,2008 393,750 590,625

PSP ... February 15,2008 12,000 12,000 24,000 13,956 39.00 39.31 544,284

Options  February 15, 2008 40,000 60,000 47,432 39.00 39.31 511,791
J. R. Bolch

AIM .. February 15,2008 450,000 675,000

PSP ... February 15,2008 12,000 12,000 24,000 13,956 39.00 39.31 544,284

Options  February 15, 2008 45,000 67,500 48,510 39.00 39.31 523,423
J. V. Gelly

AIM .. February 15,2008 495,000 742,500

PSP ... February 15,2008 14,000 14,000 28,000 16,282 39.00 39.31 634,998

Options  February 15, 2008 62,161 93,241 67,010 39.00 39.31 723,038

(a) The amounts in this column represent the PSP program target award levels established on February 7, 2007 (or in the case of Mr. Gelly,
October 8, 2007). For each participant in the PSP program, the target award levels are established annually in February, expressed as a number
of Class A common shares. Refer to Compensation Discussion and Analysis under the heading ‘“Performance Share Program (PSP)” for a
description of the Compensation Committee’s process for establishing PSP program target award levels.

(b) The target award levels established for the AIM program are established annually in February and are expressed as a percentage of the NEO’s
base salary. Refer to Compensation Discussion and Analysis under the heading “The Annual Incentive Matrix (AIM) Program” for a description
of the Compensation Committee’s process for establishing AIM program target award levels. The amounts reflected in the “Estimated Future
Payouts Under Non-Equity Incentive Plan Awards” columns represent the threshold, target and maximum amounts for awards under the AIM
program that were paid in February 2009, based on performance in 2008. Thus, the amounts shown in the “threshold, target and maximum”
columns reflect the range of potential payouts when the award levels were established in February 2008. The actual amounts paid pursuant to
those awards are reflected in the “Non-Equity Incentive Plan Compensation” column of the Summary Compensation Table.

(c) The amounts reflected in the “Estimated Future Payouts Under Equity Incentive Plan Awards” columns for options and PSP awards represent
the threshold, target and maximum amounts for stock option and PSP awards that were granted in February 2008, based on performance in 2007.
Thus, the amounts shown in the “threshold, target and maximum” columns reflect the range of potential stock option and PSP grants when the
award levels were established in February 2007.

(d) The amounts in these columns reflect the stock option and PSP awards granted (i) in February 2008 in connection with performance for 2007
and (ii) in June 2008 to Messrs. Shawley and Lamach, as a one-time special stock option grant, in connection with the commencement of newly-
appointed positions with the Company. For a description of the performance measures used in calculating stock option awards, see
Compensation Discussion and Analysis under the heading “Stock Options” and “Performance Share Program (PSP)”.
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®
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Stock options were granted under the Company’s Incentive Stock Plan of 2007, which require options to be granted at an exercise price
equal to the fair market value of the Class A common shares on the date of grant. The fair market value is defined in the Incentive Stock
Plan of 2007 as the average of the high and low sales price of the Company’s Class A common shares listed on the NYSE on the grant
date.

The amounts in this column reflect the closing price on the NYSE of the Company’s Class A common shares on the grant date.

The grant date fair value of the stock option awards granted in February 2008 (based on fiscal year 2007 performance) was calculated in
accordance with FAS 123(R), based on the Black-Scholes option pricing model adapted for use in valuing executive stock options. The
Company cautions that the actual amount ultimately realized by each NEO from the stock option awards will likely vary based on a
number of factors, including stock price fluctuations, differences from the valuation assumptions used and timing of exercise or
applicable vesting. The grant date fair values were determined based in part upon the following assumptions as set forth in the
Company’s consolidated financial statement contained in its 2008 Annual Report on Form 10-K:

February 15, 2008

Expected volatility .. ... .. ... . 31.50%
Risk-free rate Of TRUIN . .. .. ...ttt et 2.75%
Dividend yield ....... ... 1.54%
Time of exercise (EXpected) . .. ... ..ottt e 5.1 years

The Black-Scholes option pricing model, with the assumptions described above, indicated a stock option value of 27.7% ($10.79 per
share) of the stock value on the date of the award ($39.00 per share). See Note 17, “Share-Based Compensation”, to the Company’s
consolidated financial statements contained in its 2008 Annual Report on Form 10-K for further assumptions made in valuing stock
options.
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OUTSTANDING EQUITY AWARDS AT DECEMBER 31, 2008

Option Awards Stock Awards
Equity
Incentive Plan
Number of  Number of Awards:
Securities Securities Number of
Underlying  Underlying Securities Number of Shares Market Value of
Unexercised Unexercised  Underlying or Units of Stock Shares or Units of
Options Options Unexercised  Option Option that have Not Stock that have
# # Unearned Exercise Expiration Vested Not Vested
Exercisable Unexercisable Options Price Date # [€3)
Name (a) (b) (#) ($) (©) (d) (e)
H.L. Henkel ......... 600,000 $25.5469 3/11/2009
100,000 $26.8125 9/30/2009
250,000 $26.5157 1/2/2010
50,000 $23.3125 5/2/2010
300,000 $20.2657 1/1/2011
300,000 $20.9025 1/1/2012
370,000 $19.5250 2/4/2013
420,000 $32.1825 2/3/2014
450,000 $38.6850 2/1/2015
175,800 87,900 $ 39.425 1/31/2016
72,975 145,950 $43.1250 2/6/2017
337,500 $ 39.000 2/14/2018
S.R. Shawley ........ 40,000 $24.5469  2/2/2009
40,000 $26.5157 1/2/2010
55,000 $32.1825 2/3/2014
48,400 $38.6850 2/1/2015
35,160 17,580 $39.4250 1/31/2016
14,596 29,194 $43.1250 2/6/2017
48,510 $39.0000 2/14/2018
100,000 $43.4050 6/3/2018
M.W. Lamach ....... 100,000 $33.9200 2/16/2014
100,000 $38.6850 2/1/2015
35,160 17,580 $39.4250 1/31/2016
14,596 29,194 $43.1250 2/6/2017
48,510 $39.0000 2/14/2018
100,000 $43.4550 6/5/2018
P. Nachtigal ......... 56,000 $26.5157 1/2/2010
56,000 $20.2657 1/1/2011
30,000 $20.9025 1/1/2012
56,000 $19.5250 2/4/2013
80,000 $32.1825 2/3/2014
100,000 $38.6850 2/1/2015
31,253 15,627 $39.4250 1/31/2016
12,973 25,947 $43.1250 2/6/2017
47,432 $39.0000 2/14/2018
J.R.Bolch .......... 20,000 $39.8450 12/6/2015 7,201 124,935
35,160 17,580 $39.4250 1/31/2016
14,596 29,194 $43.1250 2/6/2017
48,510 $39.0000 2/14/2018
JV.Gelly .......... 8,333 8,333 $ 5522 3/4/2010
22,336 $ 39.00 3/4/2010

(a) Generally, options granted to all employees, including NEOs, become exercisable in three equal installments beginning
one year after the date of grant. On December 7, 2005, the Compensation Committee approved the acceleration of the
vesting of all outstanding and unvested stock options as a means to facilitate the implementation of a new accounting
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standard for expensing of stock options. Therefore, options issued on or prior to December 31, 2005, were fully vested as
of that date. At this same time, the terms and conditions of the stock options were changed to prohibit transfers
(including sales, gifts, pledges or other transfers of any kind) of any shares acquired through the exercise of the
accelerated options until the earlier of (i) the original vesting date of the option or (ii) termination of employment,
retirement, death or disability.

(b) The options granted on February 15, 2008 and February 7, 2007 vest in three equal installments. Mr. Gelly’s options,
which were granted on October 8, 2007 and February 7, 2008, vest as follows: 8,333 on October 8, 2008, 22,336 on
February 7, 2009 and the remaining 8,333 on October 8, 2009. All other outstanding options for Mr. Gelly were
cancelled when he left the Company.

(c) All of the options granted to the NEOs reflected in this table expire after ten years, thus, in each case, the actual date of
grant is ten years earlier than the expiration date listed; provided that for Mr. Gelly, the option expiration date is March 4,
2010.

(d) Mr. Bolch was granted 7,000 employment share units as part of his employment arrangement in October 2005. These
employment share units will vest in October 2009 at which point they will be automatically deferred into the EDCP Plan.
Dividends were only accrued on these employment share units until August 2007, at which point there was a change to
the accounting rules that prevented future dividends on unvested shares.

(e) The market value of the employment share units reflected in this column was computed using the closing market price of
the Company’s Class A common shares on the NYSE at December 31, 2008 ($17.35).

2008 OPTION EXERCISES AND STOCK VESTED

The following table provides information regarding the amounts received by each NEO upon exercise of
options or the vesting of stock during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2008:

Option Awards Stock Awards
Number of Value
Shares Realized on
Acquired on Exercise Number of Shares  Value Realized on
Exercise $) Acquired on Vesting Vesting

Name #) (a) (#) ($)
H.L.Henkel ............................. 0 — 0 —
S.R.Shawley . .......... ... ... .. ... ... 0 — 0 —
M. W.Lamach ............................ 0 — 0 —
P.Nachtigal ............ .. ... ... .. ... .... 0 — 0 —
JR.Bolch ...... ... .. ... ... .. 0 — 0 —
TVLGelly oo 0 — 0 —

(a) This column reflects the aggregate dollar amount realized by the NEO upon the exercise of the options and
sale of the underlying securities by determining the difference between the market price of the underlying
securities at exercise and the exercise price of the options. In 2008 no NEO exercised any option awards and
no stock awards vested.
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2008 PENSION BENEFITS

The table below represents the estimated present value of defined benefits for the plans in which each NEO
participates. For a description of each plan reported in the table, refer to Compensation Discussion and Analysis
under the heading “Retirement Programs and Other Benefits” and the section below titled “Post Employment

Benefits.”

Name

H.L. Henkel

S.R.Shawley ............

M.W.Lamach ............

P.Nachtigal

J.R. Bolch .

1. V. Gelly(i)

Number Present Payments

of Years Value of During

Credited Accumulated Last

Plan Service Benefit Fiscal
Name # [€)) Year
(a) (b) (c) $)

Pension Plan Number One 9.75 $ 132,266 $0
Supplemental Pension Plan I 5.75 $ 960,645 $0
Supplemental Pension Plan II 9.75 $ 791,315 $0
Elected Officer Supplemental Program I 18.00(d)  $13,546,326 $0
Elected Officer Supplemental Program II 22.00(d)(e) $17,402,007 $0
10-Year Retirement Agreements — $ 890,816 $0
Pension Plan Number One 34.5 $ 375,530 $0
Supplemental Pension Plan I 6.00(f) $ 113,281 $0
Supplemental Pension Plan IT 10) $ 73,193 $0
Elected Officer Supplemental Program II 35.0(g) $ 6,103,859 $0
Pension Plan Number One 4917 $ 18,366 $0
Supplemental Pension Plan 1T 4917 $ 67,171 $0
Elected Officer Supplemental Program II 22.00(h) $ 1,951,494 $0
Pension Plan Number One 29.5 $ 570,434 $0
Supplemental Pension Plan I 25.5 $ 559,845 $0
Supplemental Pension Plan IT 29.5 $ 310,742 $0
Elected Officer Supplemental Program I 26.00 $ 3,204,626 $0
Elected Officer Supplemental Program II 30.00 $ 2,819,905 $0
10-Year Retirement Agreements — $ 293,525 $0
Management Incentive Unit Plan — $ 147,352 $0
Pension Plan Number One 3.25 $ 17,398 $0
Supplemental Pension Plan IT 3.25 $ 49,229 $0
Elected Officer Supplemental Program II 4.0 $ 406,951 $0
Pension Plan Number One 0.75 $ 0 $0
Supplemental Pension Plan IT 75 $ 0 $0
Elected Officer Supplemental Program II 2.0 $ 0 $0

(a) In order to ensure compliance with the requirements of Section 409A of the Code to avoid the imposition of
an excise tax, the Compensation Committee approved (i) an amendment to the Company’s EOSP Plan I and
Supplemental Pension Plan I to freeze any further accruals under those plans, effective December 31, 2004
and (ii) the establishment of the EOSP Plan II and Supplemental Pension Plan II, effective January 1, 2005,
which plans were intended to be identical to the provisions of the EOSP Plan I and Supplemental Pension
Plan I, except for those changes necessitated by Section 409A of the Code.

(b) The years of credited service calculation under the EOSP Plans differs from the calculation used in both the
Pension Plan and the Supplemental Pension Plans. Under the EOSP Plans, a full year of service is credited
to participants for any year in which they work at least one day. In both the Pension Plan and the
Supplemental Pension Plans, the number of years of credited service is based on elapsed time (i.e. credit is

given for each month in which a participant works at least one day). In addition, as noted above, the

Supplemental Pension Plan IT and the EOSP Plan II were established as mirror plans, effective January 1,
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(©)

(d)

(e)

()

(2)

(h)

®

2005. The years of credited service used for calculating benefits under the EOSP Plan I and the
Supplemental Pension Plan I are the years of credited service through December 31, 2004. The years of
credited service used for calculating benefits under the Pension Plan, EOSP Plan II and Supplemental
Pension Plan II are the years of credited service through December 31, 2008. Years of credited service is not
used in the determination of the present value of benefits for the MIU Plan and the 10-Year Annuity Plan.
The benefits earned under the EOSP Plan I and Supplemental Pension Plan I serve as offsets to the benefits
earned under the EOSP Plan IT and Supplemental Pension Plan II; that is, there is no double counting.

The amounts in this column reflect the estimated present value of each NEO’s accumulated benefit under
the plans indicated. The calculations reflect the value of the benefits assuming that each NEO was fully
vested under each plan. The benefits were computed as of the same pension plan measurement date
(December 31, 2008) for financial statement reporting purposes, consistent with the assumptions described
in Note 14, “Pension Plans”, to the consolidated financial statements in the Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the year ended December 31, 2008.

A present value of benefits for the EOSP Plan I and Supplemental Pension Plan I is reported for those NEOs
who were vested in those plans at December 31, 2004, the date on which those plans were frozen. If an NEO
was not vested in the EOSP Plan I and/or Supplemental Pension Plan I at December 31, 2004, that NEO is
not now, nor in the future, entitled to any benefit under those plans. See the section titled “Retirement
Programs and Other Benefits” of Compensation Discussion and Analysis for more information on the
material terms and conditions of payments and benefits available under the plans, including each plan’s
normal retirement payment and benefit formula, and the specific elements of compensation included in
applying the payment and benefit formula.

Mr. Henkel’s credited years of service exceed his actual years of service by 12 years pursuant to the
provisions of his employment arrangement. Under his employment arrangement, Mr. Henkel’s benefit
accrues at a rate such that he will be entitled at age 62 to an annual benefit equivalent to 65% of his then
final average compensation (less the pension benefit he receives from his former employer). The increase in
present value of benefits resulting from those additional years of credited service and the accelerated rate at
which his benefits accrue is $22,211,357.

On February 4, 2009, the Board of Directors asked Mr. Henkel to defer his retirement from the Company
until 2010 in order to oversee and manage an orderly transition of the Chief Executive Officer role, and
agreed to set the interest rate used to determine Mr. Henkel’s lump sum pension plan payment. The Board
approved an amendment to the pension plan that would determine and fix the interest rate used to calculate
Mr. Henkel’s pension payment to be as of February 4, 2009 (which would have been the rate used if

Mr. Henkel retired in February 2009). As provided in the pension plan, the rate used in determining this
payment is the average of the monthly rates of 10 year Treasuries for the 12 months ended December 31,
2008. As a result of this change, Mr. Henkel may receive a lump sum pension payment that is larger or
smaller than what he would have actually received if the interest rate were to be determined at the date of
his retirement.

Mr. Shawley’s service in the Supplemental Plans began in January 1999 when he transferred from Thermo
King.

On June 4, 2008 the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors agreed that if Mr. Shawley remains
with the Company until age 60, any reduction for early retirement will be waived. The increase in present
value of benefits resulting from this provision is $1,073,813.

Mr. Lamach’s credited years of service exceed his actual years of service by 17 years pursuant to the
provisions of his employment arrangement. The increase in present value of benefits due to those additional
years of credited service is $1,527,356. Mr. Lamach’s benefit will be reduced by the pension benefit he
receives from his former employer.

Mr. Gelly left the Company without vesting in any of the pension benefits.
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2008 NONQUALIFIED DEFERRED COMPENSATION

The Company’s EDCP Plans are unfunded nonqualified plans maintained for the purpose of making
available the option to defer receipt of current compensation to a select group of key management or highly
compensated employees. All amounts deferred are from annual salary, AIM program awards and PSP program
awards, which the participant was entitled to receive in the year of deferral, or in the case of the PSP awards,
when the vesting requirement is met. The Company has established a non-qualified grantor trust (the “trust”),
with a bank as the trustee, to hold certain assets deferred under the EDCP Plans. These assets are considered
general assets of the Company and are available to its creditors in the event of the Company’s insolvency.
Amounts held in the trust are invested by the trustee using various investment vehicles.

Participants can elect to defer salary that would otherwise be paid during the next calendar year and to defer
the AIM and PSP program awards earned (or in the case of the PSP, awarded but unvested) in the year the
deferral was made, but otherwise would have been paid or awarded in the next calendar year. Beginning with
performance year 2009, participants eligible for PSP awards make their election to defer both AIM and PSP
awards in the year prior to the beginning of the performance period. Participants may defer up to 50% of annual
salary, up to 97% of the AIM program award and up to 100% of the PSP program award. All such deferral
elections are irrevocable. Participants are offered certain investment options (approximately 90 mutual fund
investments and Class A common shares), and can choose how they wish to allocate their deferrals among those
investment options. Participants are 100% vested in all amounts deferred, and bear the risk of any earnings and
losses on such deferred amounts.

Generally, deferred amounts may be distributed upon a termination of employment or at the time of a
scheduled in-service distribution date chosen by the participant. Under the EDCP Plans, if a participant has
completed 5 or more years of service at the time of termination, or is terminated due to long-term disability,
death or retirement, the distribution is paid in accordance with the participant’s election. If a participant
terminates with less than 5 years of service and the termination is not as a result of retirement, long-term
disability or death, the account balance for all plan years will be paid in a lump sum in the year following the
year of termination. A participant can elect to receive distributions at termination over a period of 5, 10, or
15 annual installments, or in a single lump sum. A participant can elect to receive scheduled in-service
distributions in future years that are at least 2 years after the end of the plan year for which they are deferring.
In-service distributions can be received in 2 to 5 annual installments, or if no election is made, in a lump sum.
For those participants who have investments in Class A common shares, the distribution of these assets will be in
the form of stock, not cash. In 2008, under the transition rules of Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code,
active participants in the EDCP Plans were permitted to change the date payments of previously deferred
compensation that was deferred on or after January 1, 2005 would be distributed to them.

The stock grant plan is a frozen long-term incentive plan pursuant to which participants received
performance-based stock awards. Stock awards pursuant to this plan have not been awarded since fiscal year
2001. Participants had the option of electing to defer those awards until retirement. The only current NEOs in the
plan are Messrs. Henkel and Shawley, who both chose to defer receipt of substantially all their stock awards.
Until the time of distribution, the stock awards accrue dividends in the form of Class A common shares. These
dividends are also deferred and are paid out in stock at retirement.

Please refer to Compensation Discussion and Analysis for a description of the nonqualified Supplemental
ESP.
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The following table provides information regarding contributions, earnings and balances for each NEO
under our nonqualified deferred compensation plans:

Executive Registrant Aggregate Aggregate
Contributions Contributions  Earnings in Aggregate Balance at
in Last Fiscal  in Last Fiscal Last Fiscal Withdrawals/  Last Fiscal
Year($) Year($) Year($) Distributions  Year End($)
Name (a) (b) (c) (d)
H. L. Henkel
EDCPPlanI..................... — — (6,042,199) — 3,751,238
EDCPPlanIl .................... 1,755,000 — (797,216) — 21,687,280
Supplemental ESP . ............... — 242,700 (1,098,603) — 824,064
Stock GrantPlan ................. — — (6,263,507) — 3,894,917
S. R. Shawley
EDCPPlanI..................... — — (824,609) — 511,950
EDCPPlanIl .................... — — (1,389,623) — 862,734
Supplemental ESP ................ 39,901 (139,940) — 132,624
Stock GrantPlan ................. — — (464,018) — 288,547
M. W. Lamach
EDCPII ........................ — — (1,199,605) — 744,762
Supplemental ESP ................ — 48,300 (113,945) — 89,152
P. Nachtigal
EDCPPlanI..................... — — (1,352,020) — 1,890,535
EDCPPlanIl .................... — — (261,700) — 162,474
Supplemental ESP . ............... — 44,530 (229,127) — 201,574
J. R. Bolch
EDCPPlanIl .................... (213,599) — 132,605
Supplemental ESP ................ 40,786 (57,418) — 49,714
J. V. Gelly
EDCPII ........................ — — — — —
Supplemental ESP ................ — 9,226 (1,260) — 7,990
(a) The annual salary deferrals included in this column are reflected in the Salary column of the Summary

(b)

(©)

(d)

Compensation Table. The deferrals of the AIM and PSP program awards reflected in this column were
reported in the Non-Equity Incentive Plan Compensation column of the Summary Compensation Table

included in our 2008 proxy statement. In this proxy statement the AIM award continues to be shown in the
“Non-Equity Incentive Plan Compensation” column but the PSP award is now shown in the “Stock Awards
Column”.

All of the amounts reflected in this column are included as compensation in the Summary Compensation
Table in the “All Other Compensation” column.

Amounts in this column include gains and losses on investments as well as dividends on Class A common
shares or Class A common share equivalents, and including, in the case of Messrs. Henkel and Shawley,
dividends on past stock grant awards that have been deferred and the loss in value due to the change in the
price of Class A common shares on December 31, 2007 and December 31, 2008. None of the earnings or
losses reported in this column are included in the Summary Compensation Table.

In the case of Messrs. Henkel and Shawley, this column also includes the value of the stock grants and
accumulated dividends as of December 31, 2008, based on the average of the high and low price of the
Company’s Class A common shares on December 31, 2008 ($17.44). The following table reflects the
amounts reported in this column that were previously reported as compensation to the NEOs in the
Company’s Summary Compensation Table in proxy statements for prior years. Each of Messrs. Henkel,
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Gelly, Lamach, Shawley and Bolch and Ms. Nachtigal first became NEOs and therefore had their
compensation reported in the Company’s proxy statements for fiscal years 2000 (Henkel), 2007 (Gelly),
2005 (Lamach), 2007 (Shawley), 2008 (Bolch) and 2006 (Nachtigal).

Name EDCP Plans ($) Supplemental ESP ($) Stock Grants ($)
H.L.Henkel .......................... 22,656,694 1,122,440 2,102,619
S.R.Shawley ........... ... .. ....... — 28,150 —
M.W.Lamach......................... 1,529,086 134,904 —
P.Nachtigal ............ .. ... .. ... ... 1,284,342 165,282 —
JR.Bolch ........ ... ... ... .. — — —
TV.Gelly oo — — —

POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS

The discussion and table below describe the compensation to which each of the current NEOs would be
entitled in the event of termination of such executive’s employment, including termination following a change in
control. The potential payments were determined under the terms of our plans and arrangements in effect on
December 31, 2008. The table does not include the pension benefits or nonqualified deferred compensation
amounts that would be paid to an NEO, which are set forth in the Pension Benefits table and the Nonqualified
Deferred Compensation table above, except to the extent that the NEO is entitled to an additional benefit as a
result of the termination.

In regard to terminated NEOs, the table excludes the following: the severance benefit paid to Mr. Gelly
upon his termination, as well as his Stock Award and the Non-Equity Incentive Compensation Award all of
which are set forth in the Summary Compensation Table.

Employment Arrangements and Severance. The Company does not enter into employment contracts with
all of its executives and does not have a general severance policy applicable to all executive officers. All of the
NEOs are entitled to benefits upon termination of their employment following a change in control. However,
only Messrs. Henkel and Lamach are entitled to severance in the event of their involuntary termination without
cause due to the terms of their employment agreements. Mr. Henkel would be eligible to receive a severance
equal to two times the sum of his annual base salary and the previous year’s award under the AIM program. If he
is terminated within 5 years following his employment date, Mr. Lamach would be eligible for 18 months of base
annual salary (this is reduced to 12 months of base salary if termination is after 5 years of employment) plus the
AIM program award he had earned for the year of termination and a pro-rata PSP award earned as of the
termination date as well as the acceleration of his prior year’s PSP award.

Change in Control. The Company has entered into change in control agreements with each of its officers
(a total of 19 employees) which provide for certain payments if the employment of a particular executive officer
is terminated without “cause” (as defined in the change in control agreements) or the executive officer resigns for
“good reason” (as defined in the change in control agreements), in each case, within two years following a
change in control of the Company.

A “change in control” is defined as the occurrence of any of the following events: (i) any person unrelated to
the Company becomes the beneficial owner of 30% or more of the combined voting power of the Company’s
voting stock, (ii) the directors serving at the time the change in control agreements were executed (or the
directors subsequently elected by the shareholders of the Company whose election or nomination was duly
approved by at least two-thirds of the then serving directors) fail to constitute a majority of the Board of
Directors, (iii) the consummation of a merger or consolidation of the Company with any other corporation in
which the Company’s voting securities outstanding immediately prior to such merger or consolidation represent
50% or less of the combined voting securities of the Company immediately after such merger or consolidation,
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(iv) any sale or transfer of all or substantially all of the Company’s assets, other than a sale or transfer with a
corporation where the Company owns at least 80% of the combined voting power of such corporation or its
parent after such transfer, or (v) any other event that the continuing directors determine to be a change in control;
provided however, with respect to (i) through (iv) above, there shall be no change in control if shareholders of the
Company own more than 50% of the combined voting power of the voting securities of the Company or the
surviving entity or any parent immediately following such transaction in substantially the same proportion to
each other as prior to such transaction.

Pursuant to the change in control agreement, each NEO would receive a lump sum equal to his or her annual
salary and AIM award for the completed fiscal year for which payout has not occurred. In addition, upon his or
her termination of employment within two years following a change in control, each NEO is entitled to a lump
sum severance payment from the Company equal to, in the case of the Chief Executive Officer (CEO), Chief
Operating Officer(COQO), Chief Financial Officer (CFO) and the General Counsel, three times the sum of (a) the
NEO’s annual salary in effect on the termination date, or, if higher, the annual salary in effect immediately prior
to the reduction of the NEO’s annual salary after the change in control and (b) the NEO’s target AIM award for
the year of termination or, if higher, the average of the AIM award amounts beginning three years immediately
preceding the change in control and ending on the termination date. In addition, each NEO is entitled to a lump
sum payment equal to, in the case of the CEO, COO, CFO and the General Counsel, three times the target PSP
award for the year of termination multiplied by the share price received in the change in control transaction or, if
higher, the average of the three awards beginning three years immediately preceding the change in control event
and ending on the termination date. For the performance period beginning in 2009, each NEO is entitled to a
lump sum cash payment of the PSP award equal to either three or two and one-half times (depending on their
position) of the target amount of the most recent PSP award assigned to the NEO, or if greater, the cash value of
the average of the amounts of the last three PSP awards granted and paid to the NEO immediately preceding his
or her termination. For Sector Presidents and Senior Vice Presidents (including Messrs. Lamach, and Bolch), the
calculation to arrive at the severance and target PSP award payment is a two and one-half multiple. For all other
officers, the multiple to determine the severance and target PSP award payment is two times. The officers will
also be able to participate in the Company’s welfare employee benefit programs for the severance period (three
years for Messrs. Henkel and Shawley and Ms. Nachtigal and two and one-half years for Messrs. Lamach and
Bolch). For purposes of calculating the officer’s non-qualified pension benefits, three years will be added to both
the officer’s age and service with the Company under the EOSP Plans. For purposes of determining eligibility for
post-retirement welfare benefits, the officer will be credited with any combination of additional years of service
and age, not exceeding 10 years, to the extent necessary to qualify for such benefits. Subject to certain
limitations, the Company would pay the excise taxes incurred by the individual as a result of the change in
control payment. In February 2009, Mr. Lamach was promoted to the position of COO, and therefore his
change-in-control agreement was amended at that time to reflect the three-time multiple shown above for that
position. For purposes of the Post Employment Table, however, we show the value of the benefits as of
December 31, 2008.

Enhanced Retirement Benefits. An employee is vested in EOSP Plan IT upon the earlier of (i) the
attainment of age 55 and the completion of 5 years of service, (ii) attainment of age 62, (iii) death or (iv) change
in control. A termination within two years following a change in control also triggers the payment of an enhanced
benefit (as described above). Benefits under the EOSP Plans are forfeited in the event of termination for cause. In
order to be eligible for an EOSP Plan benefit in the event of disability, a participant must remain disabled until
age 65. An employee becomes vested in both the Pension Plan and the Supplemental Pension Plan II upon the
completion of 5 years of service. To be entitled to a benefit under either the EOSP Plan I or Supplemental
Pension Plan I, an employee had to have met the vesting criteria outlined above for each plan as of December 31,
2004. As of December 31, 2008, Messrs. Lamach and Bolch were not vested in the EOSP Plans, the
Supplemental Pension Plans or the Pension Plan.

The MIU Plan follows the vesting requirements of the Pension Plan (5 years of service). Ms. Nachtigal, the
only current NEO as of December 31, 2008 who participates in this plan, is vested. In addition, under the terms
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of the 10-Year Annuity Plan, Ms. Nachtigal is vested and would be ineligible for the benefit only if she was
terminated for cause. Mr. Henkel, the only other NEO covered under the 10-Year Annuity Plan, must work until
age 62 in order to be vested in the benefit. The only other circumstances under which he would be entitled to this
benefit would be in the event of involuntary termination without cause or termination within two years following
a change in control.

Health Benefits. 1In the event of a change in control, health benefits are provided, which include the cost of
both active health and welfare benefits for the severance period (three years for Messrs. Henkel and Shawley and
Ms. Nachtigal and two and one-half years for Messrs. Lamach and Bolch), as well as retiree medical, if
applicable. In order to qualify for retiree medical benefits, an employee must have attained age 55 and completed
15 years of service at the time of termination and must have their age and years of service as of December 31,
2002, when added together, equal 50. Pursuant to his employment agreement, Mr. Henkel is eligible for retiree
medical coverage at termination. In the event of termination without cause, the NEOs who are not eligible for
retiree medical coverage would receive subsidized COBRA benefits for one year. For the three retirement
eligible NEOs (Messrs. Henkel and Shawley and Ms. Nachtigal) the cost of coverage under the change in control
scenario is less than under the other scenarios (except death) due to the coverage under health and welfare
benefits for active employees for a period of three years, which would place such NEOs at a closer point in time
to eligibility for Medicare coverage, at which point Medicare becomes the primary coverage and the Company’s
insurance becomes secondary. In the event of death, only married, retirement eligible participants
(Messrs. Henkel and Shawley) would be eligible to have health benefits extended to their beneficiaries.
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POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS TABLE

Voluntary  Involuntary
Resignation/ Without Involuntary  Change in

Retirement Cause With Cause Control Disability = Death
Compensation Components $) $) $) $) $) $)
Severance
Henkel ......... .. ... .. ... . ... 8,550,000 11,825,000
Shawley . ... 2,992,500
Lamach .......... ... ... ... .. ... ...... 1,380,000 2,731,250
Nachtigal ........... ... ... 2,756,250
Bolch ... ... . 2,375,000
2008 Earned But Unpaid AIM Award (a)
Henkel ......... ... ... .. ... .. ... .. .... 3,000,000
Shawley ...... ... .. 405,425
Lamach .......... ... ... ... .. .. ... .... 477,085
Nachtigal ........... .. i 449,250
Bolch ... . . 430,596
PSP Award Payout (b)
Henkel ......... ... ... ... .. .. ... ... .. 11,020,483
Shawley . ... i 1,102,040
Lamach ........ ... .. .. .. ... .. ... ..., 1,102,054
Nachtigal ........ ... i 1,322,465
Bolch ......... . 610,961
Value of Accelerated Vesting of Equity
Awards (c)
Henkel ....... ... ... ... ... ... .. ... ...... 2,017,805
Shawley . ........ i 201,781
Lamach ........ ... ... .. ... ... .. ..., 242,137
Nachtigal ......... ... ... ... 242,137
Bolch ... . 326,716
Enhanced Retirement Benefits (d)
Henkel ......... .. .. ... .. . ... 4,960,981
Shawley . ... 2,501,117
Lamach .......... . ... .. ... . . .. . ... . . ... 809,138
Nachtigal . ......... .. .. ... i, 662,766
Bolch ... ... . 850,216
Outplacement (e)
Henkel ........... ... ... ... ... ... .... 20,000 100,000
Shawley ...... ... ... 20,000 100,000
Lamach ............ ... ... .. .. ......... 20,000 100,000
Nachtigal ........ ... i 20,000 100,000
Bolch ... ... 20,000 100,000
Health Benefits (f)
Henkel ......... ... ... ... .. .. ... ... ... 103,000 103,000 103,000 91,951 103,000 57,000
Shawley . ... i 132,000 132,000 132,000 94,951 132,000 70,000
Lamach .......... ... .. ... .. ... ... ...... — 12,702 — 20,793 — —
Nachtigal ........ ..., 43,000 43,000 43,000 49,951 43,000 —
Bolch ... .. — 12,702 — 20,793 — —
Tax Gross-Up (g)
Henkel ......... .. ... .. ... . ... 12,024,803
Shawley . ... 3,633,900
Lamach ........ ... ... . . ... . ... . . .. 3,531,460
Nachtigal . ......... .. .. ... i, —
Bolch ... ... ... . ... 2,258,365
Total Direct Cost to Company
Henkel ......... ... .. .. ... .. .. ... ...... 103,000 8,673,000 103,000 45,041,023 103,000 57,000
Shawley ...... ... ... 132,000 152,000 132,000 11,031,714 132,000 70,000
Lamach ........... ... ... ... ......... 1,412,702 9,013,917 — —
Nachtigal ........... .. i 43,000 63,000 43,000 5,582,819 43,000 —
Bolch ... ... 32,702 6,972,647 — —
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(a)

(b)

(©)

(d)

(e)

()

(2)

These amounts represent the earned but unpaid AIM awards at December 31, 2008, the date the change in
control is assumed to have occurred.

These amounts represent the cash value of the PSP awards, based on the appropriate multiple, as of
December 31, 2008, the date the change in control is assumed to have occurred.

These amounts represent the in-the-money value of options as well as unvested employment shares and
performance stock units that would be immediately vested as a result of a termination following a change in
control. For options issued pursuant to the Incentive Stock Plan of 1998, this value was determined by
multiplying the number of unvested options by the difference between the highest fair market value of the
Class A common shares during the 60-day period preceding the change in control ($18.72) and the relevant
option exercise price. For options issued pursuant to the Incentive Stock Plan of 2007, this value was
determined by multiplying the number of unvested options by the difference between the highest fair market
value of the Class A common shares on the assumed change in control date of December 31, 2008 ($17.35)
and the relevant option exercise price. Unvested performance stock units and employment shares are valued
using the closing price of Class A common shares as of December 31, 2008 ($17.35).

Amounts for Mr. Henkel and Ms. Nachtigal also include the value of 10-Year Annuity Plan. For

Ms. Nachtigal, her amount also includes the value of her MIU Plan. In the event of a change in control of
the Company and a termination of the NEOs, the present value of the pension benefits under the EOSP
Plans, Supplemental Pension Plans, 10-Year Annuity Plan and MIU Plan would be paid out as lump sums.

While there is no additional benefit to the NEOs as a result of either voluntary retirement/resignation and/or
involuntary resignation without cause, there are differences (based on the methodology mandated by the
SEC) between the numbers that are shown in the Pension Benefits Table and those that would actually be
payable to the NEO under these termination scenarios. In all but one case (Mr. Henkel would receive an
additional amount of $274,315) all the NEOs would actually receive a slightly lower value than what is
represented in the Pension Benefits Table.

For the period following a NEO’s termination date after a change in control until December 31 of the
second calendar year following the calendar year during which the termination occurred, the Company will
reimburse the NEOs for all reasonable expenses actually incurred for professional outplacement services by
qualified consultants, subject to a maximum amount of $100,000. In the event of any other termination
without cause, the NEOs would be eligible for outplacement services for a six month period provided that
the sum of these services cannot exceed $20,000.

For the severance period following a change in control, the Company will continue to cover the cost of the
active health benefits for the NEOs. Of the NEOs, only Messrs. Henkel and Shawley and Ms. Nachtigal are
entitled to retiree medical coverage as of December 31, 2008. In the event of termination without cause, the
NEOs who are not eligible for retiree medical coverage would have subsidized COBRA for one year.

Pursuant to the change in control agreements, if any payment or distribution by the Company to the NEOs is
determined to be subject to the excise tax imposed under Section 4999 of the Code, they would be entitled
to receive from the Company a payment in an amount sufficient to place them in the same after-tax financial
position that they would have been if they had not incurred any excise tax.
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CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED PERSON TRANSACTIONS

The Company does not generally engage in transactions in which its executive officers, directors or
nominees for directors, any of their immediate family members or any of its 5% stockholders have a material
interest. Pursuant to the Company’s written related person transaction policy, any such transaction must be
reported to management, which will prepare a summary of the transaction and refer it to the Corporate
Governance and Nominating Committee for consideration and approval by the disinterested directors. The
Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee reviews the material terms of the related person transaction,
including the dollar values involved, the relationships and interests of the parties to the transaction and the
impact, if any, to a director’s independence. The Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee only
approves those transactions that are in the best interest of the Company. In addition, the Company’s Code of
Conduct, which sets forth standards applicable to all employees, officers and directors of the Company, generally
proscribes transactions that could result in a conflict of interest for the Company. Any waiver of the Code of
Conduct for any executive officer or director requires the approval of the Company’s Board of Directors. Any
such waiver will, to the extent required by law or the NYSE, be disclosed on the Company’s website at
www.ingersollrand.com or on a current report on Form 8-K. No such waivers were granted in 2008.

We have not made payments to directors other than the fees to which they are entitled as directors
(described under the heading “Compensation of Directors”) and the reimbursement of expenses relating to their
services as directors. We have made no loans to any director or officer nor have we purchased any shares of the
Company from any director or officer.

SECTION 16(a) BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP REPORTING COMPLIANCE

Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, requires our directors and officers, and
persons who beneficially own more than ten percent of the Company’s common stock, to file reports of
ownership and reports of changes in ownership with the SEC and the NYSE. To the Company’s knowledge,
based solely on its review of such forms received by the Company and written representations that no other
reports were required, all Section 16(a) filing requirements were complied with for the year 2008.
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SHAREHOLDER PROPOSALS AND NOMINATIONS

Any proposal by a shareholder intended to be presented at the 2010 annual general meeting of shareholders
of the Company must be received by the Company at the offices of Ingersoll-Rand Company at One Centennial
Avenue, Piscataway, New Jersey 08855, Attn: Secretary, no later than December 23, 2009, for inclusion in the
proxy materials relating to that meeting. Any such proposal must meet the requirements set forth in the rules and
regulations of the SEC, including Rule 14a-8, in order for such proposals to be eligible for inclusion in our 2010
proxy statement.

The Company’s Bye-laws, as amended, set forth procedures to be followed by shareholders who wish to
nominate candidates for election to the Board in connection with annual general meetings of shareholders or
pursuant to written shareholder consents or who wish to bring other business before a shareholders’ general
meeting. All such nominations must be made following written notice to the Secretary of the Company
accompanied by certain background and other information specified in the Bye-laws. In connection with any
annual general meeting, written notice of a shareholder’s intention to make such nominations must be given to
the Secretary of the Company not later than the date which is 90 days in advance of the anniversary of the
immediately preceding annual general meeting or, if the date of the annual general meeting occurs more than 30
days before, or 60 days after, the anniversary of such immediately preceding annual general meeting, not later
than the seventh day after the date on which notice of such annual general meeting is given.

The Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee will consider all shareholder recommendations for
candidates for Board membership, which should be sent to the Committee, care of the Secretary of the Company,
at the address set forth above. In addition to considering candidates recommended by shareholders, the
Committee considers potential candidates recommended by current directors, Company officers, employees and
others. As stated in the Company’s Corporate Governance Guidelines attached as Appendix C to this proxy
statement, all candidates for Board membership are selected based upon their judgment, character, achievements
and experience in matters affecting business and industry. Candidates recommended by shareholders are
evaluated in the same manner as director candidates identified by any other means.

In order for you to bring other business before a shareholder general meeting, timely notice must be
received by the Secretary of the Company within the time limits described above. The notice must include a
description of the proposed item, the reasons you believe support your position concerning the item, and other
specified matters. These requirements are separate from and in addition to the requirements you must meet to
have a proposal included in our proxy statement. The foregoing time limits also apply in determining whether
notice is timely for purposes of rules adopted by the SEC relating to the exercise of discretionary voting
authority.

If a shareholder wishes to communicate with the Board of Directors for any other reason, all such

communications should be sent in writing, care of the Secretary of the Company, or by email at
irboard@irco.com.
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HOUSEHOLDING

SEC rules permit a single set of annual reports and proxy statements to be sent to any household at which
two or more shareholders reside if they appear to be members of the same family. Each shareholder continues to
receive a separate proxy card. This procedure is referred to as householding. While the Company does not
household in mailings to its shareholders of record, a number of brokerage firms with account holders who are
Company shareholders have instituted householding. In these cases, a single proxy statement and annual report
will be delivered to multiple shareholders sharing an address unless contrary instructions have been received
from the affected shareholders. Once a shareholder has received notice from his or her broker that the broker will
be householding communications to the shareholder’s address, householding will continue until the shareholder
is notified otherwise or until the shareholder revokes his or her consent. If at any time a shareholder no longer
wishes to participate in householding and would prefer to receive a separate proxy statement and annual report,
he or she should notify his or her broker. Any shareholder can receive a copy of the Company’s proxy statement
and annual report by contacting the Company at Ingersoll-Rand Company, One Centennial Avenue, Piscataway,
New Jersey 08855, Attention: Secretary or by accessing it at the Company’s website at www.ingersollrand.com.

Shareholders who hold their shares through a broker or other nominee who currently receive multiple copies
of the proxy statement and annual report at their address and would like to request householding of their

communications should contact their broker.

Dated: April 22, 2009
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Appendix A
Directions to the Annual Meeting

The Crowne Plaza — Airport Hotel is located in the heart of Santry Demesne, which is less than 2 miles from the
Airport and less then a mile from the M1 and M 50 motorway networks. It is next to Morton Athletics Stadium
and approximately 5 miles from Dublin City centre.

Directions
Directions from the Airport

The main Airport exit leads to the airport roundabout, at this roundabout take the right exit signposted for Santry
—drive 1.5 miles through 3 sets of traffic lights — at the 4t set of traffic lights take a right turn into Santry
Demesne. The hotel is located 100 metres on the right-hand side.

Directions from Dublin City Centre / M1

Follow signs for M1 / Dublin- Airport. Take the 27 exit off the M1 signposted for Santry / Coolock and follow
signs for Santry. At the T- junction turn right, pass the Morton Athletics Stadium, turn left at the next set of
traffic lights into Santry Demesne. The hotel is located 100 metres on the right-hand side.

Directions from M50

Follow signs for M1 / City centre. From the M1 take the 15t exit signposted for Santry / Coolock , cross over the
flyover following signs for Santry. At the T- junction turn right, pass the Morton Athletics Stadium, turn left at
the next set of lights into Santry Demesne. The hotel is located 100 metres on the right-hand side.
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Appendix B

INGERSOLL-RAND COMPANY LIMITED
INCENTIVE STOCK PLAN OF 2007
(Amended and Restated as of June 3, 2009)

1. Purpose of the Plan

The purpose of the Plan is to aid the Company and its Affiliates in recruiting and retaining key employees
and directors and to motivate such employees and directors to exert their best efforts on behalf of the Company
and its Affiliates by providing incentives through the granting of Awards. The Company expects that it will
benefit from the added interest which such key employees and directors will have in the welfare of the Company
as a result of their proprietary interest in the Company’s success.

2. Definitions
The following capitalized terms used in the Plan have the respective meanings set forth in this Section:
(a) Act:  The Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or any successor thereto.

(b) Affiliate:  With respect to the Company, any Person or entity directly or indirectly controlling,
controlled by, or under common control with, the Company or any other Person or entity designated by the
Board in which the Company or an Affiliate has an interest.

(c) Associate:  With respect to a specified Person, means (i) any corporation, partnership, or other
organization of which such specified Person is an officer or partner; (ii) any trust or other estate in which
such specified Person has a substantial beneficial interest or as to which such specified Person serves as
trustee or in a similar fiduciary capacity; (iii) any relative or spouse of such specified Person, or any relative
of such spouse who has the same home as such specified Person, or who is a director or officer of the
Company or any of its Subsidiaries; and (iv) any Person who is a director, officer, or partner of such
specified Person or of any corporation (other than the Company or any wholly-owned Subsidiary),
partnership or other entity which is an Affiliate of such specified person.

(d) Award: An Option, Stock Appreciation Right or Other Stock-Based Award granted pursuant to
the Plan.

(e) Beneficial Owner: A “beneficial owner”, as such term is defined in Rule 13d-3 under the Act (or
any successor rule thereto) provided, however, that any individual, corporation, partnership, group,
association or other Person or entity which has the right to acquire any of the Company’s outstanding
securities entitled to vote generally in election of directors at any time in the future, whether such right is
contingent or absolute, pursuant to any agreement, arrangement or understanding or upon exercise of
conversion rights, warrants or options, or otherwise, shall be deemed the Beneficial Owner of such
securities.

(f) Board: The Board of Directors of the Company.

(g) Change in Control: The date (i) any individual, corporation, partnership, group, association or
other person or entity, together with its Affiliates and Associates (other than a trustee or other fiduciary
holding securities under an employee benefit plan of the Company or Ingersoll-Rand Company, a New
Jersey corporation), is or becomes the Beneficial Owner of securities of the Company representing 30% or
more of the combined voting power of the Company’s Voting Securities; (ii) the Continuing Directors fail
to constitute a majority of the members of the Board; (iii) of consummation of any transaction or series of
transactions under which the Company is merged or consolidated with any other company which is not an
Affiliate; (iv) of any sale, lease, exchange or other transfer, in one transaction or a series of related
transactions, of all, or substantially all, of the assets of the Company, other than any sale, lease, exchange or
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other transfer to any Person or entity where the Company owns, directly or indirectly, at least 80% of the
combined voting power of the Voting Securities of such Person or entity or its parent corporation after any
such transfer; or (v) any other event that the Continuing Directors determine to be a Change in Control;
provided, however, that in the case of a transaction described in (i), (iii) or (v), above, there shall not be a
Change in Control if the shareholders of the Company immediately prior to any such transaction own (or
continue to own by remaining outstanding or by being converted into Voting Securities of the surviving
entity or parent entity) more than 50% of the combined voting power of the Voting Securities of the
Company, the surviving entity or any parent of either immediately following such transaction, in
substantially the same proportion to each other as prior to such transaction.

(h) Code: The Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, or any successor thereto.

(1) Committee: The Compensation Committee of the Board (or a subcommittee thereof), or such other
committee of the Board (including, without limitation, the full Board) to which the Board has delegated
power to act under or pursuant to the provisions of the Plan.

(j) Company: Ingersoll-Rand Company Limited, a Bermuda company and any successor thereto.

(k) Continuing Directors: A director who either was a member of the Board on December 1, 2006 or
who became a member of the Board subsequent to such date and whose election, or nomination for election
by the Company’s shareholders, was Duly Approved by the Continuing Directors on the Board at the time
of such nomination or election, either by a specific vote or by approval of the proxy statement issued by the
Company on behalf of the Board in which such person is named as nominee for director, without due
objection to such nomination, but excluding, for this purpose, any such individual whose initial assumption
of office occurs as a result of an actual or threatened election contest with respect to the election or removal
of directors or other actual or threatened solicitation of proxies or consents by or on behalf of a person or
entity other than the Board.

(1) Duly Approved by the Continuing Directors: An action approved by the vote of at least two-thirds
of the Continuing Directors then on the Board.

(m) Effective Date: June 1, 2007.

(n) Fair Market Value: On a given date, (i) if there should be a public market for the Shares on such
date, the average between the high and low price of the Shares as reported on such date on the Composite
Tape of the principal national securities exchange on which such Shares are listed or admitted to trading, or,
if the Shares are not listed or admitted on any national securities exchange, the arithmetic mean of the per
Share closing bid price and per Share closing asked price on such date as quoted on the National
Association of Securities Dealers Automated Quotation System (or such market in which such prices are
regularly quoted) (the “NASDAQ”), or, if no sale of Shares shall have been reported on the Composite Tape
of any national securities exchange or quoted on the NASDAQ on such date, then the immediately
preceding date on which sales of the Shares have been so reported or quoted shall be used, and (ii) if there
should not be a public market for the Shares on such date, the Fair Market Value shall be the value
established by the Committee in good faith.

(0) Full Value Awards: Awards of Shares under the Plan (including any future grants of restricted
stock or phantom stock) that are not awards of Options; or Stock Appreciation Rights er-ethersimilar
awards. B

(p) ISO:  An Option that is also an incentive stock option granted pursuant to Section 6(d) of the Plan.
(q) Option: A stock option granted pursuant to Section 6 of the Plan.

(r) Option Price: The purchase price per Share of an Option, as determined pursuant to Section 6(a)
of the Plan.

(s) Other Stock-Based Awards: Awards granted pursuant to Section 8 of the Plan.

(t) Participant:  An employee or director who is selected by the Committee to participate in the Plan.
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(u) Performance-Based Awards: Certain Other Stock-Based Awards granted pursuant to Section 8(b)
of the Plan.

(v) Person: A “person”, as such term is used for purposes of Section 13(d) or 14(d) of the Act (or any
successor section thereto), including any Affiliate or Associate of the Company.

(w) Plan: The Ingersoll-Rand Company Limited Incentive Stock Plan of 20072007, as from time to
time amended and then in effect.

(x) Shares: Class A common shares of the Company.
(y) Stock Appreciation Right: A stock appreciation right granted pursuant to Section 7 of the Plan.

(z) Subsidiary: A subsidiary corporation, as defined in Section 424(f) of the Code (or any successor
section thereto).

(aa) Voting Securities: The outstanding securities entitled to vote generally in election of directors.

3. Shares Subject to the Plan

Subject to Section 9, the total number of Shares which may be issued under the Plan is
1+4;660;600627,500,000 and the maximum number of Shares for which ISOs may be granted is 20% of the total
number of Shares which may be issued under the Plan. h i 2 :
the-Plan;For Awards granted prior to June 3, 2009, not more than 25% shall be in the form of Full Value Awards
With respect to Awards granted on or after June 3, 2009, to the extent any Shares are granted as Full Value
Awards, each such Share shall count as 2.05 Shares for purposes of the overall limit on Shares available for
further grants under the Plan. The Shares may consist, in whole or in part, of unissued Shares or treasury Shares.
The actual issuance of Shares upon the exercise of an Award or in con51derat10n of the cancellatlon or
termination of an Award shall reduce the tota A
whfeh—afe—wbjeet—te—Awards—th&t—teﬁnm&te—eH&psenumber of Shares avallable for grant under the Plan (1) in the
case of Awards granted on or after June 3, 2009, with a reduction of 2.05 Shares for every Share previously
granted as a Full Value Award and a reduction of one Share for every Share previously granted as an Award of
Options or Stock Appreciation Rights and (ii) in the case of Awards granted prior to June 3, 2009, with a
reduction of one Share for every Share previously granted as an Award. In the event all or any portion of an
Award is terminated or lapses without the payment of consideration-may-be-granted-againunderthe Plan:, the
number of Shares not issued that were originally deducted for such Award pursuant to this Section 3 shall be
restored and may again be used for Awards under the Plan. In the event that Shares are retained or are otherwise
not issued by the Company in order to satisfy tax withholding obligations in connection with Full Value Awards
(i.e. Awards other than Stock Options or Stock Appreciation Rights), the number of Shares so retained or not
issued that were originally deducted for such Award pursuant to this Section 3 shall be restored and may again be
used for Awards under the Plan. Shares subject to an Award under the Plan may not be available again for
issuance under the Plan if such Shares are retained or otherwise not issued by the Company in order to satisfy tax
withholding obligations in connection with Stock Options or Stock Appreciation Rights.

4. Administration

The Plan shall be administered by the Committee, which may delegate its duties and powers in whole or in
part to any subcommittee thereof consisting solely of at least two individuals who are intended to qualify as
“Non-Employee Directors” within the meaning of Rule 16b-3 under the Act (or any successor rule thereto),
“independent directors” within the meaning of The New York Stock Exchange’s listed company rules and
“outside directors” within the meaning of Section 162(m) of the Code (or any successor section thereto).
Additionally, the Committee may delegate the authority to grant Awards under the Plan to any employee or
group of employees of the Company or an Affiliate; provided, however, that such delegation and grants are
consistent with applicable law and guidelines established by the Committee from time to time. Awards may, in
the discretion of the Committee, be made under the Plan in assumption of, or in substitution for, outstanding
awards previously granted by a company acquired by the Company or with which the Company and/or any of its
Affiliates combines. The number of Shares underlying such substitute awards shall be counted against the
aggregate number of Shares available for Awards under the Plan. The Committee is authorized to interpret the
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Plan, to establish, amend and rescind any rules and regulations relating to the Plan, and to make any other
determinations that it deems necessary or desirable for the administration of the Plan. The Committee may
correct any defect or supply any omission or reconcile any inconsistency in the Plan in the manner and to the
extent the Committee deems necessary or desirable. Any decision of the Committee in the interpretation and
administration of the Plan, as described herein, shall lie within its sole and absolute discretion and shall be final,
conclusive and binding on all parties concerned (including, but not limited to, Participants and their beneficiaries
or successors). The Committee shall have the full power and authority to establish the terms and conditions of
any Award consistent with the provisions of the Plan and to waive any such terms and conditions at any time
(including, without limitation, accelerating or waiving any vesting conditions). The Committee shall require
payment of any amount it may determine to be necessary for federal, state, local or other taxes as a result of the
exercise, grant or vesting of an Award. The Committee shall not be required to issue any Award under the Plan
until such obligations described in the previous sentence have been satisfied in full. In no event shall the
Committee cancel any outstanding Option or Stock Appreciation Right for the purpose of reissuing such Option
or Stock Appreciation Right to the Participant at a lower exercise price nor shall the Committee reduce the
exercise price of an outstanding Option or Stock Appreciation Right.

5. Limitations

No Award may be granted under the Plan after the tenth anniversary of the Effective Date, but Awards
theretofore granted may extend beyond that date.

6. Terms and Conditions of Options

Options granted under the Plan shall be, as determined by the Committee, non-qualified or incentive stock
options for United States federal income tax purposes, as evidenced by the related Award letters, and shall be
subject to the foregoing and the following terms and conditions and to such other terms and conditions, not
inconsistent therewith, as the Committee shall determine:

(a) Option Price. The Option Price per Share shall be determined by the Committee, but shall not be
less than 100% of the Fair Market Value of a Share on the date an Option is granted (other than as described
in Section 4).

(b) Exercisability. Options granted under the Plan shall be exercisable at such time and upon such
terms and conditions as may be determined by the Committee, but in no event shall an Option be exercisable
more than ten years after the date it is granted.

(c) Exercise of Options. Except as otherwise provided in the Plan or in an Award letter, an Option
may be exercised for all, or from time to time any part, of the Shares for which it is then exercisable. For
purposes of Section 6 of the Plan, the exercise date of an Option shall be the later of the date a notice of
exercise is received by the Company or its designee or administrative agent in the form and manner
satisfactory to the Company and, if applicable, the date payment is received by the Company or its designee
or administrative agent in accordance with the following sentence. The purchase price for the Shares as to
which an Option is exercised shall be paid to the Company as designated by the Committee, pursuant to one
or more of the following methods: (i) in cash or its equivalent (e.g., by personal check) or (ii) if there is a
public market for the Shares underlying the Options at such time, through the delivery of irrevocable
instructions to a broker to sell Shares obtained upon the exercise of the Option and to deliver promptly to
the Company an amount out of the proceeds of such sale equal to the aggregate Option Price for the Shares
being purchased.

(d) ISOs. The Committee may grant Options under the Plan that are intended to be ISOs. Such ISOs
shall comply with the requirements of Section 422 of the Code (or any successor section thereto). No ISO
may be granted to any Participant who at the time of such grant, owns more than ten percent of the total
combined voting power of all classes of stock of the Company or of any Subsidiary, unless (i) the Option
Price for such ISO is at least 110% of the Fair Market Value of a Share on the date the ISO is granted and
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(ii) the date on which such ISO terminates is a date not later than the day preceding the fifth anniversary of
the date on which the ISO is granted. Any Participant who disposes of Shares acquired upon the exercise of
an ISO either (A) within two years after the date of grant of such ISO or (B) within one year after the
transfer of such Shares to the Participant, shall notify the Company of such disposition and of the amount
realized upon such disposition. All Options granted under the Plan are intended to be nonqualified stock
options, unless the applicable Award letter expressly states that the Option is intended to be an ISO. If an
Option is intended to be an ISO, and if for any reason such Option (or portion thereof) shall not qualify as
an ISO, then, to the extent of such nonqualification, such Option (or portion thereof) shall be regarded as a
nonqualified stock option granted under the Plan; provided that such Option (or portion thereof) otherwise
complies with the Plan’s requirements relating to nonqualified stock options. In no event shall any member
of the Committee, the Company or any of its Affiliates (or their respective employees, officers or directors)
have any liability to any Participant (or any other Person) due to the failure of an Option to qualify for any
reason as an ISO.

(e) Rights with Respect to Shares. No Participant shall have any rights to dividends or other rights of
a shareholder with respect to Shares subject to an Option until the Participant has given written notice of
exercise of the Option, paid in full for such Shares and, if applicable, has satisfied any other conditions
imposed by the Committee pursuant to the Plan.

7. Terms and Conditions of Stock Appreciation Rights

(a) Grants. The Committee may grant (i) a Stock Appreciation Right independent of an Option or
(i1) a Stock Appreciation Right in connection with an Option, or a portion thereof. A Stock Appreciation
Right granted pursuant to clause (ii) of the preceding sentence (A) may only be granted at the time the
related Option is granted, (B) shall cover the same number of Shares covered by an Option (or such lesser
number of Shares as the Committee may determine) and (C) shall be subject to the same terms and
conditions as such Option except for such additional limitations as are contemplated by this Section 7 (or
such additional limitations as may be included in an Award letter).

(b) Terms. The exercise price per Share of a Stock Appreciation Right shall be an amount determined
by the Committee but in no event shall such amount be less than the Fair Market Value of a Share on the
date the Stock Appreciation Right is granted (other than as described in Section 4); provided, however, that
in the case of a Stock Appreciation Right granted in conjunction with an Option, or a portion thereof, the
exercise price may not be less than the Option Price of the related Option. Each Stock Appreciation Right
granted independent of an Option shall entitle a Participant upon exercise to a number of Shares equal to
(1) an amount that is (i) the excess of (A) the opening price of the Shares (as reported on the Composite
Tape of the principal national securities exchange on which such shares are listed or admitted to trading) on
the exercise date of one Share (the “Opening Price”) over (B) the exercise price per Share, multiplied by
(ii) the number of Shares covered by the Stock Appreciation Right, divided by (2) the Opening Price. Each
Stock Appreciation Right granted in conjunction with an Option, or a portion thereof, shall entitle a
Participant to surrender to the Company the unexercised Option, or any portion thereof, and to receive from
the Company in exchange therefore a number of Shares equal to (1) an amount that is (i) the excess of
(A) the Opening Price over (B) the Option Price per Share, multiplied by (ii) the number of Shares covered
by the Option, or portion thereof, which is surrendered, divided by (2) the Opening Price. Payment shall be
made in Shares. Stock Appreciation Rights may be exercised from time to time upon actual receipt by the
Company or its designee or administrative agent of written notice of exercise in the form and manner
satisfactory to the Company stating the number of Shares with respect to which the Stock Appreciation
Right is being exercised. The date a notice of exercise is received by the Company shall be the exercise date.
No fractional Shares will be issued in payment for Stock Appreciation Rights, but instead the number of
Shares will be rounded downward to the next whole Share.

(c) Limitations. The Committee may impose, in its discretion, such conditions regarding the
exercisability of Stock Appreciation Rights as it may deem fit, but in no event shall a Stock Appreciation
Right be exercisable more than ten years after the date it is granted.
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8. Other Stock-Based Awards

(a) Generally. The Committee, in its sole discretion, may grant or sell Awards of Shares (including
(i) Awards of Shares in lieu of any incentive or variable compensation to which a Participant is entitled to
from the Company or its Subsidiaries and (ii)) Awards of Shares granted to non-employee directors as all or
a part of their retainer or other fees for services), Awards of restricted Shares and Awards that are valued in
whole or in part by reference to, or are otherwise based on the Fair Market Value of, Shares (“Other Stock-
Based Awards”). Such Other Stock-Based Awards shall be in such form, and dependent on such conditions,
as the Committee shall determine, including, without limitation, the right to receive, or vest with respect to,
one or more Shares (or the equivalent cash value of such Shares) upon the completion of a specified period
of service, the occurrence of an event and/or the attainment of performance objectives. Other Stock-Based
Awards may be granted alone or in addition to any other Awards granted under the Plan. Subject to the
provisions of the Plan, the Committee shall determine to whom and when Other Stock-Based Awards will
be made, the number of Shares to be awarded under (or otherwise related to) such Other Stock-Based
Awards, and all other terms and conditions of such Awards (including, without limitation, the vesting
provisions thereof and provisions ensuring that all Shares so awarded and issued shall be fully paid and
non-assessable).

(b) Performance-Based Awards. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, certain Other
Stock-Based Awards, Options and Stock Appreciation Rights granted under this Section 8 may be granted
in a manner which is intended to be deductible by the Company under Section 162(m) of the Code (or any
successor section thereto) (“Performance-Based Awards”). A Participant’s Performance-Based Award shall
be determined based on the attainment of written performance goals approved by the Committee for a
performance period established by the Committee (i) while the outcome for that performance period is
substantially uncertain and (ii) no more than 90 days after the commencement of the performance period to
which the performance goal relates or, if less, the number of days which is equal to 25 percent of the
relevant performance period. The performance goals, which must be objective, shall be based upon one or
more of the following criteria: (i) consolidated earnings before or after taxes (including earnings before
interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization); (ii) net income; (iii) operating income; (iv) earnings per
Share; (v) book value per Share; (vi) return on shareholders’ equity; (vii) expense management; (viii) return
on invested capital; (ix) improvements in capital structure; (x) profitability of an identifiable business unit or
product; (xi) maintenance or improvement of profit margins or revenue; (xii) stock price; (xiii) market
share; (xiv) revenues or sales; (xv) costs; (xvi) available cash flow; (xvii) working capital; (xviii) return on
assets; (xix) total shareholder return, (xx) productivity ratios, and (xxi) economic value added. In addition,
to the degree consistent with Section 162(m) of the Code (or any successor section thereto), the performance
goals may be calculated without regard to extraordinary items. The maximum amount of a Performance-
Based Award during a calendar year to any Participant shall be: (x) with respect to Performance-Based
Awards that are Options or Stock Appreciation Rights, 750,000 Shares and (y) with respect to Performance-
Based Awards that are not Options or Stock Appreciation Rights, $10,000,000 on the date of the award. No
Performance-Based Awards will be paid for a performance period until certification is made by the
Committee that the criteria described in this Section 8(b) has been attained. The amount of the Performance-
Based Award actually paid to a given Participant may be less than (but not greater than) the amount
determined by the applicable performance goal formula, at the discretion of the Committee. The amount of
the Performance-Based Award determined by the Committee for a performance period shall be paid to the
Participant at such time as determined by the Committee in its sole discretion after the end of such
performance period; provided, however, that a Participant may, if and to the extent permitted by the
Committee and consistent with the provisions of Sections 162(m) and 409A of the Code, elect to defer
payment of a Performance-Based Award.
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9. Adjustments Upon Certain Events

Notwithstanding any other provisions in the Plan to the contrary (except for Section 17), the following
provisions shall apply to all Awards granted under the Plan:

(a) Generally. In the event of any change in the outstanding Shares after the Effective Date by reason
of any reorganization, recapitalization, merger, consolidation, spin-off, combination, combination or
transaction or exchange of Shares or other corporate exchange, or any distribution to shareholders of Shares
other than regular cash dividends or any transaction similar to the foregoing, the Committee in its sole
discretion and without liability to any person shall make such substitution or adjustment, if any, as it deems
to be equitable (subject to Section 17), as to (i) the number or kind of Shares or other securities issued or
reserved for issuance pursuant to the Plan or pursuant to outstanding Awards, (ii) the maximum number of
Shares for which Options or Stock Appreciation Rights may be granted during a calendar year to any
Participant (iii) the maximum amount of a Performance-Based Award that may be granted during a calendar
year to any Participant, (iv) the Option Price or exercise price of any stock appreciation right and/or (v) any
other affected terms of such Awards. In the event of any change in the outstanding Shares after the Effective
Date by reason of any stock split (forward or reverse) or any stock dividend, all adjustments described in the
preceding sentence shall occur automatically in accordance with the ratio of the stock split or stock
dividend, unless otherwise determined by the Committee.

(b) Change in Control. The provisions of this Section 9(b) shall apply in the event of a Change in
Control, unless otherwise determined by the Committee in connection with the grant of an Award as
reflected in the applicable Award letter.

(i) All outstanding Options and Stock Appreciation Rights shall become immediately vested and
exercisable;

(ii) All Other Stock-Based Awards shall become immediately vested and payable; and

(iii) The performance period applicable to Performance-Based Awards shall lapse and the
performance goals associated with such awards shall be deemed to have been met at their target level.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Committee may (subject to Section 17), in its sole discretion, but
shall not be obligated to, (A) cancel such Awards for fair value (as determined in the sole discretion of
the Committee) which, in the case of Options and Stock Appreciation Rights, shall equal the excess, if
any, of value of the consideration to be paid in the Change in Control transaction to holders of the same
number of Shares subject to such Options or Stock Appreciation Rights (or, if no consideration is paid
in any such transaction, the Fair Market Value of the Shares subject to such Options or Stock
Appreciation Rights) over the aggregate exercise price of such Options or Stock Appreciation Rights,
(B) provide for the issuance of substitute awards that will substantially preserve the otherwise
applicable terms of any affected Awards previously granted hereunder as determined by the Committee
in its sole discretion or (C) provide that for a period of at least 15 days prior to the Change in Control,
such Options and Stock Appreciation Rights shall be exercisable as to all shares subject thereto and
that upon the occurrence of the Change in Control, such Options and Stock Appreciation Rights shall
terminate and be of no further force and effect.

10. No Right to Employment or Awards

The granting of an Award under the Plan shall impose no obligation on the Company or any Affiliate to
continue the employment or service of a Participant and shall not lessen or affect the Company’s or Affiliate’s
right to terminate the employment or service of such Participant. No Participant or other Person shall have any
claim to be granted any Award, and there is no obligation for uniformity of treatment of Participants, or holders
or beneficiaries of Awards. The terms and conditions of Awards and the Committee’s determinations and
interpretations with respect thereto need not be the same with respect to each Participant (whether or not such
Participants are similarly situated).

B-7



11. Successors and Assigns

The Plan shall be binding on all successors and assigns of the Company and a Participant, including without
limitation, the estate of such Participant and the executor, administrator or trustee of such estate, or any receiver
or trustee in bankruptcy or representative of the Participant’s creditors.

12. Nontransferability of Awards

Unless otherwise determined by the Committee, an Award shall not be transferable or assignable by the
Participant otherwise than by will or by the laws of descent and distribution. An Award exercisable after the
death of a Participant may be exercised by the legatees, personal representatives or distributees of the Participant.

13. Amendments or Termination

The Board may amend, alter or discontinue the Plan, but no amendment, alteration or discontinuation shall
be made, (a) without the approval of the shareholders of the Company, if such action would (except as is
provided in Section 9 of the Plan), increase the total number of Shares reserved for the purposes of the Plan or
change the maximum number of Shares for which Awards may be granted to any Participant or (b) without the
consent of a Participant, if such action would diminish any of the rights of the Participant under any Award
theretofore granted to such Participant under the Plan; provided, however, that the Committee may amend the
Plan in such manner as it deems necessary to permit the granting of Awards meeting the requirements of the
Code or other applicable laws (including, without limitation, to avoid adverse tax consequences to the Company
or to Participants).

14. International Participants

With respect to Participants who reside or work outside the United States of America and who are not (and
who are not expected to be) “covered employees” within the meaning of Section 162(m) of the Code, the
Committee may, in its sole discretion, amend the terms of the Plan or Awards with respect to such Participants in
order to conform such terms with the requirements of local law or to obtain more favorable tax or other treatment
for a Participant, the Company or an Affiliate.

15. Choice of Law

The Plan shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of New Jersey without
regard to conflicts of laws.

16. Effectiveness of the Plan

The Plan shall be effective as of the Effective Date, subject to the approval of the shareholders of the
Company.

17. Section 409A

Notwithstanding other provisions of the Plan or any Award letter thereunder, no Award shall be granted,
deferred, accelerated, extended, paid out or modified under this Plan in a manner that would result in the
imposition of an additional tax under Section 409A of the Code upon a Participant. In the event that it is
reasonably determined by the Committee that, as a result of Section 409A of the Code, payments in respect of
any Award under the Plan may not be made at the time contemplated by the terms of the Plan or the relevant
Award letter, as the case may be, without causing the Participant holding such Award to be subject to taxation
under Section 409A of the Code, the Company will make such payment on the first day that would not result in
the Participant incurring any tax liability under Section 409A of the Code.
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Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, to the extent applicable, notwithstanding anything herein to
the contrary, this Plan and Awards issued hereunder shall be interpreted in accordance with Section 409A of the
Code and Department of Treasury regulations and other interpretative guidance issued thereunder, including
without limitation any such regulations or other guidance that may be issued after the Effective Date.
Notwithstanding any provision of the Plan to the contrary, in the event that the Committee determines that any
amounts payable hereunder will be taxable to a Participant under Section 409A of the Code and related
Department of Treasury guidance prior to payment to such Participant of such amount, the Company may
(a) adopt such amendments to the Plan and Awards and appropriate policies and procedures, including
amendments and policies with retroactive effect, that the Committee determines necessary or appropriate to
preserve the intended tax treatment of the benefits provided by the Plan and Awards hereunder and/or (b) take
such other actions as the Committee determines necessary or appropriate to avoid the imposition of an additional
tax under Section 409A of the Code.
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Appendix C

INGERSOLL-RAND COMPANY LIMITED
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE GUIDELINES
The following corporate governance guidelines and the charters of the committees of the Board of Directors

of the Company, have been approved by the Board of Directors and provide the framework for the corporate
governance of the Company.

Role of the Board of Directors

The Company’s business is managed under the direction of the Board of Directors. The Board delegates to
the Chief Executive Officer, and through that individual to other senior management, the authority and
responsibility for managing the Company’s business. The Board’s role is to oversee the management and
governance of the Company and to monitor senior management’s performance.

Among the Board’s core responsibilities are to:

e Select individuals for Board membership and evaluate the performance of the Board, Board
committees and individual directors.

o Select, monitor, evaluate and compensate senior management.

e Assure that management succession planning is adequate.

e Review and approve significant corporate actions.

*  Review and monitor implementation of management’s strategic plans.

e Review and approve the Company’s annual operating plans and budgets.

*  Monitor corporate performance and evaluate results compared to the strategic plans and other long-
range goals.

e Review the Company’s financial controls and reporting systems.
e Review and approve the Company’s financial statements and financial reporting.
¢ Review the Company’s ethical standards and legal compliance programs and procedures.

*  Monitor relations with shareholders, employees, and the communities in which the Company operates.

Board Size and Composition

The Board of Directors is comprised of such number of directors as the Board deems appropriate to function
efficiently as a body, subject to the Company’s Bye-Laws. The Corporate Governance and Nominating
Committee reviews the composition of the full Board to identify the qualifications and areas of expertise needed
to further enhance the composition of the Board, makes recommendations to the Board concerning the
appropriate size and needs of the Board and, on its own or with the assistance of management or others, identifies
candidates with those qualifications.

The Board is made up of a substantial majority of independent, non-employee directors and the Board
considers this to be the appropriate structure. The Board establishes principles and procedures to determine
whether or not any particular director is independent in accordance with applicable regulations and the
requirements of the New York Stock Exchange. The standards currently in effect for determining the
independence of individual directors are attached as Exhibit I to these Corporate Governance Guidelines.
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Selection of Directors

Under the Bye-Laws, the Board of Directors has authority to fill vacancies in the Board and to nominate
candidates for election by the shareholders. The screening process is done by the Corporate Governance and
Nominating Committee with direct input from the Chairman and CEO and from the other directors and from time
to time with the assistance of director search firms. In considering candidates for director, the Corporate
Governance and Nominating Committee will take into account all factors it considers appropriate, including,
among other things, breadth of experience, understanding of business and financial issues, ability to exercise
sound judgment, diversity, leadership, and achievements and experience in matters affecting business and
industry. The Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee considers the entirety of each candidate’s
credentials and believes that at a minimum each nominee should satisfy the following criteria: highest character
and integrity, experience and understanding of strategy and policy-setting, sufficient time to devote to Board
matters, and no conflict of interest that would interfere with performance as a director. Shareholders may
recommend candidates for Board membership for consideration by the Corporate Governance and Nominating
Committee. Such recommendations should be sent to the Committee, care of the Secretary of the Company.
Candidates recommended by shareholders are evaluated in the same manner as director candidates identified by
any other means.

Chairman of the Board and CEO

The positions of Chairman of the Board and CEO are held by the same person, except in unusual
circumstances. This policy has worked well for the Company. It is the Board’s view that the Company’s
corporate governance principles, the quality, stature and substantive business knowledge of the members of the
Board of Directors, as well as the Board’s culture of open communication with the CEO and senior management
are conducive to Board effectiveness with a combined Chairman and CEO position.

Committees of the Board

The Board of Directors has the following committees: Audit, Compensation, Corporate Governance and
Nominating, and Finance. All committees have written, Board-approved charters detailing their responsibilities.
Only non-employee directors serve on these committees. Chairpersons and members of these four committees
are rotated periodically, as appropriate. At each meeting of the Audit Committee, committee members meet
privately with representatives of the Company’s independent auditors, and with the Company vice president
responsible for the internal audit function. At least once a year, the Audit Committee meets privately with the
Company’s chief compliance officer.

The Audit Committee meets at least eight times each year, and the Compensation, Finance and Corporate
Governance and Nominating Committees each meet at least four times each year. Additional committee meetings
are called as required.

Board Agenda and Meetings

The Chairman and Chief Executive Officer establishes the agendas for the Board meetings in conjunction
with the lead director. Each director is free to suggest items for inclusion in the agenda, and each director is free
to raise at any Board meeting subjects that are not on the agenda for that meeting. Board materials relating to
agenda items are provided to Board members in advance of meetings to allow the directors to prepare for
discussion of matters at the meeting. The Board reviews and approves the Company’s yearly operating plan and
specific financial goals at the start of each year, and the Board monitors performance throughout the year. At an
expanded Board meeting once a year, the Board reviews in depth the Company’s long-range strategic plan. At
the expanded meeting, it also reviews senior management development and succession planning.

Management presentations are made to the Board and its committees regularly on various aspects of the
Company’s operations. The directors have unrestricted access to management and corporate staff.
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Executive Sessions of Non-employee Directors

The non-employee directors meet privately in executive sessions to review the performance of the CEO and
to review recommendations of the Compensation Committee concerning compensation for the employee
directors. The non-employee directors also meet as necessary, but at least twice a year, in executive session to
consider such matters as they deem appropriate without management being present.

Lead Director

It is the policy of the Board that a Lead Director be appointed annually on a rotating basis from among the
independent directors not concurrently serving as a chair of a Board committee. The Lead Director (a) presides at
all meetings of the directors at which the Chairman is not present, including executive sessions of the
independent directors; (b) serves as a liaison between the Chairman and the independent directors; (c) approves
the information sent to the directors; (d) with input from the other independent directors, approves Board meeting
agendas and Board meeting schedules to assure that there is sufficient time for discussion of all agenda items;

(e) has the authority to call meetings of the independent directors; and (f) is available for direct communication
from major shareholders.

Director Orientation and Continuing Education

In order to become familiar with the Company, as well as the functioning of the Board of Directors, newly-
appointed directors receive a variety of materials, including a Directors’ Handbook, which provide an overview
of the Company, its operations and organization. They are also provided with access to key management
personnel to provide additional information, including significant issues currently facing the Company.
Management will also maintain a program to keep directors up to date on legal, regulatory and other matters
relevant to their positions as directors of a large publicly-held corporation.

Director Compensation and Stock Ownership

The Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee periodically reviews the Board of Directors’
compensation and benefits and compares them with director compensation and benefits at peer companies. It is
the Board of Directors’ policy that directors receive at least 30% of their compensation in Company stock until
they own 20,000 shares and directors are then required to retain ownership of a minimum of 20,000 shares until
their resignation or retirement from the Board. It is also the policy of the Board that directors’ fees be the sole
compensation received from the Company by any non-employee director.

CEO Performance Evaluation

At the beginning of each year, the CEO presents his performance objectives for the upcoming year to the
non-employee directors for their approval. At the end of the year, the non-employee directors then meet privately
to discuss the CEO’s performance for the current year against his performance objectives. The non-employee
directors use this performance evaluation in the course of their deliberations when considering the compensation
of the CEO. The non-employee directors and the CEO then meet to review the CEO’s performance evaluation
and compensation.

Chief Executive Officer Succession

The Board of Directors views CEO selection as one of its most important responsibilities. To assist the
Board in succession planning, the CEO reports at least annually to the Board providing an assessment of senior
managers and their potential to succeed the CEO, either in the event of a sudden emergency or in anticipation of
the CEO’s future retirement.

C-3



Director Retirement

Each non-employee director must retire at the annual general meeting immediately following his or her 75th
birthday. Directors who change the occupation they held when initially elected must offer to resign from the
Board. At that time, the Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee reviews the continued
appropriateness of Board membership under the new circumstances and makes a recommendation to the Board.
Employee directors, including the CEO, must retire from the Board at the time of a change in their status as an
officer of the Company, unless the policy is waived by the Board.

Board and Board Committee Performance Evaluation

With the goal of increasing the effectiveness of the Board of Directors and its relationship to management,
the Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee assists the Board in evaluating its performance as a whole
and the performance of its committees. Each Board committee is also responsible for conducting an annual
evaluation of its performance. The effectiveness and contributions of individual directors are considered each
year when the directors stand for renomination.

Board Memberships

The CEO and other members of senior management must seek the approval of the Board (or the Board
committee to which this responsibility has been delegated), before accepting outside board memberships with
for-profit entities.

Non-employee directors must advise the Chairman of the Board and the Chair of the Corporate Governance
and Nominating Committee if they are being considered for election or appointment to a board of directors of
another publicly-held company. The Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee will determine whether
the new board membership is compatible with continued service on the Company’s Board.

Independent Advice

The Board or a committee of the Board may seek legal or other expert advice from a source independent of
management. Generally, this would be with the knowledge of the CEO.

Code of Conduct

The Company will maintain a code of business conduct and ethics which will articulate for employees,
shareholders, customers and suppliers the standards of conduct, including conflicts of interest matters, to which
the Company expects to adhere. Directors will also be required to abide by the code of conduct. Any waivers of
the conflict of interest requirements of such code in favor of a director or executive officer will be subject to
approval by the Board. In the case of the consideration of such a waiver in favor of a director, such director shall
not participate in the deliberation or vote relating to such waiver.

Internal Audit Function

The Company will maintain an internal audit function whose head will report directly to the Audit
Committee. The internal audit function is responsible for bringing a systematic, disciplined approach to evaluate
the effectiveness of risk management, control and governance processes. Its duties include monitoring the
compliance by Company operations with the Company’s internal controls and identifying any deficiencies in the
design or operation of such internal controls which could adversely affect the Company’s ability to record,
process, summarize and report financial data.
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Exhibit I
Guidelines for Determining Independence of Directors

(A) A director will not be deemed “independent” if: (i) the director is affirmatively determined by the board
of directors of the Company to have a material relationship to the Company (either directly or as a partner,
shareholder or officer of an organization that has a relationship with the Company); (ii) the director is or was
within the last three years employed by the Company or any of its subsidiaries; (iii) an immediate family member
of the director is or was within the last three years employed by the Company or any of its subsidiaries as an
executive officer; (iv) the director or an immediate family member of the director has received during any
twelve-month period within the last three years more than $120,000 in direct compensation (other than director
and Board committee fees and pension or other forms of deferred compensation not contingent on continued
service as a director from the Company and its subsidiaries), provided, however that for purposes of this
subparagraph (iv), compensation received by an immediate family member for service as an employee of the
Company (other than an executive officer) shall not be included in determining a director’s independence; (v) the
director, or an immediate family member of the director, is a current partner of a firm that is the Company’s
internal or external auditor; (vi) the director is a current employee of such audit firm; (vii) an immediate family
member of the director is a current employee of such audit firm and personally works on the Company’s audit;
(viii) the director or an immediate family member of the director was within the last three years (but is no longer)
a partner or employee of such audit firm and personally worked on the Company’s audit within that time; (ix) an
executive officer of the Company is or was within the last three years on the compensation committee of the
board of directors of a company that employed the director, or an immediate family member of the director, as an
executive officer at the same time; or (x) the director is a current employee, or has an immediate family member
who is a current executive officer, of a company or tax exempt organization having any of the relationships with
the Company described in paragraph (B) below.

(B) The following commercial or charitable relationships are considered to be material relationships that
would impair a director’s independence: (i) if a director is a current employee, or an immediate family member
of a director is a current executive officer, of another company that has made payments to, or receives payments
from, the Company for property or services in an amount which, in any of the last three fiscal years, is greater
than $1 million, or 2% of the other company’s consolidated gross revenues or (ii) if a director is a current
employee, or an immediate family member of a director is a current executive officer, of a tax exempt
organization, and the Company’s discretionary charitable contributions to the organization in the aggregate are
greater than $1 million, or 2% of that organization’s consolidated gross revenues. (The amount of any “match” of
charitable contributions under the Company’s matching gifts program will not be included in calculating the
amount of the Company’s contributions for this purpose.) The Board will annually review all commercial and
charitable relationships of directors.

(C) For relationships other than those of the types described in (A) and (B), the determination of whether the
director has a material relationship with the Company, and therefore may not be independent, will be made in
good faith by the directors who satisfy the guidelines set forth in such preceding paragraphs.

(D) For purposes of these guidelines the term “immediate family member” includes an individual’s spouse,
parents, children, siblings, mothers and fathers-in-law, sons and daughters-in-law, brothers and sisters-in-law and

anyone (other than domestic employees) who shares such individual’s house.

(E) For purposes of these guidelines the term “executive officer” shall have the same meaning as the term
“officer” in Rule 16a-1(f) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

Last Amended: February 4, 2009
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CAUTIONARY STATEMENT FOR FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS

Certain statements in this report, other than purely historical information, are “forward-looking statements”
within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, Section 27A of the Securities Act of
1933 and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. These forward-looking statements generally are
identified by the words “believe,” “project,” “expect,” “anticipate,” “estimate,” “forecast,” “outlook,” “intend,”
“strategy,” “plan,” “may,” “should,” “will,” “would,” “will be,” “will continue,” “will likely result,” or the
negative thereof or variations thereon or similar terminology generally intended to identify forward-looking
statements.

LEINT 99 ¢ 2 LEINT3

LIRS

Forward-looking statements may relate to such matters as projections of revenue, margins, expenses, tax
provisions, earnings, cash flows, benefit obligations, share repurchases or other financial items; any statements of
the plans, strategies and objectives of management for future operations, including those relating to our June
2008 acquisition of Trane Inc.; any statements concerning expected development, performance or market share
relating to our products; any statements regarding future economic conditions or performance; any statements
regarding pending investigations, claims or disputes, including those relating to the Internal Revenue Service
audit of our consolidated subsidiaries’ tax filings in 2001 and 2002; any statements of expectation or belief; and
any statements of assumptions underlying any of the foregoing. These statements are based on currently available
information and our current assumptions, expectations and projections about future events. While we believe that
our assumptions, expectations and projections are reasonable in view of the currently available information, you
are cautioned not to place undue reliance on our forward-looking statements. These statements are not guarantees
of future performance. They are subject to future events, risks and uncertainties — many of which are beyond our
control — as well as potentially inaccurate assumptions, that could cause actual results to differ materially from
our expectations and projections.

Factors that might affect our forward-looking statements include, among other things:

e Overall economic and business conditions;

* the demand for our goods and services;

* competitive factors in the industries in which we compete;

e changes in tax requirements (including tax rate changes, new tax laws and revised tax law
interpretations);

* the outcome of litigation and governmental proceedings;

¢ the effect of income tax audit settlements;

» the ratings on our debt and our ability to repay or refinance our outstanding indebtedness as it matures;

* our ability to operate within the limitations imposed by financing arrangements and to maintain our credit
ratings;

* interest rate fluctuations and other changes in borrowing costs;

» other capital market conditions, including availability of funding sources and currency exchange rate
fluctuations;

* availability of and fluctuations in the prices of key raw materials;

e economic and political conditions in international markets, including governmental changes and
restrictions on the ability to transfer capital across borders;

» the ability to achieve cost savings in connection with our strategic restructuring;

e potential further impairment of our goodwill, indefinite-lived intangible assets and/or our long-lived
assets;

* the impact of fluctuations in the price of our Class A common shares;

* changes in U.S. and non-U.S. governmental laws and regulations; and

» the possible effects on us of future legislation in the U.S. that may limit or eliminate potential U.S. tax
benefits resulting from our incorporation in a non-U.S. jurisdiction, such as Bermuda, or deny U.S.
government contracts to us based upon our incorporation in such non-U.S. jurisdiction.



Some of the material risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from our
expectations and projections are described more fully in Item 1A “Risk Factors.” You should read that
information in conjunction with “Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations” in Item 7 of this report and our Consolidated Financial Statements and related notes in Item 8 of this
report. We note such information for investors as permitted by the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of
1995. There also may be other factors that have not been anticipated or that are not described in this report,
generally because we do not perceive them to be material, which could cause results to differ materially from our
expectations.

Forward-looking statements speak only as of the date they are made, and we do not undertake to update these
forward-looking statements. You are advised, however, to review any further disclosures we make on related
subjects in our periodic filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission.



PARTI

Item 1. BUSINESS

Overview

Ingersoll-Rand Company Limited (IR-Limited), a Bermuda company, and its consolidated subsidiaries (we, our,
the Company) is a diversified, global company that provides products, services and solutions to enhance the
quality and comfort of air in homes and buildings, transport and protect food and perishables, secure homes and
commercial properties, and increase industrial productivity and efficiency. Our business segments consist of Air
Conditioning Systems and Services, Climate Control Technologies, Industrial Technologies and Security
Technologies, each with strong brands and leading positions within their respective markets. We generate
revenue and cash primarily through the design, manufacture, sale and service of a diverse portfolio of industrial
and commercial products that include well-recognized, premium brand names such as Club Car®, Hussmann®,
Ingersoll-Rand®, Schlage®, Thermo King® and Trane®.

We are dedicated to inspiring progress for our customers, shareholders, employees and communities by
achieving:

*  Dramatic Growth, by focusing on innovative solutions for our customers;
*  Operational Excellence, by pursuing continuous improvement in all of our operations; and

* Dual Citizenship, by bringing together the talents of all Ingersoll Rand people to leverage the capabilities
of our global enterprise.

To achieve these goals and to become a more diversified company with strong growth prospects, we transformed
our enterprise portfolio by divesting cyclical, low-growth and asset-intensive businesses. In addition, our
acquisition strategy has helped deliver more consistent revenue and earnings performance across all phases of the
economic cycle. Aside from our portfolio transformation, we continue to focus on increasing our recurring
revenue stream, which includes revenues from parts, service, used equipment and rentals. We also intend to
continuously improve the efficiencies, capabilities, products and services of our high-potential businesses.

Recent Acquisitions and Divestitures

On June 5, 2008 (the Acquisition Date), we completed our acquisition of 100% of the outstanding common
shares of Trane Inc. (Trane). Trane, previously named American Standard Companies Inc., provides systems and
services that enhance the quality and comfort of the air in homes and buildings around the world. Trane’s
systems and services have leading positions in commercial, residential, institutional and industrial markets; a
reputation for reliability, high quality and product innovation; and a powerful distribution network. The total cost
of the acquisition was approximately $9.6 billion, which was funded by a combination of cash on hand,
commercial paper and a 364-day senior unsecured bridge loan facility.

On November 30, 2007, we completed the sale of our Bobcat, Utility Equipment and Attachments business units
(collectively, Compact Equipment) to Doosan Infracore for cash proceeds of approximately $4.9 billion, subject
to post-closing purchase price adjustments. Compact Equipment manufactured and sold compact equipment
including skid-steer loaders, compact truck loaders, mini-excavators and telescopic tool handlers, portable air
compressors, generators, light towers, general-purpose light construction equipment and attachments. We are
currently in the process of resolving the final purchase price adjustments with Doosan Infracore.

On April 30, 2007, we completed the sale of our Road Development business unit to AB Volvo (publ) for cash
proceeds of approximately $1.3 billion. The Road Development business unit manufactured and sold asphalt
paving equipment, compaction equipment, milling machines and construction-related material handling
equipment.



2001 Reorganization

Our predecessor company, Ingersoll-Rand Company (IR-New Jersey), was organized in 1905 under the laws of
the State of New Jersey as a consolidation of Ingersoll-Sergeant Drill Company and the Rand Drill Company,
whose businesses were established in the early 1870’s.

We are a successor to IR-New Jersey following a corporate reorganization that became effective on
December 31, 2001. We believe that the reorganization has enabled us to realize a variety of financial and
strategic benefits, including to:

* help enhance business growth;

e create a more favorable corporate structure for expansion of our current business;

e improve expected cash flow for use in investing in the development of higher-growth product lines and
businesses;

* improve expected cash flow for use in reducing the amount of our debt;

¢ reduce our worldwide effective tax rate;

e enable us to implement our business strategy more effectively; and

* expand our investor base as our shares may become more attractive to non-U.S. investors.

IR-Limited and its subsidiaries continue to conduct the businesses previously conducted by IR-New Jersey and
its subsidiaries. The reorganization has been accounted for as a reorganization of entities under common control
and accordingly, did not result in any changes to the consolidated amounts of assets, liabilities and shareholders’
equity.

Business Segments

Our business segments provide products, services and solutions used to increase the efficiency and productivity
of both industrial and commercial operations and homes, as well as improve the security, safety, health and
comfort of people around the world. We have the following business segments:

Air Conditioning Systems and Services

Our Air Conditioning Systems and Services segment provides heating, ventilation and air conditioning (HVAC)
systems that enhance the quality and comfort of the air in homes and buildings around the world. It offers
customers a broad range of energy-efficient HVAC systems, dehumidifying and air cleaning products, service
and parts support, advanced building controls as well as financing solutions under the Trane and American
Standard Heating and Air Conditioning brands. These brands have leading positions in commercial, residential,
institutional and industrial markets. Since the Acquisition Date, net revenues for this segment were $4.4 billion.

Climate Control Technologies

Our Climate Control Technologies segment provides equipment and services to manage controlled-temperature
environments for food and other perishables throughout the world. Encompassing the transport and stationary
refrigeration markets, this segment offers customers a broad range of products and solutions such as refrigerated
display merchandisers, beverage coolers, auxiliary power units, walk-in storage coolers and freezers and
transport temperature control units. This segment, which had 2008 net revenues of $3.4 billion, includes the
market leading brands of Hussmann and Thermo King.

Industrial Technologies

Our Industrial Technologies segment provides products, services and solutions that enhance energy efficiency,
productivity and operations. It offers our global customers a diverse and innovative range of products including
compressed air systems, tools, pumps, fluid handling systems, golf and utility vehicles in addition to
environmentally friendly micro turbines. This segment, which had 2008 net revenues of $2.9 billion, includes the
Club Car and Ingersoll Rand market leading brands.



Security Technologies

Our Security Technologies segment is a leading global provider of products and services that make environments
safe, secure and productive. The segment’s market-leading solutions include electronic and biometric access
control systems and software, locks and locksets, door closers, exit devices, steel doors and frames, portable
security devices, decorative hardware, cabinet hardware as well as time, attendance and personnel scheduling
systems. These products serve a wide range of markets including the commercial construction and residential
housing market, healthcare, retail, maritime and transport industries as well as educational and governmental
facilities. This segment, which had 2008 net revenues of $2.5 billion, includes the CISA, LCN, Schlage and Von
Duprin brands.

Products
Our principal products by business segment include the following:

Air Conditioning Systems and Services

Air cleaners Evaporator coils

Air conditioners Furnaces

Air exchangers Heat pumps

Air handlers Humidifiers

Airside and terminal devices Package heating and cooling systems
Applied systems Thermostats/controls

Boilers Unitary systems

Climate Control Technologies

Aftermarket parts and service

Bus and rail HVAC systems

Coils and condensers

Containers and gensets

Cryogenic temperature control systems
Diesel-powered temprature control systems
Display merchandisers

Auxiliary idle reduction

Auxiliary temperature management
Refrigeration and electrical houses
Refrigeration systems

Surface and air sanitation

Vehicle-powered truck refrigeration systems
Walk-in coolers and freezers

Industrial Technologies

Air balancers Fluid-handling equipment
Air compressors & accessories Golf vehicles

Air treatment Lubrication equipment

Air motors Material handling equipment
Air and electric tools Microturbines

Blowers Piston pumps

Diaphragm pumps Utility vehicles

Engine-starting systems

Security Technologies

Automatic doors Electrical security products

Biometric access control systems
Door closers and controls

Door locks, latches and locksets
Doors and door frames (steel)

Electronic access-control systems
Exit devices
Portable security products



These products are sold primarily under our name and under other names including American Standard®, CISA®,
Club Car®, Hussmann®, LCN®, Schlage®, Thermo King®, Von Duprin® and Trane®.

Competitive Conditions

Our products are sold in highly competitive markets throughout the world. Due to the diversity of these products
and the variety of markets served, we encounter a wide variety of competitors that vary by product line. They
include well-established regional or specialized competitors, as well as larger U.S and non-U.S corporations or
divisions of larger companies.

The principal methods of competition in these markets relate to price, quality, delivery, service and support,
technology and innovation. We believe that we are one of the leading manufacturers in the world of HVAC
systems and services, air compression systems, transport temperature control products, refrigerated display
merchandisers, refrigeration systems and controls, air tools, and golf and utility vehicles. In addition, we believe
we are a leading supplier in U.S. markets for architectural hardware products, mechanical locks and electronic
and biometric access-control technologies.

Distribution

Our products are distributed by a number of methods, which we believe are appropriate to the type of product.
U.S. sales are made through branch sales offices and through distributors, dealers and large retailers across the
country. Non-U.S. sales are made through numerous subsidiary sales and service companies with a supporting
chain of distributors throughout the world.

Customers

We have no major customers that accounted for more than 10% of our consolidated net revenues in 2008, 2007
or 2006. No material part of our business is dependent upon a single customer or a small group of customers;
therefore, the loss of any one customer would not have a material adverse effect on our operations.

Raw Materials

We manufacture many of the components included in our products, which requires us to employ a wide variety
of raw materials. Principal raw materials, such as steel, copper and aluminum, are purchased from a large number
of independent sources around the world. In the past, higher prices for some raw materials, particularly steel and
non-ferrous metals, have caused pricing pressures in some of our businesses; we have historically been able to
pass certain of these cost increases on to customers in the form of price increases.

We believe that available sources of supply will generally be sufficient for the foreseeable future. There have
been no raw material shortages which have had a material adverse effect on our businesses. However, significant
changes in certain material costs may have an adverse impact on our costs and operating margins. To mitigate
this potential impact, we enter into long-term supply contracts in order to manage our exposure to potential
supply disruptions.

Working Capital

We manufacture products that usually must be readily available to meet our customer’s rapid delivery
requirements. Therefore, we maintain an adequate level of working capital to support our business needs and our
customers’ requirements. Such working capital requirements are not, however, in the opinion of management,
materially different from those experienced by our major competitors. Our sales and payment terms are generally
similar to those of our competitors.

Research and Development

We engage in research and development activities in an effort to introduce new products, enhance existing
products effectiveness, increase safety, improve ease of use and reliability as well as expand the various
applications for which our products may be appropriate. In addition, we continually evaluate developing
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technologies in areas that we believe will enhance our business for possible investment or acquisition. We
anticipate that we will continue to make significant expenditures for research and development activities as we
look to maintain and improve our competitive position. Research and development expenditures, including
qualifying engineering costs, were $131.6 million in 2008, $128.6 million in 2007 and $126.7 million in 2006.

Patents and Licenses

We own numerous patents and patent applications and are licensed under others. Although in aggregate we
consider our patents and licenses to be valuable to our operations, we do not believe that our business is
materially dependent on a single patent or license or any group of them. In our opinion, engineering, production
skills and experience are more responsible for our market position than our patents and/or licenses.

Operations by Geographic Area

More than 40% of our 2008 net revenues were derived outside the U.S. and we sold products in more than 100
countries. Therefore, the attendant risks of manufacturing or selling in a particular country, such as
nationalization and establishment of common markets, would not be expected to have a significant effect on our
non-U.S. operations. For a discussion of risks attendant to our non-U.S. operations, see “Risk Factors — Currency
exchange rate and commodity price fluctuations may adversely affect our results,” “Risk Factors — Our global
operations subject us to economic risks,” in Item 1A and “Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosure about Market
Risk” in Item 7A.

Backlog

Our approximate backlog of orders, believed to be firm, at December 31, 2008 and 2007, were as follows:
Dollar amounts in millions 2008 2007
Air Conditioning Systems and Services $ 9818 $ -
Climate Control Technologies 342.4 507.2
Industrial Technologies 367.7 429.8
Security Technologies 188.0 216.5
Total $ 1,879.9 $ 1,153.5

These backlog figures are based on orders received. While the major portion of our products are built in advance
of order and either shipped or assembled from stock, orders for specialized machinery or specific customer
application are submitted with extensive lead times and are often subject to revision, deferral, cancellation or
termination. We expect to ship substantially the entire backlog at December 31, 2008 during 2009.

Environmental Matters

We continue to be dedicated to an environmental program intended to reduce the utilization and generation of
hazardous materials during the manufacturing process as well as to remediate identified environmental concerns.
As to the latter, we are currently engaged in site investigations and remediation activities to address
environmental cleanup from past operations at current and former manufacturing facilities.

We are sometimes a party to environmental lawsuits and claims and have received notices of potential violations
of environmental laws and regulations from the Environmental Protection Agency and similar state authorities.
We have been also identified as a potentially responsible party (PRP) for cleanup costs associated with off-site
waste disposal at federal Superfund and state remediation sites. For all such sites, there are other PRPs and, in
most instances, our involvement is minimal.

In estimating our liability, we have assumed that we will not bear the entire cost of remediation of any site to the
exclusion of other PRPs who may be jointly and severally liable. The ability of other PRPs to participate has
been taken into account, based generally on the parties’ financial condition and probable contributions on a per
site basis. Additional lawsuits and claims involving environmental matters are likely to arise from time to time in
the future.



During 2008, we spent $6.9 million on capital projects for pollution abatement and control, and an additional
$15.5 million for environmental remediation expenditures at sites presently or formerly owned or leased by us.
As of December 31, 2008, we have recorded reserves for environmental matters of $100.9 million. We believe
that these expenditures and accrual levels will continue and may increase over time. Given the evolving nature of
environmental laws, regulations and technology, the ultimate cost of future compliance is uncertain.

For a further discussion of our potential environmental liabilities, see also Part II, Item 7, Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, Environmental and Asbestos Matters
and also Note 22 to the consolidated financial statements.

Asbestos Matters

Certain wholly owned subsidiaries of the Company are named as defendants in asbestos-related lawsuits in state
and federal courts. In virtually all of the suits, a large number of other companies have also been named as
defendants. The vast majority of those claims has been filed against either Ingersoll-Rand Company (IR-New
Jersey) or Trane and generally allege injury caused by exposure to asbestos contained in certain historical
products sold by IR-New Jersey or Trane, primarily pumps, boilers and railroad brake shoes. Neither IR-New
Jersey nor Trane was a producer or manufacturer of asbestos, however, some formerly manufactured products
utilized asbestos-containing components such as gaskets and packings purchased from third-party suppliers.

Prior to the fourth quarter of 2007, we recorded a liability (which we periodically updated) for our actual and
anticipated future asbestos settlement costs projected seven years into the future. We did not record a liability for
future asbestos settlement costs beyond the seven-year period covered by our reserve because such costs
previously were not reasonably estimable for the reasons detailed below.

In the fourth quarter of 2007, we again reviewed our history and experience with asbestos-related litigation and
determined that it had now become possible to make a reasonable estimate of our total liability for pending and
unasserted potential future asbestos-related claims. This determination was based upon our analysis of
developments in asbestos litigation, including the substantial and continuing decline in the filing of
non-malignancy claims against us, the establishment in many jurisdictions of inactive or deferral dockets for such
claims, the decreased value of non-malignancy claims because of changes in the legal and judicial treatment of
such claims, increasing focus of the asbestos litigation upon malignancy claims, primarily those involving
mesothelioma, a cancer with a known historical and predictable future annual incidence rate, and our substantial
accumulated experience with respect to the resolution of malignancy claims, particularly mesothelioma claims,
filed against us. With the aid of an outside expert, we have estimated our total liability for pending and
unasserted future asbestos-related claims through 2053 at $755 million.

As a result, we recorded a non-cash charge to earnings of discontinued operations of $449 million ($277 million
after-tax) which is the difference between the amount by which we increased our total estimated liability for
pending and projected future asbestos-related claims and the amount that we expect to recover from insurers with
respect to that increased liability.

In connection with our acquisition of Trane, we retained an outside expert to assist in calculating Trane’s
asbestos-related valuations of current and future liabilities. As required by Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 141, “Business Combinations,” we are required to record the assumed asbestos obligations and
associated insurance-related assets at their fair value at the Acquisition Date. We estimated that the assumed
asbestos obligation and associated insurance-related assets at the Acquisition Date were $494 million and $249
million, respectively. These amounts were estimated based on certain assumptions and factors consistent with
those described above.

For a further discussion of asbestos matters, see also Part II, Item 7, Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations, Environmental and Asbestos Matters and also Note 22 to the

consolidated financial statements.
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Employees

As a result of the acquisition of Trane in the second quarter of 2008, we increased our workforce by
approximately 30,000 people. As of December 31, 2008, we employed approximately 60,000 people throughout
the world.

Available Information

We file annual, quarterly, and current reports, proxy statements, and other documents with the Securities and
Exchange Commission (SEC) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. The public may read and copy any
materials filed with the SEC at the SEC’s Public Reference Room at 100 F Street, N.E., Washington, D.C. 20549.
The public may obtain information on the operation of the Public Reference Room by calling the SEC at
1-800-SEC-0330. Also, the SEC maintains an Internet website that contains reports, proxy and information
statements, and other information regarding issuers that file electronically with the SEC. The public can obtain
any documents that are filed by us at http://www.sec.gov.

In addition, this Annual Report on Form 10-K, as well as our quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on
Form 8-K and any amendments to all of the foregoing reports, are made available free of charge on our Internet
website (http://www.ingersollrand.com) as soon as reasonably practicable after such reports are electronically
filed with or furnished to the SEC. The Board of Directors of the Company has also adopted and posted in the
Investor Relations section of its website our Corporate Governance Guidelines and charters for each of the
Board’s standing committees. A copy of the above filings will also be provided free of charge upon written
request to us.

Certifications

New York Stock Exchange Annual Chief Executive Officer Certification

The Company’s Chief Executive Officer submitted to the New York Stock Exchange the Annual CEO
Certification as the Company’s compliance with the New York Stock Exchange’s corporate governance listing
standards required by Section 303A.12 of the New York Stock Exchange’s listing standards.

Sarbanes-Oxley Act Section 302 Certification

The certifications of the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer of the Company pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 have been filed as exhibits to this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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Item 1A. RISK FACTORS

The following are certain risk factors that could affect our business, financial condition, results of operations,
and cash flows. These risk factors should be considered in connection with evaluating the forward-looking
statements contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K because these factors could cause the actual results
and conditions to differ materially from those projected in forward-looking statements. Before you invest in our
publicly traded securities, you should know that making such an investment involves some risks, including the
risks described below. If any of the risks actually occur, our business, financial condition or results of operations
could be negatively affected. In that case, the trading price of our Class A common shares could decline, and you
may lose all or part of your investment.

Risks Relating to Our Businesses

Macroeconomic conditions, negative conditions in the financial, insurance and credit markets and changes in
our credit ratings subject us to a number of risks.

The world financial markets have been experiencing extreme disruption in recent months, including, among other
things, extreme volatility in security prices, severely diminished liquidity and credit availability, rating
downgrades of certain investments and declining valuations of others. Governments have taken unprecedented
actions intended to address extreme market conditions that include severely restricted credit and declines in asset
values. While these conditions have not currently impaired our ability to access credit markets, insurance and
finance our operations, there can be no assurance that there will not be further deterioration in the world financial
markets, continued negative conditions in the global credit markets or a loss of confidence in the major
economies, any of which may make it more difficult for us to obtain financing for our operations or increase the
cost of obtaining financing as well as access insurance to manage risk.

In addition, our investment-grade credit ratings currently afford us lower borrowing rates on commercial paper,
revolving credit agreements and debt offerings. Increased debt levels and/or decreased earnings could result in
downgrades in our credit ratings, which, in turn, could impede access to the credit markets, reduce the total
amount of commercial paper we could issue, raise our commercial paper borrowing costs and/or raise our long-
term debt borrowing rates.

Finally, many of our customers rely on credit financing in order to purchase our products. If the tightening of
credit in financial markets continues to adversely affect the ability of our customers to obtain financing for
significant purchases, this could result in a further decrease in or cancellation of orders for our products and
services. Our global business is also adversely affected by decreases in the general level of economic activity and
in business and consumer spending.

We may not realize the expected financial benefits from the acquisition of Trane Inc. and from our
announced restructuring actions and this could have a material adverse effect on our business.

On June 5, 2008, we completed our acquisition of Trane. There are potential risks associated with growing our
business through acquisitions such as our acquisition of Trane, including the failure to successfully integrate and
realize the expected benefits of an acquisition. For example, with any acquisition and subsequent integration,
there is the possibility that:

* the business culture of the acquired business may not match well with our culture;

e technological and product synergies, economies of scale and cost reductions may not occur as
expected;

* management may be distracted from overseeing existing operations by the need to integrate acquired
businesses;
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* we may be unable to maintain or increase the revenue growth rate of the acquired business;
* we may acquire or assume unexpected liabilities;

e unforeseen difficulties may arise in integrating operations and systems;

* we may fail to retain and assimilate employees of the acquired business; and

* we may experience problems in retaining customers and integrating customer bases.

Additionally, we previously announced restructuring actions to deal with slowing end market demand and we
must implement these restructuring actions during this integration period. If we are unable to integrate our
businesses successfully or implement these restructuring actions effectively, then we may fail to realize the
anticipated synergies and growth opportunities or achieve the cost savings and revenue growth we anticipated
from these actions and this could have a material adverse effect on our business.

We are relying on an indemnification agreement with respect to any potential liability arising from a
European Commission Investigation into possible infringement of European Union competition law by Trane
and its subsidiaries. If we were unable to rely on the indemnification agreement for any reason, any potential
liability arising from the European Commission Investigation could have a material adverse effect on our
financial condition and results of operations.

In connection with Trane’s spinoff of the Vehicle Control Systems business into a new publicly traded company
called WABCO Holdings Inc. (WABCO) in July 31, 2007, Trane entered into an Indemnification and
Cooperation Agreement (Indemnification Agreement) with, among others, American Standard Europe BVBA
(renamed WABCO Europe BVBA) (WABCO Europe), which became a subsidiary of WABCO following the
spinoff. Pursuant to the Indemnification Agreement, WABCO Europe has agreed to indemnify Trane and its
subsidiaries and their respective affiliates against any fines related to the European Commission Investigation.
For a further discussion of European Commission Investigation, see “Legal Proceedings.” If the European
Commission were to impose the maximum fine allowable pursuant to applicable guidelines, the total liability to
the Company could be approximately $1.1 billion based on Trane’s worldwide revenue in 2007, subject to a
probable reduction for leniency of at least 20 percent (provided WABCO Europe, as the leniency applicant,
fulfilled all conditions set forth in the European Commission’s leniency notice). WABCO has stated in its Form
10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2008 that its ability to satisfy its obligations under the
Indemnification Agreement is contingent on its funding capability at the time of the fine, which could be affected
by, among other things, its ability to access its then existing credit facilities, its ability to obtain alternative
sources of financing, its ability to obtain some payment relief from the European Commission or its ability to
obtain a suspension of the payment obligation from the European Court of First Instance. If WABCO Europe
were unable to satisfy its obligations under the Indemnification Agreement or if we were unable to rely on the
Indemnification Agreement for any reason, any potential liability arising from the European Commission
Investigation could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations.

Our global operations subject us to economic risks.
Our global operations are dependent upon products manufactured, purchased and sold in the U.S. and
internationally, including China, Brazil, Africa and Eastern Europe. These activities are subject to risks that are
inherent in operating globally, including the following:

e countries could change regulations or impose currency restrictions and other restraints;

* in some countries, there is a risk that the government may expropriate assets;

* some countries impose burdensome tariffs and quotas;
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e national and international conflict, including terrorist acts, could significantly impact our financial
condition and results of operations; and

e economic downturns, political instability and war or civil disturbances may disrupt production and
distribution logistics or limit sales in individual markets.

Currency exchange rate and commodity price fluctuations may adversely affect our results.

We are exposed to a variety of market risks, including the effects of changes in non-U.S. currency exchange
rates, commodity prices and interest rates. See Part II Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About
Market Risk.

More than 40% of our 2008 net revenues were derived outside the U.S., and we expect sales to non-U.S.
customers to continue to represent a significant portion of our consolidated net revenues. Although we enter into
currency exchange contracts to reduce our risk related to currency exchange fluctuations, changes in the relative
values of currencies occur from time to time and may, in some instances, have a significant effect on our results
of operations. Because we do not hedge against all of our currency exposure, our business will continue to be
susceptible to currency fluctuations.

Furthermore, the reporting currency for our financial statements is the U.S. dollar. We have assets, liabilities,
revenues and expenses denominated in currencies other than the U.S. dollar. To prepare our consolidated
financial statements, we must translate those assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses into U.S. dollars at the
applicable exchange rates. Consequently, increases and decreases in the value of the U.S. dollar versus other
currencies will affect the amount of these items in our consolidated financial statements, even if their value has
not changed in their original currency.

We are also a large buyer of steel and non-ferrous metals, as well as other commodities required for the
manufacture of our products. Volatility in the prices of these commodities could increase the costs of our
products and services. We may not be able to pass on these costs to our customers and this could have a material
adverse effect on our results of operations and cash flows. On a limited basis, we purchase commodity
derivatives which reduce the volatility of the commodity prices for supplier contracts where fixed pricing is not
available.

Significant shortages in the raw materials we use in our businesses and higher energy prices could increase
our operating costs.

We rely on suppliers to secure raw materials, particularly steel and non-ferrous metals, required for the
manufacture of our products. A disruption in deliveries from our suppliers or decreased availability of raw
materials or commodities could have an adverse effect on our ability to meet our commitments to customers or
increase our operating costs. We believe that available sources of supply will generally be sufficient for our
needs for the foreseeable future. Nonetheless, the unavailability of some raw materials may have an adverse
effect on our results of operations or financial condition.

Additionally, we are exposed to large fluctuations for the price of petroleum-based fuel due to the instability of
current market prices. Higher energy costs increase our operating costs and the cost of shipping our products to
customers around the world. Consequently, sharp price increases, the imposition of taxes or an interruption of
supply, could cause us to lose the ability to effectively manage the risk of rising fuel prices and may have an
adverse effect on our results of operations or financial condition.
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Changes in weather patterns and seasonal fluctuations may adversely affect certain segments of the
Company’s business and impact overall results of operations.

Demand for certain segments of the Company’s products and services is influenced by weather conditions. For
instance, Trane’s sales have historically tended to be seasonally higher in the second and third quarters of the
year because, in the U.S. and other northern hemisphere markets, summer is the peak season for sales of air
conditioning systems and services. Additionally, while there is demand for Trane’s products and services
throughout the year, a significant percentage of total sales are related to U.S. residential and commercial
construction activity, which is generally higher in the second and third quarters of the year. Therefore, results of
any quarterly period may not be indicative of expected results for a full year and unexpected cool trends or
unseasonably warm trends during the summer season could negatively or positively affect certain segments of
the Company’s business and impact overall results of operations.

We face continuing risks relating to compliance with the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (FCPA)

On November 10, 2004, the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) issued an Order directing that a number
of public companies, including us, provide information relating to their participation in certain transactions under
the United Nations’ Oil for Food Program. Upon receipt of the Order, we undertook a thorough review of our
participation in the Oil for Food Program and provided the SEC with information responsive to its investigation
of our participation in the program. On October 31, 2007, we announced that we had reached settlements with the
SEC and the Department of Justice (DOJ) relating to certain payments made by our foreign subsidiaries in 2000-
2003 in connection with the Oil for Food Program. Pursuant to the settlements with the SEC and DOJ, we have,
among other things, (i) consented to the entry of a civil injunction in the SEC action, (ii) entered into a three-year
deferred prosecution agreement (DPA) with the DOJ, and (iii) agreed to implement improvements to our
compliance program designed to enhance detection and prevention of violations of the FCPA and other
applicable anti-corruption laws. If the DOJ determines, in its sole discretion, that we have committed a federal
crime or have otherwise breached the DPA during its three-year term, we may be subject to prosecution for any
federal criminal violation of which the DOJ has knowledge, including, without limitation, violations of the FCPA
in connection with the Oil for Food Program. Breaches of the settlements with SEC and DOJ may also subject us
to, among other things, further enforcement actions by the SEC or the DOJ, securities litigation and a general
loss of investor confidence, any one of which could adversely affect our business prospects and the market value
of our stock. For a further discussion of the settlements with the SEC and DOJ, see “Legal Proceedings.”

Furthermore, we have reported to the DOJ and SEC that we are currently investigating certain matters involving
Trane, including one relating to the Oil for Food Program, and which raise potential issues under the FCPA and
other applicable anti-corruption laws. We have indicated to the SEC and DOJ that we are conducting a thorough
investigation of these matters and that we would report back to them with our findings. The investigation of these
matters began in earnest promptly after our acquisition of Trane in June 2008 and is currently in progress.
Previously, we had reported to the SEC and DOJ potential FCPA issues relating to one of our businesses in
China, and we have reported back to them and shared with them our audit report, which indicated no FCPA
violations. These matters (and other matters which may arise or of which we become aware in the future) may be
deemed to violate the FCPA and other applicable anti-corruption laws. Such determinations could subject us to,
among other things, further enforcement actions by the SEC or the DOJ (if, for example, the DOJ deems us to
have violated the DPA), securities litigation and a general loss of investor confidence, any one of which could
adversely affect our business prospects and the market value of our stock.

Material adverse legal judgments, fines, penalties or settlements could adversely affect our financial health.

We estimate that our available cash and our cash flow from operations will be adequate to fund our operations
for the foreseeable future. In making this estimate, we have not assumed the need to make any material payments
in connection with any pending litigation or investigations. As required by generally accepted accounting

principles in the United States, we establish reserves based on our assessment of contingencies. Subsequent
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developments in legal proceedings, including current or future asbestos-related litigation, may affect our
assessment and estimates of the loss contingency recorded as a reserve and we may be required to make
additional material payments, which could result in an adverse effect on our results of operations.

Such an outcome could have important consequences. For example, it could:
e increase our vulnerability to general adverse economic and industry conditions;

e limit our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our businesses and the industries in
which we operate;

e restrict our ability to exploit business opportunities; and

e make it more difficult for us to satisfy our payment obligations with respect to our outstanding
indebtedness.

If the distribution of WABCO'’s shares by Trane on July 31, 2007 were to fail to qualify as tax-free for U.S.
federal income tax purposes under Section 355 of the Internal Revenue Code (the Code), then Trane may be
required to pay U.S. federal income taxes as well as Trane’s shareholders who received WABCO common
stock in the distribution.

On July 31, 2007, Trane (then known as American Standard Companies Inc.) completed the spinoff of its vehicle
control systems business into a new publicly traded company named WABCO. At the time, Trane received a
private letter ruling from the Internal Revenue Service (IRS) substantially to the effect that the distribution
qualified as tax-free for U.S. federal income tax purposes under Section 355 of the Code. In addition, Trane
received an opinion of Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom LLP, tax counsel to Trane, substantially to the
effect that the distribution will qualify as tax-free to Trane, WABCO and Trane shareholders under Section 355
and related provisions of the Code. The ruling and opinion were based on, among other things, certain
assumptions as well as on the accuracy of certain factual representations and statements made by WABCO and
Trane. In rendering its ruling, the IRS also relied on certain covenants that Trane and WABCO entered into,
including the adherence to certain restrictions on WABCO’s and Trane’s future actions.

In connection with our acquisition of Trane in June 2008, we received an opinion of Simpson Thacher & Bartlett
LLP, tax counsel to us, substantially to the effect that the distribution should continue to qualify as tax-free to
Trane, WABCO and Trane shareholders under Section 355 and related provisions of the Code. Notwithstanding
receipt by Trane and us of the private letter ruling as well as the opinions of counsel, there can be no assurance
that the IRS will not later assert that the distribution should be treated as a taxable transaction.

If the distribution fails to qualify for tax-free treatment, then Trane would recognize a gain in an amount equal to
the excess of (i) the fair market value of WABCO’s common stock distributed to the Trane shareholders over
(i) Trane’s tax basis in such common stock. Under the terms of the Tax Sharing Agreement, in the event the
distribution were to fail to qualify as a tax-free reorganization and such failure was not the result of actions taken
after the distribution by Trane or any of its subsidiaries or shareholders, WABCO would be responsible for all
taxes imposed on Trane as a result thereof. In addition, each Trane shareholder who received WABCO common
stock in the distribution generally would be treated as having received a taxable distribution in an amount equal
to the fair market value of WABCO’s common stock received (including any fractional share sold on behalf of
the shareholder), which would be taxable as a dividend to the extent of the shareholder’s ratable share of Trane’s
current and accumulated earnings and profits at the time (as increased to reflect any current income including any
gain recognized by Trane on the taxable distribution). The balance, if any, of the distribution would be treated as
a nontaxable return of capital to the extent of the Trane shareholder’s tax basis in its Trane stock, with any
remaining amount being taxed as capital gain.
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Risks Relating to Our Reorganization as a Bermuda Company

The reorganization exposed us and our shareholders to the risks described below. In addition, we cannot be
assured that all of the anticipated benefits of the reorganization will be realized.

Changes in tax laws, changes in our status under U.S. or other tax laws or adverse determinations by taxing
authorities could increase our tax burden or otherwise affect our financial condition or operating results, as
well as subject our shareholders to additional taxes.

The realization of any tax benefit related to our reorganization could be impacted by changes in tax laws, tax
treaties or tax regulations or the interpretation or enforcement thereof by the IRS or any other tax authority. From
time to time, proposals have been made and/or legislation has been introduced to change the U.S. tax law that if
enacted could increase our tax burden and could have a material adverse impact on our financial condition and
results of operations. For instance, recent legislative proposals would broaden the circumstances under which we
would be considered a U.S. resident, which would significantly diminish the realization of any tax benefit related
to our reorganization. Other legislative proposals could override certain tax treaties and limit the treaty benefits
on certain payments by our U.S. subsidiaries to our non-U.S. affiliates, which would adversely affect our
effective tax rate. We cannot predict the outcome of any specific legislation. While we are currently monitoring
these proposals and are investigating all options, we could still be subject to increased U.S. taxation on a going
forward basis no matter what action we undertake if certain legislative proposals are enacted and/or certain tax
treaties are amended.

While our U.S. operations are subject to U.S. tax, we believe that a significant portion of our non-U.S. operations
are generally not subject to U.S. tax other than withholding taxes. Our conclusions are based on, among other
things, our determination that we, and a significant portion of our foreign subsidiaries, are not currently
controlled foreign corporation’s (CFC) within the meaning of the U.S. tax laws, although the IRS or a court may
not concur with our conclusions. A non-U.S. corporation, such as us, will constitute a CFC for U.S. federal
income tax purposes if certain ownership criteria are met. If the IRS or a court determined that we (or any of our
non-U.S. subsidiaries) were a CFC, then each of our U.S. shareholders who own (directly, indirectly, or
constructively) 10% or more of the total combined voting power of all classes of our stock (or the stock of any of
our non-U.S. subsidiaries) on the last day of the applicable taxable year (a “10% U.S. Voting Shareholder”)
would be required to include in gross income for U.S. federal income tax purposes its pro rata share of our
subpart F and other similar types of income (and the subpart F and other similar types of income of any of our
subsidiaries determined to be a CFC) for the period during which we (and our non-U.S. subsidiaries) were a
CFC. In addition, gain on the sale of our shares realized by such a shareholder may be treated as ordinary income
to the extent of the shareholder's proportionate share of our and our CFC subsidiaries' undistributed earnings and
profits accumulated during the shareholder's holding period of the shares while we (or any of our non-U.S.
subsidiaries) are a CFC. Treatment of us or any of our non-U.S. subsidiaries as a CFC could have a material
adverse impact on our financial condition and results of operations.

On July 20, 2007, we, and our consolidated subsidiaries, received a notice from the IRS containing proposed
adjustments to our consolidated subsidiaries’ tax filings in connection with an audit of the 2001 and 2002 tax
years. The IRS did not contest the validity of our reincorporation in Bermuda. The most significant adjustments
proposed by the IRS involve treating the entire intercompany debt incurred in connection with our
reincorporation in Bermuda as equity. As a result of this recharacterization, the IRS has disallowed the deduction
of interest paid on the debt and imposed dividend withholding taxes on the payments denominated as interest.
Proposed adjustments on this issue, if upheld in their entirety, would result in additional taxes with respect to the
2002 tax year of approximately $190 million plus interest and would require us to record additional charges
associated with this matter. For a further discussion of the IRS audit, see “Legal Proceedings” and Note 19 to the
consolidated financial statements.

We strongly disagree with the view of the IRS and are vigorously contesting these proposed adjustments.
Although the outcome of this matter cannot be predicted with certainty, based upon an analysis of the strength of
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our position, we believe that we have adequately reserved for this matter. At this time, the IRS has not yet begun
their examination of our consolidated subsidiaries’ tax filings for years subsequent to the 2002 tax year. We
believe it likely, if the above adjustments or a portion of such adjustments by the IRS are ultimately sustained,
that these adjustments will also affect subsequent tax years.

As noted above, the IRS did not contest the validity of our reincorporation in Bermuda in the above-mentioned
notice. We believe that neither we nor our consolidated subsidiary IR-New Jersey will incur significant U.S.
federal income or withholding taxes as a result of the transfer of the shares of our subsidiaries that occurred as
part of the reorganization. However, we cannot give any assurances that the IRS will agree with our
determination.

The inability to realize any anticipated tax benefits related to our reorganization, discussed above in this section
“Risks Relating to our Reorganization as a Bermuda Company”, could have a material adverse impact on our
financial condition and results of operations.

Legislation regarding U.S. companies which reincorporate or have reincorporated outside the U.S. could
adversely affect us and our subsidiaries.

The U.S. federal government and various states and municipalities have enacted or may enact legislation
intended to deny government contracts to U.S. companies that reincorporate outside of the U.S. or have
reincorporated outside of the U.S.

For instance, the Homeland Security Act of 2002, as amended, includes a provision that prohibits “inverted
domestic corporations” and their subsidiaries from entering into contracts with the Department of Homeland
Security. In addition, the State of California adopted legislation intended to limit the eligibility of certain
non-U.S. chartered companies to participate in certain state contracts. More recently, the 2008 Consolidated
Appropriations Act, which became effective in December 2007, prohibits any federal government agency from
using funds appropriated by Congress for fiscal year 2008 to pay an inverted domestic corporation or any of its
subsidiaries for work performed or products provided under certain federal contracts (“Affected Contracts”).
Although the amount of monies already paid to us or to be paid to us under the Affected Contracts is not material
to the Company, we cannot provide any assurance that the impact of future actions taken by the government in
this area will not be materially adverse to our operations.

Bermuda law differs from the laws in effect in the United States and may afford less protection to holders of
our securities.

We are organized under the laws of Bermuda. It may not be possible to enforce court judgments in Bermuda that
are obtained in the U.S. against us or our directors or officers in Bermuda based on the civil liability provisions
of the U.S. federal or state securities laws. We have been advised that the U.S. and Bermuda do not currently
have a treaty providing for the reciprocal recognition and enforcement of judgments in civil and commercial
matters. Therefore, a final judgment for the payment of money rendered by any U.S. federal or state court based
on civil liability, whether or not based solely on U.S. federal or state securities laws, would not automatically be
enforceable in Bermuda.

In addition, as a result of Bermuda law, it would be difficult for a holder of our securities to effect service of
process within the United States. However, we have irrevocably agreed that we may be served with process with
respect to actions based on offers and sales of securities made in the United States by having Ingersoll-Rand
Company, 155 Chestnut Ridge Road, Montvale, New Jersey 07645, be our U.S. agent appointed for that purpose.

Bermuda companies are governed by the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, which differs in some material
respects from laws generally applicable to U.S. corporations and shareholders, including, among others,
differences relating to interested director and officer transactions, shareholder lawsuits and indemnification.
Under Bermuda law, the duties of directors and officers of a Bermuda company are generally owed to the
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company only. Shareholders of Bermuda companies do not generally have rights to take action against directors
or officers of the company, and may only do so in limited circumstances. Under Bermuda law, a company may
also agree to indemnify directors and officers for any personal liability, not involving fraud or dishonesty,
incurred in relation to the company. Thus, our shareholders may have more difficulty protecting their interests
than would holders of securities of a corporation incorporated in a jurisdiction of the U.S.

Item 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.

Item 2. PROPERTIES

As of December 31, 2008, we owned or leased a total of approximately 22.1 million square feet of space
worldwide. Manufacturing and assembly operations are conducted in 47 plants in the United States; 28 plants in
Europe; 18 plants in Asia; 10 plants in Latin America; and 1 plant in Canada. We also maintain various
warehouses, offices and repair centers throughout the world.

Substantially all plant facilities are owned by us with the remainder under long-term lease arrangements. We
believe that our plants have been well maintained, are generally in good condition and are suitable for the
conduct of our business. At December 31, 2008, we were productively utilizing the majority of the space in our
facilities.

The locations by segment of our major manufacturing facilities at December 31, 2008 were as follows:

Air Conditioning Systems and Services

Americas Europe, Middle East, Africa Asia Pacific
Parana, Brazil Charmes, France Guang Dong, China
Monterrey, Mexico Golbey, France Taicang, China
Fort Smith, Arkansas Taipei, Taiwan

Pueblo, Colorado

Lynn Haven, Florida
Macon, Georgia

Vidalia, Georgia
Lexington, Kentucky
Trenton, New Jersey
Columbia, South Carolina
Clarksville, Tennesse
Tyler, Texas

La Crosse, Wisconsin

Climate Control Technologies

Americas Europe, Middle East, Africa Asia Pacific
Londrina, Brazil Kolin, Czech Republic Luoyang, China
Monterrey, Mexico Galway, Ireland Shenzen, China
Mexico City, Mexico Barcelona, Spain Suzhou, China
Arecibo, Puerto Rico Pamplona, Spain Tauranga, New Zealand
Chino, California Peralta, Spain

Louisville, Georgia
Suwanee, Georgia
Minneapolis, Minnesota
Bridgeton, Missouri
Hastings, Nebraska
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Industrial Technologies

Americas

Europe, Middle East, Africa

Asia Pacific

Montreal, Canada

Augusta, Georgia
Campbellsville, Kentucky
Madison Heights, Michigan
Rochester Hills, Michigan
Mocksville, North Carolina
Athens, Pennsylvania

West Chester, Pennsylvania
Seattle, Washington

Douai, France
Wasquehal, France
Oberhausen, Germany
Fogliano Redipuglia, Italy
Vignate, Italy

Pavlovo, Russia

Changzhou, China
Guanbxi, China
Nanjing, China
Shanghai, China
Ahmadabad, India
New Delhi, India

Security Technologies

Americas

Europe, Middle East, Africa

Asia Pacific

Ensenada, Mexico
Tecate, Mexico
Tijuana, Mexico
San Jose, California

Feuquieres, France
Renchen, Germany
Monsampolo, Italy
Duzce, Turkey

Shanghai, China
Auckland, New Zealand

Security, Colorado
Princeton, Illinois
Indianapolis, Indiana
Cincinnati, Ohio
Caracas, Venezuela

Item 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

In the normal course of business, we are involved in a variety of lawsuits, claims and legal proceedings,
including commercial and contract disputes, employment matters, product liability claims, environmental
liabilities and intellectual property disputes. In our opinion, pending legal matters are not expected to have a
material adverse effect on the results of operations, financial condition, liquidity or cash flows.

Oil for Food Program and Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (FCPA) matters

As previously reported, on November 10, 2004, the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) issued an Order
directing that a number of public companies, including the Company, provide information relating to their
participation in transactions under the United Nations’ Oil for Food Program. Upon receipt of the Order, the
Company undertook a thorough review of its participation in the Oil for Food Program, provided the SEC with
information responsive to the Order and provided additional information requested by the SEC. During a
March 27, 2007 meeting with the SEC, at which a representative of the Department of Justice (DOJ) was also
present, the Company began discussions concerning the resolution of this matter with both the SEC and DOJ. On
October 31, 2007, the Company announced it had reached settlements with the SEC and DOJ relating to this
matter. Under the terms of the settlements, the Company paid a total of $6.7 million in penalties, interest and
disgorgement of profits. The Company has consented to the entry of a civil injunction in the SEC action and has
entered into a three-year deferred prosecution agreement (DPA) with the DOJ. Under both settlements, the
Company has implemented and will continue to implement improvements to its compliance program that are
consistent with its longstanding policy against improper payments. In the settlement documents, the Government
noted that the Company thoroughly cooperated with the investigation, that the Company had conducted its own
complete investigation of the conduct at issue, promptly and thoroughly reported its findings to them, and took
prompt remedial measures.
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In a related matter, on July 10, 2007, representatives of the Italian Guardia di Finanza (Financial Police)
requested documents from Ingersoll-Rand Italiana S.p.A pertaining to certain Oil for Food transactions
undertaken by that subsidiary of the Company which resulted in charges being filed against that subsidiary. Such
transactions had previously been reported to the SEC and DOJ. At a December 12, 2008 hearing, all charges
against the subsidiary were dismissed.

Additionally, we have reported to the DOJ and SEC that we are currently investigating certain matters involving
Trane, including one relating to the Oil for Food Program, and which raise potential issues under the FCPA and
other applicable anti-corruption laws. We have indicated to the SEC and DOJ that we are conducting a thorough
investigation of these matters and that we would report back to them with our findings. The investigation of these
matters began in earnest promptly after our acquisition of Trane in June 2008 and is currently in progress.
Previously, we had reported to the SEC and DOJ potential FCPA issues relating to one of our businesses in
China, and we have reported back to them and shared our audit report, which indicated no FCPA violations.
These matters (and other matters which may arise or of which we become aware in the future) may be deemed to
violate the FCPA and other applicable anti-corruption laws. Such determinations could subject us to, among
other things, further enforcement actions by the SEC or the DOJ (if, for example, the DOJ deems us to have
violated the DPA), securities litigation and a general loss of investor confidence, any one of which could
adversely affect our business prospects and the market value of our stock.

The European Commission Investigation

In November 2004, Trane was contacted by the European Commission as part of a multi-company investigation
into possible infringement of European Union competition law relating to the distribution of bathroom fixtures
and fittings in certain European countries. On March 28, 2007, Trane, along with a number of other companies,
received a Statement of Objections from the European Commission. The Statement of Objections, an
administrative complaint, alleges infringements of European Union competition rules by numerous bathroom
fixture and fittings companies, including Trane and certain of its European subsidiaries engaged in the Bath and
Kitchen business. Certain of these legal entities were transferred to WABCO as part of a legal reorganization in
connection with the spinoff of Trane’s Vehicle Control Systems business that occurred on July 31, 2007. Trane
and certain of its subsidiaries and, in light of that legal reorganization, certain of WABCO’s subsidiaries will be
jointly and severally liable for any fines that result from the investigation. However, pursuant to an
Indemnification and Cooperation Agreement among Trane and certain other parties (Indemnification
Agreement), American Standard Europe BVBA (renamed WABCO Europe BVBA) (WABCO Europe), which is
a subsidiary of WABCO following the reorganization, will be responsible for, and will indemnify Trane and its
subsidiaries (including certain subsidiaries formerly engaged in the Bath and Kitchen business) and their
respective affiliates against, any fines related to this investigation. Trane and the charged subsidiaries responded
to the European Commission on August 1, 2007 and July 31, 2007, respectively. A hearing with the European
Commission regarding the response to the Statement of Objections was conducted from November 12-14, 2007,
in Brussels. WABCO Europe and other former Trane subsidiaries participated in the hearing. Trane, however,
did not participate in the hearing.

In 2006, the European Commission adopted new fining guidelines (2006 Guidelines) and stated its intention to
apply these guidelines in all cases in which a Statement of Objections is issued after September 2006. In applying
the 2006 Guidelines, the Commission retains considerable discretion in calculating the fine although the
European Union regulations provide for a cap on the maximum fine equal to ten percent of Trane’s worldwide
revenue attributable to all of its products for the fiscal year prior to the year in which the fine is imposed. If the
maximum fine is levied in 2009, the total liability could be approximately $1.1 billion based on Trane’s last full
fiscal year of worldwide revenue, subject to a probable reduction for leniency of at least 20 percent provided
WABCO Europe, as the leniency applicant, fulfilled all conditions set forth in the European Commission’s
leniency notice. WABCO has stated in its Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2008 that its ability
to satisfy its obligations under the Indemnification Agreement is contingent on its funding capability at the time
of the fine, which could be affected by, among other things, its ability to access its then existing credit facilities,
its ability to obtain alternative sources of financing, its ability to obtain some payment relief from the European
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Commission or its ability to obtain a suspension of the payment obligation from the European Court of First
Instance.

Tax Related Matters

On July 20, 2007, the Company and its consolidated subsidiaries received a notice from the IRS containing
proposed adjustments to the Company’s tax filings in connection with an audit of the 2001 and 2002 tax years.
The IRS did not contest the validity of the Company’s reincorporation in Bermuda. The most significant
adjustments proposed by the IRS involve treating the entire intercompany debt incurred in connection with the
Company’s reincorporation in Bermuda as equity. As a result of this recharacterization, the IRS has disallowed
the deduction of interest paid on the debt and imposed dividend withholding taxes on the payments denominated
as interest. These adjustments proposed by the IRS, if upheld in their entirety, would result in additional taxes
with respect to 2002 of approximately $190 million plus interest, and would require the Company to record
additional charges associated with this matter. At this time, the IRS has not yet begun their examination of the
Company’s tax filings for years subsequent to 2002. However, if these adjustments or a portion of these
adjustments proposed by the IRS are ultimately sustained, it is likely to also affect subsequent tax years.

The Company strongly disagrees with the view of the IRS and filed a protest with the IRS in the third quarter of
2007. The Company has and intends to continue to vigorously contest these proposed adjustments. The
Company, in consultation with its outside advisors, carefully considered many factors in determining the terms of
the intercompany debt, including the obligor’s ability to service the debt and the availability of equivalent
financing from unrelated parties, two factors prominently cited by the IRS in denying debt treatment. The
Company believes that its characterization of that obligation as debt for tax purposes was supported by the
relevant facts and legal authorities at the time of its creation. The subsequent financial results of the relevant
companies, including the actual cash flow generated by operations and the production of significant additional
cash flow from dispositions have confirmed the ability to service this debt. Although the outcome of this matter
cannot be predicted with certainty, based upon an analysis of the strength of its position, the Company believes
that it is adequately reserved for this matter. As the Company moves forward to resolve this matter with the IRS,
it is reasonably possible that the reserves established may be adjusted within the next 12 months. However, the
Company does not expect that the ultimate resolution will have a material adverse impact on its future results of
operations or financial position. For a further discussion of tax matters, see Note 19 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Asbestos Related Matters

Certain wholly owned subsidiaries of the Company are named as defendants in asbestos-related lawsuits in state
and federal courts. In virtually all of the suits, a large number of other companies have also been named as
defendants. The vast majority of those claims has been filed against either Ingersoll Rand Company (IR-New
Jersey) or Trane and generally allege injury caused by exposure to asbestos contained in certain historical
products sold by IR-New Jersey or Trane, primarily pumps, boilers and railroad brake shoes. Neither IR-New
Jersey nor Trane was a producer or manufacturer of asbestos, however, some formerly manufactured products
utilized asbestos-containing components such as gaskets and packings purchased from third-party suppliers.

See also the discussion under Part II, Item 7, Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and

Results of Operations, Environmental and Asbestos Matters and also Note 22 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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Item 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

No matters were submitted to a vote of the Company’s security holders during the last quarter of its fiscal year

ended December 31, 2008.

Executive Officers of the Registrant

Pursuant to the General Instruction G(3) of Form 10-K, the following list of executive officers of the Company as
of February 25, 2008 is included as an unnumbered item in Part I of this report in lieu of being included in the
Company's proxy Statement for its 2008 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders.

Date of
Service as
an Executive Principal Occupation and
Name and Age Officer Other Information for Past Five Years
Herbert L. Henkel (60) 4/5/1999 Chairman of Board and Chief Executive Officer (since October 1999)

Michael W. Lamach (45) 2/16/2004

Steven R. Shawley (56) 8/1/2005
Marcia J. Avedon (47) 2/7/2007
James R. Bolch (51) 10/16/2005
William B. Gauld (55) 10/2/2006

Steven B. Hochhauser (47)  6/16/2008

Patricia Nachtigal (62) 11/2/1988
David R. Pannier (58) 6/5/2008
Didier Teirlinck (52) 6/4/2008
Richard J. Weller (52) 9/8/2008

President and Chief Operating Officer (since February 2009); Senior
Vice President and President, Trane Commercial (2008-2009); Senior
Vice President and President, Security Technologies (2004-2008)

Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer (since June 2008);
Senior Vice President and President, Climate Control Technologies
(2005-2008); President Climate Control Americas (2003-2005)

Senior Vice President, Human Resources and Communication (since
February 2007); Merck & Co., Inc., Senior Vice President, Human
Resources (2003-2006)

Senior Vice President and President, Industrial Technologies Sector
(since October 2005); Schindler Elevator Corporation, Executive Vice
President, Service Business (2004-2005)

Senior Vice President, Enterprise Services (since October 2006);
Principal, The W Group (2005-2006); Pearson, plc, Chief Information
Officer (2001-2005)

President, Security Technologies (since June 2008); Johns Manville,
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer (2004-2007) and
Chief Operating Officer (2002-2004)

Director (since January 1, 2002); Senior Vice President and General
Counsel (since November 1988)

President, Trane Residential (since June 2008); Trane Inc., President,
Trane Residential (2002-2008)

President, Climate Control Technologies (since June 2008); President,
Climate Control Europe (2005-2008); President, Volvo Equipment
(2000-2005)

Vice President and Controller (since September 2008); Vice President,
Finance (June-September 2008); Vice President, Finance, Security
Technologies Sector (2005-2008); Textron Inc., Vice President, Finance,
Shared Services (2002-2005)

No family relationship exists between any of the above-listed executive officers of the Company. All officers are
elected to hold office for one year or until their successors are elected and qualified.
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PART II

Item 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Information regarding the principal market for our common shares and related shareholder matters is as follows:
Our Class A common shares are traded on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol IR. As of
February 20, 2009, the approximate number of record holders of Class A common shares was 7,102. The high

and low sales price per share and the dividend paid per share for the following periods were as follows:

Common shares

2008 High Low Dividend
First quarter $ 46.57 $ 3446 $ 0.18
Second quarter 46.84 36.54 0.18
Third quarter 41.14 29.18 0.18
Fourth guarter 30.60 11.75 0.18
2007

First quarter $ 45.62 $ 38.25 $ 0.18
Second quarter 56.63 43.39 0.18
Third quarter 56.66 44.52 0.18
Fourth quarter 55.94 42.94 0.18

The Bank of New York Mellon (BNY Mellon Shareowner Services, P.O. Box 358015, New York, NY 15252-
8015, (800) 507-9357) is our transfer agent, registrar and dividend reinvestment agent.

Future dividends on our Class A common shares, if any, will be at the discretion of our Board of Directors and
will depend on, among other things, our results of operations, cash requirements and surplus, financial condition,
contractual restrictions and other factors that the Board of Directors may deem relevant, as well as our ability to
pay dividends in compliance with the Bermuda Companies Act. This Act regulates the payment of dividends and
the making of distributions from contributed surplus. We may not declare or pay a dividend, or make a
distribution out of contributed surplus, if there are reasonable grounds for believing that: (i) we are, or would be
after the payment, unable to pay our liabilities as they become due; or (ii) the realizable value of our assets would
thereby be less than the aggregate of our liabilities and issued share capital and share premium accounts.

Information regarding equity compensation plans required to be disclosed pursuant to this Item is incorporated
by reference from our definite Proxy Statement for the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders.

Shares of IR-Limited owned by a subsidiary are treated as treasury stock and are recorded at cost on the balance
sheet. During 2008, we issued 45.4 million IR-Limited Class A common shares to fund the equity portion of the
consideration paid for the Trane acquisition. During 2007, we repurchased 39.7 million Class A common shares
at a cost $1,999.9 million under our existing $4 billion share repurchase program. During 2006, we completed
our prior $2 billion share repurchase program by repurchasing 27.7 million Class A common shares at a cost of
$1,096.3 million.
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Total share repurchases for the year ended December 31, 2008 are as follows:

Approximate dollar

Total number of value of shares still

Total number shares purchased available to be

of shares Average as part of the purchased under

purchased  price paid  publicly announced the program

Period (000’s) per share program (000’s) ($000’s)

01/01/2008 - 03/31/2008 - - - $ 2,000,100

04/01/2008 - 06/30/2008 452 43.83 45.2 1,998,120

07/01/2008 - 09/30/2008 - - - 1,998,120

10/01/2008 - 12/31/2008 - - - 1,998,120
Total 45.2 45.2

Performance Graph

The following graph compares the cumulative total shareholder return on our Class A common shares with the
cumulative total return on (i) the Standard & Poor’s 500 Stock Index, (ii) the Standard & Poor’s 500 Industrial
Machinery Index, and (iii) the Standard & Poor’s 500 Industrial Index for the five years ended December 31,
2008. The graph assumes an investment of $100 in our Class A common shares, the Standard & Poor’s 500 Stock
Index, the Standard & Poor’s 500 Industrial Machinery Index, and the Standard & Poor’s 500 Industrial Index on
December 31, 2003 and assumes the reinvestment of dividends.

We are including a new index, the Standard & Poor’s 500 Industrial Index, in the graph this year because we
have significantly changed our business portfolio over the past three years. During this period, we have divested
heavy machinery and construction-related businesses, which focused on original equipment revenues and were
more affected by cyclical market behavior. With the acquisition of Trane, our businesses are more focused on
replacement and recurring revenue markets. Consequently, while we are a member of both the Standard & Poor’s
500 Industrial Machinery Index and the Standard & Poor’s 500 Industrial Index, we believe that a comparison of
our performance to the Standard & Poor’s 500 Industrial Index is a more appropriate measure.
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Item 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

In millions, except per share amounts:

At and for the years ended December 31, 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004
Net revenues $13,2274 $ 8,763.1 $ 8,033.7 $ 7,263.7 $ 6,663.2
Earnings (loss) from continuing operations (2,567.4) 733.1 765.0 731.8 554.2
Earnings (loss) from discontinued operations (57.4) 3,233.6 267.5 322.4 664.5
Total assets 20,924.5 14,376.2 12,1459 11,756.4 11,414.6
Total debt 5,124.1 1,453.7 1,984.6 2,117.0 1,880.4
Shareholders’ equity 6,661.4 7,907.9 5,404.8 5,761.9 5,733.8
Basic earnings (loss) per common share:

Continuing operations $ (B54) % 252 °$ 239 § 217 $ 1.60

Discontinued operations (0.19) 11.12 0.84 0.95 1.92
Diluted earnings (loss) per common share:

Continuing operations $ (B54) % 248 $ 237 $ 2.14 % 1.58

Discontinued operations (0.19) 10.95 0.83 0.95 1.89
Dividends per common share $ 072 $ 072 $ 0.68 $ 057 $ 0.44

1. Earnings and dividends per common share amounts have been restated to reflect a two-for-one stock split
that occurred in August 2005.

2. 2006 — 2004 amounts have been restated to reflect Compact Equipment and the Road Development business
unit as discontinued operations.

3. 2008 amounts include the results of Trane since the acquisition date (June 5, 2008 through December 31,
2008).

4. 2008 Earnings (loss) from continuing operations include an after-tax, non-cash asset impairment charge of
$3.4 billion that was recognized in the fourth quarter.
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Item 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL
CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations contains
forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. Our actual results may differ materially from the
results discussed in the forward-looking statements. Factors that might cause a difference include, but are not
limited to, those discussed under Item IA. Risk Factors in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The following
section is qualified in its entirety by the more detailed information, including our financial statements and the
notes thereto, which appears elsewhere in this Annual Report.

Overview

Organization

Ingersoll-Rand Company Limited (IR-Limited), a Bermuda company, and its consolidated subsidiaries (we, our,
the Company) is a diversified, global company that provides products, services and solutions to enhance the
quality and comfort of air in homes and buildings, transport and protect food and perishables, secure homes and
commercial properties, and increase industrial productivity and efficiency. Our business segments consist of Air
Conditioning Systems and Services, Climate Control Technologies, Industrial Technologies and Security
Technologies, each with strong brands and leading positions within their respective markets. We generate
revenue and cash primarily through the design, manufacture, sale and service of a diverse portfolio of industrial
and commercial products that include well-recognized, premium brand names such as Club Car®, Hussmann®,
Ingersoll-Rand®, Schlage®, Thermo King® and Trane®.

We are dedicated to inspiring progress for our customers, shareholders, employees and communities by
achieving:

e Dramatic Growth, by focusing on innovative solutions for our customers;
e Operational Excellence, by pursuing continuous improvement in all of our operations; and

* Dual Citizenship, by bringing together the talents of all Ingersoll Rand people to leverage the
capabilities of our global enterprise.

To achieve these goals and to become a more diversified company with strong growth prospects, we transformed
our enterprise portfolio by divesting cyclical, low-growth and asset-intensive businesses. In addition, our
acquisition strategy has helped deliver more consistent revenue and earnings performance across all phases of the
economic cycle. Aside from our portfolio transformation, we continue to focus on increasing our recurring
revenue stream, which includes revenues from parts, service, used equipment and rentals. We also intend to
continuously improve the efficiencies, capabilities, products and services of our high-potential businesses.

Trends and Economic Events

We are a global corporation with worldwide operations. As a global business, our operations are affected by
worldwide, regional and industry-specific economic factors, as well as political factors, wherever we operate or
do business. Our geographic and industry diversity, as well as the diversity of our product sales and services, has
helped limit the impact of any one industry or the economy of any single country on our consolidated operating
results.

The recent extreme volatility and disruption of financial markets in the United States, Europe and Asia have
contributed to weakening worldwide economic conditions. As a result, we have seen weaker demand for many of
our products and services during the second half of 2008. In addition, the uncertainty related to the cost and
availability of credit has further depressed the overall business climate. Our revenues from continuing operations
for 2008 increased 50.9% compared with 2007, primarily associated with the acquisition of Trane Inc. (Trane).
Excluding the results of Trane, our revenues from continuing operations for 2008 increased less than 1%
compared with 2007.
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Despite the increasingly challenging economic environment, we continue to execute our business strategy. The
divestiture of both Compact Equipment and the Road Development business unit in 2007, in addition to the
acquisition of Trane in 2008, has enabled us to become more balanced across the products we offer. In addition,
our current enterprise-wide restructuring actions initiated in the fourth quarter of 2008 are designed to streamline
the footprint of our manufacturing facilities and reduce our general and administrative cost base.

Given the broad range of products manufactured and geographic markets served, management uses a variety of
factors to predict the outlook for the Company. We monitor key competitors and customers in order to gauge
relative performance and the outlook for the future. In addition, our order rates are indicative of future revenue
and thus a key measure of anticipated performance. In those industry segments where we are a capital equipment
provider, revenues depend on the capital expenditure budgets and spending patterns of our customers, who may
delay or accelerate purchases in reaction to changes in their businesses and in the economy.

For 2009, we expect current market conditions continuing to negatively affect our financial results. Declining
markets in North America and Western Europe partially offset by slight to moderate growth in the developing
economies of Eastern Europe, Asia and Latin America will have a negative impact. In addition, with more than
40% of our revenues generated outside of the U.S., the recent appreciation of the U.S. dollar against most major
currencies could negatively impact our 2009 revenue.

Despite the current economic turmoil, we have a solid foundation of global brands and leading market shares in
all of our major product lines. In addition, our growing geographic and industry diversity coupled with our large
installed product base provides growth opportunities within our service, parts and replacement revenue streams.

Acquisition of Trane

At the close of business on June 5, 2008 (the Acquisition Date), we completed the acquisition of 100% of the
outstanding common shares of Trane. Trane, previously named American Standard Companies Inc., provides
systems and services that enhance the quality and comfort of the air in homes and buildings around the world.
Trane’s systems and services have leading positions in premium commercial, residential, institutional and
industrial markets, a reputation for reliability, high quality and product innovation and a powerful distribution
network. Trane’s 2007 annual revenues were $7.5 billion.

We paid a combination of (i) 0.23 of an IR-Limited Class A common share and (ii) $36.50 in cash, without
interest, for each outstanding share of Trane common stock. The total cost of the acquisition was approximately
$9.6 billion, including change in control payments and direct costs of the transaction. We financed the cash
portion of the acquisition with a combination of cash on hand, commercial paper and a 364-day senior unsecured
bridge loan facility.

The components of the purchase price were as follows:

In billions

Cash consideration $ 7.3
Stock consideration (Issuance of 45.4 million IR-Limited Class A common shares) 2.0
Estimated fair value of Trane stock options converted to 7.4

million IR-Limited stock options 0.2
Transaction costs 0.1
Total $ 9.6

As a result of the acquisition, the results of the operations of Trane have been included in the statement of
financial position at December 31, 2008 and the consolidated statements of operations and cash flows since the
Acquisition Date. For further details on the acquisition of Trane, see Note 3 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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Significant events in 2008
As discussed in Acquisition of Trane above, on June 5, 2008, we acquired 100% of the outstanding common
shares of Trane for approximately $9.6 billion.

In August 2008, we filed a universal shelf registration statement with the Securities and Exchange Commission
(SEC) for an indeterminate amount of securities for future issuance and issued $1.6 billion of long-term debt
pursuant to the shelf registration statement. This issuance consisted of $250 million Senior Floating Rate Notes
due in 2010, $600 million 6.000% Senior Notes due in 2013 and $750 million 6.875% Senior Notes due in 2018.
These notes are fully and unconditionally guaranteed by IR-Limited, which directly owns 100% of the subsidiary
issuer, IR Global Holding Company Limited. The net proceeds from the offering were used to partially reduce
the amount outstanding under the senior unsecured bridge loan facility, which had a balance of $754 million at
December 31, 2008.

In October 2008, we announced plans to initiate enterprise-wide restructuring actions. These actions include
streamlining the footprint of manufacturing facilities and reducing the general and administrative cost base.
Projected costs will approximate $110 million. As of December 31, 2008, we have incurred $71 million of costs
associated with this restructuring.

In the fourth quarter of 2008, we tested goodwill and other indefinite-lived intangible assets for impairment. As a
result of decreased global equity valuations, the tightening of industrial and retail end markets and a resulting
decline in our 2009 projected financial performance, we incurred a non-cash pre-tax impairment charge of
$3,710.0 million, $3,385.0 million after-tax.

Significant events in 2007

On November 30, 2007, we completed the sale of our Bobcat, Utility Equipment and Attachments business units
(collectively, Compact Equipment) to Doosan Infracore for cash proceeds of approximately $4.9 billion, subject
to post-closing purchase price adjustments. Compact Equipment manufactured and sold compact equipment
including skid-steer loaders, compact track loaders, mini-excavators and telescopic tool handlers; portable air
compressors, generators, light towers; general-purpose light construction equipment; and attachments. We are
currently in the process of resolving the final purchase price adjustments with Doosan Infracore.

On April 30, 2007, we completed the sale of our Road Development business unit to AB Volvo (publ) for cash
proceeds of approximately $1.3 billion. The Road Development business unit manufactured and sold asphalt
paving equipment, compaction equipment, milling machines and construction-related material handling
equipment.

During the fourth quarter of 2007, we recorded a non-cash charge to earnings of discontinued operations of $449
million ($277 million after-tax) relating to the company's liability for all pending and estimated future asbestos
claims through 2053. This charge resulted from an increase in our recorded liability for asbestos claims by $538
million, from $217 million to $755 million, offset by a corresponding $89 million increase in our recorded asset
for probable asbestos-related insurance recoveries, from $161 million to $250 million at December 31, 2007. For
a further discussion of asbestos matters, see Note 22 to the consolidated financial statements.

On July 20, 2007, the Company and its consolidated subsidiaries received a notice from the Internal Revenue
Service (IRS) containing proposed adjustments to the Company’s tax filings in connection with an audit of the
2001 and 2002 tax years. The IRS did not contest the validity of the Company’s reincorporation in Bermuda. The
most significant adjustments proposed by the IRS involve treating the entire intercompany debt incurred in
connection with the Company’s reincorporation in Bermuda as equity. As a result of this recharacterization, the
IRS has disallowed the deduction of interest paid on the debt and imposed dividend withholding taxes on the
payments denominated as interest. These adjustments proposed by the IRS, if upheld in their entirety, would
result in additional taxes with respect to 2002 of approximately $190 million plus interest, and would require the
Company to record additional charges associated with this matter. At this time, the IRS has not yet begun their
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examination of the Company’s tax filings for years subsequent to 2002. However, if these adjustments or a
portion of these adjustments proposed by the IRS are ultimately sustained, it is likely to also affect subsequent
tax years.

The Company strongly disagrees with the view of the IRS and filed a protest with the IRS in the third quarter of
2007. The Company has and intends to continue to vigorously contest these proposed adjustments. The
Company, in consultation with its outside advisors, carefully considered many factors in determining the terms of
the intercompany debt, including the obligor’s ability to service the debt and the availability of equivalent
financing from unrelated parties, two factors prominently cited by the IRS in denying debt treatment. The
Company believes that its characterization of that obligation as debt for tax purposes was supported by the
relevant facts and legal authorities at the time of its creation. The subsequent financial results of the relevant
companies, including the actual cash flow generated by operations and the production of significant additional
cash flow from dispositions have confirmed the ability to service this debt. Although the outcome of this matter
cannot be predicted with certainty, based upon an analysis of the strength of its position, the Company believes
that it is adequately reserved for this matter. As the Company moves forward to resolve this matter with the IRS,
it is reasonably possible that the reserves established may be adjusted within the next 12 months. However, the
Company does not expect that the ultimate resolution will have a material adverse impact on its future results of
operations or financial position. See Note 19 to the consolidated financial statements for a further discussion of
tax matters.

During 2007, we repurchased 39.7 million Class A common shares at a cost $1,999.9 million under our existing
$4 billion share repurchase program. This repurchase program was originally authorized by the Board of
Directors in December 2006 to repurchase up to $2 billion and subsequently expanded to $4 billion in May 2007.

Significant Events in 2006

During 2006, we completed our original $2 billion share repurchase program by repurchasing 27.7 million
Class A common shares at a cost of $1,096.3 million. This share repurchase program was originally authorized
by the Board of Directors in August 2004 and subsequently expanded in August 2005. In December 2006, the
Board of Directors authorized a new share repurchase program to repurchase up to $2 billion worth of Class A
common shares. No amounts were repurchased under the December 2006 authorization as of December 31,
2006.

On October 6, 2006, we received a notice from the IRS containing proposed adjustments to our tax filings in
connection with an audit of the 1998 through 2000 tax years. The principal proposed adjustments consist of the
disallowance of certain capital losses taken in our tax returns in 1999 and 2000. The disallowance would result in
additional taxes and penalties of approximately $155 million, plus interest through October 6, 2006, of
approximately $62 million. As a result, in the third quarter of 2006, we added approximately $27 million ($0.08
per dilutive share) to previously established reserves. In order to reduce the potential interest expense associated
with this matter, we made a payment to the IRS of $217 million in the third quarter of 2007. See Note 19 to the
consolidated financial statements for a further discussion of tax matters.
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Results of Operations

% of % of % of
Dollar amounts in millions, except per share data 2008 Revenues 2007  Revenues 2006 Revenues
Net revenues $ 13,227.4 $ 8,763.1 $ 8,033.7
Cost of goods sold (9,748.1)  737%  (6,272.0) 71.6%  (5,768.4)  71.8%
Selling and administrative expenses (2,343.1) 17.7%  (1,433.3)  16.3% (1,266.8)  15.8%
Asset impairment (3,710.0) - -
Operating income (loss) (2,573.8)  -195% 1,057.8  12.1% 998.5 12.4%
Interest expense (245.4) (136.2) (133.6)
Other, net 43.2 15.9 (7.3)
Earnings (loss) before income taxes (2,776.0) 937.5 857.6
(Provision) benefit for income taxes 208.6 (204.4) (92.6)
Earnings (loss) from continuing operations (2,567.4) 733.1 765.0
Discontinued operations, net of tax (57.4) 3,233.6 267.5
Net earnings (loss) $ (2,624.8) $ 3,966.7 $ 1,032.5
Diluted earnings (loss) per common share:
Continuing operations $ (854 $ 248 $ 237
Discontinued operations (0.19) 10.95 0.83
Net earnings (loss) $ (8.73) $ 13.43 $ 3.20

The discussions that follow describe the significant factors contributing to the changes in our results of
operations for the periods presented. Included in the review are certain non-GAAP financial measures. We
believe that it is meaningful to provide the relative impact of integration and restructuring charges, non-recurring
cost related to the acquisition of Trane and impairment charges in order to present a better understanding of our
results on a period to period comparative basis. The adjusted information is intended to be more indicative of our
core operating results.

Net Revenues
Net revenues for the year ended December 31, 2008 increased by 51%, or $4,464.3 million, compared with the
same period of 2007, which primarily resulted from the following:

Volume/product mix -4.5%
Pricing 2.5%
Currency exchange rates 2.0%
Acquisitions 51.0%
Total 51.0%

The acquisition of Trane on June 5, 2008 increased revenues by $4,401.3 million during the year. Excluding the
results of Trane, revenues increased by 0.7%, or $63.0 million. Softening overall demand in many major
end-markets was the primary driver of the volume reduction. However, we continue to make progress in
increasing recurring revenues, which improved by 6% over prior year and accounted for 19% of net revenues in
2008.
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Net revenues for the year ended December 31, 2007 increased by 9%, or $729.4 million, compared with the same
period of 2006, which primarily resulted from the following:

Volume/product mix 4.0%
Pricing 2.0%
Acquisitions 2.5%
Currency exchange rates 0.5%
Total 9.0%

Revenues increased significantly in the European, Asian and Latin American regions as volumes, product mix
and pricing all improved during 2007. North American revenues increased moderately compared to 2006. These
increases occurred in each of our business segments. Recurring revenues continue to be a source of growth as
they improved by 9% over the prior year and accounted for 18% of net revenues in 2007.

Cost of Goods Sold

For the year ended December 31, 2008, cost of goods sold increased by $3,476.1 million compared to the same
period in 2007. The increase was primarily related to the acquisition of Trane. In addition, cost of goods sold
included $56.7 million of restructuring and integration costs compared to restructuring costs of $24.8 million in
2007. Cost of goods sold as a percentage of revenue increased to 73.7% compared with 71.6% for the same
period of 2007. Excluding the results of Trane, cost of goods sold as a percentage of revenue would have been
72.7%. Higher material costs and unfavorable business and product mix more than offset price increases. In
addition, decreased leverage due to lower volumes contributed to the year-over-year increase.

For the year ended December 31, 2007, cost of goods sold as a percentage of revenues decreased slightly to
71.6% compared with 71.8% for the same period of 2006. Increased leverage on higher revenues provided a
benefit which was offset by unfavorable mix and higher material costs. Restructuring costs, which accounted for
$24.8 million of the year-over-year increase, had a 0.3% impact on cost of goods sold as a percentage of revenue.

Selling and Administrative Expenses

For the year ended December 31, 2008, selling and administrative expense increased by $909.8 million compared
to the same period in 2007. The increase was primarily related to the acquisition of Trane. In addition, selling and
administrative expense included $34.2 million of restructuring and integration costs compared to $3.9 million of
restructuring costs in 2006. Selling and administrative expense as a percentage of revenue increased to 17.7%
compared with 16.3% for the same period of 2007. Excluding the results of Trane, selling and administrative
expense as a percentage of revenue would have been 16.6%. Decreased leverage due to lower volumes more than
offset expense reduction and price increases.

For the year ended December 31, 2007, selling and administrative expenses as a percentage of revenues
increased to 16.3% compared with 15.8% for the same period of 2006. This increase was primarily due to
increased costs of $23 million associated with the divestiture of Compact Equipment and the Road Development
business unit. In addition, share-based compensation expense of $20 million and the prior year adjustment of the
allowance for doubtful accounts of $15 million also contributed to the increase. These additional costs were
partially offset by better leverage from higher revenue.

Asset Impairment

During the fourth quarter of 2008, we tested goodwill and other indefinite-lived intangible assets for impairment.
As a result of decreased global equity valuations, the tightening of industrial and retail end markets and a
resulting decline in our 2009 projected financial performance, we incurred a non-cash pre-tax impairment charge
of $3,710.0 million, $3,385.0 million after-tax.
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The following table summarizes the impairment charges that were taken by sector during 2008:

Intangible = Marketable

In millions Goodwill Assets Securities Total
Air Conditioning Systems and Services $2496.0 $ 8140 $ - $ 3,310.0
Climate Control Technologies - 40.0 - 40.0
Security Technologies 344.0 6.0 10.0 360.0
Total $ 2,840.0 $ 8600 % 10.0 $ 3,710.0

For a further discussion of impairment related matters, see Goodwill and Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets
under Critical Accounting Policies and Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements.

Operating Income (Loss)

Operating income for the year ended December 31, 2008 decreased by $3,631.6 million compared with the same
period of 2007. The primary driver of the year-over-year decrease related to the $3,710.0 million asset
impairment charge recognized in the fourth quarter of 2008. Results were further impacted by the acquisition of
Trane in the second quarter of 2008 in addition to related restructuring and integration cost. Excluding these
items, operating margins would have been 7.8%. Lower volumes, higher commodity costs and an unfavorable
business and product mix were partially offset by expense reduction, productivity actions and improved pricing.

Operating income for the year ended December 31, 2007 increased by $59.3 million or 5.9%, compared with the
same period of 2006. Excluding restructuring charges, operating income would have increased by 8.8% to
$1,086.5 million. The increase in operating income was mainly attributable to increased revenues, productivity
improvements, improved pricing and favorable volumes. These benefits were partially offset by higher material
costs and an unfavorable product mix. However, these cost increases, coupled with the unfavorable product mix,
held operating margins flat at 12.4% compared to the prior year.

Interest Expense

Interest expense for the year ended December 31, 2008 increased $109.2 million compared with the same period
of 2007. The increase is primarily related to significantly higher debt levels used to help fund the acquisition of
Trane in June 2008.

Interest expense for the year ended December 31, 2007 increased by $2.6 million compared with the same period
of 2006. The increase was mainly attributable to higher year-over-year average debt levels due to the issuance
and subsequent repayment of commercial paper during the year.

Other, Net

The year-over-year changes in Other, net primarily resulted from the following:

In millions 2008 2007 2006
Interest income $ 956 $ 362 § 159
Exchange gain (loss) (41.9) (2.8) (21.3)
Minority interests (20.0) (14.3) (14.9)
Earnings from equity investments 34 1.0 (0.1)
Other 6.1 (4.2) 13.1
Other, net $ 432 $ 159 $ (7.3)

For the year ended December 31, 2008, Other, net increased by $27.3 million compared with the same period of
2007. The increase was a result of greater interest income generated by higher average cash balances prior to the
acquisition of Trane in June 2008. The results were partially offset by currency losses due to significant volatility
in currency exchange rates, predominately in the fourth quarter.
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For the year ended December 31, 2007, Other, net increased by $23.2 million compared to the same period of
2006. The increase was primarily due to increased interest income as result of higher average cash balances
during 2007. Additionally, Other, net in 2006 included income from a reduction of a product liability reserve of
approximately $9 million.

Provision for Income Taxes

For the year ended December 31, 2008, the effective tax rate was 7.5%. The tax rate was substantially below the
U.S. Statutory rate of 35.0% primarily due to the large impairment charge recognized in the fourth quarter, as
well as earnings in non-U.S. jurisdictions, which, in aggregate, have a lower effective rate. Excluding the
impairment charge, the adjusted effective rate would have been 12.4%, compared with an effective rate of 21.8%
in 2007. The 9.4 point reduction in the effective rate is primarily the result of lower earnings in high tax
jurisdiction during 2008.

The effective tax rate increased approximately by 11% in 2007 compared with 2006. The increase in the effective
tax rate during 2007 was primarily due to increased earnings in higher tax jurisdictions (7.2%) and increased tax
reserves (3.2%) primarily associated with Financial Accounting Standard Board Interpretation No. 48,
“Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes — an interpretation of FASB Statement 109” (FIN 48), a new
accounting standard that we adopted in 2007. FIN 48 prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement
process for recording in the financial statements uncertain tax positions taken or expected to be taken in a tax
return.

Review of Business Segments

We classify our business into four reportable segments based on industry and market focus: Air Conditioning
Systems and Services, Climate Control Technologies, Industrial Technologies and Security Technologies. The
segment discussions that follow describe the significant factors contributing to the changes in results for each
segment included in continuing operations.

Included in the review of our business segments are non-GAAP financial measures. We believe that it is
meaningful to provide the relative impact of integration and restructuring charges, non-recurring cost related to
the acquisition of Trane and impairment charges in order to present a better understanding of our results on a
period to period comparative basis. The adjusted information is intended to be more indicative of our core
operating results.
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Air Conditioning Systems and Services

Our Air Conditioning Systems and Services segment provides heating, ventilation and air conditioning (HVAC)
systems that enhance the quality and comfort of the air in homes and buildings around the world. It offers
customers a broad range of energy-efficient HVAC systems, dehumidifying and air cleaning products, service
and parts support, advanced building controls as well as financing solutions under the Trane and American
Standard Heating and Air Conditioning brands. These brands have leading positions in commercial, residential,
institutional and industrial markets.

Dollar amounts in millions 2008
Net revenues $4,401.3
Operating income (loss) (3,145.7)
Add back:
Impairment charges 3,310.0
Purchase accounting charges 158.4
Restructuring charges 15.3
Integration charges 5.0
Adjusted operating income $ 343.0
Operating margin -71.5%
Adjusted operating margin 7.8%

Includes results since the acquisition date (June 5, 2008)

Reported results for revenues and operating income for the six months and 25 days ended December 31, 2008
reflect year-to-date activity since the Acquisition Date (June 5, 2008 onward). In the fourth quarter of 2008, we
recognized a non-cash charge of $3,310.0 million related to the impairment of goodwill and indefinite-lived
intangible assets within the segment.

Included within operating income is $158.4 million of purchase accounting charges that are not expected to recur
next year. These charges relate to inventory step-up, backlog amortization and in-process research and
development costs. In addition, we recorded $20.3 million of severance and other business integration costs
associated with the acquisition. Excluding these charges, operating income would have been $343.0 million with
an adjusted operating margin of 7.8%.

Included in adjusted operating income is $81.1 million of costs associated with the amortization of intangible
assets fair valued as of the Acquisition Date. We expect these costs to be an incremental expense in future
periods as they relate to intangible assets with finite lives.

Commercial results decreased in both domestic and international markets. Increased revenues for parts, services

and solutions were more than offset by a decline in equipment revenues. Residential results were impacted by
continued weakness in the U.S. housing market.
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Climate Control Technologies

Our Climate Control Technologies segment provides equipment and services to manage controlled-temperature
environments for food and other perishables throughout the world. Encompassing the transport and stationary
refrigeration markets, this segment offers customers a broad range of products and solutions such as refrigerated
display merchandisers, beverage coolers, auxiliary power units, walk-in storage coolers and freezers and
transport temperature control units. This segment includes the market leading brands of Hussmann and Thermo
King.

Dollar amounts in millions 2008 % change 2007 % change 2006
Net revenues $ 3,356.8 05% $ 3,372.4 6.4% $ 3,171.0
Operating income 278.9 27.1% 382.6 7.5% 356.0

Add back:

Impairment charges 40.0 - -

Restructuring charges 38.6 22.4 -
Adjusted operating income $ 3575  -117% $  405.0 138% $ 356.0
Operating margin 8.3% 11.3% 11.2%
Adjusted operating margin 10.7% 12.0% 11.2%
2008 vs 2007

For the year ended December 31, 2008, net revenues decreased by 0.5% or $15.6 million, compared with the
same period of 2007. The slight decrease in the year-over-year results were primarily due to lower volumes
(4%) offset by a favorable currency impact (3%) and improved pricing.

Operating income decreased by 27.1% or $103.7 million during 2008. In the fourth quarter, we recognized a
non-cash charge of $40.0 million related to the impairment of indefinite-lived intangible assets within the
segment. In addition, we recorded $38.6 million of restructuring charges associated with employee termination
benefits and other cost associated with announced restructuring plans. Excluding the impairment charge and
restructuring costs, operating income would have been $357.5 million, increasing the operating margin to 10.7%
from 8.3%.

On an adjusted basis, operating income for the year ended December 31, 2008 decreased by 11.7% or $47.5
million compared with the same period of 2007. The decrease was primarily related to lower volumes and
product mix ($73 million), increased material costs ($46 million) partially offset by increased productivity ($51
million), improved pricing ($44 million) and a favorable currency impact.

The decrease in segment revenues primarily resulted from the decline in the truck market, which decreased
refrigerated trailer and truck revenues in North America and Europe. In addition, sea-going container revenues,
as well as bus and aftermarket revenues also decreased as a result of slower end market activity. Worldwide
display cases and contracting revenue decreased due to declines in display case sales to regional supermarkets in
the U.S. and a sharp decline in the installation business. However, sales of the TriPac® auxiliary unit continued to
experience substantial growth.

2007 vs 2006

For the year ended December 31, 2007, net revenues increased by 6.4% or $201.4 million, compared with the
same period of 2006. The main drivers of the increase were a favorable currency impact (4%), higher volumes
(2%) and improved product pricing.

Operating income increased by 7.5% or $26.6 million during 2007. During the year, we recorded $22.4 million
of restructuring charges relating to ongoing cost reduction efforts, including workforce reductions and the
consolidation of manufacturing facilities. Excluding these costs, operating income would have been $405.0
million, increasing the operating margin to 12.0% from 11.3%.
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On an adjusted basis, operating income for the year ended December 31, 2007 increased by 13.8% or $49.0
million compared with the same period of 2006. The increase was due to increased productivity ($68 million),
improved product pricing ($44 million) and favorable currency impact ($15 million). These increases were
partially offset by higher material costs ($46 million), unfavorable product mix ($20 million) and new product
development ($8 million).

Net revenues grew in the European, Asian and Latin American regions during the year ended 2007, benefiting
from strong truck and trailer sales and year-over-year gains in bus and marine containers. These gains were
partially offset by lower activity levels in the North American trailer markets. Revenues for service and
installation increased with growth in the North American and Asian markets, offsetting weakness in the
European market for display cases.

Industrial Technologies

Our Industrial Technologies segment provides products, services and solutions that enhance energy efficiency,
productivity and operations. It offers our global customers a diverse and innovative range of products including
compressed air systems, tools, pumps, fluid handling systems, golf and utility vehicles in addition to
environmentally friendly micro turbines. This segment includes the Club Car and Ingersoll Rand market leading
brands.

Dollar amounts in millions 2008 % change 2007 % change 2006
Net revenues $ 2,938.3 2.1% $ 2,877.1 11.6% $ 2,577.7
Operating income 353.7 9.8% 392.0 11.4% 351.8

Add back:

Restructuring charges 9.6 1.0 -
Adjusted operating income $ 3633 76% % 393.0 117%  $ 351.8
Operating margin 12.0% 13.6% 13.6%
Adjusted operating margin 12.4% 13.7% 13.6%

2008 vs 2007

For the year ended December 31, 2008, net revenues increased by 2.1% or $61.2 million, compared with the
same period of 2007. The primary drivers of the year-over-year increase were improved pricing (2%),
acquisitions (2%) and a favorable currency impact (1%). The improved results were partially offset by lower
volumes and product mix (3%).

Operating income decreased by 9.8% or $38.3 million during 2008. In the fourth quarter, we recorded $9.6
million of restructuring charges associated with employee termination benefits and other cost associated with
announced restructuring plans. Excluding the restructuring costs, operating income would have been $363.3
million, increasing the operating margin to 12.4% from 12.0%.

On an adjusted basis, operating income for the year ended December 31, 2008 decreased by 7.6% or $29.7
million compared with the same period of 2007. The decreased was primarily related to higher material costs
($61 million), lower volumes and product mix ($42 million) and increased spending on new product
development ($15 million). These reductions were partially offset by improved pricing ($62 million) and
increased productivity ($46 million).

The increase in segment revenue was driven by the worldwide increase in the Air and Productivity Solutions
business. However, lower volumes in all geographic areas in the second half of the year show the weakening
industrial and fluid handling end markets. In addition, slower industrial production levels as well as the deferral
of some maintenance by customers more than offset aftermarket growth. Club Car revenues declined in all
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geographic areas compared with 2007 mainly due to weak economic fundamentals in key golf, hospitality and
recreation markets. However, the business continued to gain market share in the declining golf market and a
softening utility vehicle market.

2007 vs 2006

For the year ended December 31, 2007, net revenues increased by 11.6% or $299.4 million, compared with the
same period of 2006. Higher volumes and product mix (5%), a favorable currency impact (2%), acquisitions
(2%) and improved product pricing (2%) were the primary drivers of the year-over-year increase.

Operating income increased by 11.4% or $40.2 million during 2007. During the year, we recorded $1.0 million
of restructuring charges relating to ongoing cost reduction efforts, including workforce reductions and the
consolidation of manufacturing facilities. Excluding these costs, operating income would have been $393.0
million, increasing the operating margin to 13.7% from 13.6%.

On an adjusted basis, operating income for the year ended December 31, 2007 increased by 11.7% or $41.2
million compared with the same period of 2006. The increase was due to improved product pricing ($48 million),
increased productivity ($33 million) and higher volumes ($32 million). These gains were partially offset by
higher material costs ($63 million) and investments in new product development and productivity programs ($13
million).

Air Solutions revenues increased by 16% compared with 2006, mainly driven by favorable worldwide industrial
markets and increased recurring revenues. Productivity Solutions revenues increased moderately compared with
2006, mainly due to non-U.S. growth in the industrial fluid and handling markets and higher service revenues,
partially offset by a weak domestic market for tools. Club Car revenues increased by 10% compared with 2006,
mainly due to growth in the sales of utility, off-road and aftermarket vehicles and ongoing market share gains in
a soft golf market.

Security Technologies

Our Security Technologies segment is a leading global provider of products and services that make environments
safe, secure and productive. The segment’s market-leading solutions include electronic and biometric access
control systems and software, locks and locksets, door closers, exit devices, steel doors and frames, portable
security devices, decorative hardware, cabinet hardware as well as time, attendance and personnel scheduling
systems. These products serve a wide range of markets including the commercial construction and residential
housing market, healthcare, retail, maritime and transport industries as well as educational and governmental
facilities. This segment includes the CISA, LCN, Schlage and Von Duprin brands.

Dollar amounts in millions 2008 % change 2007 % change 2006
Net revenues $ 2,531.0 07% $ 2,513.6 100% $ 2,285.0
Operating income 100.4 -76.8% 433.5 8.3% 400.2

Add back:

Impairment charges 360.0 - -

Restructuring charges 13.1 5.3 -
Adjusted operating income $ 4735 79% $ 4388 9.6% $ 400.2
Operating margin 4.0% 17.2% 17.5%
Adjusted operating margin 18.7% 17.5% 17.5%
2008 vs 2007

For the year ended December 31, 2008, net revenues increased by 0.7% or $17.4 million, compared with the
same period of 2007. The slight year-over-year increase was primarily related to improved pricing (5%) and a
favorable currency impact (1%). However, lower volumes offset most of the revenue gains made during the year.
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Operating income decreased by 76.8% or $333.1 million during 2008. In the fourth quarter, we recognized a
non-cash charge of $360.0 million related to the impairment of goodwill, indefinite-lived intangible assets and
marketable securities within the segment. In addition, we recorded $13.1 million of restructuring charges
associated with employee termination benefits and other costs associated with announced restructuring plans.
Excluding the impairment charge and restructuring costs, operating income would have been $473.5 million,
increasing the operating margin to 18.7% from 4.0%.

On an adjusted basis, operating income for the year ended December 31, 2008 increased by 7.9% or $34.7
million compared with the same period of 2007. Improved pricing ($119 million) and productivity gains ($42
million) more than offset the decrease in volume ($76 million), increased material costs ($15 million) and a
negative currency impact ($7 million).

Net revenues increased slightly during the year driven by electronic solutions growth in Asia. However, declines
in the North American commercial construction market and well as in Europe during the fourth quarter
significantly lowered year-over-year revenues. In addition, lower residential volume in North America was a
result of lower same store sales at large customers and ongoing weakness in the new homebuilder channel.

2007 vs 2006
For the year ended December 31, 2007, net revenues increased by 10.0% or $228.6 million, compared with the
same period of 2006. The primary drivers were higher volumes and product mix (5%) and improved product
pricing (4%).

Operating income increased by 8.3% or $33.3 million during 2007. During the year, we recorded $5.3 million of
restructuring charges relating to ongoing cost reduction efforts, including workforce reductions and the
consolidation of manufacturing facilities. Excluding these costs, operating income would have been $438.8
million, increasing the operating margin to 17.5% from 17.2%.

On an adjusted basis, operating income for the year ended December 31, 2007 increased by 9.6% or $38.6
million compared with the same period of 2006. The increase was due to improved product pricing ($84 million)
and increased productivity ($15 million). These gains were partially offset by higher material costs ($35 million),
lower volumes ($16 million) and new product development ($6 million).

Net revenues grew in all regions during the year benefiting from strong worldwide commercial construction
markets, especially in schools, universities and health-care facilities. Revenues from electronic access control and
mechanical products also increased year-over-year. Market share gains from both the new home-builder channel
and large retail customers increased revenue along with the introduction of residential electronic products and
new product designs. These increases helped offset the effects of a declining North American residential market.

Discontinued Operations
The components of discontinued operations for the years ended December 31 are as follows:

In millions 2008 2007 2006
Revenues $ 153 $ 2,957.8 $ 3,375.7
Pre-tax earnings (loss) from operations (50.3) (82.5) 376.6
Pre-tax gain (loss) on sale (5.2) 4,382.6 1.1
Tax benefit (expense) (1.9) (1,066.5) (110.2)
Discontinued operations, net $ (57.4) $ 3,233.6 $ 2675

Pre-tax loss from operations in 2007 includes a non-cash charge of $449.0 million related to our liability for all
pending and estimated future asbestos claims through 2053 as discussed below in “Other Discontinued
Operations.”
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Discontinued operations by business for the years ended December 31 are as follows:

In millions 2008 2007 2006
Compact Equipment, net of tax $ (L7 $2927.1 $ 2404
Road Development, net of tax (29.8) 672.5 62.9
Other discontinued operations, net of tax (15.9) (366.0) (35.8)
Total discontinued operations, net of tax $ (57.4) $ 3,233.6 $ 267.5

Compact Equipment Divestiture

On July 29, 2007, we agreed to sell our Bobcat, Utility Equipment and Attachments business units (collectively,
Compact Equipment) to Doosan Infracore for gross proceeds of approximately $4.9 billion, subject to post
closing purchase price adjustments. The sale was completed on November 30, 2007. We are currently in the
process of resolving the final purchase price adjustments with Doosan Infracore.

Compact Equipment manufactured and sold compact equipment, including skid-steer loaders, compact track
loaders, mini-excavators and telescopic tool handlers; portable air compressors, generators and light towers;
general-purpose light construction equipment; and attachments. We have accounted for Compact Equipment as
discontinued operations and classified the assets and liabilities as held for sale for all periods presented in
accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standard No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or
Disposal of Long-Lived Assets” (SFAS 144).

Net revenues and after-tax earnings of Compact Equipment for the years ended December 31 were as follows:

In millions 2008 2007 2006
Net revenues $ 153 $ 27059 $ 2,648.4
After-tax earnings (loss) from operations $ ©06) $ 2751 $ 2404
Gain (loss) on sale, net of tax (11.1) 2,652.0 -
Total discontinued operations, net of tax $ (11.7) $ 29271 $ 2404

Road Development Divestiture
On February 27, 2007, we agreed to sell our Road Development business unit to AB Volvo (publ) for cash
proceeds of approximately $1.3 billion. The sale was completed on April 30, 2007.

The Road Development business unit manufactured and sold asphalt paving equipment, compaction equipment,
milling machines and construction-related material handling equipment. We have accounted for the Road
Development business unit as discontinued operations and classified the assets and liabilities sold to AB Volvo
as held for sale for all periods presented in accordance with SFAS 144.

Net revenues and after-tax earnings of the Road Development business unit for the years ended December 31
were as follows:

In millions 2008 2007 2006
Net revenues $ - $ 2519 $ 727.3
After-tax earnings (loss) from operations $ 04 $ 378 $ 629
Gain (loss) on sale, net of tax (29.4) 634.7 -
Total discontinued operations, net of tax $ (29.8) $ 672.5 $ 629
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Other Discontinued Operations

We also have retained costs from previously sold businesses that mainly include costs related to postretirement
benefits, product liability and legal costs (mostly asbestos-related). The components of other discontinued
operations for the years ended December 31 were as follows:

In millions 2008 2007 2006

Retained costs, net of tax $ (16.7) $ (340.9) $ (36.5)
Net gain (loss) on disposals, net of tax 0.8 (25.1) 0.7
Total discontinued operations, net of tax $ (15.9) $ (366.0) $ (35.8)

Retained costs, net of tax for the year ended December 31, 2008 includes $6.5 million of after-tax costs related to
an adverse verdict in a product liability lawsuit associated with a previously divested business.

During the fourth quarter of 2007, we recorded a non-cash charge of $449.0 million ($277 million after-tax)
related to our liability for all pending and estimated future asbestos claims through 2053. Refer to Note 22 in the
consolidated financial statements for further details on asbestos-related matters.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

The global financial markets have been adversely affected by the current economic environment. The credit
markets, including the commercial paper markets, have recently experienced adverse conditions including
unprecedented volatility, reduced liquidity and increased interest rates. These factors generally increase the costs
associated with issuing commercial paper or other debt instruments and may affect the ability of borrowers to
access these markets.

To date, our availability of funding has not been materially impacted by the recent turmoil in the credit markets.
We currently believe that our cash and cash equivalents balance, the cash generated by our operations, our
receivable securitization program, our committed credit lines as well as our expected ability to access the capital
markets will be sufficient to meet our operating and capital needs for the foreseeable future.

Liquidity
The following table contains several key measures to gauge our financial condition and liquidity at the period
ended December 31:

In millions 2008 2007 2006

Cash and cash equivalents $ 5502 $ 47353 $ 3558
Short-term borrowings and current maturities of long-term debt 2,350.4 741.0 1,079.4
Long-term debt 2,773.7 712.7 905.2
Total debt 5,124.1 1,453.7 1,984.6
Total shareholders’ equity 6,661.4 7,907.9 5,404.8
Debt-to-total capital ratio 43.1% 15.4% 26.6%

The large cash and cash equivalents balance at December 31, 2007 is attributable to the sale of both the Compact
Equipment and the Road Development business units during 2007, which generated proceeds of $6,154.3
million. The lower cash and cash equivalents balance at December 31, 2008 is a result of the acquisition of
Trane.

In connection with the Trane acquisition, we entered into a $3.9 billion senior unsecured bridge loan facility,
with a 364-day term. We drew down $2.95 billion against the bridge loan facility in June 2008. The proceeds,
along with cash on hand and the issuance of $1.5 billion in commercial paper, were used to fund the cash
component of the consideration paid for the acquisition as well as to pay for related fees and expenses incurred in
connection with the acquisition.
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In August 2008, we filed a universal shelf registration statement with the Securities and Exchange Commission
(SEC) for an indeterminate amount of securities for future issuance and issued $1.6 billion of long-term debt
pursuant to the shelf registration statement through our wholly owned subsidiary, IR Global Holding Company
Limited. This issuance consisted of $250 million Senior Floating Rate Notes due in 2010, $600 million 6.000%
Senior Notes due in 2013 and $750 million 6.875% Senior Notes due in 2018. These notes are fully and
unconditionally guaranteed by IR- Limited. The net proceeds from the offering were used to reduce the amount
outstanding under the senior unsecured bridge loan facility.

Interest on the fixed rate notes will be paid twice a year. We have the option to redeem them in whole or in part
at any time, and from time to time, prior to their stated maturity date at redemption prices set forth in the debt
offering documents. Interest on the floating rate notes will be paid four times a year. The notes are subject to
certain customary covenants, however, none of these covenants are considered restrictive to our operations.

We repaid $0.5 billion of the outstanding balance under our commercial paper program during 2008. As of
December 31, 2008, we had outstanding commercial paper borrowings of $1.0 billion. We expect to fund future
maturities of commercial paper through new commercial paper issuances and cash generated from our
operations.

In addition, we repaid $2.0 billion of our outstanding balance of the bridge loan facility during the third quarter
of 2008. We used a combination of cash flows from operations and cash on hand, in addition to the $1.6 billion
in proceeds received from the issuance of long-term debt. In October 2008, we reduced the facility size to $950
million. As of December 31, 2008, our outstanding balance of the senior unsecured bridge loan facility was $754
million after a $196 million payment in the fourth quarter of 2008. The balance is scheduled to mature in June
2009. We expect to repay the outstanding amount through an expansion of our accounts receivable securitization
program, future debt issuances and/or an extension of the bridge loan facility for an additional 364 days.

Debentures with Put Feature

At December 31, 2007, we had outstanding $547.9 million of fixed rate debentures which only requires early
repayment at the option of the holder. These debentures contain a put feature that the holders may exercise on
each anniversary of the issuance date. If exercised, we are obligated to repay in whole or in part, at the holder’s
option, the outstanding principal amount (plus accrued and unpaid interest) of the debentures held by the holder.
If these options are not exercised, the final maturity dates would range between 2027 and 2028.

In the fourth quarter of 2008, holders of these debentures chose to exercise the put feature on approximately $202
million of the debentures, which was repaid in November 2008. As a result, approximately $346 million
remained outstanding as of December 31, 2008. In the first quarter of 2009, holders of these debentures will have
the option to exercise the put feature on approximately $39 million of the remaining debentures. In the fourth
quarter of 2009, holders of these debentures will have the option to exercise the put feature on approximately
$307 million of the remaining debentures. Based on our cash flow forecast, we believe we will have sufficient
liquidity to repay any amounts redeemable as a result of these put features.

Pension Plans

Our investment objectives in managing defined benefit plan assets are to ensure that present and future benefit
obligations to all participants and beneficiaries are met as they become due; to provide a total return that, over the
long term, minimizes our required contributions at the appropriate levels of risk; and to meet any statutory
requirements, laws and local regulatory agencies’ requirements.

We monitor the impact of market conditions on our funding requirements and pension plan expense on a
quarterly basis. As a result of the current market environment, our pension plans have experienced negative
returns of $523.2 million during 2008. Consequently, this will increase pension expense in 2009 and require cash
contributions to our pension plan. However, none of our pension plans have experienced any significant impact
on their liquidity to pay retirees in the plans due to the volatility in the markets. For further details on pension
plan activity, see Note 15 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Cash Flows
The following table reflects the major categories of cash flows for the years ended December 31, respectively.
For additional details, please see the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows in the consolidated financial
statements.

In millions 2008 2007 2006
Operating cash flow provided by (used in) continuing operations $ 3568 $ 8299 §$ 813.1
Investing cash flow provided by (used in) continuing operations (7,306.4) 6,052.4 (28.7)
Financing cash flow provided by (used in) continuing operations 2,778.1  (2,563.1) (1,343.2)

Operating Activities

Net cash provided by operating activities from continuing operations was $356.8 million for the year ended
December 31, 2008 compared with $829.9 million in 2007. The change was primarily related to tax payments of
approximately $1.1 billion paid to various taxing authorities, $594.4 million associated with the Compact
Equipment divestiture. Tax payments in 2007 were approximately $470 million. In addition, cash flows from
operating activities include Trane cash flows from operations since the Acquisition Date.

Net cash provided by operating activities from continuing operations increased to $829.9 million for the year
ended December 31, 2007 compared with $813.1 in 2006. The change was primarily due to higher cash-based
earnings in 2007 in addition to improved working capital management. However, these improvements were
partially offset by the $217 million payment to the IRS made during 2007. For further details regarding this tax
payment, see Note 19 in the consolidated financial statements.

Investing Activities

Net cash used by investing activities from continuing operations was $7,306.4 million for the year ended
December 31, 2008 compared with net cash provided by continuing operations of $6,052.4 million in 2007. The
change is primarily attributable to cash used for the acquisition of Trane in 2008. In addition, during the year
ended December 31, 2007, net cash proceeds of $6,154.3 million was received related to the sale of Compact
Equipment and the Road Development business unit.

Net cash provided by investing activities from continuing operations was $6,052.4 million for the year ended
December 31, 2007 compared with net cash used in investing activities from continuing operations of $28.7
million in 2006. The large change in investing activities was primarily attributable to the net proceeds of
$6,154.3 million from the sale of Compact Equipment and the Road Development business unit in 2007.

Financing Activities

Net cash provided by financing activities from continuing operations was $2,778.1 million for the year ended
December 31, 2008 compared with $2,563.1 million of net cash used in financing activities during 2007. The
change in financing activities primarily relates to the outstanding balance of both our bridge loan facility and
commercial paper which were used to finance the acquisition of Trane. In addition, $1.6 billion relates to the net
proceeds from our long-term debt issuance in August 2008.

Net cash used in financing activities from continuing operations was $2,563.1 million for the year ended
December 31, 2007 compared with $1,343.2 million in 2006. The change in financing activities was primarily
due to the increase in repurchases of Class A common shares and the repayment of $551.7 million of short-term
and long-term debt. During 2007, we repurchased approximately 39.7 million Class A common shares at a cost
of $1,999.9 million. During 2006, we repurchased 27.7 million Class A common shares at a cost of $1,096.3
million.

Capital Resources
Based on historical performance and current expectations, we believe our cash and cash equivalents balance, the

cash generated from our operations, our receivable securitization program, our committed credit lines and our
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expected ability to access capital markets will satisfy our working capital needs, capital expenditures and other
liquidity requirements associated with our operations through at least the next 12 months.

Capital expenditures were $306.0 million, $119.7 million and $144.8 million for 2008, 2007 and 2006,
respectively. Our investments continue to improve manufacturing productivity, reduce costs and provide
environmental enhancements and advanced technologies for existing facilities. The capital expenditure program
for 2009 is estimated to be approximately $325 million, including amounts approved in prior periods. Many of
these projects are subject to review and cancellation at our option without incurring substantial charges.

During 2007, we initiated restructuring actions relating to ongoing cost reduction efforts across each of our
sectors. These actions include both workforce reductions as well as the consolidation of manufacturing facilities.
In addition, we announced plans to initiate enterprise-wide restructuring actions in October 2008. These actions
include streamlining the footprint of manufacturing facilities and reducing the general and administrative cost
base. Projected costs will approximate $110 million. As of December 31, 2008, we have incurred $71 million of
costs associated with this restructuring.

For financial market risk impacting the Company, see Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosure About
Market Risk.

Capitalization

In addition to cash on hand and operating cash flow, we maintain significant credit availability under our
commercial paper programs. Our ability to borrow at a cost-effective rate under the commercial paper programs
is contingent upon maintaining an investment-grade credit rating. As of December 31, 2008, our credit ratings
were as follows:

Short-term Long-term
Moody’s P-2 Baal
Standard and Poor’s A-2 BBB+

The credit ratings set forth above are not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and may be subject to
revision or withdrawal by the assigning rating organization. Each rating should be evaluated independently of
any other rating.

In June 2008, we entered into a $1.0 billion senior unsecured revolving credit facility with a three-year term. The
line is unused and provides support for our commercial paper program as well as for other general corporate
purposes.

In addition to the three-year credit facility, we have committed revolving credit facilities consisting of two lines
totaling $2.0 billion, of which $750 million expires in June 2009 and $1.25 billion expires in August 2010. These
lines are unused and provide support for our commercial paper program as well as for other general corporate
purposes. Other available lines of credit were $811.7 million, of which $651.3 million were unused at
December 31, 2008. These lines provide support for bank guarantees, letters of credit and other general corporate
purposes.

Our public debt does not contain any financial covenants and our revolving credit lines have a debt-to-total

capital covenant of 65%. As of December 31, 2008, our debt-to-total capital ratio was significantly beneath this
limit.
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Contractual Obligations
The following table summarizes our contractual cash obligations by required payment periods, in millions:

Less than 1-3 3-5 More than
1 year years years 5 years Total
Short-term debt $ 1,8020 $ - $ - $ - $ 1,802.0
Long-term debt 548.4 * 537.1 619.7 1,616.9 3,322.1
Interest payments on long-term debt 177.8 295.6 278.2 870.9 1,622.5
Purchase obligations 994.8 47.0 3.5 - 1,045.3
Operating leases 169.9 233.1 142.0 102.5 647.5
Total contractual cash obligations $ 3,6929 $ 1,112.8 $ 1,0434 $ 25903 $ 8,439.4

* Includes $345.7 million of debt redeemable at the option of the holder. The scheduled maturities of these bonds
range between 2027 and 2028.

Future expected obligations under our pension and postretirement benefit plans, income taxes, environmental and
asbestos matters have not been included in the contractual cash obligations table above.

Pensions

In 2006, we adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standard (SFAS) No. 158, “Employers’ Accounting for
Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement Plans — an amendment of Financial Accounting Standards
Board (FASB) Statements No. 87, 88, 106 and 132(R)” (SFAS 158), which required us to record the funded
status of our pension plans on the balance sheet effective December 31, 2006.

In 2008, we adopted the measurement provision of SFAS 158 which required us to measure plan assets and
benefit obligations as of the date of our fiscal year-end financial statements. Therefore, we changed the
measurement date for our defined benefit plans from November 30 to December 31. We elected the alternative
transition method whereby we determined net periodic pension cost for the 13 month period from December 1,
2007 to December 31, 2008 and allocated net periodic pension cost proportionately between amounts to be
recognized as an adjustment of retained earnings and net periodic pension cost. As a result, we recorded a
one-time after-tax pension charge of $1.2 million to Retained earnings ($1.8 million pre-tax). This change did not
impact plans acquired through acquisitions in 2008.

At December 31, 2008, we had net obligations on our balance sheet of $854.2 million, which consist of long-
term prepaid pension costs of $0.2 million and current and non-current pension benefits liabilities of $854.4
million. As a result of the Trane acquisition, we recognized net obligations on our balance sheet at the
Acquisition Date of $67.7 million, which consisted of long-term prepaid pension costs of $1.4 million and
current and non-current pension benefit liabilities of $69.1 million. It is our objective to contribute to the pension
plans to ensure adequate funds are available in the plans to make benefit payments to plan participants when
required. However, certain plans are not or cannot be funded due to either legal or tax requirements in certain
jurisdictions. As of December 31, 2008, approximately seven percent of our projected benefit obligation relates
to plans that are unfunded.

Our investment objectives in managing defined benefit plan assets are to ensure that present and future benefit
obligations to all participants and beneficiaries are met as they become due; to provide a total return that, over the
long term, minimizes our required contributions at the appropriate levels of risk; and to meet any statutory
requirements, laws and local regulatory agencies’ requirements. Key investment management decisions reviewed
regularly are asset allocations, investment manager performance, investment advisors and trustees. Asset/liability
modeling (ALM) studies are used as the basis for global asset allocation decisions and are updated as required.

Based on ALM studies, the Company continues to adjust its target strategic global asset allocations for its plans
to be approximately 40% in equity securities and 60% in debt securities, real estate and cash. Asset allocations
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are reviewed at least quarterly and appropriate adjustments are made. Trane pension assets have been included in
our reviews since acquisition and will be included in our target strategic asset allocation. Trane’s historic target
strategic allocation had a higher percentage invested in equity securities.

As of December 31, 2008, our asset allocation for the pension plans was 41% in equity securities and 52% in
debt securities, and 7% real estate and other (including cash). Our allocation has been impacted by the current
market environment.

Contributions to our pension plans were $64.1 million in 2008, $25.5 million in 2007, and $31.6 million in 2006.
Our policy allows us to fund an amount, which could be in excess-of or less than pension cost expensed, subject
to the limitations imposed by current tax regulations. We anticipate funding the plans in 2009 in accordance with
contributions required by funding regulations or the laws of each jurisdiction and currently project that we will
be required to contribute approximately $105 million to our plans worldwide in 2009.

Our pension plans for U.S. non-collectively bargained employees, excluding Trane employees, provide benefits
on a final average pay formula. Trane maintains a pension plan for Trane non-collectively bargained U.S.
employees, where eligible employees may elect to participate and receive a credit equal to 3% of eligible pay.
Collectively bargained pension plans, including Trane plans, principally provide benefits based on a flat benefit
formula. Non-U.S. plans usually provide benefits based on an earnings and years of service formula. Additional
supplemental benefit plans are maintained by us for officers and other key employees. Pension benefit payments
are expected to be paid as follows: $214.5 million in 2009, $242.0 million in 2010, $207.6 million in 2011,
$218.9 million in 2012, $229.6 million in 2013 and $1,228.0 million for the years 2014 to 2018.

Net pension cost is based on the weighted-average assumptions used at the end of the previous year to calculate
the pension benefit obligation, adjusted for any curtailment and settlement gains or losses, if any. Trane plans
were based on assumptions determined at the Acquisition Date. Net periodic pension cost for 2008 was $31.0
million, of which $7.3 million related to Trane plans. The details of net periodic pension cost for 2008, 2007 and
2006 were as follows:

In millions 2008 2007 2006
Net periodic pension benefit cost $ 310 $ 115 $ 327
Net curtailment and settlement (gains) losses 2.3 63.5 -
Net periodic pension benefit (income) cost after

net curtailment and settlement (gains) losses $ 333 $ 75.0 $ 327
Amounts recorded in continuing operations $ 4438 $ 206 $ 383
Amounts recorded in discontinued operations (11.5) 54.4 (5.6)
Total $ 333 $ 750 $ 327

Net periodic pension cost for 2009 is projected to be approximately $160 million, of which $45 million relates to
Trane pension plans.

Postretirement Benefits Other Than Pensions

In 2006, we adopted SFAS 158, which requires us to record the funded status of our postretirement plans on the
balance sheet effective December 31, 2006. The adoption of SFAS 158 for the Company’s postretirement plans
other than pensions resulted in an increase of total liabilities of $300.4 million and a decrease of total
shareholder’s equity of $135.7 million (net of tax of $164.7 million).

In 2008, we adopted the measurement provision of SFAS 158 which required us to measure plan assets and
benefit obligations as of the date of our fiscal year-end financial statements. Therefore, we changed the
measurement date for our defined benefit plans from November 30 to December 31. We elected the alternative
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transition method whereby we determined net periodic pension cost for the 13 month period from December 1,
2007 to December 31, 2008 and allocated net periodic postretirement benefit cost proportionately between
amounts to be recognized as an adjustment of retained earnings and net periodic pension cost. As a result, we
recorded a one-time after-tax charge for postretirement benefits of $2.5 million to Retained earnings ($4.7
million pre-tax).

As a result of the acquisition of Trane on June 5, 2008, we assumed unfunded obligations for postretirement
benefits other than pensions in the amount of $268.9 million.

We fund postretirement benefit costs principally on a pay-as-you-go basis. Benefit payments for postretirement
benefits, which are net of expected plan participant contributions and Medicare Part D subsidy, are expected to
be paid as follows: $71.1 million in 2009, $73.4 million in 2010, $70.9 million in 2011, $76.7 million in 2012,
$76.1 million in 2013 and $378.4 million for the years 2014 to 2018.

Net periodic postretirement benefit cost is based on the weighted-average assumptions used at the end of the
previous year to calculate the postretirement benefit obligation, adjusted for any curtailment and settlement gains
or losses, if any. Trane plans were based on assumptions determined at the Acquisition Date. Net periodic
postretirement benefit cost for 2008 totaled $69.8 million, of which $13.2 million related to Trane plans. The
details of net periodic postretirement cost for 2008, 2007 and 2006 were as follows:

In millions 2008 2007 2006
Net periodic postretirement benefit cost $ 69.8 $ 78.1 $ 792
Net curtailment and settlement (gains) losses - (265.9) -

Net periodic postretirement benefit (income) cost
after net curtailment and settlement (gains) losses $ 69.8 $ (187.8) $ 79.2

Amounts recorded in continuing operations $ 384 $ 22.7 $ 257
Amounts recorded in discontinued operations 314 (210.5) 53.5
Total $ 69.8 $ (187.8) $ 79.2

Net periodic postretirement benefit cost for 2009 is projected to be approximately $81 million, of which $23
million relates to Trane postretirement plans.

Income Taxes

Effective January 1, 2007, the Company adopted FASB Interpretation No. 48, “Accounting for Uncertainty in
Income Taxes — an interpretation of FASB Statement 109” (FIN 48), which prescribes a recognition threshold
and measurement process for recording in the financial statements uncertain tax positions taken or expected to be
taken in a tax return. Additionally, FIN 48 provides guidance on the recognition, classification, accounting in
interim periods and disclosure requirements for uncertain tax positions. As a result of adopting FIN 48, the
company recorded additional liabilities to its previously established reserves, and a corresponding decrease in
retained earnings of $145.6 million. The Company has total unrecognized tax benefits of $589.6 million as of
December 31, 2008.

The provision for income taxes involves a significant amount of management judgment regarding interpretation
of relevant facts and laws in the jurisdictions in which the Company operates. Future changes in applicable laws,
projected levels of taxable income and tax planning could change the effective tax rate and tax balances recorded
by the Company. In addition, U.S. and non-U.S. tax authorities periodically review income tax returns filed by
the Company and can raise issues regarding its filing positions, timing and amount of income or deductions, and
the allocation of income among the jurisdictions in which the Company operates. A significant period of time
may elapse between the filing of an income tax return and the ultimate resolution of an issue raised by a revenue
authority with respect to that return. In the normal course of business the Company is subject to examination by
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taxing authorities throughout the world, including such major jurisdictions as Germany, Italy, the Netherlands
and the United States. In general, the examination of the Company’s material tax returns is completed for the
years prior to 2000.

The Internal Revenue Service (IRS) has completed the examination of the Company’s federal income tax returns
through the 2000 tax year and has issued a notice proposing adjustments. The principal proposed adjustment
relates to the disallowance of certain capital losses. The Company disputes the IRS position and protests have
been filed with the IRS Appeals Division. In order to reduce the potential interest expense associated with this
matter, the Company made a payment of $217 million in the third quarter of 2007, which reduced the Company’s
total liability for uncertain tax positions by $141 million. Similarly, during the third quarter of 2008, the
Company made an additional payment of $55.1 million related to a potential penalty assessment plus accrued
interest on this matter. The Company continues negotiating with the IRS on the ultimate settlement of this matter.
The issues raised by the IRS associated with this payment are not related to the Company’s reorganization in
Bermuda, or the Company’s intercompany debt structure.

On July 20, 2007, the Company and its consolidated subsidiaries received a notice from the IRS containing
proposed adjustments to the Company’s tax filings in connection with an audit of the 2001 and 2002 tax years.
The IRS did not contest the validity of the Company’s reincorporation in Bermuda. The most significant
adjustments proposed by the IRS involve treating the entire intercompany debt incurred in connection with the
Company’s reincorporation in Bermuda as equity. As a result of this recharacterization, the IRS has disallowed
the deduction of interest paid on the debt and imposed dividend withholding taxes on the payments denominated
as interest. These adjustments proposed by the IRS, if upheld in their entirety, would result in additional taxes
with respect to 2002 of approximately $190 million plus interest, and would require the Company to record
additional charges associated with this matter. At this time, the IRS has not yet begun their examination of the
Company’s tax filings for years subsequent to 2002. However, if these adjustments or a portion of these
adjustments proposed by the IRS are ultimately sustained, it is likely to also affect subsequent tax years.

The Company strongly disagrees with the view of the IRS and filed a protest with the IRS in the third quarter of
2007. The Company has and intends to continue to vigorously contest these proposed adjustments. The
Company, in consultation with its outside advisors, carefully considered many factors in determining the terms of
the intercompany debt, including the obligor’s ability to service the debt and the availability of equivalent
financing from unrelated parties, two factors prominently cited by the IRS in denying debt treatment. The
Company believes that its characterization of that obligation as debt for tax purposes was supported by the
relevant facts and legal authorities at the time of its creation. The subsequent financial results of the relevant
companies, including the actual cash flow generated by operations and the production of significant additional
cash flow from dispositions have confirmed the ability to service this debt. Although the outcome of this matter
cannot be predicted with certainty, based upon an analysis of the strength of its position, the Company believes
that it is adequately reserved for this matter. As the Company moves forward to resolve this matter with the IRS,
it is reasonably possible that the reserves established may be adjusted within the next 12 months. However, the
Company does not expect that the ultimate resolution will have a material adverse impact on its future results of
operations or financial position.

The Company believes that it has adequately provided for any reasonably foreseeable resolution of any tax
disputes, but will adjust its reserves if events so dictate in accordance with FIN 48. To the extent that the ultimate
results differ from the original or adjusted estimates of the Company, the effect will be recorded in the provision
for income taxes.

Commitments and Contingencies

We are involved in various litigations, claims and administrative proceedings, including environmental and
product liability matters. Amounts recorded for identified contingent liabilities are estimates, which are reviewed
periodically and adjusted to reflect additional information when it becomes available. Subject to the uncertainties
inherent in estimating future costs for contingent liabilities, management believes that the liability which may
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result from these legal matters would not have a material adverse effect on the financial condition, results of
operations, liquidity or cash flows.

Environmental Matters

We continue to be dedicated to an environmental program to reduce the utilization and generation of hazardous
materials during the manufacturing process and to remediate identified environmental concerns. As to the latter,
we are currently engaged in site investigations and remediation activities to address environmental cleanup from
past operations at current and former manufacturing facilities.

We are sometimes a party to environmental lawsuits and claims and have received notices of potential violations
of environmental laws and regulations from the Environmental Protection Agency and similar state authorities.
We have also been identified as a potentially responsible party (PRP) for cleanup costs associated with off-site
waste disposal at federal Superfund and state remediation sites. For all such sites, there are other PRPs and, in
most instances, our involvement is minimal.

In estimating our liability, we have assumed we will not bear the entire cost of remediation of any site to the
exclusion of other PRPs who may be jointly and severally liable. The ability of other PRPs to participate has
been taken into account, based generally on the parties’ financial condition and probable contributions on a per
site basis. Additional lawsuits and claims involving environmental matters are likely to arise from time to time in
the future.

During 2008, we spent $6.9 million on capital projects for pollution abatement and control, and an additional
$15.5 million for environmental remediation expenditures at sites presently or formerly owned or leased by us.
As of December 31, 2008, we have recorded reserves for environmental matters of $100.9 million. We believe
that these expenditures and accrual levels will continue and may increase over time. Given the evolving nature of
environmental laws, regulations and technology, the ultimate cost of future compliance is uncertain.

For a further discussion of our potential environmental liabilities, see Note 22 in the consolidated financial
statements.

Asbestos Matters

Certain wholly owned subsidiaries of the Company are named as defendants in asbestos-related lawsuits in state
and federal courts. In virtually all of the suits, a large number of other companies have also been named as
defendants. The vast majority of those claims has been filed against either Ingersoll-Rand Company (IR-New
Jersey) or Trane and generally allege injury caused by exposure to asbestos contained in certain historical
products sold by IR-New Jersey or Trane, primarily pumps, boilers and railroad brake shoes. Neither IR-New
Jersey nor Trane was a producer or manufacturer of asbestos, however, some formerly manufactured products
utilized asbestos-containing components such as gaskets and packings purchased from third-party suppliers.

Prior to the fourth quarter of 2007, the Company recorded a liability (which it periodically updated) for its actual
and anticipated future asbestos settlement costs projected seven years into the future. The Company did not
record a liability for future asbestos settlement costs beyond the seven-year period covered by its reserve because
such costs previously were not reasonably estimable for the reasons detailed below.

In the fourth quarter of 2007, the Company again reviewed its history and experience with asbestos-related
litigation and determined that it had now become possible to make a reasonable estimate of its total liability for
pending and unasserted potential future asbestos-related claims. This determination was based upon the
Company’s analysis of developments in asbestos litigation, including the substantial and continuing decline in
the filing of non-malignancy claims against the Company, the establishment in many jurisdictions of inactive or
deferral dockets for such claims, the decreased value of non-malignancy claims because of changes in the legal
and judicial treatment of such claims, increasing focus of the asbestos litigation upon malignancy claims,
primarily those involving mesothelioma, a cancer with a known historical and predictable future annual
incidence rate, and the Company’s substantial accumulated experience with respect to the resolution of
malignancy claims, particularly mesothelioma claims, filed against it.
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Accordingly, in the fourth quarter of 2007, the Company retained Dr. Thomas Vasquez of Analysis, Research &
Planning Corporation (collectively, “ARPC”) to assist it in calculating an estimate of the Company’s total
liability for pending and unasserted future asbestos-related claims. ARPC is a respected expert in performing
complex calculations such as this. ARPC has been involved in many asbestos-related valuations of current and
future liabilities, and its valuation methodologies have been accepted by numerous courts.

The methodology used by ARPC to project the Company’s total liability for pending and unasserted potential
future asbestos-related claims relied upon and included the following factors, among others:

e ARPC’s interpretation of a widely accepted forecast of the population likely to have been
occupationally exposed to asbestos;

e epidemiological studies estimating the number of people likely to develop asbestos-related diseases
such as mesothelioma and lung cancer;

e the Company’s historical experience with the filing of non-malignancy claims against it and the
historical ratio between the numbers of non-malignancy and lung cancer claims filed against the
Company;

e ARPC’s analysis of the number of people likely to file an asbestos-related personal injury claim against
the Company based on such epidemiological and historical data and the Company’s most recent three-
year claims history;

e an analysis of the Company’s pending cases, by type of disease claimed;

* an analysis of the Company’s most recent three-year history to determine the average settlement and
resolution value of claims, by type of disease claimed;

e an adjustment for inflation in the future average settlement value of claims, at a 2.5% annual inflation
rate, adjusted downward to 1.5% to take account of the declining value of claims resulting from the
aging of the claimant population;

e an analysis of the period over which the Company has and is likely to resolve asbestos-related claims
against it in the future.

Based on these factors, ARPC calculated a total estimated liability of $755 million for the Company to resolve all
pending and unasserted potential future claims through 2053, which is ARPC’s reasonable best estimate of the
time it will take to resolve asbestos-related claims. This amount is on a pre-tax basis, not discounted for the time-
value of money, and excludes the Company’s defense fees (which will continue to be expensed by the Company
as they are incurred). After considering ARPC’s analysis and the factors listed above, in the fourth quarter of
2007, the Company increased its recorded liability for asbestos claims by $538 million, from $217 million to
$755 million.

In addition, during the fourth quarter of 2007, the Company recorded an $89 million increase in its assets for
probable asbestos-related insurance recoveries to $250 million. This represents amounts due to the Company for
previously paid and settled claims and the probable reimbursements relating to its estimated liability for pending
and future claims. In calculating this amount, the Company used the estimated asbestos liability for pending and
projected future claims calculated by ARPC. It also considered the amount of insurance available, gaps in
coverage, allocation methodologies, solvency ratings and creditworthiness of the insurers, the amounts already
recovered from and the potential for settlements with insurers, and the terms of existing settlement agreements
with insurers.
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During the fourth quarter of 2007, the Company recorded a non-cash charge to earnings of discontinued
operations of $449 million ($277 million after-tax), which is the difference between the amount by which the
Company increased its total estimated liability for pending and projected future asbestos-related claims and the
amount that the Company expects to recover from insurers with respect to that increased liability.

In connection with our acquisition of Trane, the Company requested ARPC to assist in calculating Trane’s
asbestos-related valuations of current and future liabilities. As required by SFAS No. 141, “Business
Combinations,” the Company is required to record the assumed asbestos obligations and associated insurance-
related assets at their fair value at the Acquisition Date. The Company preliminarily estimates that the assumed
asbestos obligation and associated insurance-related assets at the Acquisition Date to be $494 million and $249
million, respectively. These amounts were estimated based on certain assumptions and factors consistent with
those described above.

Trane continues to be in litigation against certain carriers whose policies it believes provide coverage for asbestos
claims. The insurance carriers named in this suit have challenged Trane’s right to recovery. Trane filed the action
in April 1999 in the Superior Court of New Jersey, Middlesex County, against various primary and lower layer
excess insurance carriers, seeking coverage for environmental claims (the “NJ Litigation”). The NJ Litigation
was later expanded to also seek coverage for asbestos-related liabilities from twenty-one primary and lower layer
excess carriers and underwriting syndicates. The environmental claims against most of the insurers in the NJ
Litigation have been settled. On September 19, 2005, the court granted Trane’s motion to add claims for
insurance coverage for asbestos-related liabilities against 16 additional insurers and 117 new insurance policies
to the NJ Litigation. The court also required the parties to submit all contested matters to mediation. Trane
engaged in its first mediation session with the NJ Litigation defendants on January 18, 2006 and has engaged in
active discussions since that time.

Trane has now settled with a substantial number of its insurers, collectively accounting for approximately 80% of
its recorded asbestos-related liability insurance receivable as of January 31, 2009. More specifically, effective
August 26, 2008, Trane entered into a coverage-in-place agreement (“August 26 Agreement”) with the following
five insurance companies or groups: 1) Hartford; 2) Travelers; 3) Allstate (solely in its capacity as
successor-in-interest to Northbrook Excess & Surplus Insurance Company); 4) Dairyland Insurance Company;
and 5) AIG. The August 26 Agreement provides for the reimbursement by the insurer signatories of a portion of
Trane’s costs for asbestos bodily injury claims under specified terms and conditions and in exchange for certain
releases and indemnifications from Trane. In addition, on September 12, 2008, Trane entered into a settlement
agreement with Mt. McKinley Insurance Company and Everest Reinsurance Company, both members of the
Everest Re group, resolving all claims in the NJ Litigation involving policies issued by those companies
(“Everest Re Agreement”). The Everest Re Agreement contains a number of elements, including policy buy-outs
and partial buy-outs in exchange for a cash payment along with coverage-in-place features similar to those
contained in the August 26 Agreement, in exchange for certain releases and indemnifications by Trane. More
recently, on January 26, 2009, Trane entered into a coverage-in-place agreement with Columbia Casualty
Company, Continental Casualty Company, and Continental Insurance Company in its own capacity and as
successor-in-interest to Harbor Insurance Company and London Guarantee & Accident Company of New York
(“CNA Agreement”). The CNA Agreement provides for the reimbursement by the insurer signatories of a
portion of Trane’s costs for indemnification from Trane. Trane remains in settlement negotiations with the
insurer defendants in the NJ Litigation not encompassed within the August 26 Agreement, Everest Re
Agreement, and the CNA Agreement. Once concluded, we believe NJ Litigation will resolve coverage issues
with respect to approximately 95% of Trane’s recorded insurance receivable in connection with asbestos-related
liabilities.

The amounts recorded by the Company for asbestos-related liabilities and insurance-related assets are based on
currently available information. The Company’s actual liabilities or insurance recoveries could be significantly
higher or lower than those recorded if assumptions used in the Company’s or ARPC’s calculations vary
significantly from actual results. Key variables in these assumptions are identified above and include the number
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and type of new claims to be filed each year, the average cost of resolution of each such new claim, the resolution
of coverage issues with insurance carriers, and the solvency risk with respect to the Company’s insurance
carriers. Furthermore, predictions with respect to these variables are subject to greater uncertainty as the
projection period lengthens. Other factors that may affect the Company’s liability include uncertainties
surrounding the litigation process from jurisdiction to jurisdiction and from case to case, reforms that may be
made by state and federal courts, and the passage of state or federal tort reform legislation.

The aggregate amount of the stated limits in insurance policies available to the Company for asbestos-related
claims acquired over many years and from many different carriers, is substantial. However, limitations in that
coverage, primarily due to the considerations described above, are expected to result in the projected total
liability to claimants substantially exceeding the probable insurance recovery.

From receipt of its first asbestos claims more than twenty five years ago to December 31, 2008, the Company has
resolved (by settlement or dismissal) approximately 253,000 claims arising from the legacy Ingersoll Rand
businesses. The total amount of all settlements paid by the Company (excluding insurance recoveries) and by its
insurance carriers is approximately $351 million, for an average payment per resolved claim of $1,387. The
average payment per claim resolved during the year ended December 31, 2008 was $952. Because claims are
frequently filed and settled in large groups, the amount and timing of settlements, as well as the number of open
claims, can fluctuate significantly from period to period.

The table below provides additional information regarding asbestos-related claims filed against the legacy
Ingersoll Rand businesses, excluding those filed against Trane, reflecting updated information for the last three
years.

2006 2007 2008
Open claims - January 1 102,968 101,709 100,623
New claims filed 6,457 5,398 4,567
Claims settled (6,558) (5,005) (3,693)
Claims dismissed * (1,158) (1,479) (38,189)
Open claims - December 31 101,709 100,623 63,308

* The significant increase in dismissals in 2008 is attributed to the dismissal of large numbers of dormant and/or
inactive cases in Mississippi and New York. This amount reflects the Company’s emphasis on resolution of
higher value malignancy claims, particularly mesothelioma claims, rather than lower value non-malignancy
claims, which are more heavily represented in the Company’s historical settlements.

From receipt of the first asbestos claim more than twenty years ago through December 31, 2008, the Company
has resolved approximately 74,000 (by settlement or dismissal) claims arising from the legacy Trane business.
The Company and its insurance carriers have paid settlements of approximately $125.4 million on these claims,
which represents an average payment per resolved claim of $1,694. At December 31, 2008, there were 98,339
open claims pending against Trane. Because claims are frequently filed and settled in large groups, the amount
and timing of settlements, as well as the number of open claims, can fluctuate significantly from period to period.

The table below provides additional information regarding asbestos-related claims filed against the legacy Trane
businesses, reflecting updated information for the last three years.

2006 2007 2008
Open claims - January 1 113,730 104,570 105,023
New claims filed 4,440 3,019 3,626
Claims settled (848) (740) (600)
Claims dismissed (12,752) (1,826) (9,710)
Open claims - December 31 104,570 105,023 98,339
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At December 31, 2008, over 90 percent of the open claims against the Company are non-malignancy claims,
many of which have been placed on inactive or deferral dockets and the vast majority of which have little or no
settlement value against the Company, particularly in light of recent changes in the legal and judicial treatment of
such claims.

At December 31, 2008, the Company’s liability for asbestos related matters and the asset for probable asbestos-
related insurance recoveries totaled $1,195.2 million and $423.8 million, respectively, compared to $754.9

million and $249.8 million at December 31, 2007.

The (costs) income associated with the settlement and defense of asbestos related claims after insurance
recoveries were as follows:

December 31,

In millions 2008 2007
Continuing operations $ 1.5 $ -
Discontinued operations (5.9) (311.3)
Total $ 74 $ (311.3)

The Company records certain income and expenses associated with its asbestos liabilities and corresponding
insurance recoveries within discontinued operations, as they relate to previously divested businesses, primarily
Ingersoll-Dresser Pump, which was sold in 2000. Income and expenses associated with Trane’s asbestos
liabilities and corresponding insurance recoveries are recorded within continuing operations.

The European Commission Investigation

In November 2004, Trane was contacted by the European Commission as part of a multi-company investigation
into possible infringement of European Union competition law relating to the distribution of bathroom fixtures
and fittings in certain European countries. On March 28, 2007, Trane, along with a number of other companies,
received a Statement of Objections from the European Commission. The Statement of Objections, an
administrative complaint, alleges infringements of European Union competition rules by numerous bathroom
fixture and fittings companies, including Trane and certain of its European subsidiaries engaged in the Bath and
Kitchen business. Certain of these legal entities were transferred to WABCO as part of a legal reorganization in
connection with the spinoff of Trane’s Vehicle Control Systems business that occurred on July 31, 2007. Trane
and certain of its subsidiaries and, in light of that legal reorganization, certain of WABCO’s subsidiaries will be
jointly and severally liable for any fines that result from the investigation. However, pursuant to an
Indemnification and Cooperation Agreement among Trane and certain other parties (Indemnification
Agreement), American Standard Europe BVBA (renamed WABCO Europe BVBA) (WABCO Europe), which is
a subsidiary of WABCO following the reorganization, will be responsible for, and will indemnify Trane and its
subsidiaries (including certain subsidiaries formerly engaged in the Bath and Kitchen business) and their
respective affiliates against, any fines related to this investigation. Trane and the charged subsidiaries responded
to the European Commission on August 1, 2007 and July 31, 2007, respectively. A hearing with the European
Commission regarding the response to the Statement of Objections was conducted from November 12-14, 2007,
in Brussels. WABCO Europe and other former Trane subsidiaries participated in the hearing. Trane, however,
did not participate in the hearing.

In 2006, the European Commission adopted new fining guidelines (2006 Guidelines) and stated its intention to
apply these guidelines in all cases in which a Statement of Objections is issued after September 2006. In applying
the 2006 Guidelines, the Commission retains considerable discretion in calculating the fine although the
European Union regulations provide for a cap on the maximum fine equal to ten percent of Trane’s worldwide
revenue attributable to all of its products for the fiscal year prior to the year in which the fine is imposed. If the
maximum fine is levied in 2009, the total liability could be approximately $1.1 billion based on Trane’s last full
fiscal year of worldwide revenue, subject to a probable reduction for leniency of at least 20 percent provided
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WABCO Europe, as the leniency applicant, fulfilled all conditions set forth in the European Commission’s
leniency notice. WABCO has stated in its Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2008 that its ability
to satisfy its obligations under the Indemnification Agreement is contingent on its funding capability at the time
of the fine, which could be affected by, among other things, its ability to access its then existing credit facilities,
its ability to obtain alternative sources of financing, its ability to obtain some payment relief from the European
Commission or its ability to obtain a suspension of the payment obligation from the European Court of First
Instance.

Other Matters

As previously reported, on November 10, 2004, the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) issued an Order
directing that a number of public companies, including the Company, provide information relating to their
participation in transactions under the United Nations’ Oil for Food Program. Upon receipt of the Order, the
Company undertook a thorough review of its participation in the Oil for Food Program, provided the SEC with
information responsive to the Order and provided additional information requested by the SEC. During a
March 27, 2007 meeting with the SEC, at which a representative of the Department of Justice (DOJ) was also
present, the Company began discussions concerning the resolution of this matter with both the SEC and DOJ. On
October 31, 2007, the Company announced it had reached settlements with the SEC and DOJ relating to this
matter. Under the terms of the settlements, the Company paid a total of $6.7 million in penalties, interest and
disgorgement of profits. The Company has consented to the entry of a civil injunction in the SEC action and has
entered into a three-year deferred prosecution agreement with the DOJ. Under both settlements, the Company has
implemented and will continue to implement improvements to its compliance program that are consistent with its
longstanding policy against improper payments. In the settlement documents, the Government noted that the
Company thoroughly cooperated with the investigation, that the Company had conducted its own complete
investigation of the conduct at issue, promptly and thoroughly reported its findings to them, and took prompt
remedial measures.

In a related matter, on July 10, 2007, representatives of the Italian Guardia di Finanza (Financial Police)
requested documents from Ingersoll-Rand Italiana S.p.A pertaining to certain Oil for Food transactions
undertaken by that subsidiary of the Company which resulted in charges being filed against that subsidiary. Such
transactions had previously been reported to the SEC and DOJ. At a December 12, 2008 hearing, all charges
against the subsidiary were dismissed.

Additionally, we have reported to the DOJ and SEC that we are currently investigating certain matters involving
Trane, including one relating to the Oil for Food Program, and which raise potential issues under the FCPA and
other applicable anti-corruption laws. We have indicated to the SEC and DOJ that we are conducting a thorough
investigation of these matters and that we would report back to them with our findings. The investigation of these
matters began in earnest promptly after our acquisition of Trane in June 2008 and is currently in progress.
Previously, we had reported to the SEC and DOJ potential FCPA issues relating to one of our businesses in
China, and we have reported back to them and shared our audit report, which indicated no FCPA violations.
These matters (and other matters which may arise or of which we become aware in the future) may be deemed to
violate the FCPA and other applicable anti-corruption laws. Such determinations could subject us to, among
other things, further enforcement actions by the SEC or the DOJ (if, for example, the DOJ deems us to have
violated the DPA), securities litigation and a general loss of investor confidence, any one of which could
adversely affect our business prospects and the market value of our stock.
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The following represents the changes in our product warranty liability for 2008 and 2007:

In millions 2008 2007
Balance at beginning of year $ 1469 $ 137.1
Reductions for payments (207.7) (68.5)
Accruals for warranties issued during the current period 246.7 80.1
Changes for accruals related to preexisting warranties (22.9) (7.8)
Acquisitions 483.3 -
Translation (5.6) 6.0
Balance at end of the year $ 640.7 $ 146.9

Certain office and warehouse facilities, transportation vehicles and data processing equipment are leased. Total
rental expense was $144.8 million in 2008, $72.2 million in 2007 and $68.2 million in 2006. Minimum lease
payments required under non-cancelable operating leases with terms in excess of one year for the next five years
and thereafter, are as follows: $169.9 million in 2009, $130.8 million in 2010, $102.3 million in 2011, $77.7
million in 2012, $64.3 million in 2013 and $102.5 million thereafter.

Trane has commitments and performance guarantees, including energy savings guarantees, totaling $108.4
million extending from 2008-2028. These guarantees are provided under long-term service and maintenance
contracts related to its air conditioning equipment and system controls. Through 2008, the Company has
experienced one insignificant loss under such arrangements and considers the probability of any significant
future losses to be remote.

We have other contingent liabilities of $5.1 million. These liabilities primarily result from performance bonds,
guarantees and stand-by letters of credit associated with the prior sale of products by divested businesses.

As part of the reorganization of IR-New Jersey in 2001, IR-Limited has fully and unconditionally guaranteed
payment of all of IR-New Jersey’s issued public debt securities. No other subsidiary of ours guarantees these
securities.

IR-New Jersey has unconditionally guaranteed payment of the principal, premium, if any, and interest on our
4.75% Senior Notes due in 2015 in aggregate principal amount of $300 million. The guarantee is unsecured and
provided on an unsubordinated basis. The guarantee ranks equally in right of payment with all of the existing and
future unsecured and unsubordinated debt of IR-New Jersey.

Public debt securities issued by IR Global Holding Company Limited are fully and unconditionally guaranteed
by IR-Limited. No other subsidiary of ours guarantees these securities.

Critical Accounting Policies

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations are based upon our
consolidated financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States. The preparation of financial statements in conformity with those accounting
principles requires management to use judgment in making estimates and assumptions based on the relevant
information available at the end of each period. These estimates and assumptions have a significant effect on
reported amounts of assets and liabilities, revenue and expenses as well as the disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities because they result primarily from the need to make estimates and assumptions on matters that are
inherently uncertain. Actual results may differ from estimates. The following is a summary of certain accounting
estimates and assumptions made by management that we consider critical.

e Allowance for doubtful accounts — The Company has provided an allowance for doubtful accounts
receivable which represents the best estimate of probable loss inherent in the Company’s accounts receivable
portfolio. This estimate is based upon the Company’s policy, derived from its knowledge of its end markets,
customer base and products.
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Goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets — We have significant goodwill and intangible assets on our
balance sheet related to acquisitions. Our goodwill and other indefinite-lived intangible assets are tested and
reviewed annually for impairment or when there is a significant change in circumstances. Recoverability of
goodwill is measured at the reporting unit level and determined using a two step process. The first step
compares the carrying amount of the reporting unit to its estimated fair value. To the extent that the carrying
value of the reporting unit exceeds its estimated fair value, a second step is performed, wherein the reporting
unit’s carrying value of goodwill is compared to the implied fair value of goodwill. To the extent that the
carrying value exceeds the fair value, impairment exists and must be recognized. Recoverability of other
intangible assets with indefinite useful lives is measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of the
intangible assets to the fair value of the respective intangible assets. Any excess of the carrying value over
the fair value is recognized as an impairment loss.

As discussed in Note 4 of the consolidated financial statements, we have recorded an impairment charge of
approximately $3,710.0 million ($3,385.0 million after-tax) in the fourth quarter of 2008, based on the
estimated fair value and book value of our reporting units. The determination of the reporting units estimated
fair value requires management to make assumptions about estimated cash flows, including profit margins,
long-term forecasts, discount rates and terminal growth rates. Management developed these assumptions
based on the market and geographic risks unique to each reporting unit. The calculation of fair value is based
on two valuation techniques, a discounted cash flow model (income approach) and a market adjusted
multiple of earnings and revenues (market approach), with each method being equally weighted in the
calculation. Under the income approach, we assumed a forecasted cash flow period of five years with
discount rates generally ranging from 11%-15% and terminal growth rates generally ranging from 2%-5%.
Under the market approach, management used an adjusted multiple of earnings and revenues based on the
market information of comparable companies. Additionally, management compared the estimated aggregate
fair value of its reporting units to the Company’s overall market capitalization.

The assumptions used represent management’s best estimate of fair value. For those reporting units that did
not have impairment, the fair value of the reporting units exceeded the carrying value by at least 8%. Due to
the ongoing uncertainty in market conditions, which may continue to negatively impact our market value, we
will continue to monitor and evaluate the carrying value of goodwill and our indefinite-lived intangible
assets. If market and economic conditions deteriorate further, this could increase the likelihood of future
non-cash impairment charges related to goodwill and/or our indefinite-lived intangible assets.

Long-lived assets and finite-lived intangibles — Long-lived assets and finite-lived intangibles are reviewed for
impairment whenever events or changes in business circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an
asset may not be fully recoverable. Assets are grouped with other assets and liabilities at the lowest level for
which identifiable cash flows can be generated. Impairment in the carrying value of an asset would be
recognized whenever anticipated future undiscounted cash flows from an asset are less than its carrying value.
The impairment is measured as the amount by which the carrying value exceeds the fair value of the asset as
determined by an estimate of discounted cash flows. The Company believes that its use of estimates and
assumptions are reasonable and comply with generally accepted accounting principles. Changes in business
conditions could potentially require future adjustments to these valuations.

Loss contingencies — Liabilities are recorded for various contingencies arising in the normal course of
business, including litigation and administrative proceedings, environmental and asbestos matters and
product liability, product warranty, worker’s compensation and other claims. The Company has recorded
reserves in the financial statements related to these matters, which are developed using input derived from
actuarial estimates and historical and anticipated experience data depending on the nature of the reserve, and
in certain instances with consultation of legal counsel, internal and external consultants and engineers.
Subject to the uncertainties inherent in estimating future costs for these types of liabilities, the Company
believes its estimated reserves are reasonable and does not believe the final determination of the liabilities
with respect to these matters would have a material effect on the financial condition, results of operations,
liquidity or cash flows of the Company for any year.
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Asbestos matters — Certain wholly owned subsidiaries of the Company are named as defendants in asbestos-
related lawsuits in state and federal courts. The Company records a liability for its actual and anticipated
future claims as well as an asset for anticipated insurance settlements. Although the Company was neither a
manufacturer or producer of asbestos, some of its formerly manufactured components from third party
suppliers utilized asbestos related components. As a result, the Company records certain income and
expenses associated with our asbestos liabilities and corresponding insurance recoveries within discontinued
operations, net of tax, as they relate to previously divested businesses. Income and expenses associated with
Trane’s asbestos liabilities and corresponding insurance recoveries are recorded within continuing
operations. Refer to Note 22 in the consolidated financial statements for further details of asbestos-related
matters.

Revenue recognition — Revenue is recognized and earned when all of the following criteria are satisfied:
(a) persuasive evidence of a sales arrangement exists; (b) price is fixed or determinable; (c) collectibility is
reasonably assured; and (d) delivery has occurred or service has been rendered. Delivery generally occurs
when the title and the risks and rewards of ownership have substantially transferred to the customer.
Revenue from maintenance contracts or extended warranties is recognized on a straight-line basis over the
life of the contract, unless another method is more representative of the costs incurred. The Company enters
into agreements that contain multiple elements, such as equipment, installation and service revenue. For
multiple-element arrangements, the Company recognizes revenue for delivered elements when the delivered
item has stand-alone value to the customer, fair values of undelivered elements are known, customer
acceptance has occurred, and there are only customary refund or return rights related to the delivered
elements. Revenues from certain of our equipment and the related installation sold under construction-type
contracts are recorded using the percentage-of-completion method in accordance with Statement of Position
81-1, “Accounting for Performance of Construction-Type and Certain Production-Type Contracts.”
Revenues associated with contracts accounted for under the percentage of completion method of accounting
amounted to approximately five percent of the Company’s 2008 net revenues.

Securitization of receivables — The Company has sold interests in accounts receivable to special purpose
entities previously created by Trane as part of accounts receivable financing facilities established in the U.S.
with a major international bank. At the time of sale, the receivables become legally isolated from the
Company, the purchasers have the right to pledge or exchange the receivables and the purchasers obtain
effective control over the receivables. For these reasons, receivables sold under such arrangements are
removed from the balance sheet at the time they are sold. Any retained interests in receivables sold are
carried at fair value in other current assets.

Income taxes — Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on temporary differences between
financial reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities, applying enacted tax rates expected to be in effect
for the year in which the differences are expected to reverse. The Company recognizes future tax benefits,
such as net operating losses and non-U.S. tax credits, to the extent that realizing these benefits is considered
in its judgment to be more likely than not. The Company regularly reviews the recoverability of its deferred
tax assets considering its historic profitability, projected future taxable income, timing of the reversals of
existing temporary differences and the feasibility of its tax planning strategies. Where appropriate, the
Company records a valuation allowance with respect to a future tax benefit.

Effective January 1, 2007, the Company adopted FASB Interpretation No. 48, “Accounting for Uncertainty in
Income Taxes — an interpretation of FASB Statement 109” (FIN 48), which prescribes a recognition threshold
and measurement process for recording in the financial statements uncertain tax positions taken or expected to
be taken in a tax return. Additionally, FIN 48 provides guidance on the recognition, classification, accounting
in interim periods and disclosure requirements for uncertain tax positions. As a result of adopting FIN 48, the
Company recorded additional liabilities to its previously established reserves, and a corresponding decrease in
retained earnings of $145.6 million. Total unrecognized tax benefits as of December 31, 2008 and
December 31, 2007 were $589.6 million and $379.8 million, respectively. The increase is primarily related to
the inclusion of unrecognized tax positions attributable to the Trane business.
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The provision for income taxes involves a significant amount of management judgment regarding
interpretation of relevant facts and laws in the jurisdictions in which the Company operates. Future changes
in applicable laws, projected levels of taxable income, and tax planning could change the effective tax rate
and tax balances recorded by the Company. In addition, U.S. and non-U.S. tax authorities periodically
review income tax returns filed by the Company and can raise issues regarding its filing positions, timing
and amount of income or deductions, and the allocation of income among the jurisdictions in which the
Company operates. A significant period of time may elapse between the filing of an income tax return and
the ultimate resolution of an issue raised by a revenue authority with respect to that return. The Company
believes that it has adequately provided for any reasonably foreseeable resolution of these matters. The
Company will adjust its estimate if significant events so dictate. To the extent that the ultimate results differ
from the original or adjusted estimates of the Company, the effect will be recorded in the provision for
income taxes in the period that the matter is finally resolved.

Employee benefit plans — The Company provides a range of benefits to eligible employees and retired
employees, including pensions, postretirement and postemployment benefits. Determining the cost
associated with such benefits is dependent on various actuarial assumptions including discount rates,
expected return on plan assets, compensation increases, employee mortality and turnover rates and health-
care cost trend rates. Actuarial valuations are performed to determine expense in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles in the United States. Actual results may differ from the actuarial assumptions
and are generally accumulated and amortized into earnings over future periods. Effective December 31,
2006, these effects are generally recognized in shareholders’ equity on an annual basis, due to the adoption
of SFAS 158. The Company reviews its actuarial assumptions at each measurement date and makes
modifications to the assumptions based on current rates and trends, if appropriate. The discount rate, the rate
of compensation increase and the expected long-term rates of return on plan assets are determined as of the
measurement date. A discount rate reflects a rate at which pension benefits could be effectively settled. It is
established and based primarily on a study based on the Citigroup Pension Liability index, and a review of
the current yields reported by Moody’s on AA corporate bonds or the yields of high-quality fixed-income
investments available and expected to be available during the life of the plans. The rate of compensation
increase is dependent on expected future compensation levels. The expected long-term rate of return on plan
assets reflects the average rate of earnings expected on the funds invested or to be invested to provide for the
benefits included in the projected benefit obligation. The expected long-term rate of return on plan assets is
based on what is achievable given the plan’s investment policy, the types of assets held and the target asset
allocation. The expected long-term rate of return is determined as of the measurement date. The Company
believes that the assumptions utilized in recording its obligations under its plans are reasonable based on
input from its actuaries, outside investment advisors and information as to assumptions used by plan
sponsors.

Changes in any of the assumptions can have an impact on the net periodic pension cost or postretirement
benefit cost. Estimated sensitivities to the net periodic pension cost of a 0.25% rate decrease in the three
basic assumptions are as follows: the discount rate would increase expense by approximately $7.6 million;
the rate of compensation increase would decrease expense by approximately $4.4 million; and the estimated
return on assets assumption would increase expense by approximately $5.8 million. A 0.25% rate decrease in
the discount rate for postretirement benefits would increase net periodic postretirement benefit cost by $1.0
million and a 1.0% increase in the health-care cost trend rate would increase the cost by approximately $1.8
million.

The preparation of financial statements includes the use of estimates and assumptions that affect a number of
amounts included in the Company’s consolidated financial statements. If actual amounts are ultimately different
from previous estimates, the revisions are included in the Company’s results for the period in which the actual
amounts become known. Historically, the aggregate differences, if any, between the Company’s estimates and
actual amounts in any year have not had a material impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements:

Effective January 1, 2006, the Company adopted SFAS No. 123 (revised 2004), “Share-Based Payment,” (SFAS
123(R)) using the modified prospective method of adoption. SFAS 123(R) requires companies to recognize
compensation expense for an amount equal to the fair value of the share-based payment issued. Under the
modified prospective method, financial statement amounts for prior periods have not been restated to reflect the
fair value method of recognizing compensation cost relating to stock options.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 158, “Employers’ Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and
Other Postretirement Plans — an amendment of FASB Statements No. 87, 88, 106 and 132(R)” (SFAS 158).
SFAS 158 requires an entity to recognize in its balance sheet the funded status of its defined benefit pension and
postretirement plans. The standard also requires an entity to recognize changes in the funded status within
Accumulated other comprehensive income, net of tax, to the extent such changes are not recognized in earnings
as components of periodic net benefit cost.

SFAS 158 also requires an entity to measure its defined benefit plan assets and benefit obligations as of the date
of the employer’s fiscal year-end statement of financial position. The measurement date provisions of SFAS 158
are effective for the Company for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2008. The Company has adopted the
measurement provisions of SFAS 158, which resulted in an after-tax charge to Retained earnings in the amount
of $3.7 million ($6.5 million pre-tax) in 2008.

In September 2006, the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) issued Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 108,
“Considering the Effects of Prior Year Misstatements when Quantifying Misstatements in Current Year Financial
Statements” (SAB 108). SAB 108 provides interpretive guidance on how the effects of the carryover or reversal
of prior year misstatements should be considered in quantifying a current year misstatement. The SEC staff
believes that registrants should quantify errors using both a balance sheet and an income statement approach and
evaluate whether either approach results in quantifying a misstatement that, when all relevant quantitative and
qualitative factors are considered, is material. SAB 108 is effective for the Company for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2006. SAB 108 did not have a material impact on the Company’s financial statements.

Effective January 1, 2007, the Company adopted FASB Interpretation No. 48, “Accounting for Uncertainty in
Income Taxes — an interpretation of FASB Statement 109” (FIN 48), which prescribes a recognition threshold
and measurement process for recording in the financial statements uncertain tax positions taken or expected to be
taken in a tax return. As a result of adopting FIN 48 as of January 1, 2007, the Company recorded additional
liabilities to its previously established reserves, and corresponding decrease in Retained earnings of $145.6
million.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, “Fair Value Measurements” (SFAS 157). SFAS 157
establishes a framework for measuring fair value that is based on the assumptions market participants would use
when pricing an asset or liability and establishes a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the information to develop
those assumptions. Additionally, the standard expands the disclosures about fair value measurements to include
disclosing the fair value measurements of assets or liabilities within each level of the fair value hierarchy. SFAS
157 is effective for the Company starting on January 1, 2008. Refer to Note 23 in the consolidated financial
statements for a full discussion on SFAS 157.

Effective February 12, 2008, the Company adopted FASB Staff Position (FSP) No. 157-2, “Effective Date of
FASB Statement No. 1577 (FSP SFAS 157-2). This FSP delays the effective date of SFAS 157 for nonfinancial
assets and liabilities, except for items that are recognized or disclosed at fair value in the financial statements on
a recurring basis. Due to the deferral, the Company has delayed its implementation of SFAS 157 provisions on
the fair value of goodwill, indefinite-lived intangible assets and nonfinancial long-lived assets and liabilities.

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, “The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial
Liabilities” (SFAS 159). SFAS 159 permits companies the option, at specified election dates, to measure
financial assets and liabilities at their current fair value, with the corresponding changes in fair value from period
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to period recognized in the income statement. Additionally, SFAS 159 establishes presentation and disclosure
requirements designed to facilitate comparisons between companies that choose different measurement attributes
for similar assets and liabilities. SFAS 159 is effective for the Company starting on January 1, 2008. As of
December 31, 2008, the Company has not elected the option available under SFAS 159.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements:

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141 (revised 2007), “Business Combinations,” (SFAS 141 (R)).
This statement addresses financial accounting and reporting for business combinations and supersedes SFAS
141, “Business Combinations.” SFAS 141(R) retains the fundamental requirements set forth in SFAS 141
regarding the purchase method of accounting, but expands the guidance in order to properly recognize and
measure, at fair value, the identifiable assets acquired, liabilities assumed and any noncontrolling interest in the
acquired business. In addition, the statement introduces new accounting guidance on how to recognize and
measure contingent consideration, contingencies, acquisition and restructuring costs. SFAS 141(R) is effective
for acquisitions occurring after January 1, 2009.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 160, “Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial
Statements — an amendment of ARB No 51.” It clarifies that a noncontrolling interest in a subsidiary represents
an ownership interest that should be reported as equity in the consolidated financial statements. In addition, the
statement requires expanded income statement presentation and disclosures that clearly identify and distinguish
between the interests of the Company and the interests of the non-controlling owners of the subsidiary. SFAS
160 is effective for the Company starting on January 1, 2009. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of
adopting SFAS 160 on its financial statements; however, the Company does not expect the impact to the
consolidated financial statements to be material.

In March 2008, the FASB issued SFAS No. 161, “Disclosures about Derivative Instruments and Hedging
Activities — an amendment of SFAS No. 133. This statement amends and expands the disclosure requirements of
SFAS 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities.” It requires qualitative disclosures
about objectives and strategies for using derivatives, quantitative disclosures about fair value amounts of gains
and losses on derivative instruments and disclosures about credit-risk-related contingent features in derivative
agreements. SFAS 161 is effective for the Company starting on January 1, 2009. The Company is currently
evaluating the impact of adopting SFAS 161 on its financial statements; however, the Company does not expect
the impact to the consolidated financial statements to be material.

In May 2008, the FASB issued SFAS No. 162, “The Hierarchy of Generally Accepted Accounting Principles”
(SFAS 162). SFAS 162 identifies the sources of accounting principles and the framework for selecting the
principles to be used in the preparation of financial statements of nongovernmental entities that are presented in
conformity with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) in the United States (the GAAP hierarchy).
This pronouncement did not have a material impact on its financial statements.

In November 2008, the SEC issued for comment a proposed roadmap for the potential use by U.S. issuers of
financial statements prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). IFRS is a
comprehensive series of accounting standards published by the International Accounting Standards Board
(IASB). Under the proposed roadmap, we could be required, in 2014, to prepare financial statements in
accordance with IFRS. The SEC will make a determination in 2011 regarding the mandatory adoption of IFRS.
We are currently assessing the impact that this potential change would have on our consolidated financial
statements, and we will continue to monitor the development of the potential implementation of IFRS.

Item 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURE ABOUT MARKET RISK

We are exposed to fluctuations in non-U.S. currency exchange rates, interest rates and commodity prices which
could impact our results of operations and financial condition. To manage certain of those exposures, we use
derivative instruments, primarily forward contracts. Derivative instruments utilized by us in our hedging
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activities are viewed as risk management tools, involve little complexity and are not used for trading or
speculative purposes. To minimize the risk of counter party non-performance, derivative instrument agreements
are made only through major financial institutions with significant experience in such derivative instruments.

Foreign Currency Exposures

We have operations throughout the world that manufacture and sell their products in various international
markets. As a result, we are exposed to movements in exchange rates of various currencies against the U.S. dollar
as well as against other currencies throughout the world. We actively manage the currency exposures that are
associated with non-U.S. currency purchases and sales and other assets and liabilities at the operating unit level.
Exposures that cannot be naturally offset within an operating unit to an insignificant amount are hedged with
foreign currency derivatives. We also have non-U.S. currency net asset exposures, which we currently do not
hedge with any derivative instrument.

We evaluate our exposure to changes in currency exchange rates using a sensitivity analysis. The sensitivity
analysis is a measurement of the potential gain or loss in fair value based on a percentage increase or decrease in
exchange rates against the U.S. dollar. Based on the firmly committed currency derivative instruments in place at
December 31, 2008, a hypothetical change in fair value of those derivative instruments assuming a 10% increase
in exchange rates against the U.S. dollar would result in an unrealized gain of approximately $23.9 million, as
compared with an unrealized gain of $17.2 million at December 31, 2007. These amounts would be offset by
changes in the fair value of the underlying currency transactions.

As a result of the Trane acquisition we are exposed to exchange rate cash flow risks related to interest payments
on debt that is denominated in Pound Sterling. We evaluate our exposure to changes in the Pound Sterling using
a sensitivity analysis. Based on the cross currency swap in place at December 31, 2008, a hypothetical change in
fair value of the swap assuming a 10% increase in exchange rates against the US Dollar would result in an
unrealized gain of approximately $9.3 million. These amounts would be offset by changes in the fair value of the
underlying debt transaction.

Commodity Price Exposures

We are exposed to volatility in the prices of raw materials used in some of our products and use both fixed price
contracts and in limited circumstances, derivative contracts, to manage this exposure. We evaluate our exposure
to changes in commodity prices using a sensitivity analysis. The sensitivity analysis is a measurement of the
potential gain or loss in fair value based on a percentage increase or decrease in commodity prices. Based on the
firmly committed commodity derivative instruments in place at December 31, 2008, a hypothetical change in fair
value of those derivative instruments assuming a 10% decrease in commodity prices would result in a loss of
approximately $1.0 million, as compared with an unrealized loss of $2.4 million at December 31, 2007. These
amounts would be offset by changes in the fair value of underlying the commodity transactions.

Interest Rate Exposure

Our long-term debt portfolio mainly consists of fixed-rate instruments. However, we are active in the commercial
paper markets. These markets, by their terms, have a maturity of less than a year. As such, we are exposed to
interest rate risk. In addition, we have borrowings up to $754 million as of December 31, 2008 under our senior
unsecured bridge loan facility. The borrowing cost is LIBOR plus a spread. As LIBOR fluctuates, our cost for the
borrowing under the facility will also fluctuate.
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Item 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

(a) The following consolidated financial statements and the report thereon of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
dated February 27, 2009, are presented following Item 15 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Consolidated Financial Statements:
Report of independent registered public accounting firm
Consolidated statements of income for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006
Consolidated balance sheets at December 31, 2008 and 2007
For the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006:
Consolidated statements of shareholders’ equity
Consolidated statements of cash flows
Notes to consolidated financial statements

Financial Statement Schedule:
Consolidated schedule for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006:
Schedule I — Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

(b) The unaudited quarterly financial data for the two years ended December 31, is as follows:

In millions, except per share amounts 2008
First Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
Net revenues $ 2,1633 $ 3,080.8 $ 43132 $ 3,670.0
Cost of goods sold (1,540.9) (2,196.1) (3,209.4) (2,801.6)
Operating income (loss) 247.0 361.6 347.4 (3,529.8)
Net earnings (loss) 181.6 256.1 227.7 (3,290.2)
Earnings (loss) per common share:
Basic $ 066 $ 08 $ 071 $ (10.27)
Diluted $ 066 $ 08 $ 070 $ (10.27)
2007
First Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
Net revenues $ 19762 $ 22246 $ 22390 $ 23233
Cost of goods sold (1,416.0) (1,589.7) (1,608.2) (1,658.1)
Operating income 208.6 274.1 276.3 298.8
Net earnings 217.5 964.1 266.6 2,518.5
Earnings per common share:
Basic $ 071  $ 321 $ 094 § 9.23
Diluted $ 070 $ 317§ 092 § 9.06

1. In the second quarter of 2007, basic and diluted earnings per common share included $2.25 and $2.22,
respectively, related to the gain on sale of discontinued operations.

2. In the fourth quarter of 2007, basic and diluted earnings per common share included $9.48 and $9.30,
respectively, related to the gain on sale of discontinued operations. In addition, basic and diluted earnings
per common share included a charge of $1.02 and $1.00, respectively relating to asbestos matters for a
previously divested business of the Company.

3. 2008 amounts include the results of Trane since the acquisition date (June 5, 2008 through December 31,
2008).

4. The fourth quarter of 2008 includes a one-time, non-cash charge of $3,710.0 million ($3,385.0 after-tax)
related to the impairment of assets.
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Item 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS
ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.

Item 9A CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Disclosure Controls and Procedures

The Company’s management, including its Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, have conducted
an evaluation of the effectiveness of disclosure controls and procedures (as such term is defined in Rules
13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the Exchange Act)), as of the
end of the period covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Based on that evaluation, the Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded as of December 31, 2008, that the disclosure controls and
procedures are effective in ensuring that all material information required to be filed in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K has been recorded, processed, summarized and reported when required and the information is
accumulated and communicated, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

The Company’s management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over
financial reporting as such term is defined under Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f). Internal control
over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that
controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the
policies and procedures may deteriorate.

Management has assessed the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2008.
In making its assessment, management has utilized the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations (COSO) of the Treadway Commission in Internal Control — Integrated Framework. Management
concluded that based on its assessment, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting was effective as
of December 31, 2008.

The effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2008 has been
audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their
report which appears herein.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There has been no change in the Company’s internal controls over financial reporting during the quarter ended
December 31, 2008 that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Item 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

None.
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PART III

The information called for by Part III (Items 10, 11, 12, and 13) of Form 10-K will be included in the Company’s
Proxy Statement for the Company’s 2008 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders, which the Company intends
to file within 120 days after the close of its fiscal year ended December 31, 2008 and is hereby incorporated by
reference to such Proxy Statement, except that the information as to the Company’s executive officers which
follows Item 4 in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, is incorporated by reference into Items 10 and 12,
respectively, of this Report.

Item 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference to the information contained under the
caption “Audit and Non-Audit Fees” in our 2008 Proxy Statement.
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PART IV

Item 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS SCHEDULE

(a) 1. and 2. Financial statements and financial statement schedule
See Item 8.
3. Exhibits

The exhibits listed on the accompanying index to exhibits are filed as part of this
Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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INGERSOLL-RAND COMPANY LIMITED
INDEX TO EXHIBITS
(Item 15(a))

Description

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”), Ingersoll-Rand
Company Limited (the “Company”) has filed certain agreements as exhibits to this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
These agreements may contain representations and warranties by the parties. These representations and
warranties have been made solely for the benefit of the other party or parties to such agreements and (i) may have
been qualified by disclosures made to such other party or parties, (ii) were made only as of the date of such
agreements or such other date(s) as may be specified in such agreements and are subject to more recent
developments, which may not be fully reflected in our public disclosure, (iii) may reflect the allocation of risk
among the parties to such agreements and (iv) may apply materiality standards different from what may be
viewed as material to investors. Accordingly, these representations and warranties may not describe our actual

state of affairs at the date hereof and should not be relied upon.

(a) Exhibits
Exhibit No. Description Method of Filing
2.1 Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of  Incorporated by reference to Annex I to the
October 31, 2001, among Ingersoll-Rand proxy statement/prospectus included as part
Company Limited, Ingersoll-Rand of the Company’s Registration Statement
Company and IR Merger Corporation on Form S-4 (File No. 333-71642) initially
filed with the SEC on October 16, 2001 and
subsequently amended on October 30,
2001.
2.2 Stock and Asset Purchase Agreement, dated Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to
as of October 16, 2002, between Ingersoll- the Company’s Form 8-K (File No. 001-
Rand Company Limited, on behalf of itself 16831) filed with the SEC on October 17,
and certain of its subsidiaries and The 2002.
Timken Company, on behalf of itself and
certain of its subsidiaries
2.3 Amendment to the Stock and Asset Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2 to
Purchase Agreement, dated as of February the Company’s Schedule 13D (File No.
18, 2003, amending the Stock Purchase 005-10450) filed with the SEC on February
Agreement, dated as of October 16, 2002, 28, 2003.
between Ingersoll-Rand Company Limited,
on behalf of itself and certain of its
subsidiaries and The Timken Company, on
behalf of itself and certain of its
subsidiaries
24 Equity Purchase Agreement between FRC Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to

Acquisition LLC, on behalf of itself and the
other buyers named therein, and Ingersoll-
Rand Company Limited, on behalf of itself
and the other sellers named therein, dated
August 25, 2004, in connection with the
divestiture of Dresser-Rand
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2.5

2.6

2.7

2.8

3.1

32

4.1

4.2

Asset and Stock Purchase Agreement, dated
as of February 27, 2007, among Ingersoll-
Rand Company limited, on behalf of itself
and the other sellers named therein, and AB
Volvo (publ), on behalf of itself and the
other buyers named therein

Asset and Stock Purchase Agreement, dated
as of July 29, 2007, among Ingersoll-Rand
Company Limited, on behalf of itself and
certain of its subsidiaries, and Doosan
Infracore Co., Ltd. and Doosan Engine Co.,
Ltd., on behalf of themselves and certain of
their subsidiaries

Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of
December 15, 2007, among the Company,
Indian Merger Sub, Inc. and Trane Inc.

Separation and Distribution Agreement,
dated as of July 16, 2007, by and between
American Standard Companies Inc. and
WABCO Holdings Inc.

Memorandum of Association of Ingersoll-
Rand Company Limited

Amended and Restated Bye-Laws of
Ingersoll-Rand Company Limited, dated
June 4, 2008

Certificate of Designation, Preferences and
Rights of Series A Preference Shares of
Ingersoll-Rand Company Limited

Rights Agreement between Ingersoll-Rand
Company Limited and The Bank of New
York, as Rights Agent (expired in
December 2008)
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Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.01 to
the Company’s Form 8-K (File No. 001-
16831) filed with the SEC on February 28,
2007.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to
the Company’s Form 8-K (File No. 001-
16831) filed with the SEC on July 31, 2007.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to
the Company’s Form 8-K (File No. 001-
16831) filed with the SEC on December 17,
2007.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to
Trane Inc.’s Form 8-K (File No. 001-
11415) filed with the SEC on July 20, 2007.

Incorporated by reference to Annex II to
the proxy statement/prospectus included as
part of the Company’s Registration
Statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-
71642) initially filed with the SEC on
October 16, 2001 and subsequently
amended on October 30, 2001.

Filed herewith.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to
the Company’s Amendment No. 1 to the
Registration Statement on Form S-4 (File
No. 333-71642) filed with the SEC on
October 30, 2001.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to
the Company’s Amendment No. 1 to the
Registration Statement on Form S-4 (File
No. 333-71642) filed with the SEC on
October 30, 2001.



4.3

4.4

4.5

4.6

4.7

4.8

4.9

4.10

4.11

4.12

10.1

Voting Agreement between Ingersoll-Rand
Company Limited and Ingersoll-Rand
Company

Indenture, dated as of August 12, 2008,
among the Company, Ingersoll-Rand
Global Holding Company Limited and
Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., as Trustee
(replacing the Indenture originally filed as
Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Form 10-Q
(File No. 001-16831) for the period ended
September 30, 2008 as filed with the SEC
on 11/07/2008)

First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of
August 15, 2008, among the Company,
Ingersoll-Rand Global Holding Company
Limited and Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., as
Trustee, to the Indenture

Form of 6.0% Senior Notes due 2013

Form of Guarantee to 6.0% Senior Notes
due 2013

Form of 6.875% Senior Notes due 2018

Form of Guarantee to 6.875% Senior Notes
due 2018

Form of Senior Floating Rate Notes due
2010

Form of Guarantee to Senior Floating Rate
Notes due 2010

The Company and its subsidiaries are
parties to several long-term debt
instruments under which in each case the
total amount of securities authorized does
not exceed 10% of the total assets of the
Company and its subsidiaries on a
consolidated basis.

Issuing and Paying Agency Agreement
among Ingersoll-Rand Global Holding
Company Limited, Ingersoll-Rand
Company Limited and JPMorgan Chase
Bank, National Association, dated as

of May 22, 2008
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Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to
the Company’s Amendment No. 1 to the
Registration Statement on Form S-4 (File
No. 333-71642) filed with the SEC on
October 30, 2001.

Filed herewith.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1.1 to
the Company’s Form 8-K (File No. 001-
16831) filed with the SEC on August 18,
2008.

Included as part of Exhibit 4.2.

Included as part of Exhibit 4.2.

Included as part of Exhibit 4.2.

Included as part of Exhibit 4.2.

Included as part of Exhibit 4.2.

Included as part of Exhibit 4.2.

Pursuant to paragraph 4(iii) of Item 601(b)
of Regulation S-K, the Company agrees to
furnish a copy of such instruments to the
SEC upon request.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to
the Company’s Form 8-K (File No. 001-
16831) filed with the SEC on May 29,
2008.



10.2

10.3

10.4

10.5

10.6

10.7

Commercial Paper Dealer Agreement
among Ingersoll-Rand Global Holding
Company Limited, Ingersoll-Rand
Company Limited and J.P. Morgan
Securities Inc., dated as of May 22, 2008

Commercial Paper Dealer Agreement
among Ingersoll-Rand Global Holding
Company Limited, Ingersoll-Rand
Company Limited and Banc of America
Securities LLC, dated as of May 22, 2008

Commercial Paper Dealer Agreement
among Ingersoll-Rand Global Holding
Company Limited, Ingersoll-Rand
Company Limited and Citigroup Global
Markets Inc., dated as of May 22, 2008

Commercial Paper Dealer Agreement
among Ingersoll-Rand Global Holding
Company Limited, Ingersoll-Rand
Company Limited and Deutsche Bank
Securities Inc., dated as of May 22, 2008

Credit Agreement, dated as of June 25,
2004, among Ingersoll-Rand Company and
Ingersoll-Rand Company Limited, the
banks listed therein, The JPMorgan Chase
Bank, as Administrative Agent, Citibank
N.A., and Deutsche Bank Securities Inc., as
Co-Syndication Agents, and The Bank of
Tokyo-Mitsubishi, Ltd, as Documentation
Agent, and J.P. Morgan Securities Inc., as
Lead Arranger and Bookrunner

Credit Agreement dated as of August 12,
2005, among Ingersoll-Rand Company and
Ingersoll-Rand Company Limited, the
banks listed therein, and Citicorp USA,
Inc., as Syndication Agent, and Bank of
America, N.A., Deutsche Bank Securities
Inc., The Bank of Tokyo-Mitsubishi, Ltd.,
New York Branch and UBS Securities
LLC, as Documentation Agents, and
JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as
Administrative Agent, and J.P. Morgan
Securities Inc. and Citigroup Global
Markets Inc., as Lead Arrangers and
Bookrunners
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Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to
the Company’s Form 8-K (File No. 001-
16831) filed with the SEC on May 29,
2008.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to
the Company’s Form 8-K (File No. 001-
16831) filed with the SEC on May 29,
2008.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to
the Company’s Form 8-K (File No. 001-
16831) filed with the SEC on May 29,
2008.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to
the Company’s Form 8-K (File No. 001-
16831) filed with the SEC on May 29,
2008.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.8 to
the Company’s Form 10-K for the fiscal
year ended December 31, 2004 (File No.
001-16831) filed with the SEC on

March 16, 2005.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.6 to
the Company’s Form 10-K for the fiscal
year ended December 31, 2005 (File No.
001-16831) filed with the SEC on March 1,
2006.



10.8

10.9

10.10

10.11

10.12

10.13

Credit Agreement, dated as of June 5, 2008,
among Ingersoll-Rand Company Limited;
Ingersoll-Rand Global Holding Company
Limited; JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as
administrative agent; Credit Suisse
Securities (USA) LLC and Goldman Sachs
Credit Partners L.P., as syndication agents;
J.P. Morgan Securities Inc., Credit Suisse
Securities (USA) LLC and Goldman Sachs
Credit Partners L.P., as joint lead arrangers
and joint bookrunners; and the lending
institutions from time to time parties
thereto

Credit Agreement, dated as of June 27,
2008, among Ingersoll-Rand Company
Limited; Ingersoll-Rand Global Holding
Company Limited; J.P. Morgan Chase
Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent,
Citibank, N.A., as Syndication Agent, Bank
of America, N.A., Deutsche Bank
Securities Inc., The Bank of Tokyo
Mitsubishi, Ltd., New York Branch, BNP
Paribas and William Street LLC, as
Documentation Agents, and J.P. Morgan
Securities Inc. and Citigroup Global
Markets Inc., as joint lead arrangers and
joint bookrunners; and certain lending
institutions from time to time parties
thereto

Steven R. Shawley Offer Letter, dated June
5, 2008

Addendum to Steven R. Shawley Offer
Letter, dated August 7, 2008

David R. Pannier Offer Letter, dated April
7,2008

Didier Teirlinck Offer Letter, dated June 5,
2008
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Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to
the Company’s Form 8-K (File No. 001-
16831) filed with the SEC on June 5, 2008.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to
the Company’s Form 8-K (File No.
001-16831) filed with the SEC on June 30,
2008.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to
the Company’s Form 8-K (File No. 001-
16831) filed with the SEC on June 10,
2008.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to
the Company’s Form 10-Q for the period
ended June 30, 2008 (File No. 001-16831)
filed with the SEC on August 8, 2008.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to
the Company’s Form 8-K (File No. 001-
16831) filed with the SEC on June 10,
2008.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to
the Company’s Form 8-K (File No. 001-
16831) filed with the SEC on June 10,
2008.



10.14

10.15

10.16

10.17

10.18

10.19

10.20

10.21

10.22

Addendum to Didier Teirlinck Offer Letter,
dated July 17, 2008

Steven B. Hochhauser Offer Letter, dated
June 6, 2008 (as revised on June 10, 2008)

Richard J. Weller Offer Letter dated
September 8, 2008

Management Incentive Unit Plan of
Ingersoll-Rand Company. Amendment to
the Management Incentive Unit Plan,
effective January 1, 1982. Amendment to
the Management Incentive Unit Plan,
effective January 1, 1987. Amendment to
the Management Incentive Unit Plan,
effective June 3, 1987

Reorganization Amendment to
Management Incentive Unit Plan dated
December 31, 2001

Amendment to the Ingersoll-Rand
Company Management Incentive Unit Plan
dated December 22, 2008

Description of Annual Incentive
Arrangements for Chairman, President,
Sector Presidents and other Staff Officers
of Ingersoll-Rand Company Limited

Description of Performance Share Program
for Chairman, President and Chief
Executive Officer and the other Participants
of Ingersoll-Rand Company Limited

Form of Change in Control Agreement with
Tier 1 Officers of Ingersoll-Rand Company
Limited, dated as of December 1, 2006
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Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13
to the Company’s Form 10-Q for the period
ended June 30, 2008 (File No. 001-16831)
filed with the SEC on August 8, 2008.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.14
to the Company’s Form 10-Q for the period
ended June 30, 2008 (File No. 001-16831)
filed with the SEC on August 8, 2008.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Ingersoll-Rand Company Limited:

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements listed in the index appearing under Item 15 (a)(1) present
fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Ingersoll-Rand Company Limited and its subsidiaries at
December 31, 2008 and 2007, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years
in the period ended December 31, 2008 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America. In addition, in our opinion, the financial statement schedule listed in the index
appearing under Item 15 (a)(2), presents fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein when
read in conjunction with the related consolidated financial statements. Also in our opinion, the Company
maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2008,
based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). The Company’s management is responsible for these
financial statements and financial statement schedule, for maintaining effective internal control over financial
reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in
Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting appearing under Item 9A. Our responsibility
is to express opinions on these financial statements, on the financial statement schedule, and on the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting based on our integrated audits. We conducted our audits in accordance
with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require
that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are
free of material misstatement and whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all
material respects. Our audits of the financial statements included examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting
the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant
estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. Our audit of internal
control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting,
assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating
effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audits also included performing such other
procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable
basis for our opinions.

As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company has changed the manner in which it
accounts for uncertainty in income taxes effective January 1, 2007, and the manner in which it accounts for its
defined benefit pension and other postretirement plans in 2006 and 2008.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting
includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (ii) provide reasonable
assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made
only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (iii) provide reasonable
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the
company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that
controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the
policies or procedures may deteriorate.

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Florham Park, New Jersey
February 27, 2009




Ingersoll-Rand Company Limited

Consolidated Statements of Income
In millions, except per share amounts

For the years ended December 31, 2008 2007 2006
Net revenues $ 13,2274 $ 8763.1 $ 8,033.7
Cost of goods sold (9,748.1) (6,272.0) (5,768.4)
Selling and administrative expenses (2,343.1) (1,433.3) (1,266.8)
Asset impairment (3,710.0) - -
Operating income (loss) (2,573.8) 1,057.8 998.5
Interest expense (245.4) (136.2) (133.6)
Other, net 432 15.9 (7.3)
Earnings (loss) before income taxes (2,776.0) 937.5 857.6
(Provision) benefit for income taxes 208.6 (204.4) (92.6)
Earnings (loss) from continuing operations (2,567.4) 733.1 765.0
Discontinued operations, net of tax (57.4) 3,233.6 267.5
Net earnings (loss) $ (2,624.8) $ 39667 $ 1,032.5

Basic earnings (loss) per common share:

Continuing operations $ 854 $ 252 % 2.39
Discontinued operations (0.19) 11.12 0.84
Net earnings (loss) $ 873) $ 1364 $ 3.23

Diluted earnings (loss) per common share:

Continuing operations $ 854 $ 248 $ 2.37
Discontinued operations (0.19) 10.95 0.83
Net earnings (loss) $ 873) $ 1343 % 3.20

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Ingersoll-Rand Company Limited

Consolidated Balance Sheets
In millions, except share amounts

December 31, 2008 2007
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 550.2  $ 47353
Accounts and notes receivable, net 2,428.5 1,660.7
Inventories 1,615.1 827.2
Other current assets 805.9 477.5
Total current assets 5,399.7 7,700.7
Property, plant and equipment, net 1,968.5 904.9
Goodwill 6,620.1 3,993.3
Intangible assets, net 5,214.1 724.6
Other noncurrent assets 1,722.1 1,052.7
Total assets $ 20,9245 $ 14,376.2
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 11,0465 $ 7212
Accrued compensation and benefits 508.8 338.9
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities 1,605.7 1,434.6
Short-term borrowings and current maturities of long-term debt 2,350.4 741.0
Total current liabilities 5,511.4 3,235.7
Long-term debt 2,773.7 712.7
Postemployment and other benefit liabilities 1,865.5 941.9
Deferred income taxes 2,184.8 539.9
Other noncurrent liabilities 1,827.0 940.6
Minority interests 100.7 97.5
Shareholders’ equity:
Class A common shares, $1 par value (370,813,037 and 370,035,087 shares
issued at December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively, and net of 52,020,439
and 97,421,234 shares owned by subsidiary at December 31, 2008 and
2007, respectively) 318.8 272.6
Capital in excess of par value 2,246.0 -
Retained earnings 4,547.4 7,388.8
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) (450.8) 246.5
Total shareholders’ equity 6,601.4 7,907.9
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $ 20,9245 $ 14,376.2

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Ingersoll-Rand Company Limited
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

In millions

For the years ended December 31, 2008 2007 2006
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net earnings (loss) $ (2,624.8) $ 3,966.7 $ 11,0325
Loss (income) from discontinued operations, net of tax 57.4 (3,233.6) (267.5)
Adjustments to arrive at net cash provided by (used in) operating activities:
Asset impairment charge 3,710.0 - -
Depreciation and amortization 453.1 138.8 148.8
(Gain)/loss on sale of property, plant and equipment 0.1 0.7) 0.2
Minority interests, net of dividends 2.5 17.9 9.2
Equity earnings, net of dividends 9.9 (1.0) 0.1
Stock settled share based compensation 423 31.0 20.7
Deferred income taxes (334.0) 146.6 27.8
Other items (35.8) 30.6 (12.2)
Changes in other assets and liabilities (Increase) decrease in:
Accounts and notes receivable 2453 46.2 (94.4)
Inventories 120.7 75.4 (21.4)
Other current and noncurrent assets 119.9 (32.3) (93.6)
Increase (decrease ) in:
Accounts payable (208.5) (88.1) 182.1
Other current and noncurrent liabilities (1,201.1) (267.6) (119.2)
Net cash (used in) provided by continuing operating activities 356.8 829.9 813.1
Net cash (used in) provided by discontinued operating activities (25.9) 66.2 141.7
Cash flows from investing activities:
Capital expenditures (306.0) (119.7) (144.8)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 77.4 14.2 9.6
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired (7,107.3) (25.7) (49.7)
Proceeds from business dispositions, net of cash 52.9 6,154.3 -
Proceeds from sales and maturities of marketable securities 7.8 0.7 155.8
Other (31.2) 28.6 0.4
Net cash (used in ) provided by continuing investing activities (7,306.4) 6,052.4 (28.7)
Net cash (used in) provided by discontinued investing activities - (57.7) (132.5)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from bridge loan 2,950.0 - -
Payments of bridge loan (2,196.0) - -
Commercial paper program (net) 998.7 (378.0) 378.0
Other short-term borrowings (net) 5.8 (31.9) (8.8)
Proceeds from long-term debt 1,610.4 2.0 4.0
Payments of long-term debt (384.5) (141.8) (513.7)
Net proceeds (repayments) in debt 2,984.4 (549.7) (140.5)
Debt issue costs (23.0) - -
Proceeds from exercise of stock options 18.5 160.2 95.7
Excess tax benefit from share based compensation 13.1 36.1 15.5
Dividends paid (212.9) (209.8) (217.6)
Repurchase of common shares by subsidiary (2.0) (1,999.9) (1,096.3)
Net cash (used in) provided by continuing financing activities 2,778.1 (2,563.1) (1,343.2)
Net cash (used in ) provided by discontinued financing activities - - -
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 12.3 51.8 29.4
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (4,185.1) 4,379.5 (520.2)
Cash and cash equivalents - beginning of period 4,735.3 355.8 876.0
Cash and cash equivalents - end of period $ 5502 $ 47353 $ 355.8
Cash paid during the year for:
Interest, net of amounts capitalized $ 817  §$ 95.3 $ 105.2
Income taxes, net of refunds $ 10580 $ 470.1 % 195.3

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 1 - DESCRIPTION OF COMPANY

Ingersoll-Rand Company Limited (IR-Limited), a Bermuda company, and its consolidated subsidiaries (the
Company) is a diversified, global company that provides products, services and solutions to enhance the quality
and comfort of air in homes and buildings, transport and protect food and perishables, secure homes and
commercial properties, and increase industrial productivity and efficiency. The Company’s business segments
consist of Air Conditioning Systems and Services, Climate Control Technologies, Industrial Technologies and
Security Technologies, each with strong brands and leading positions within their respective markets. The
Company generates revenue and cash primarily through the design, manufacture, sale and service of a diverse
portfolio of industrial and commercial products that include well-recognized, premium brand names such as Club
Car®, Hussmann®, Ingersoll-Rand®, Schlage®, Thermo King® and Trane®

NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
A summary of significant accounting policies used in the preparation of the accompanying financial statements
follows:

Basis of Presentation: As discussed in Note 3, the Company acquired Trane Inc. (Trane) at the close of
business on June 5, 2008 (the Acquisition Date). As a result of the acquisition, the results of the operations of
Trane have been included in the statement of financial position at December 31, 2008 and the consolidated
statements of operations and cash flows since the Acquisition Date.

Certain reclassifications of amounts reported in prior years have been made to conform to the 2008 classification.

Reorganization: IR-Limited is the successor to Ingersoll-Rand Company, a New Jersey corporation (IR-New
Jersey), following a corporate reorganization (the reorganization) that became effective on December 31, 2001.
The reorganization was accomplished through a merger of a newly formed merger subsidiary of IR-Limited.
IR-Limited and its subsidiaries continue to conduct the businesses previously conducted by IR-New Jersey and
its subsidiaries. The reorganization has been accounted for as a reorganization of entities under common control
and accordingly, did not result in any changes to the consolidated amounts of assets, liabilities and shareholders’
equity.

Principles of Consolidation: The consolidated financial statements include all majority-owned subsidiaries of
the Company. Partially owned equity affiliates are accounted for under the equity method. The Company is also
required to consolidate variable interest entities in which it bears a majority of the risk to the entities’ potential
losses or stands to gain from a majority of the entities’ expected returns. Intercompany accounts and transactions
have been eliminated. The assets, liabilities, results of operations and cash flows of all discontinued operations
have been separately reported as discontinued operations and held for sale for all periods presented. Certain prior
year amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current year presentation.

Use of Estimates: The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting
principles in the United States requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial
statements as well as the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Estimates are
based on several factors including the facts and circumstances available at the time the estimates are made,
historical experience, risk of loss, general economic conditions and trends, and the assessment of the probable
future outcome. Some of the more significant estimates include accounting for doubtful accounts, useful lives of
property, plant and equipment and intangible assets, purchase price allocations of acquired businesses, valuation
of assets including goodwill and other intangible assets, product warranties, sales allowances, pension plans,
postretirement benefits other than pensions, taxes, environmental costs, product liability, asbestos matters and
other contingencies. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Estimates and assumptions are reviewed
periodically, and the effects of changes, if any, are reflected in the statement of operations in the period that they
are determined.

F-6



Currency Translation: Assets and liabilities of non-U.S. subsidiaries, where the functional currency is not the
U.S. dollar, have been translated at year-end exchange rates, and income and expenses accounts have been
translated using average exchange rates throughout the year. Adjustments resulting from the process of
translating an entity’s financial statements into the U.S. dollar have been recorded in the equity section of the
balance sheet within Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss). Transactions that are denominated in a
currency other than an entity’s functional currency are subject to changes in exchange rates with the resulting
gains and losses recorded within net earnings.

Cash and Cash Equivalents: Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, demand deposits and all highly
liquid investments with original maturities at the time of purchase of three months or less.

Marketable Securities: The Company has classified its marketable securities as available-for-sale in
accordance with the guidance under Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 115, “Accounting
for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities.” Available-for-sale marketable securities are accounted
for at market prices, with the unrealized gain or loss, less applicable deferred income taxes, recorded within
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss). If any of the Company’s marketable securities experience other
than temporary declines in value as defined by Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) 03-1, “The Meaning of
Other-Than-Temporary Impairment and Its Application to Certain Investments,” a loss is recorded in the
Consolidated Statement of Income.

Inventories: Depending on the business, U.S. inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market using the
last-in, first-out (LIFO) method or the lower of cost or market using the first-in, first-out (FIFO) method.
Non-U.S. inventories are primarily stated at the lower of cost or market using the FIFO method. At December 31,
2008 and 2007, approximately 45% and 20%, respectively, of all inventory utilized the LIFO method.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts: The Company has provided an allowance for doubtful accounts reserve
which represents the best estimate of probable loss inherent in the Company’s account receivables portfolio. This
estimate is based upon company policy, derived from knowledge of its end markets, customer base and products.
The Company reserved $51.2 million and $12.2 million for doubtful accounts as of December 31, 2008 and
2007, respectively.

Property, Plant and Equipment: Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost, less accumulated
depreciation. Assets placed in service are recorded at cost and depreciated using the straight-line method over the
estimated useful life of the asset except for leasehold improvements, which are depreciated over the shorter of
their economic useful life or their lease term. The range of useful lives used to depreciate property, plant and
equipment is as follows:

Buildings 10 to 50 years
Machinery and equipment 3 to 15 years
Software 2 to 7 years

Repair and maintenance costs that do not extend the useful life of the asset are charged against earnings as
incurred. Major replacements and significant improvements that increase asset values and extend useful lives are
capitalized.

The Company assesses the recoverability of the carrying value of its property, plant and equipment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the asset may not be recoverable.
Recoverability is measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of an asset to the future net undiscounted
cash flows expected to be generated by the asset. If the undiscounted cash flows are less than the carrying
amount of the asset, an impairment loss is recognized for the amount by which the carrying value of the asset
exceeds the fair value of the assets.
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Goodwill and Intangible Assets: The Company records as goodwill the excess of the purchase price over the
fair value of the net assets acquired. Once the final valuation has been performed for each acquisition,
adjustments may be recorded.

In accordance with SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,” goodwill and other intangible assets
with indefinite lives are not amortized, but instead are tested for impairment at least annually or more frequently
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the fair value of the asset may be less than its carrying
amount. The Company tests for impairment during the fourth quarter of its fiscal year.

Recoverability of goodwill is measured at the reporting unit level and determined using a two step process. The
first step compares the carrying amount of the reporting unit to its estimated fair value. To the extent that the
carrying value of the reporting unit exceeds its estimated fair value, a second step is performed, wherein the
reporting unit’s carrying value of goodwill is compared to the implied fair value of goodwill. To the extent that
the carrying value exceeds the fair value, impairment exists and must be recognized. Recoverability of other
intangible assets with indefinite useful lives is measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of the
intangible assets to the fair value of the respective intangible assets. Any excess of the carrying value over the
fair value is recognized as an impairment loss.

Intangible assets such as patents, customer-related intangible assets and other intangible assets with finite useful
lives are amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated economic lives. The range of useful lives is as
follows:

Customer relationships 20 years
Trademarks 25 years
Completed technology/patents 10 years
Other 10 years *

* Excludes the effect of intangibles acquired as a part of the acquisition of Trane and fully expensed in 2008

Recoverability of intangible assets with finite useful lives is assessed in the same manner as property, plant and
equipment as described above.

Income Taxes: Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on temporary differences between
financial reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities, applying enacted tax rates expected to be in effect for
the year in which the differences are expected to reverse. The Company recognizes future tax benefits, such as
net operating losses and non-U.S. tax credits, to the extent that realizing these benefits is considered in its
judgment to be more likely than not. The Company regularly reviews the recoverability of its deferred tax assets
considering its historic profitability, projected future taxable income, timing of the reversals of existing
temporary differences and the feasibility of its tax planning strategies. Where appropriate, the Company records a
valuation allowance with respect to a future tax benefit.

Product Warranties: Warranty accruals are recorded at the time of sale and are estimated based upon product
warranty terms and historical experience. The Company assesses the adequacy of its liabilities and will make
adjustments as necessary based on known or anticipated warranty claims, or as new information becomes
available.

Treasury Stock: The Company, through one of its consolidated subsidiaries, repurchases IR-Limited’s Class A
common shares from time to time in the open market and in privately negotiated transactions as authorized by the
Board of Directors. These repurchases are based upon current market conditions and the discretion of
management. Amounts are recorded at cost and included within the Shareholders’ equity section. For the year
ended December 31, 2008 and 2007, Class A common shares owned by the Company amounted to 52.0 million
and 97.4 million, respectively. The reduction from 2007 was a result of the issuance of 45.4 million IR-Limited
Class A common shares to fund the equity portion of the consideration paid for the Trane acquisition.
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Revenue Recognition: Revenue is recognized and earned when all of the following criteria are satisfied:
(a) persuasive evidence of a sales arrangement exists; (b) price is fixed or determinable; (c) collectability is
reasonably assured; and (d) delivery has occurred or service has been rendered. Delivery generally occurs when
the title and the risks and rewards of ownership have substantially transferred to the customer. Revenue from
maintenance contracts or extended warranties is recognized on a straight-line basis over the life of the contract,
unless another method is more representative of the costs incurred. The Company enters into agreements that
contain multiple elements, such as equipment, installation and service revenue. For multiple-element
arrangements, the Company recognizes revenue for delivered elements when the delivered item has stand-alone
value to the customer, fair values of undelivered elements are known, customer acceptance has occurred, and
only customary refund or return rights exist related to the delivered elements. Revenues from certain of our
equipment and the related installation sold under construction-type contracts are recorded using the
percentage-of-completion method in accordance with Statement of Position 81-1, “Accounting for Performance
of Construction-Type and Certain Production-Type Contracts.” Revenues associated with contracts accounted for
under the percentage of completion method of accounting amounted to approximately five percent of the
Company’s 2008 net revenues.

Environmental Costs: The Company is subject to laws and regulations relating to protecting the environment.
Environmental expenditures relating to current operations are expensed or capitalized as appropriate.
Expenditures relating to existing conditions caused by past operations, which do not contribute to current or
future revenues, are expensed. Liabilities for remediation costs are recorded when they are probable and can be
reasonably estimated, generally no later than the completion of feasibility studies or the Company’s commitment
to a plan of action. The assessment of this liability, which is calculated based on existing technology, does not
reflect any offset for possible recoveries from insurance companies, and is not discounted.

Asbestos Matters: Certain wholly owned subsidiaries of the Company are named as defendants in asbestos-
related lawsuits in state and federal courts. The Company records a liability for its actual and anticipated future
claims as well as an asset for anticipated insurance settlements. Although the Company was neither a
manufacturer nor producer of asbestos, some of its formerly manufactured components from third party suppliers
utilized asbestos related components. As a result, amounts related to asbestos are recorded within Discontinued
operations, net of tax, except for amounts related to Trane asbestos liabilities, which are recorded in continuing
operations. Refer to Note 22 for further details of asbestos related matters.

Research and Development Costs: The Company conducts research and development activities for the purpose
of developing and improving new products and services. These expenditures, including qualifying engineering
costs, are expensed when incurred and included in Cost of goods sold. For the years ended December 31, 2008,
2007 and 2006, these expenditures amounted to $131.6 million, $128.6 million and $126.7 million, respectively.
The Company also incurs engineering costs that are not considered research and development expenditures.

Software Costs: The Company follows the guidance outlined in Statement of Position 98-1, “Accounting for the
Costs of Computer Software Developed or Obtained for Internal Use” for all software developed or obtained for
internal use, which requires companies to capitalize certain internal-use software costs once specific criteria are
met and subsequently amortize these costs over the software’s useful life, which ranges from 2 to 7 years.

Employee Benefit Plans: The Company provides a range of benefits to eligible employees and retired
employees, including pensions, postretirement and post-employment benefits. Determining the cost associated
with such benefits is dependent on various actuarial assumptions, including discount rates, expected return on
plan assets, compensation increases, employee mortality and turnover rates, and health-care cost trend rates.
Actuaries perform the required calculations to determine expense in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles in the United States. Actual results may differ from the actuarial assumptions and are
generally accumulated and amortized into earnings over future periods. Effective December 31, 2006, these
amounts are generally recognized into Shareholders’ equity on an annual basis, due to the adoption of SFAS 158.
The Company reviews its actuarial assumptions at each measurement date and makes modifications to the
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assumptions based on current rates and trends, if appropriate. In 2008, the Company changed the measurement
date for all defined benefit plans from November 30 to December 31, as required by the measurement date
provision of SFAS 158.

Loss Contingencies: Liabilities are recorded for various contingencies arising in the normal course of business,
including litigation and administrative proceedings, environmental matters, product liability, product warranty,
worker’s compensation and other claims. The Company has recorded reserves in the financial statements related
to these matters, which are developed using input derived from actuarial estimates and historical and anticipated
experience data depending on the nature of the reserve, and in certain instances with consultation of legal
counsel, internal and external consultants and engineers. Subject to the uncertainties inherent in estimating future
costs for these types of liabilities, the Company believes its estimated reserves are reasonable and does not
believe the final determination of the liabilities with respect to these matters would have a material effect on the
financial condition, results of operations, liquidity or cash flows of the Company for any year.

Derivative Instruments: The Company periodically enters into cash flow and other hedge transactions to
specifically hedge exposure to various risks related to interest rates, currency rates and commodity pricing. The
Company recognizes all derivatives on the consolidated balance sheet at their fair value as either assets or
liabilities. For cash flow designated hedges, the effective portion of the changes in fair value of the derivative
contract are recorded in Other comprehensive income, net of taxes, and are recognized in the income statement at
the time earnings are affected by the hedged transaction. For other hedge transactions, the changes in the fair
value of the derivative contract are recognized in the consolidated statement of income.

Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements:

Effective January 1, 2006, the Company adopted SFAS No. 123 (revised 2004), “Share-Based Payment,” (SFAS
123(R)) using the modified prospective method of adoption. SFAS 123(R) requires companies to recognize
compensation expense for an amount equal to the fair value of the share-based payment issued. Under the
modified prospective method, financial statement amounts for prior periods have not been restated to reflect the
fair value method of recognizing compensation cost relating to stock options.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 158, “Employers’ Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and
Other Postretirement Plans — an amendment of FASB Statements No. 87, 88, 106 and 132(R)” (SFAS 158).
SFAS 158 requires an entity to recognize in its balance sheet the funded status of its defined benefit pension and
postretirement plans. The standard also requires an entity to recognize changes in the funded status within
Accumulated other comprehensive income, net of tax, to the extent such changes are not recognized in earnings
as components of periodic net benefit cost.

SFAS 158 also requires an entity to measure its defined benefit plan assets and benefit obligations as of the date
of the employer’s fiscal year-end statement of financial position. The measurement date provisions of SFAS 158
are effective for the Company for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2008. The Company has adopted the
measurement provisions of SFAS 158, which resulted in an after-tax charge to Retained earnings in the amount
of $3.7 million ($6.5 million pre-tax) in 2008. Plans acquired during 2008 were not impacted by this change.

In September 2006, the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) issued Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 108,
“Considering the Effects of Prior Year Misstatements when Quantifying Misstatements in Current Year Financial
Statements” (SAB 108). SAB 108 provides interpretive guidance on how the effects of the carryover or reversal
of prior year misstatements should be considered in quantifying a current year misstatement. The SEC staff
believes that registrants should quantify errors using both a balance sheet and an income statement approach and
evaluate whether either approach results in quantifying a misstatement that, when all relevant quantitative and
qualitative factors are considered, is material. SAB 108 is effective for the Company for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2006. SAB 108 did not have a material impact on the Company’s financial statements.

Effective January 1, 2007, the Company adopted FASB Interpretation No. 48, “Accounting for Uncertainty in
Income Taxes — an interpretation of FASB Statement 109” (FIN 48), which prescribes a recognition threshold
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and measurement process for recording in the financial statements uncertain tax positions taken or expected to be
taken in a tax return. As a result of adopting FIN 48 as of January 1, 2007, the Company recorded additional
liabilities to its previously established reserves, and corresponding decrease in Retained earnings of $145.6
million.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, “Fair Value Measurements” (SFAS 157). SFAS 157
establishes a framework for measuring fair value that is based on the assumptions market participants would use
when pricing an asset or liability and establishes a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the information to develop
those assumptions. Additionally, the standard expands the disclosures about fair value measurements to include
disclosing the fair value measurements of assets or liabilities within each level of the fair value hierarchy. SFAS
157 is effective for the Company starting on January 1, 2008. Refer to Note 23 in the consolidated financial
statements for a full discussion on SFAS 157.

Effective February 12, 2008, the Company adopted FASB Staff Position (FSP) No. 157-2, “Effective Date of
FASB Statement No. 157" (FSP SFAS 157-2). This FSP delays the effective date of SFAS 157 for nonfinancial
assets and liabilities, except for items that are recognized or disclosed at fair value in the financial statements on
a recurring basis. Due to the deferral, the Company has delayed its implementation of SFAS 157 provisions on
the fair value of goodwill, indefinite-lived intangible assets and nonfinancial long-lived assets and liabilities.

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, “The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial
Liabilities” (SFAS 159). SFAS 159 permits companies the option, at specified election dates, to measure
financial assets and liabilities at their current fair value, with the corresponding changes in fair value from period
to period recognized in the income statement. Additionally, SFAS 159 establishes presentation and disclosure
requirements designed to facilitate comparisons between companies that choose different measurement attributes
for similar assets and liabilities. SFAS 159 is effective for the Company starting on January 1, 2008. As of
December 31, 2008, the Company has not elected the option available under SFAS 159.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements:

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141 (revised 2007), “Business Combinations,” (SFAS 141 (R)).
This statement addresses financial accounting and reporting for business combinations and supersedes SFAS
141, “Business Combinations.” SFAS 141(R) retains the fundamental requirements set forth in SFAS 141
regarding the purchase method of accounting, but expands the guidance in order to properly recognize and
measure, at fair value, the identifiable assets acquired, liabilities assumed and any noncontrolling interest in the
acquired business. In addition, the statement introduces new accounting guidance on how to recognize and
measure contingent consideration, contingencies, acquisition and restructuring costs. SFAS 141(R) is effective
for acquisitions occurring after January 1, 2009.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 160, “Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial
Statements — an amendment of ARB No 51.” It clarifies that a noncontrolling interest in a subsidiary represents
an ownership interest that should be reported as equity in the consolidated financial statements. In addition, the
statement requires expanded income statement presentation and disclosures that clearly identify and distinguish
between the interests of the Company and the interests of the non-controlling owners of the subsidiary. SFAS
160 is effective for the Company starting on January 1, 2009. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of
adopting SFAS 160 on its financial statements; however, the Company does not expect the impact to the
consolidated financial statements to be material.

In March 2008, the FASB issued SFAS No. 161, “Disclosures about Derivative Instruments and Hedging
Activities — an amendment of SFAS No. 133. This statement amends and expands the disclosure requirements of
SFAS 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities.” It requires qualitative disclosures
about objectives and strategies for using derivatives, quantitative disclosures about fair value amounts of gains
and losses on derivative instruments and disclosures about credit-risk-related contingent features in derivative
agreements. SFAS 161 is effective for the Company starting on January 1, 2009. The Company is currently

F-11



evaluating the impact of adopting SFAS 161 on its financial statements; however, the Company does not expect
the impact to the consolidated financial statements to be material.

In May 2008, the FASB issued SFAS No. 162, “The Hierarchy of Generally Accepted Accounting Principles”
(SFAS 162). SFAS 162 identifies the sources of accounting principles and the framework for selecting the
principles to be used in the preparation of financial statements of nongovernmental entities that are presented in
conformity with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) in the United States (the GAAP hierarchy).
This pronouncement did not have a material impact on the Company’s financial statements.

In November 2008, the SEC issued for comment a proposed roadmap for the potential use by U.S. issuers of
financial statements prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). IFRS is a
comprehensive series of accounting standards published by the International Accounting Standards Board
(IASB). Under the proposed roadmap, we could be required, in 2014, to prepare financial statements in
accordance with IFRS. The SEC will make a determination in 2011 regarding the mandatory adoption of IFRS.
We are currently assessing the impact that this potential change would have on our consolidated financial
statements, and we will continue to monitor the development of the potential implementation of IFRS.

NOTE 3 - ACQUISITION OF TRANE INC.

At the close of business on June 5, 2008, the Company completed its previously announced acquisition of 100%
of the outstanding common shares of Trane. Trane, formerly American Standard Companies Inc., provides
systems and services that enhance the quality and comfort of the air in homes and buildings around the world.
Trane’s systems and services have leading positions in premium commercial, residential, institutional and
industrial markets, a reputation for reliability, high quality and product innovation and a powerful distribution
network. Trane’s 2007 annual revenues were $7.5 billion.

The Company paid a combination of (i) 0.23 of an IR-Limited Class A common share and (ii) $36.50 in cash,
without interest, for each outstanding share of Trane common stock. The total cost of the acquisition was
approximately $9.6 billion, including change in control payments and direct costs of the transaction. The
Company financed the cash portion of the acquisition with a combination of cash on hand, commercial paper and
a 364-day senior unsecured bridge loan facility.

The components of the purchase price were as follows:

In billions

Cash consideration $ 7.3
Stock consideration (Issuance of 45.4 million IR-Limited Class A common shares) 2.0
Estimated fair value of Trane stock options converted to 7.4 million

IR-Limited stock options 0.2
Transaction costs 0.1
Total $ 9.6

F-12



The following table summarizes the preliminary fair values of the Trane assets acquired and liabilities assumed at

the Acquisition Date.

June 5,
In millions 2008
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 317.5
Accounts and notes receivable 1,185.6
Inventories 970.5
Other current assets 462.0
Total current assets 2,935.6
Property, plant and equipment 1,060.4
Goodwill 5,529.9
Intangible assets 5,576.0
Other noncurrent assets N4
Total assets $ 15,821.3
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 562.9
Accrued compensation and benefits 225.7
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities 1,062.3
Short-term borrowings and current maturities of long-term debt 254.3
Total current liabilities 2,105.2
Long-term debt 476.3
Postemployment and other benefit liabilities 318.0
Deferred income taxes 2,291.1
Other noncurrent liabilities 1,012.7
Minority interests 7.7
Total liabilities and minority interests $ 62110
Net assets acquired $ 9,6103

Cash and cash equivalents, accounts and notes receivable, accounts payable and accrued compensation and
benefits were stated at their historical carrying values, which approximate their fair value, given the short-term

nature of these assets and liabilities.

Inventories were recorded at fair value, based on computations which considered many factors, including the
future estimated selling price of the inventory, the cost to dispose of the inventory, as well as the replacement

cost of the inventory, where applicable.

The Company recorded intangible assets based on their estimated fair value, and consisted of the following:

In millions Amount

Tradenames $ 3,418.0
Customer relationships 17 -18 Years 1,871.0
Completed technology/patents 5-15 Years 158.0
In-process research and development 26.0
License agreement 4.0
Backlog 1 - 6 Months 99.0
Total $ 5,576.0
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The Company has allocated $3,418.0 million to tradenames, primarily related to the Trane brand. Management
considered many factors in the determination that it will account for the asset as an indefinite lived intangible
asset, including the current market leadership position of the brand as well as recognition worldwide in the
industry. Therefore, in accordance with Statement of Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 142, “Goodwill and
Other Intangible Assets”, tradenames will not be amortized, but instead will be tested for impairment at least
annually (more frequently if certain indicators are present).

In addition, the Company assigned $26.0 million to in-process research and development assets that were
expensed at the date of acquisition in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB)
Interpretation No. 4, “Applicability of FASB Statement No. 2 to Business Combinations Accounted for by the
Purchase Method.” The expenses are included in general and administrative expenses.

The excess of the purchase price over the amounts allocated to specific assets and liabilities is included in
goodwill, and amounted to $5,529.9 million. The premium in the purchase price paid by the Company for the
acquisition of Trane reflects the establishment of an $11 billion business offering high value equipment, systems
and services necessary for delivering solutions across the temperature spectrum for indoor, stationary and
transport applications worldwide. The Company anticipates realizing significant operational and cost synergies.
Anticipated synergies include purchase material savings through supplier rationalization and procurement
leverage, improvement in manufacturing costs and lower general and administrative costs. Longer term, the
Company expects to benefit from synergies related to service revenue expansion, leverage of distribution
channels and cross selling through certain vertical markets.

In addition, Trane will be able to leverage the Company’s global footprint to enhance their historically U.S.-
based revenue generation. Lastly, the combined business will improve the Company’s highly regarded Hussmann
and Thermo King brands with Trane’s position as a leader in the commercial and residential climate control
industry. These combined factors primarily contributed to a purchase price in excess of the fair value of the net
tangible assets acquired.

The following unaudited pro forma information assumes the acquisition of Trane occurred as of the beginning of
the respective periods presented:

December 31,

In millions 2008 2007

Net revenues $ 16,361.6 $ 16,205.6
Pre-tax profit (loss) (2,778.4) 994.2
Net earnings (10ss) (2,586.2) 722.6
Basic earnings (loss) per common share $ (8.08) $ 2.15
Diluted earnings (loss) per common share (8.08) 2.11

The unaudited pro forma financial information for the year ended December 31, 2007 include $103.0 million of
after tax, non-recurring purchase accounting charges associated with the fair value allocation of purchase price to
backlog, inventory and in-process research and development costs.

In addition, for the year ended December 31, 2008, the Company has included $89.1 million as an after tax
increase to interest expense associated with the borrowings to fund (a) the cash portion of the purchase price and
(b) the out-of-pocket transaction costs associated with the acquisition. The comparative amount for the year
ended December 31, 2007 was $217.2 million.

For the year ended December 31, 2008, the Company has recognized a pre-tax, non-cash charge of $3.7 billion
related to the impairment of goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets, which is reflected in the pro forma
results presented above. For a further discussion of impairment related matters, see Note 4 in the consolidated
financial statements.
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The unaudited pro forma information does not purport to be indicative of the results that actually would have
been achieved had the operations been combined during the periods presented, nor is it intended to be a
projection of future results or trends.

NOTE 4 - ASSET IMPAIRMENT

Goodwill and other intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are not amortized, but instead are tested for
impairment at least annually and more frequently whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
fair value of the asset may be less than its carrying amount of the asset. The Company tests for impairment
during the fourth quarter of its fiscal year using October 15t carrying values. Due to the continued deterioration in
the worldwide equity and credit markets and a tightening of industrial and retail end markets, the Company’s
market capitalization declined well below its book value during the fourth quarter of 2008. In addition, the
Company projects a decline in its 2009 financial performance. As a result, the Company updated its impairment
testing through December 31, 2008, taking into consideration recent market declines.

Goodwill Impairment

The test for goodwill impairment is a two step process. The first step compares the carrying amount of the
reporting unit to its estimated fair value (Step 1). To the extent that the carrying value of the reporting unit
exceeds its estimated fair value, a second step is performed, wherein the reporting unit’s carrying value of
goodwill is compared to the implied fair value of goodwill (Step 2). To the extent that the carrying value exceeds
the implied fair value of goodwill, impairment exists and must be recognized.

As quoted market prices are not available for the Company’s reporting units, the fair value of the reporting units
is determined using both a discounted cash flow model (income approach) and a market adjusted multiple of
earnings and revenues (market approach), with each method being equally weighted in the calculation. Both
methods use various assumptions that are specific to each individual reporting unit in order to determine the fair
value. In addition, the Company compared the estimated aggregate fair value of its reporting units to its overall
market capitalization. The Company completed Step 1 of the impairment test and determined that the reporting
units within the Air Conditioning System and Services sector and the European reporting unit of the Security
Technologies sector did not pass Step 1.

In Step 2, the Company is required to use the fair value calculated in Step 1 and apply the fair value to the assets
and liabilities of the reporting unit based on a hypothetical purchase price allocation. The implied fair value of
goodwill is determined in the allocation process and compared to the book value of goodwill. As a result, the
Company realized an impairment charge to goodwill of $2,840.0 million. For further details, refer to the table
below.

Indefinite-lived Intangible Assets

The test for impairment of indefinite-lived intangible assets (i.e. Tradenames) is measured by comparing the
carrying amount of the intangible assets to the fair value of the respective intangible assets. Any excess of the
carrying value over the calculated fair value of the intangible asset is recognized as an impairment loss.

The fair value of each of the Company’s Tradenames was determined based on a relief from royalty income
methodology, which present values the after-tax cost savings (i.e. royalty relief) at an appropriate discount rate in
order to compute the value of the Tradenames. Based on the calculated fair value, management determined that
certain Tradenames were impaired in the aggregate amount of $860.0 million. For further details of the
impairment charge refer to the table below.

Marketable Securities

The Company determined that its investment in certain marketable securities was other than temporarily
impaired. This analysis was based on the current trading value of the publicly listed marketable security in
addition to other qualitative factors of the operating business environment in which the security is held.
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The following table summarizes the impairment charges that were taken by sector during 2008:

Intangible Marketable

In millions Goodwill Assets Securities Total
Air Conditioning Systems and Services $ 2,496.0 $ 814.0 $ - $ 3,310.0
Climate Control Technologies - 40.0 - 40.0
Security Technologies 344.0 6.0 10.0 360.0
Total $ 2,840.0 $  860.0 $ 100§ 3,710.0

NOTE 5 - RESTRUCTURING ACTIVITIES
Restructuring charges recorded during the year ended December 31, 2008 were as follows:

Air

Conditioning Climate

Systems and Control Industrial Security Corporate
In millions Services  Technologies Technologies Technologies and Other Total
Cost of goods sold $ 63 % 32.9 $ 7.0 $ 105 $ - % 56.7
Selling and

administrative 10.9 5.7 2.6 2.6 12.4 34.2

Total $ 172§ 38.6 $ 9.6 $ 131 § 124§ 90.9

Restructuring charges recorded during the year ended December 31, 2007 were as follows:

Air
Conditioning Climate
Systems and Control Industrial Security Corporate
In millions Services  Technologies Technologies Technologies and Other Total
Cost of goods sold $ - $ 223 $ 0.6 $ 19 3 - $ 24.8
Selling and administrative - 0.1 0.4 3.4 - 3.9
Total $ - $ 22.4 $ 1.0 $ 53 $ - $ 28.7

The changes in the restructuring reserve were as follows:

Air

Conditioning Climate

Systems and Control Industrial Security ~ Corporate
In millions Services  Technologies Technologies Technologies and Other  Total
December 31, 2006 $ - $ - $ - $ 1.3 % -3 1.3
Additions - 22.4 1.0 53 - 28.7
Cash and non-cash uses - 3.0) 0.3) 2.7 - (6.0)
Currency translation - 1.4 - 0.1 - 1.5
December 31, 2007 - 20.8 0.7 4.0 - 25.5
Additions 17.2 38.6 9.6 13.1 12.4 90.9
Purchase accounting 14.8 - - - - 14.8
Cash and non-cash uses (15.3) (27.1) (7.6) (6.2) (11.3) (67.5)
Currency translation 0.4 0.2 - 0.2 - 0.8
December 31, 2008 $ 171 $ 325 % 27 $ 111 $ 1.1 $ 645

During 2007, the Company initiated restructuring actions relating to ongoing cost reduction efforts across each of
its sectors. These actions included both workforce reductions as well as the consolidation of manufacturing
facilities.
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During the first three quarters of 2008, the Company incurred costs of approximately $20 million associated with
various restructuring activities as a part of an ongoing effort to increase efficiencies across multiple lines of
business. In October 2008, the Company announced an enterprise-wide restructuring program. This program
included streamlining the footprint of manufacturing facilities and reducing the general and administrative cost
base across all sectors of the company. Projected costs will approximate $110 million, of which $71 million was
incurred during the fourth quarter. At December 31, 2008, the Company had $64.5 million accrued for workforce
reductions and the consolidation of manufacturing facilities.

Restructuring actions taken in the Air Conditioning Systems and Services sector include the closing of three parts
locations in the U.S., the closing of a manufacturing facility in Asia and a general workforce reduction due to a
revised organizational structure within the commercial sector. As of December 31, 2008, the Air Conditioning
Systems and Services sector had incurred approximately $15 million related to the restructuring program
announced in October 2008.

In connection with the acquisition of Trane, at the Acquisition Date, the Company began formulating a plan to
exit or restructure certain activities. The Company recorded purchase accounting liabilities of $14.8 million
primarily related to employee severance and related costs in connection with the preliminary plan as well as
approving the continuation of all existing restructuring and exit plans.

Restructuring actions taken in the Climate Control Technologies sector include the closing of two manufacturing
facilities in order to consolidate manufacturing operations in the European and Americas regions, as well as a
general workforce reduction in Europe. As of December 31, 2008, the Climate Control Technologies sector had
incurred approximately $38 million related to the restructuring program announced in October 2008.

Restructuring actions taken in the Industrial Technologies sector include the consolidation of manufacturing
facilities in the U.S. and general workforce reductions in Europe. As of December 31, 2008, the Industrial
Technologies sector had incurred approximately $5 million related to the restructuring program announced in
October 2008.

Restructuring actions taken in the Security Technologies sector include the consolidation of manufacturing
facilities in the Americas region and general workforce reductions in Europe. As of December 31, 2008, the
Security Technologies sector had incurred approximately $11 million related to the restructuring program
announced in October 2008.

Corporate costs primarily related to the consolidation of administrative offices in the U.S. As of December 31,
2008, the corporate costs related to the restructuring program totaled approximately $2 million announced in
October 2008.

NOTE 6 - MARKETABLE SECURITIES
At December 31, marketable securities were as follows:

2008 2007
Amortized Amortized
costor Unrealized Fair costor Unrealized  Fair
In millions cost losses value cost losses value
Short-term marketable securities:
Equity securities $ - 3 - $ - $ 01 % - § o1
Total $ - $ -3 - $ 01 $ - $ 0.1
Long-term marketable securities:
Equity securities $ 67 $ ©02)% 65 $ 173 $§ (49 $ 124
Total $ 67 $ ©02)%$ 65 $ 173 $ 49 $ 124

Long-term marketable securities are included within Other assets on the Consolidated Balance Sheet.
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During 2008, the Company’s long-term marketable securities experienced other than temporary declines in value
as defined by EITF 03-1, “The Meaning of Other-Than-Temporary Impairment and Its Application to Certain
Investments.” The Company recognized a loss of approximately $10 million related to investments within the
Security Technologies segment in the fourth quarter of 2008. The loss is included in Asset impairment on the
Consolidated Statement of Income. For a further discussion of impairment related matters, see Note 4 in the
consolidated financial statements.

NOTE 7 - INVENTORIES
At December 31, the major classes of inventory were as follows:

In millions 2008 2007
Raw materials $ 4469 $ 3232
Work-in-process 301.7 163.4
Finished goods 980.0 424.9
1,728.6 911.5
LIFO reserve (113.5) (84.3)
Total $ 1,615.1 $ 8272

NOTE 8 - PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
At December 31, the major classes of property, plant and equipment were as follows:

In millions 2008 2007
Land $ 1113 $ 65.4
Buildings 776.6 485.7
Machinery and equipment 1,787.1 1,056.6
Software 345.5 174.5
3,020.5 1,782.2
Accumulated depreciation (1,052.0) (8717.3)
Total $ 1,968.5 $ 904.9

Depreciation expense for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006 was $201.2 million, $112.3 million
and $122.7 million, which include amounts for software amortization of $35.5 million, $17.5 million and $23.1
million, respectively.

NOTE 9 - GOODWILL
The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill are as follows:

Air

Conditioning Climate

Systems and Control Industrial Security
In millions Services Technologies Technologies Technologies Total
December 31, 2006 $ - $ 2,545.1 $ 3412 $ 9509 $ 38372
Acquisitions and adjustments® - - 22.0 (6.1) 15.9
Currency translation - 68.7 8.7 62.8 140.2
December 31, 2007 - 2,613.8 371.9 1,007.6 3,993.3
Acquisitions and adjustments® 5,529.9 1.1 5.4 20.6 5,557.0
Currency translation - (37.9) (7.5) (44.8) (90.2)
Impairment (2,496.0) - - (344.0) (2,840.0)
December 31, 2008 $ 30339 $ 2,577.0 $ 369.8 § 6394 $  6,620.1

* Includes current year adjustments related to final purchase price allocation adjustments.
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The Company records as goodwill the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of the net assets acquired.
Once the final valuation has been performed for each acquisition, adjustments may be recorded.

The increase in goodwill is primarily associated with the acquisition of Trane in the second quarter of 2008. As
of December 31, 2008, the Company recognized $5.5 billion of goodwill associated with this transaction, which
is recorded in the Air Conditioning Systems and Services segment. See Note 3 for a further discussion regarding
goodwill associated with the acquisition of Trane.

As a result of the annual impairment testing in the fourth quarter of 2008, the Company recognized a pre-tax,
non-cash charge of $2,840.0 million related to the impairment of goodwill. See Note 4 for a further discussion of
impairment related matters.

NOTE 10 - INTANGIBLE ASSETS
The following table sets forth the gross amount and accumulated amortization of the Company’s intangible assets
at December 31:

In millions 2008 2007
Trademarks $ 2,831.7 $ 2838
Customer relationships 2,368.2 502.4
Completed technology/patents 203.1 38.2
Other 189.6 53.4
Total gross intangible assets 5,592.6 877.8
Accumulated amortization (378.5) (153.2)
Total $ 5214.1 $ 7246

At December 31, 2008, the Company had $5.2 billion of intangible assets. Per SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and
Other Intangible Assets,” intangible assets with finite useful lives are amortized on a straight-line basis over their
estimated economic lives. Indefinite-lived intangible assets are not subject to amortization in accordance with
SFAS No. 142, but instead, are tested for impairment at least annually (more frequently if certain indicators are
present).

The increase from December 31, 2007 is primarily attributable to the acquisition of Trane in the second quarter
of 2008 in which the Company recognized approximately $5,576.0 million of intangible assets including
$3,418.0 million of indefinite-lived trademarks and $1,871.0 million of customer relationships. See Note 3 for a
further discussion on the acquisition of Trane.

As of December 31, 2008 and December 31, 2007, the Company had $2,722.4 million and $169.3 million,
respectively, of indefinite lived intangible assets. In the fourth quarter of 2008, the Company recognized a
pre-tax, non-cash impairment charge of $860.0 million related to indefinite-lived intangible assets. See Note 4 for
a further discussion of impairment related matters.

Intangible asset amortization expense for 2008, 2007 and 2006 was $226.3 million, $25.2 million and $24.8
million, respectively. The increase in 2008 is attributable to the Company’s acquisition of Trane on June 5, 2008,
which includes $125.0 million of non-recurring amortization expense related to the fair value allocation of
purchase price to backlog and in-process research and development costs. The non-recurring amortization
expense is included in Accumulated amortization and the associated gross asset is included in Other in the above
table. See Note 3 for a further discussion on the acquisition of Trane.

Estimated amortization expense on existing intangible assets is approximately $160 million for each of the next
five fiscal years.
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NOTE 11 - ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE SECURITIZATION AGREEMENTS

In association with the acquisition of Trane, the consolidated financial statements include Trane’s accounts
receivable securitization agreement (the Facility) in the U.S. As part of this Facility, Trane formed a special-
purpose entity (SPE) that is included in the consolidated financial statements for the sole purpose of buying and
selling receivables generated by Trane. Trane irrevocably and without recourse, transfers all eligible accounts
receivable to the SPE, which in turn, sells them, or undivided ownership interests in them, to conduits
administered by a participating bank. After the sale of the accounts receivable, Trane has no continuing
involvement other than in the collection process. In addition, the assets of the SPE are not available to pay the
claims of Trane or any of its subsidiaries.

The receivables sold are removed from the balance sheet since they meet the applicable criteria of SFAS
No. 140, “Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets and Extinguishment of Liabilities.”
Trane’s retained interest is recorded at fair value in the balance sheet. To the extent that the cash received and
value of the retained interest is less than the net book value of the receivable sold, losses are recognized at the
time of sale. For the year ended December 31, 2008, the losses amounted to $2.0 million. The receivables
represented by the retained interest are exposed to the risk of loss for any uncollectible amounts in the pool of
receivables sold under this arrangement.

The following is a summary of receivables sold to the financing facilities:

December 31,

In millions 2008

Outstanding balance of receivables sold to SPE $ 149.5
Net retained interest 83.6
Advances from conduits 62.8

The advances from conduits include amounts due to the conduits for the collections of receivables under the
servicing agreement.

NOTE 12 - DEBT AND CREDIT FACILITIES
At December 31, short-term borrowings and current maturities of long-term debt consisted of the following:

In millions 2008 2007
Commercial paper program $ 9987 $ -
Bridge loan facility 754.0 -
Current maturities of long-term debt * 548.4 681.1
Other short-term borrowings 49.3 59.9
Total $ 2,350.4 $ 741.0

* Includes $345.7 million of debt redeemable at the option of the holder. The scheduled maturities of these bonds
range between 2027 and 2028.

The weighted-average interest rate for total short-term borrowings at December 31, 2008 and 2007 was 4.8% and
6.9%, respectively.
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At December 31, long-term debt excluding current maturities consisted of:

In millions 2008 2007
Senior floating rate notes due 2010 $ 250.0 $ -
7.625% Senior notes due 2010 261.2 -
6.000% Senior notes due 2013 599.8 -
5.50% Senior notes due 2015 199.6 -
4.75% Senior notes due 2015 299.2 299.1
6.875% Senior notes due 2018 749.0 -
9.00% Debentures due 2021 125.0 125.0
7.20% Debentures due 2009-2025 120.0 127.5
6.48% Debentures due 2025 149.7 149.7
Other loans and notes, at end-of-year average interest rates of 5.68% in 2008 and

4.32% in 2007, maturing in various amounts to 2018 20.2 11.4
Total $ 2,773.7 $ 7127

The fair value of long-term debt, including current maturities of long-term debt, at December 31, 2008 and 2007,
was $3,125.8 million and $1,336.7 million, respectively. The fair value of long-term debt was based upon quoted
market values.

At December 31, 2008, long-term debt retirements are as follows:

In millions

2009 $ 548.4
2010 525.8
2011 11.3
2012 10.8
2013 608.9
Thereafter 1,616.9
Total $ 33221

In connection with the acquisition of Trane, the Company entered into a $3.9 billion senior unsecured bridge loan
facility, with a 364-day term. The Company drew down $2.95 billion against the bridge loan facility in June
2008. The proceeds, along with cash on hand and the issuance of $1.5 billion of commercial paper, were used to
fund the cash component of the consideration paid for the acquisition as well as to pay related fees and expenses
incurred in connection with the acquisition.

In August 2008, the Company filed a universal shelf registration statement with the Securities and Exchange
Commission (SEC) for an indeterminate amount of securities for future issuance and issued $1.6 billion of long-
term debt pursuant to the shelf registration statement. This issuance consisted of $250 million Senior Floating
Rate Notes due in 2010, $600 million 6.000% Senior Notes due in 2013 and $750 million 6.875% Senior Notes
due in 2018. These notes are fully and unconditionally guaranteed by IR-Limited, which directly owns 100% of
the subsidiary issuer, IR Global Holding Company Limited. The net proceeds from the offering were used to
partially reduce the amount outstanding under the senior unsecured bridge loan facility.

During the third quarter, the Company repaid $2.0 billion of the outstanding balance of the bridge loan facility.
The Company used a combination of cash flows from operations and cash on hand, in addition to the $1.6 billion
in proceeds received from the issuance of long-term debt. In October 2008, the Company reduced the bridge loan
facility size to $950 million and subsequently repaid an additional $196 million of the outstanding balance during
the fourth quarter of 2008. At December 31, 2008, the outstanding balance of the bridge loan facility was $754
million.
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At December 31, 2008, the Company’s committed revolving credit facilities totaled $3.0 billion, of which $750
million expires in June 2009, $1.25 billion expires in August 2010 and $1.0 billion expires in June 2011. These
lines are unused and provide support for the Company’s commercial paper program as well as for other general
corporate purposes. In addition, other available lines of credit were $811.7 million, of which $651.3 million were
unused at December 31, 2008. These lines provide support for bank guarantees, letters of credit and other general
corporate purposes.

Debentures with Put Feature

At December 31, 2007, The Company had outstanding $547.9 million of fixed rate debentures which only
requires early repayment at the option of the holder. These debentures contain a put feature that the holders may
exercise on each anniversary of the issuance date. If exercised, the Company is obligated to repay in whole or in
part, at the holder’s option, the outstanding principal amount (plus accrued and unpaid interest) of the debentures
held by the holder. If these options are not exercised, the final maturity dates would range between 2027 and
2028. In the fourth quarter of 2008, holders of these debentures chose to exercise the put feature on
approximately $202 million of the debentures, which was repaid in November 2008.

NOTE 13 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

In the normal course of business, the Company uses various financial instruments, including derivative
instruments, to manage risks associated with interest rate, currency rate, commodity price and share-based
compensation exposures. Derivative instruments are not used for trading or speculative purposes. On the date a
derivative contract is entered into, the Company designates the derivative instrument as either a hedge of a
forecasted transaction (a cash flow hedge) or a hedge of recognized asset or liability (a cash flow or undesignated
hedge). The Company formally documents its hedge relationships, including identification of the derivative
instruments and the hedged items, as well as its risk management objectives and strategies for undertaking the
hedge transaction. This process includes linking derivative instruments that are designated as hedges to specific
assets, liabilities or forecasted transactions.

The Company also assesses both at the inception and at least quarterly thereafter, whether the derivatives used in
hedging transactions are highly effective in offsetting the changes in the cash flows of the hedged item. Any
ineffective portion of a derivative instrument’s change in fair value is recorded in the income statement in the
period of change. If the hedging relationship ceases to be highly effective, or it becomes probable that a
forecasted transaction is no longer expected to occur, the hedging relationship will be undesignated and any
future gains and losses on the derivative instrument would be recorded in the income statement.

The fair market value of derivative instruments are determined through market-based valuations and may not be
representative of the actual gains or losses that will be recorded when these instruments mature due to future
fluctuations in the markets in which they are traded.

Currency and Commodity Hedging Instruments

The estimated fair value of currency hedges outstanding at December 31, 2008 and 2007, was a projected gain of
$15.1 million and a projected loss of $5.2 million, respectively. The notional amounts of the currency hedges
were $920.4 million and $355.5 million at December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively. At December 31, 2008
and 2007, $7.6 million and $2.4 million, net of tax, respectively, was included in Accumulated other
comprehensive income (loss) related to the fair value of currency hedges. The amount expected to be reclassified
to earnings over the next twelve months is $7.6 million. The actual amounts that will be reclassified to earnings
may vary from this amount as a result of changes in market conditions. At December 31, 2008, the maximum
term of the Company’s currency hedges was 12 months.

The estimated fair value of commodity hedges outstanding at December 31, 2008 and 2007 was a projected loss
of $10.1 million and $2.4 million, respectively. The notional amount of the commodity hedges was $21.3 million
and $22.2 million at December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively. During 2008, the Company discontinued the use
of hedge accounting for the commodity hedges. The Company recognized into the income statement all deferred
gains and losses related to the commodity hedges at the time of discontinuance.
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Other Hedging Instruments

As a result of the acquisition of Trane, the Company assumed a cross currency swap that fixes in U.S. dollars the
currency cash flows on the £60.0 million 8.25% senior notes due June 1, 2009. The cross currency swap meets
the criteria to be accounted for as a foreign currency cash flow hedge. At December 31, 2008, the cross currency
swap had a fair value of $35.8 million.

During 2008, the Company entered into interest rate locks for the forecasted issuance of $1.4 billion of Senior
Notes due in 2013 and 2018. These interest rate locks met the criteria to be accounted for as cash flow hedges of
a forecasted transaction. Consequently, the changes in fair value of the interest rate locks were deferred in
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) and will be recognized into interest expense over the life of the
notes. At December 31, 2008, $14.4 million of deferred losses was included in Accumulated other
comprehensive income (loss) related to the interest rate locks, of which $1.8 million is expected to be reclassified
into interest expense over the next twelve months.

In August 2006, the Company entered into two total return swaps (the Swaps) which were derivative instruments
used to hedge the Company’s exposure to changes in its share-based compensation expense. The aggregate
notional amount of the Swaps was approximately $52.6 million. On June 11, 2007, the Company terminated a
portion of the Swaps for net cash proceeds of $3.8 million. The Company settled the remaining portion of the
Swaps on August 6, 2007, for net cash proceeds of $13.8 million. The gains and losses associated with the Swaps
were recorded within Selling and administrative expenses.

In March 2005, the Company entered into interest rate locks for the forecasted issuance of $300 million of Senior
Notes due 2015. These interest rate locks met the criteria to be accounted for as cash flow hedges of a forecasted
transaction. Consequently, the changes in fair value of the interest rate locks were deferred in Accumulated other
comprehensive income (loss) and will be recognized into interest expense over the life of the notes. At
December 31, 2008, $7.6 million of deferred losses was included in Accumulated other comprehensive income
(loss) related to the interest rate locks, of which $1.0 million is expected to be reclassified into interest expense
over the next twelve months.

Concentration of Credit Risk

The counterparties to the Company’s forward contracts consist of a number of highly rated major international
financial institutions. The Company could be exposed to losses in the event of nonperformance by the
counterparties. However, credit ratings and concentration of risk of these financial institutions are monitored on a
continuous basis and present no significant credit risk to the Company.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments
The carrying value of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, short-term borrowings and accounts
payable are a reasonable estimate of their fair value due to the short-term nature of these instruments.

NOTE 14 - POSTRETIREMENT BENEFITS OTHER THAN PENSIONS

The Company sponsors several postretirement plans that cover certain eligible employees, including certain
Trane employees since the acquisition date. These plans provide for health-care benefits, and in some instances,
life insurance benefits. Postretirement health plans generally are contributory and contributions are adjusted
annually. Life insurance plans for retirees are primarily noncontributory. The Company funds the postretirement
benefit costs principally on a pay-as-you-go basis.

In 2006, the Company adopted SFAS 158, which required the Company to record the funded status of its
postretirement plans on its balance sheet effective December 31, 2006. The adoption of SFAS 158 for the
Company’s postretirement plans other than pensions resulted in an increase of total liabilities of $300.4 million
and a decrease of total shareholders’ equity of $135.7 million (net of tax of $164.7 million).

In 2008, the Company adopted the measurement date provision of SFAS 158 which required the measurement of
plan assets and benefit obligations as of the date of the year-end financial statements. The Company recorded a
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one-time after-tax charge for postretirement benefits of $2.5 million to Retained earnings ($4.7 million pre-tax)
as a result of changing the measurement date from November 30t to December 315t

As a result of the acquisition of Trane in the second quarter of 2008, the Company assumed unfunded obligations
for retirement benefits other than pensions in the amount of $268.9 million. In connection with the sale of
Compact Equipment and the Road Development business unit during 2007, the Company settled its obligation
for postretirement benefits for all current and former employees related to these divestitures. In addition, the
Company’s U.S. postretirement plan was remeasured as of the sale dates.

The following table details information regarding the Company’s postretirement plans at December 31:

In millions 2008 2007
Change in benefit obligations:

Benefit obligation at beginning of year $ 649.8 $ 1,035.2
Service cost 7.3 11.8
Interest cost 49.7 54.2
Plan participants’ contributions 14.9 13.4
Actuarial (gains) losses 16.6 (1.7)
Benefits paid, net of Medicare Part D subsidy * (69.9) (88.9)
Settlements/curtailments - (375.8)
Adjustments due to adoption of SFAS 158 measurement date provision 3.6 -
Acquisition 268.9 -
Other 5.3 1.6
Benefit obligations at end of year $ 946.2 $ 6498

* Amounts are net of Medicare Part D subsidy of $9.5 and $1.9 million in 2008 and 2007, respectively

Funded status:
Plan assets less than benefit obligations $ (946.2) $ (649.8)

Amounts included in the balance sheet:

Accrued compensation and benefits $ ((704) $ (51.1)
Postemployment and other benefit liabilities (875.8) (598.7)
Total $ (946.2) $ (649.8)

The pretax amounts recognized in Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) were as follows:

Prior Net
service actuarial

In millions gains losses Total
Balance at December 31, 2007 $ 145 $ (1914) $ (176.9)
Current year changes recorded to Accumulated other comprehensive

income (loss) - (16.6) (16.6)
Amortization reclassified to earnings 3.4) 16.2 12.8
Adjustments due to adoption of SFAS 158 measurement

date provisions 0.3) 1.4 1.1
Other - (2.3) (2.3)
Balance at December 31, 2008 $ 108 $ (192.7) $ (181.9)
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The components of net periodic postretirement benefit (income) cost for the years ended December 31, were as
follows:

In millions 2008 2007 2006
Service cost $ 73 $ 11.8 $ 11.8
Interest cost 49.7 54.2 55.0
Net amortization of prior service gains (3.4) (3.8) 4.2)
Net amortization of net actuarial losses 16.2 15.9 16.6
Net periodic postretirement benefit cost 69.8 78.1 79.2
Net curtailment and settlement (gains) losses - (265.9) -
Net periodic postretirement benefit (income) cost after

net curtailment and settlement (gains) losses $ 69.8 $ (187.8) % 79.2
Amounts recorded in continuing operations $ 38.4 $ 22.7 $ 25.7
Amounts recorded in discontinued operations 31.4 (210.5) 53.5
Total $ 69.8 $ (187.8) % 79.2

Net periodic postretirement cost for 2008 included $13.2 million related to Trane plans. The curtailment and
settlement gains and losses in 2007 are associated with the divestiture of Compact Equipment and the Road
Development business unit. Postretirement cost for 2009 is projected to be $81 million. Amounts expected to be
recognized in net periodic postretirement benefits cost in 2009 for prior service gains and plan net actuarial
losses are $3.4 million and $17.0 million, respectively.

Assumptions: 2008 2007 2006
Weighted-average discount rate assumption to determine:
Benefit obligations at December 31 6.25% 6.00% 5.50%
Net periodic benefit cost
For the period January 1 to April 30 6.00% 5.50% 5.50%
For the period May 1 to November 30 * 6.00% 5.75% 5.50%
For the period December 1 to December 31 6.00% 6.00% 5.50%
Assumed health-care cost trend rates at December 31:
Current year medical inflation 11.00% 11.00% 11.00%
Ultimate inflation rate 5.25% 5.25% 5.25%
Year that the rate reaches the ultimate trend rate 2015 2014 2013

* Trane plans were valued assuming a 6.50% discount rate at the acquisition date.

A 1% change in the medical trend rate assumed for postretirement benefits would have the following effects at
December 31, 2008:

1% 1%
In millions Increase Decrease
Effect on total of service and interest cost components $ 1.8 $ (1.6)
Effect on postretirement benefit obligation 32.4 (26.0)
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Benefit payments for postretirement benefits, which are net of expected plan participant contributions and
Medicare Part D subsidy, are expected to be paid as follows:

In millions

2009 $ 71.1
2010 73.4
2011 70.9
2012 76.7
2013 76.1
2014 - 2018 378.4

NOTE 15 - PENSION PLANS

The Company has noncontributory pension plans covering substantially all non-Trane U.S. employees and
maintains a pension plan for non-collectively bargained U.S. employees of Trane, whereby eligible employees
may elect to participate and receive a credit equal to 3% of eligible pay. In addition, the Company maintains a
U.S. collectively bargained pension plan for Trane employees. Certain non-U.S. employees in other countries,
including Trane employees, are covered by pension plans.

The Company’s pension plans for U.S. non-collectively bargained employees provided benefits on a final
average pay formula. The Company’s U.S. collectively bargained pension plans, including those covering
employees of Trane, principally provide benefits based on a flat benefit formula. Non-U.S. plans provide benefits
based on earnings and years of service. The Company maintains additional other supplemental benefit plans for
officers and other key employees.

In 2006, the Company adopted SFAS 158, which required the Company to record the funded status of its pension
plans on its balance sheet effective December 31, 2006. The adoption of SFAS 158 for the Company’s pensions
resulted in a decrease of total assets of $476.0 million, total liabilities of $35.4 million and total shareholders’
equity of $337.1 million (net of tax of $103.5 million).

In 2008, the Company adopted the measurement date provision of SFAS 158 which required the measurement of
plan assets and benefit obligations as of the date of the year-end financial statements. The Company recorded a
one-time after-tax pension charge of $1.2 million to Retained earnings ($1.8 million pre-tax) as a result of
changing the measurement date from November 30t to December 315t

As a result of the acquisition of Trane in the second quarter of 2008, the Company assumed net obligations of
$67.7 million, which consisted of long-term prepaid pension costs of $1.4 million and current and noncurrent
pension benefit liabilities of $69.1 million. In connection with the sale of Compact Equipment and the Road
Development business unit during 2007, the Company settled its obligation for pension benefits for all current
and former employees related to these divestitures. In addition, certain of the Company’s U.S. plans and the U.K.
plan were remeasured as of the sale dates.
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The following table details information regarding the Company’s pension plans at December 31:

In millions 2008 2007
Change in benefit obligations:

Benefit obligation at beginning of year $ 2,572.4 $ 3,175.7
Service cost 58.5 52.0
Interest cost 182.8 164.3
Employee contributions 2.6 23
Acquisitions 799.2 0.7
Amendments 12.0 3.1
Actuarial (gains) losses (9.6) (83.6)
Benefits paid (232.7) (202.4)
Currency translation (200.7) 26.0
Curtailments and settlements (1.1) (561.5)
Adjustment due to adoption of SFAS 158 measurement date provisions 2.6 -
Other, including expenses paid 31.3 (4.2)
Benefit obligation at end of year $ 3,217.3 $ 2,572.4
Change in plan assets:

Fair value at beginning of year $ 2,500.9 $ 29573
Actual return on assets (523.2) 211.1
Company contributions 64.1 25.5
Employee contributions 2.6 23
Acquisitions 731.5 -
Benefits paid (232.7) (202.4)
Currency translation (165.8) 17.6
Settlements 0.9) (506.3)
Adjustment due to adoption of SFAS 158 measurement date provisions (42.5) -
Other, including expenses paid 29.1 (4.2)
Fair value of assets end of year $ 2,363.1 $ 2,500.9
Funded status:

Plan assets less than the benefit obligations $ (854.2) $ (71.5)
Amounts included in the balance sheet:

Long-term prepaid expenses in other assets $ 0.2 $ 166.9
Accrued compensation and benefits (26.0) (24.5)
Post employment and other benefit liabilities (828.4) (213.9)
Net amount recognized $ (854.2) $ (71.5)
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The pretax amounts recognized in Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) were as follows:

Net Prior Net
transition service actuarial

In millions obligation cost losses Total
December 31, 2007 $ (1.0) $ @445 § (392.7) $ (438.2)
Current year changes recorded to Accumulated other

comprehensive income (loss) - (7.8) (788.0) (795.8)
Amortization reclassified to earnings 0.7 8.8 10.3 19.8
Settlements/curtailments reclassified to earnings - - 0.1) 0.1)
Adjustment due to adoption of SFAS 158

measurement date provisions - 0.7 0.9 1.6
Currency translation - 0.1 63.9 64.0
December 31, 2008 $ 03 $ 427 $ (1,105.7) $ (1,148.7)
Weighted-average assumptions used:
Benefit obligations at December 31, 2008 2007
Discount rate:

U.S. plans 6.25% 6.25%

Non-U.S. plans 6.50% 6.00%
Rate of compensation increase:

U.S. plans 4.00% 4.00%

Non-U.S. plans 4.50% 4.50%

The accumulated benefit obligation for all defined benefit pension plans was $3,082.7 million and $2,439.9
million at December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively. The projected benefit obligation, accumulated benefit
obligation, and fair value of plan assets for pension plans with accumulated benefit obligations more than plan
assets were $3,194.8 million, $3,066.0 million and $2,345.0 million, respectively, as of December 31, 2008, and
$955.9 million, $884.1 million and $716.0 million, respectively, as of December 31, 2007.

Pension benefit payments are expected to be paid as follows:

In millions

2009
2010
2011
2012
2013
2014 - 2018

214.5
242.0
207.6
218.9
229.6
1,228.0
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The components of the Company’s pension related costs for the years ended December 31, include the following:

In millions 2008 2007 2006
Service cost $ 385 $ 520 $ 546
Interest cost 182.8 164.3 161.3
Expected return on plan assets (230.1) (228.7) (218.9)
Net amortization of:

Prior service costs 8.8 9.2 9.4

Transition amount 0.7 0.9 0.9

Plan net actuarial losses 10.3 13.8 25.4
Net periodic pension benefit cost 31.0 11.5 32.7
Net curtailment and settlement (gains) losses 2.3 63.5 -
Net periodic pension benefit cost after net curtailment and settlement

(gains) losses $ 333 $ 750 $ 327
Amounts recorded in continuing operations $ 448 $ 206 $ 383
Amounts recorded in discontinued operations (11.5) 54.4 (5.6)
Total $ 33.3 $ 75.0 $ 32.7

Net periodic pension cost for 2008 included $7.3 million related to Trane plans. The curtailment and settlement
losses in 2008 are associated with lump sum distributions under supplemental benefit plans for officers and other
key employees. The curtailment and settlement gains and losses in 2007 are associated with the divestiture of
Compact Equipment and the Road Development business unit. Pension expense for 2009 is projected to be
approximately $160 million, utilizing the assumptions for calculating the pension benefit obligations at the end of
2008. The amounts expected to be recognized in net periodic pension cost during the year ended 2009 for the net
transition obligation, prior service cost and plan net actuarial losses are $0.3 million, $8.4 million and $57.2
million, respectively.

Weighted-average assumptions used:

Net periodic pension cost for the year ended December 31, 2008 2007 2006
Discount rate:
U.S. plans
For the period January 1 to April 30 6.25% 5.50% 5.50%
For the period May 1 to November 30 * 6.25% 5.75% 5.50%
For the period December 1 to December 31 6.25% 6.25% 5.50%
Non-U.S. plans
For the period January 1 to April 30 6.00% 5.00% 5.00%
For the period May 1 to November 30 * 6.00% 5.50% 5.00%
For the period December 1 to December 31 6.00% 6.00% 5.00%
Rate of compensation increase:
U.S. plans 4.00% 4.00% 4.00%
Non-U.S. plans
For the period January 1 to April 30 4.50% 4.25% 4.00%
For the period May 1 to November 30 * 4.50% 4.35% 4.00%
For the period December 1 to December 31 4.50% 4.50% 4.00%
Expected return on plan assets:
U.S. plans 8.50% 8.50% 8.50%
Non-U.S. plans 7.25% 7.25% 7.25%

* Trane plans were valued at acquisition date assuming 6.75% for the discount rate, 4.00% for the rate of
compensation increase and 8.25% for the expected return on plan assets
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The expected long-term rate of return on plan assets reflects the average rate of earnings expected on the funds
invested or to be invested to provide for the benefits included in the projected benefit obligation. The expected
long-term rate of return on plan assets is based on what is achievable given the plan’s investment policy and the
types of assets held. The expected long-term rate of return is determined as of the measurement date. The
Company reviews each plan and its historical returns and asset allocations to determine the appropriate expected
long-term rate of return on plan assets to be used.

The Company’s investment objectives in managing its defined benefit plan assets are to ensure that present and
future benefit obligations to all participants and beneficiaries are met as they become due; to provide a total
return that, over the long term, minimizes required company contributions, at the appropriate levels of risk; and
to meet any statutory requirements, laws and local regulatory agencies’ requirements. Key investment
management decisions reviewed regularly are asset allocations, investment manager performance, investment
advisors and trustees or custodians. Asset/liability modeling (ALM) studies are used as the basis for global asset
allocation decisions and are updated as required.

Based on ALM studies, the Company continues to adjust its target strategic global asset allocations for its plans
to be approximately 40% in equity securities and 60% in debt securities, real estate and cash. Asset allocations
are reviewed at least quarterly and appropriate adjustments are made. Trane pension assets have been included in
our reviews since acquisition and will be included in our target strategic asset allocation. Trane’s historic target
strategic allocation had a higher percentage invested in equity securities.

The Company’s pension plans weighted-average asset allocations at December 31, 2008 and 2007, by asset
category are as follows:

2008 2007

IR Trane Total Total

Asset category Plans Plans Plans Plans
Equity securities 37.5% 52.5% 41.0% 54.0%
Debt securities 54.6% 43.3% 52.0% 38.4%
Real estate 0.8% 2.6% 1.2% 0.4%
Other (including cash) 7.1% 1.6% 5.8% 7.2%
Total 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%

The Company made contributions to its pension plans of $64.1 million in 2008, $25.5 million in 2007, and $31.6
million in 2006. The Company currently projects that it will be required to contribute approximately $105
million to its plans worldwide in 2009. The Company’s policy allows it to fund an amount, which could be in
excess of or less than the pension cost expensed, subject to the limitations imposed by current tax regulations.
The Company anticipates funding the plans in 2009 in accordance with contributions required by funding
regulations or the laws of each jurisdiction.

Most of the Company’s U.S. employees are covered by savings and other defined contribution plans. Employer
contributions are determined based on criteria specific to the individual plans and amounted to approximately
$78.8 million (including $43.5 million for Trane plans), $47.8 million and $48.6 million in 2008, 2007 and 2006,
respectively. The Company’s contributions relating to non-U.S. defined contribution plans and other non-U.S.
benefit plans were $16.3 million (including $3.8 million for Trane plans), $11.4 million and $8.8 million in 2008,
2007 and 2006, respectively.
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NOTE 16 - SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Common Stock
At December 31, 2008, a reconciliation of Class A Common shares is as follows:

In millions Total

December 31, 2007 272.6
Shares issued under incentive plans 0.8
Merger consideration (See Note 3) 45.4
December 31, 2008 318.8

The increase from 2007 was a result of the issuance of 45.4 million IR-Limited Class A common shares to fund
the equity portion of the consideration paid for the Trane acquisition.

During 2007, the Company repurchased 39.7 million Class A common shares at a cost of $1,999.9 million under
the existing $4 billion share repurchase program. The program was originally authorized by the Board of
Directors in December 2006 and expanded in May 2007. During 2006, the Company repurchased 27.7 million
Class A common shares at a cost of $1,096.3 million, which completed the Company’s share repurchases under
the $2 billion program that was authorized by the Board of Directors in August 2004 and expanded in August
2005.

Effective December 31, 2001, IR-Limited became the successor to IR-New Jersey, following the reorganization.
The reorganization was accomplished through a merger of a newly formed merger subsidiary into IR-New
Jersey. Upon consummation of the merger, the shares of IR-New Jersey common stock automatically became
IR-Limited Class A common shares. As part of the reorganization, IR-New Jersey and certain of its subsidiaries,
immediately prior to the merger, transferred shares of certain IR-New Jersey subsidiaries and issued certain debt
in exchange for which IR-Limited issued 270,500,006 Class B common shares. The Class B common shares are
non-voting and pay comparable dividends to the Class A common shares. The authorized share capital of
IR-Limited is $1,175,010,000, consisting of (1) 1,175,000,000 common shares, par value $1.00 per share, which
common shares consist of (a) 600,000,000 Class A common shares and (b) 575,000,000 Class B common shares,
and (2) 10,000,000 preference shares, par value $0.001 per share. Class A common shares (and associated
preference share purchase rights) were issued to holders of IR-New Jersey common stock in the merger. No
preference shares were outstanding at December 31, 2008 or 2007. As the Class B common shares are owned by
consolidated subsidiaries, the cost basis of the shares are eliminated in consolidation.

Accumulated Other Comprehensive (Loss) Income
The components of Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) are as follows:

In millions 2008 2007
Foreign currency translation adjustment $ 4370 $ 6758
Change in fair value of derivatives qualifying as cash flow hedges,

net of tax 2.4) (12.3)
Unrealized loss on marketable securities, net of tax (10.1) 3.7
Pension and postretirement obligation adjustments, net of tax (875.3) (413.3)
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) $ (450.8) $ 2465

NOTE 17 - SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION

The Company records share-based compensation under the provisions of SFAS No. 123 (revised 2004), “Share-
Based Payment,” which requires companies to measure all employee share-based compensation awards using a
fair value method and recognize compensation expense for an amount equal to the fair value of the share-based
payment issued in its consolidated financial statements.
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On June 6, 2007, the shareholders of the Company approved the Incentive Stock Plan of 2007, which authorizes
the Company to issue stock options and other share-based incentives. The total number of shares authorized by
the shareholders is 14.0 million, of which 8.8 million remains available as of December 31, 2008 for future
incentive awards. The plan replaces the Incentive Stock Plan of 1998, which terminated in May 2007.

Stock Options

The average fair value of the stock options granted for the year ended December 31, 2008 and 2007 was
estimated to be $11.56 per share and $11.06 per share, respectively, using the Black-Scholes option-pricing
model. The following assumptions were used:

2008 2007
Dividend yield 1.58% 1.75%
Volatility 31.48% 26.10%
Risk-free rate of return 2.95% 4.71%
Expected life 5.36 years 4.70 years

The fair value of each of the Company’s stock option awards is expensed on a straight-line basis over the
required service period, which is generally the three-year vesting period of the options. However, for options
granted to retirement eligible employees, the Company recognizes expense for the fair value of the options at the
grant date. Expected volatility is based on the historical volatility from traded options on the Company’s stock.
The risk-free rate of return is based on the yield curve of a zero-coupon U.S. Treasury bond on the date the award
is granted with a maturity equal to the expected term of the award. Historical data is used to estimate forfeitures
within the Company’s valuation model. The Company’s expected life of the stock option awards is derived from
historical experience and represents the period of time that awards are expected to be outstanding.

Changes in options outstanding under the plans for the years 2006, 2007 and 2008 are as follows:

Shares Weighted- Aggregate Weighted-
subject average intrinsic average
to option  exercise price value (millions) remaining life

December 31, 2005 19,882,476 29.26

Granted 3,305,190 39.33

Exercised (3,707,839) 25.77

Cancelled (314,885) 38.82

December 31, 2006 19,164,942 31.54

Granted 3,528,225 43.77

Exercised (5,386,093) 29.70

Cancelled (882,183) 41.16

December 31, 2007 16,424,891 34.25

Granted 5,088,599 40.48

Trane options exchanged for IR options 7,408,134 18.50

Exercised (685,508) 26.56

Cancelled (1,020,889) 39.84

Outstanding December 31, 2008 27,215,227 $ 31.11 $ 26.6 54

Exercisable December 31, 2008 20,042,438 $ 27.52 $ 26.6 4.3

As part of the acquisition of Trane, 7.4 million Trane options were converted at the option of the holders into
options to acquire shares of IR-Limited Class A common shares based on the option exchange ratio set forth in
the merger agreement.
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The following table summarizes information concerning currently outstanding and exercisable options:

Options outstanding Options exercisable

Number Weighted- Weighted- Number Weighted- Weighted-
outstanding at ~ average average exercisable at  average average

Range of December 31, remaining exercise December 31, remaining exercise
exercise price 2008 life price 2008 life price
$ - - $ 10.00 234,436 1.1 $ 7.64 234,436 1.1 $ 7.64
10.01 - 20.00 4,818,984 33 12.89 4,807,984 3.2 12.88
20.01 - 30.00 5,199,629 3.5 23.62 5,196,629 3.5 23.62
30.01 - 40.00 12,459,630 6.1 37.23 8,668,156 5.0 36.44
40.01 - 50.00 4,337,882 8.1 43.20 1,094,236 7.1 42.97
50.01 - 60.00 164,666 7.9 52.50 40,997 7.2 53.39
$ 325 - $§ 5522 27215227 5.4 $ 31.11 20,042,438 4.3 $ 2752

At December 31, 2008, there was $38.2 million of total unrecognized compensation cost from stock option
arrangements granted under the plan, which is related to unvested shares of non-retirement eligible employees.
This compensation will be recognized over the required service period, which is generally the three-year vesting
period. The aggregate intrinsic value of options exercised during the year ended December 31, 2008 and 2007
was $9.2 million and $103.4 million, respectively.

Generally, stock options vest ratably over a three-year period from their date of grant and expire at the end of ten
years.

SARs

SARs generally vest ratably over a three-year period from the date of grant and expire at the end of ten years.
Effective August 2, 2000, all exercised SARs are settled with the Company’s Class A common shares. Previously
exercised SARs were paid in cash. The following table summarizes the information for currently outstanding
SARs:

Shares Weighted- Aggregate Weighted-
subject average intrinsic average
to exercise exercise price value (millions) remaining life

December 31, 2005 1,769,134  $ 30.05

Granted 395,020 39.12

Exercised (327,717) 24.49

Cancelled (142,683) 32.18

December 31, 2006 1,693,754 33.11

Granted - -

Exercised (476,400) 30.31

Cancelled 47,377) 34.72

December 31, 2007 1,169,977 33.99

Granted - -

Exercised (40,636) 27.98

Cancelled (55,869) 37.85

Outstanding December 31, 2008 1,073,472  $ 34.02 $ - 4.3

Exercisable December 31, 2008 990,222  $ 33.56 $ - 4.2

Note: The Company did not grant SARS during 2007 and 2008 and does not anticipate further granting in the
future.
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Performance Shares

The Company has a Performance Share Program (PSP) for key employees. The program provides annual awards
for the achievement of pre-established long-term strategic initiatives and annual financial performance of the
Company. The annual target award level is expressed as a number of the Company’s Class A common shares.
For performance year 2006 the award was paid in cash.

On April 17, 2007, and effective beginning in performance year 2007, the Compensation Committee of the
Company’s board of directors approved a revision to the PSP program such that all PSP awards will be paid in
Class A common shares rather than in cash. In addition, all shares will vest one year after the date of grant except
for retirement-eligible employees whose shares vest immediately. As a result of these changes, a larger portion of
the Company’s executive compensation program will be directly linked to the performance of the Company’s
Class A common shares, thus further aligning the interests of executives with those of the Company’s
shareholders.

Deferred Compensation

For fiscal years ended December 31, 2008 and before, the Company allowed key employees and non-employee
directors to defer a portion of their eligible compensation into a number of investment choices, including Class A
common share equivalents. Effective August 1, 2007, the deferred compensation plans were amended to provide
that any amounts invested in the Class A common share equivalents will be settled in Class A common shares at
the time of distribution. Previously, these amounts were settled in cash.

Other Plans

The Company maintains a shareholder-approved Management Incentive Unit Award Plan. Under the plan,
participating key employees were awarded incentive units. When dividends are paid on Class A common shares,
phantom dividends are awarded to unit holders, one-half of which is paid in cash, the remaining half of which is
credited to the participants’ account in the form of Class A common share equivalents. The value of the actual
incentive units is never paid to participants, and only the fair value of accumulated common share equivalents is
paid in cash upon the participants’ retirement. The number of common share equivalents credited to participants’
accounts at December 31, 2008 is 152,952.

The Company has issued stock grants as an incentive plan for certain key employees, with varying vesting
periods. At December 31, 2008, there were 276,701 stock grants outstanding, all of which were vested. Effective
August 2, 20006, all stock grants are settled with the Company’s Class A common shares rather than cash.

Compensation Expense
Share-based compensation expense is included in Selling and administrative expenses. The following table
summarizes the expenses recognized:

In millions 2008 2007 2006
Stock options $§ 395 $ 214 $ 136
SARs 0.1) 1.0 4.6
Performance shares 2.1 11.3 10.4
Deferred compensation 2.1 1.8 0.6)
Other 1.6 - -
Pre-tax expense 45.2 35.5 28.0
Tax benefit 17.3 13.6 10.7
After tax expense $ 279 $ 219 $ 173
Amounts recorded in continuing operations $ 279 $ 219 $ 173
Amounts recorded in discontinued operations - 3.9 2.8
Total $ 279 $ 258 $ 20.1
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Compensation expense was recognized during the year ended December 31, 2006, for all share-based option
awards granted since January 1, 2006, based on the grant date fair value in accordance with the provisions of
SFAS 123(R). The Company recorded additional stock-option expense of $13.6 million in 2006 associated with
the adoption of SFAS 123(R).

NOTE 18 - OTHER, NET
At December 31, the components of Other, net were as follows:

In millions 2008 2007 2006
Interest income $ 956 $ 362 $ 159
Exchange gain (loss) (41.9) (2.8) (21.3)
Minority interests (20.0) (14.3) (14.9)
Earnings from equity investments 34 1.0 0.1)
Other 6.1 (4.2) 13.1
Other, net $ 432 $ 159 $ (73

NOTE 19 - INCOME TAXES
Earnings (loss) before income taxes for the years ended December 31 were taxed within the following
jurisdictions:

In millions 2008 2007 2006

United States $ (3,5196) $ (1404) $ 352
Non-U.S. 743.6 1,077.9 822.4
Total $ (27760) $ 9375 $ 857.6

Provision (benefit) for income taxes by jurisdiction for the years ended December 31 was as follows:

In millions 2008 2007 2006

United States $ (281.2) $ 528 $ (32.7)
Non-U.S. 72.6 151.6 125.3
Total $ (2086) $ 2044 $ 926

The components of Provision (benefit) for income taxes for the years ended December 31 were as follows:

In millions 2008 2007 2006

Current tax expense $ 1254 $ 578 $ 6438
Deferred tax expense (benefit) (334.0) 146.6 27.8
Total provision (benefit) for income taxes $ (208.6) $ 2044 $ 926

F-35



The Provision (benefit) for income taxes differs from the amount of income taxes determined by applying the
applicable U.S. statutory income tax rate to pretax income, as a result of the following differences:

Percent of pretax income

2008 2007 2006

Statutory U.S. rate 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%
Increase (decrease) in rates resulting from:

Non-U.S. operations 94 (21.0) (28.2)

Manufacturing exemption/ETI/FSC 0.1 (0.9) 0.5)

State and local income taxes, net of U.S. tax 0.3) 0.1) 0.5)

Non-deductible impairment charge 35.1) - -

Tax reserves (including uncertain tax position reserves)* 2.5) 8.0 4.8

Other adjustments 0.9 0.8 0.2
Effective tax rate 7.5% 21.8% 10.8%

Tax incentives, in the form of tax holidays, have been granted in certain jurisdictions to encourage industrial
development. The expiration of these tax holidays varies by country. The most significant tax holiday relates to
the Company’s qualifying locations in Ireland, which were granted a 10% tax rate through 2010. The benefit for
the tax holidays for the year ended December 31, 2008 and 2007 was $4.1 million and $4.9 million, respectively.

At December 31, a summary of the deferred tax accounts were as follows:

In millions 2008 2007
Deferred tax assets:
Inventory and accounts receivable $ 29.3 $ 24.0
Fixed assets and intangibles 23.5 114
Postemployment and other benefit liabilities 833.8 468.5
Product liability 324.8 199.3
Other reserves and accruals 198.4 135.6
Net operating losses and credit carryforwards 750.2 445.7
Other 248.8 46.6
Gross deferred tax assets 2,408.8 1,331.1
Less: deferred tax valuation allowances (247.8) (207.4)
Deferred tax assets net of valuation allowances $ 2,161.0 $ 1,123.7
Deferred tax liabilities:
Inventory and accounts receivable $ (60.0) $ (11.6)
Fixed assets and intangibles (2,368.4) (511.4)
Postemployment and other benefit liabilities (7.5) (39.0)
Other reserves and accruals (5.8) (11.7)
Other (77.5) (8.3)
Gross deferred tax liability (2,519.2) (582.0)
Net deferred tax assets (liabilities) $ (358.2) $ 541.7

The increase in the valuation allowance of $40.4 million was recorded for U.S. federal tax credit carryforwards,
U.S. state net operating loss carryforwards, non-U.S net operating loss and credit carryforwards and other
non-US deferred tax assets.

At December 31, 2008, no deferred taxes have been provided for any portion of the $5.7 billion of undistributed
earnings of the Company’s subsidiaries, since these earnings have been, and under current plans will continue to
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be, permanently reinvested in these subsidiaries, and it is not practicable to estimate the amount of additional
taxes which may be payable upon distribution.

At December 31, 2008, the Company had the following operating loss and tax credit carryforwards available to
offset taxable income in prior and future years:

Expiration
In millions Amount Period
U.S. Federal net operating loss carryforwards $ 1,137.7 2009-2028
U.S. Federal credit carryforwards 166.8 2011-2028
U.S. State net operating loss carryforwards 2,679.0 2009-2028
Non-U.S. net operating loss carryforwards 932.6 2009-Unlimited
Non-U.S. credit carryforwards 12.1 Unlimited

The U.S. state net operating loss carryforwards were incurred in various jurisdictions. The non-U.S. net operating
loss carryforwards were incurred in various jurisdictions, predominately in Brazil, Germany, Hong Kong,
Netherlands, Spain, Switzerland and the United Kingdom.

Effective January 1, 2007, the Company adopted FASB Interpretation No. 48, “Accounting for Uncertainty in
Income Taxes — an interpretation of FASB Statement 109” (FIN 48), which prescribes a recognition threshold
and measurement process for recording in the financial statements uncertain tax positions taken or expected to be
taken in a tax return. Additionally, FIN 48 provides guidance on the recognition, classification, accounting in
interim periods and disclosure requirements for uncertain tax positions. As a result of adopting FIN 48, the
company recorded additional liabilities to its previously established reserves, and a corresponding decrease in
retained earnings of $145.6 million.

The Company has total unrecognized tax benefits of $589.6 million and $379.8 million as of December 31, 2008,
and December 31, 2007, respectively. The amount of unrecognized tax benefits that, if recognized, would affect
the effective tax rate are $490.6 million as of December 31, 2008. A reconciliation of the beginning and ending
amount of unrecognized tax benefits is as follows:

In millions 2008 2007
Balance at December 31, 2007 $ 379.8 $ 457.0
Additions based on tax positions related to the current year 28.8 22.5
Additions based on tax positions related to acquisitions 190.4 -
Additions based on tax positions related to prior years 60.7 75.5
Reductions based on tax positions related to prior years (65.0) (33.6)
Reductions related to settlements with tax authorities (1.3) (141.0)
Reductions related to lapses of statute of limitations (3.8) (0.6)
Balance at December 31, 2008 $ 589.6 $ 379.8

In connection with Trane’s spin-off of WABCO, Trane and WABCO entered into a tax sharing agreement for the
allocation of pre spin-off taxes. Of the total unrecognized tax benefit of $588.9 million at December 31, 2008,
WABCO has agreed to indemnify Trane for $43.3 million, which is reflected in an other long term receivable
account.

The Company records interest and penalties associated with the uncertain tax positions within its Provision for
income taxes. The Company had reserves associated with interest and penalties, net of tax, of $91.3 million and
$93.1 million at December 31, 2008, and December 31, 2007, respectively. For the year ended December 31,
2008 and December 31, 2007, the Company recognized $12.7 million and $8.0 million, respectively, in interest
and penalties net of tax related to these uncertain tax positions.
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It is reasonably possible that the total amount of unrecognized tax benefits could change within 12 months as a
result of settlements of ongoing tax examinations resulting in a decrease of approximately $68.3 million in the
unrecognized tax benefits.

The provision for income taxes involves a significant amount of management judgment regarding interpretation
of relevant facts and laws in the jurisdictions in which the Company operates. Future changes in applicable laws,
projected levels of taxable income and tax planning could change the effective tax rate and tax balances recorded
by the Company. In addition, U.S. and non-U.S. tax authorities periodically review income tax returns filed by
the Company and can raise issues regarding its filing positions, timing and amount of income or deductions, and
the allocation of income among the jurisdictions in which the Company operates. A significant period of time
may elapse between the filing of an income tax return and the ultimate resolution of an issue raised by a revenue
authority with respect to that return. In the normal course of business the Company is subject to examination by
taxing authorities throughout the world, including such major jurisdictions as Germany, Italy, the Netherlands
and the United States. In general, the examination of the Company’s material tax returns is completed for the
years prior to 2000, with certain matters being resolved through appeals and litigation.

The Internal Revenue Service (IRS) has completed the examination of the Company’s federal income tax returns
through the 2000 tax year and has issued a notice proposing adjustments. The principal proposed adjustment
relates to the disallowance of certain capital losses. The Company disputes the IRS position and protests have
been filed with the IRS Appeals Division. In order to reduce the potential interest expense associated with this
matter, the Company made a payment of $217 million in the third quarter of 2007, which reduced the Company’s
total liability for uncertain tax positions by $141 million. Similarly, during the third quarter of 2008, the
Company made an additional payment of $55.1 million related to a potential penalty assessment plus accrued
interest on this matter. The Company continues negotiating with the IRS on the ultimate settlement of this matter.
The issues raised by the IRS associated with this payment are not related to the Company’s reorganization in
Bermuda, or the Company’s intercompany debt structure.

On July 20, 2007, the Company and its consolidated subsidiaries received a notice from the IRS containing
proposed adjustments to the Company’s tax filings in connection with an audit of the 2001 and 2002 tax years.
The IRS did not contest the validity of the Company’s reincorporation in Bermuda. The most significant
adjustments proposed by the IRS involve treating the entire intercompany debt incurred in connection with the
Company’s reincorporation in Bermuda as equity. As a result of this recharacterization, the IRS has disallowed
the deduction of interest paid on the debt and imposed dividend withholding taxes on the payments denominated
as interest. These adjustments proposed by the IRS, if upheld in their entirety, would result in additional taxes
with respect to 2002 of approximately $190 million plus interest, and would require the Company to record
additional charges associated with this matter. At this time, the IRS has not yet begun their examination of the
Company’s tax filings for years subsequent to 2002. However, if these adjustments or a portion of these
adjustments proposed by the IRS are ultimately sustained, it is likely to also affect subsequent tax years.

The Company strongly disagrees with the view of the IRS and filed a protest with the IRS in the third quarter of
2007. The Company has and intends to continue to vigorously contest these proposed adjustments. The
Company, in consultation with its outside advisors, carefully considered many factors in determining the terms of
the intercompany debt, including the obligor’s ability to service the debt and the availability of equivalent
financing from unrelated parties, two factors prominently cited by the IRS in denying debt treatment. The
Company believes that its characterization of that obligation as debt for tax purposes was supported by the
relevant facts and legal authorities at the time of its creation. The subsequent financial results of the relevant
companies, including the actual cash flow generated by operations and the production of significant additional
cash flow from dispositions, have confirmed the ability to service this debt. Although the outcome of this matter
cannot be predicted with certainty, based upon an analysis of the strength of its position, the Company believes
that it is adequately reserved for this matter. As the Company moves forward to resolve this matter with the IRS,
it is reasonably possible that the reserves established may be adjusted within the next 12 months. However, the
Company does not expect that the ultimate resolution will have a material adverse impact on its future results of
operations or financial position.
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The Company believes that it has adequately provided for any reasonably foreseeable resolution of any tax
disputes, but will adjust its reserves if events so dictate in accordance with FIN 48. To the extent that the ultimate
results differ from the original or adjusted estimates of the Company, the effect will be recorded in the provision
for income taxes.

NOTE 20 - DIVESTITURES AND DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS
The components of discontinued operations for the years ended December 31 are as follows:

In millions 2008 2007 2006
Revenues $ 15.3 $ 2,957.8 $ 3,375.7
Pre-tax earnings (loss) from operations (50.3) (82.5) 376.6
Pre-tax gain (loss) on sale 5.2) 4,382.6 1.1
Tax benefit (expense) (1.9) (1,066.5) (110.2)
Discontinued operations, net $ (GB74) $ 32336 $ 267.5

Pre-tax loss from operations in 2007 includes a non-cash charge of $449.0 million related to the Company’s
liability for all pending and estimated future asbestos claims through 2053 as discussed below in “Other
Discontinued Operations”.

Discontinued operations by business for the years ended December 31 are as follows:

In millions 2008 2007 2006
Compact Equipment, net of tax $ ar7n $ 2927.1 $ 2404
Road Development, net of tax (29.8) 672.5 62.9
Other discontinued operations, net of tax (15.9) (366.0) (35.8)
Total discontinued operations, net of tax $ (574 $ 3,233.6 $ 2675

Compact Equipment Divestiture

On July 29, 2007, the Company agreed to sell its Bobcat, Utility Equipment and Attachments businesses
(collectively, Compact Equipment) to Doosan Infracore for gross proceeds of approximately $4.9 billion, subject
to post-closing purchase price adjustments. The sale was completed on November 30, 2007. We are currently in
the process of resolving the final purchase price adjustments with Doosan Infracore.

Compact Equipment manufactured and sold compact equipment, including skid-steer loaders, compact track
loaders, mini-excavators and telescopic tool handlers; portable air compressors, generators and light towers;
general-purpose light construction equipment; and attachments. The Company has accounted for Compact
Equipment as discontinued operations and has classified the assets and liabilities as held for sale for all periods
presented in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standard No. 144, “Accounting for the
Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets” (SFAS 144).

Net revenues and after-tax earnings of Compact Equipment for the years ended December 31 were as follows:

In millions 2008 2007 2006

Net revenues $ 15.3 $ 2,705.9 $ 2,648.4
After-tax earnings (loss) from operations $ 06) $ 275.1 $ 240.4
Gain (loss) on sale, net of tax (11.1) 2,652.0 -
Total discontinued operations, net of tax $ 11.7)  $ 2,927.1 $ 240.4

Road Development Divestiture
On February 27, 2007, the Company agreed to sell its Road Development business unit to AB Volvo (publ) for
cash proceeds of approximately $1.3 billion. The sale was completed on April 30, 2007.
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The Road Development business unit manufactured and sold asphalt paving equipment, compaction equipment,
milling machines and construction-related material handling equipment. The Company has accounted for the
Road Development business unit as discontinued operations and has classified the assets and liabilities sold to
AB Volvo as held for sale for all periods presented in accordance with SFAS 144.

Net revenues and after-tax earnings of the Road Development business unit for the years ended December 31
were as follows:

In millions 2008 2007 2006
Net revenues $ - $ 251.9 $ 727.3
After-tax earnings from operations $ 04) $ 37.8 $ 62.9
Gain on sale, net of tax (29.4) 634.7 -
Total discontinued operations, net of tax $ (29.8) $ 672.5 $ 62.9

Other Discontinued Operations

The Company also has retained costs from previously sold businesses that mainly include costs related to
postretirement benefits, product liability and legal costs (mostly asbestos-related). The components of other
discontinued operations for the years ended December 31 were as follows:

In millions 2008 2007 2006
Retained costs, net of tax $ (16.7)  $ (340.9) $ (36.5)
Net gain (loss) on disposals, net of tax 0.8 (25.1) 0.7
Total discontinued operations, net of tax $ (1590 $ (366.0) $ (35.8)

During the fourth quarter of 2007, the Company recorded a non-cash charge of $449.0 million ($277 million
after-tax) related to the Company’s liability for all pending and estimated future asbestos claims through 2053.
Refer to Note 22 for further details on asbestos-related matters.

NOTE 21 - EARNINGS PER SHARE (EPS)

Basic EPS is calculated by dividing net earnings (income available to common shareholders) by the weighted-
average number of Class A common shares outstanding for the applicable period. Diluted EPS is calculated after
adjusting the denominator of the basic EPS calculation for the effect of all potentially dilutive common shares,
which in the Company’s case, includes shares issuable under share-based compensation plans. The following
table summarizes the weighted-average number of Class A common shares outstanding for basic and diluted
earnings per share calculations:

In millions 2008 2007 2006
Weighted-average number of basic shares 300.6 290.7 319.9
Shares issuable under incentive stock plans 3.1 4.6 3.2
Weighted-average number of diluted shares 303.7 295.3 323.1
Anti-dilutive shares 27.7 0.2 3.2

As the Company experienced a net loss in 2008, the Company has not included the impact of shares issuable
under incentive stock plans in the calculation of diluted EPS as the result would have an antidilutive effect on
EPS.

NOTE 22 - COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
The Company is involved in various litigations, claims and administrative proceedings, including those related to
environmental and product liability matters. Amounts recorded for identified contingent liabilities are estimates,
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which are reviewed periodically and adjusted to reflect additional information when it becomes available.
Subject to the uncertainties inherent in estimating future costs for contingent liabilities, management believes that
the liability which may result from these legal matters would not have a material adverse effect on the financial
condition, results of operations, liquidity or cash flows of the Company.

Environmental Matters

The Company continues to be dedicated to an environmental program to reduce the utilization and generation of
hazardous materials during the manufacturing process and to remediate identified environmental concerns. As to
the latter, the Company is currently engaged in site investigations and remediation activities to address
environmental cleanup from past operations at current and former manufacturing facilities.

The Company is sometimes a party to environmental lawsuits and claims and has received notices of potential
violations of environmental laws and regulations from the Environmental Protection Agency and similar state
authorities. It has also been identified as a potentially responsible party (PRP) for cleanup costs associated with
off-site waste disposal at federal Superfund and state remediation sites. For all such sites, there are other PRPs
and, in most instances, the Company’s involvement is minimal.

In estimating its liability, the Company has assumed it will not bear the entire cost of remediation of any site to
the exclusion of other PRPs who may be jointly and severally liable. The ability of other PRPs to participate has
been taken into account, based generally on the parties’ financial condition and probable contributions on a per
site basis. Additional lawsuits and claims involving environmental matters are likely to arise from time to time in
the future.

During 2008, we spent $6.9 million on capital projects for pollution abatement and control, and an additional
$15.5 million for environmental remediation expenditures at sites presently or formerly owned or leased by us.
As of December 31, 2008, the Company has recorded reserves for environmental matters of $100.9 million. The
Company believes that these expenditures and accrual levels will continue and may increase over time. Given the
evolving nature of environmental laws, regulations and technology, the ultimate cost of future compliance is
uncertain.

Asbestos Matters

Certain wholly owned subsidiaries of the Company are named as defendants in asbestos-related lawsuits in state
and federal courts. In virtually all of the suits, a large number of other companies have also been named as
defendants. The vast majority of those claims has been filed against either Ingersoll-Rand Company (IR-New
Jersey) or Trane and generally allege injury caused by exposure to asbestos contained in certain historical
products sold by IR-New Jersey or Trane, primarily pumps, boilers and railroad brake shoes. Neither IR-New
Jersey nor Trane was a producer or manufacturer of asbestos, however, some formerly manufactured products
utilized asbestos-containing components such as gaskets and packings purchased from third-party suppliers.

Prior to the fourth quarter of 2007, the Company recorded a liability (which it periodically updated) for its actual
and anticipated future asbestos settlement costs projected seven years into the future. The Company did not
record a liability for future asbestos settlement costs beyond the seven-year period covered by its reserve because
such costs previously were not reasonably estimable for the reasons detailed below.

In the fourth quarter of 2007, the Company again reviewed its history and experience with asbestos-related
litigation and determined that it had now become possible to make a reasonable estimate of its total liability for
pending and unasserted potential future asbestos-related claims. This determination was based upon the
Company’s analysis of developments in asbestos litigation, including the substantial and continuing decline in
the filing of non-malignancy claims against the Company, the establishment in many jurisdictions of inactive or
deferral dockets for such claims, the decreased value of non-malignancy claims because of changes in the legal
and judicial treatment of such claims, increasing focus of the asbestos litigation upon malignancy claims,
primarily those involving mesothelioma, a cancer with a known historical and predictable future annual
incidence rate, and the Company’s substantial accumulated experience with respect to the resolution of
malignancy claims, particularly mesothelioma claims, filed against it.
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Accordingly, in the fourth quarter of 2007, the Company retained Dr. Thomas Vasquez of Analysis, Research &
Planning Corporation (collectively, “ARPC”) to assist it in calculating an estimate of the Company’s total
liability for pending and unasserted future asbestos-related claims. ARPC is a respected expert in performing
complex calculations such as this. ARPC has been involved in many asbestos-related valuations of current and
future liabilities, and its valuation methodologies have been accepted by numerous courts.

The methodology used by ARPC to project the Company’s total liability for pending and unasserted potential
future asbestos-related claims relied upon and included the following factors, among others:

e ARPC’s interpretation of a widely accepted forecast of the population likely to have been
occupationally exposed to asbestos;

e epidemiological studies estimating the number of people likely to develop asbestos-related diseases
such as mesothelioma and lung cancer;

e the Company’s historical experience with the filing of non-malignancy claims against it and the
historical ratio between the numbers of non-malignancy and lung cancer claims filed against the
Company;

* ARPC’s analysis of the number of people likely to file an asbestos-related personal injury claim against
the Company based on such epidemiological and historical data and the Company’s most recent three-
year claims history;

e an analysis of the Company’s pending cases, by type of disease claimed;

e an analysis of the Company’s most recent three-year history to determine the average settlement and
resolution value of claims, by type of disease claimed;

e an adjustment for inflation in the future average settlement value of claims, at a 2.5% annual inflation
rate, adjusted downward to 1.5% to take account of the declining value of claims resulting from the
aging of the claimant population;

e an analysis of the period over which the Company has and is likely to resolve asbestos-related claims
against it in the future.

Based on these factors, ARPC calculated a total estimated liability of $755 million for the Company to resolve all
pending and unasserted potential future claims through 2053, which is ARPC’s reasonable best estimate of the
time it will take to resolve asbestos-related claims. This amount is on a pre-tax basis, not discounted for the time-
value of money, and excludes the Company’s defense fees (which will continue to be expensed by the Company
as they are incurred). After considering ARPC’s analysis and the factors listed above, in the fourth quarter of
2007, the Company increased its recorded liability for asbestos claims by $538 million, from $217 million to
$755 million.

In addition, during the fourth quarter of 2007, the Company recorded an $89 million increase in its assets for
probable asbestos-related insurance recoveries to $250 million. This represents amounts due to the Company for
previously paid and settled claims and the probable reimbursements relating to its estimated liability for pending
and future claims. In calculating this amount, the Company used the estimated asbestos liability for pending and
projected future claims calculated by ARPC. It also considered the amount of insurance available, gaps in
coverage, allocation methodologies, solvency ratings and creditworthiness of the insurers, the amounts already
recovered from and the potential for settlements with insurers, and the terms of existing settlement agreements
with insurers.
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During the fourth quarter of 2007, the Company recorded a non-cash charge to earnings of discontinued
operations of $449 million ($277 million after-tax), which is the difference between the amount by which the
Company increased its total estimated liability for pending and projected future asbestos-related claims and the
amount that the Company expects to recover from insurers with respect to that increased liability.

In connection with our acquisition of Trane, the Company requested ARPC to assist in calculating Trane’s
asbestos-related valuations of current and future liabilities. As required by SFAS No. 141, “Business
Combinations,” the Company is required to record the assumed asbestos obligations and associated insurance-
related assets at their fair value at the Acquisition Date. The Company preliminarily estimates that the assumed
asbestos obligation and associated insurance-related assets at the Acquisition Date to be $494 million and $249
million, respectively. These amounts were estimated based on certain assumptions and factors consistent with
those described above.

Trane continues to be in litigation against certain carriers whose policies it believes provide coverage for asbestos
claims. The insurance carriers named in this suit have challenged Trane’s right to recovery. Trane filed the action
in April 1999 in the Superior Court of New Jersey, Middlesex County, against various primary and lower layer
excess insurance carriers, seeking coverage for environmental claims (the “NJ Litigation”). The NJ Litigation
was later expanded to also seek coverage for asbestos-related liabilities from twenty-one primary and lower layer
excess carriers and underwriting syndicates. The environmental claims against most of the insurers in the NJ
Litigation have been settled. On September 19, 2005, the court granted Trane’s motion to add claims for
insurance coverage for asbestos-related liabilities against 16 additional insurers and 117 new insurance policies
to the NJ Litigation. The court also required the parties to submit all contested matters to mediation. Trane
engaged in its first mediation session with the NJ Litigation defendants on January 18, 2006 and has engaged in
active discussions since that time.

Trane has now settled with a substantial number of its insurers, collectively accounting for approximately 80% of
its recorded asbestos-related liability insurance receivable at January 31, 2009. More specifically, effective
August 26, 2008, Trane entered into a coverage-in-place agreement (“August 26 Agreement”) with the following
five insurance companies or groups: 1) Hartford; 2) Travelers; 3) Allstate (solely in its capacity as
successor-in-interest to Northbrook Excess & Surplus Insurance Company); 4) Dairyland Insurance Company;
and 5) AIG. The August 26 Agreement provides for the reimbursement by the insurer signatories of a portion of
Trane’s costs for asbestos bodily injury claims under specified terms and conditions and in exchange for certain
releases and indemnifications from Trane. In addition, on September 12, 2008, Trane entered into a settlement
agreement with Mt. McKinley Insurance Company and Everest Reinsurance Company, both members of the
Everest Re group, resolving all claims in the NJ Litigation involving policies issued by those companies
(“Everest Re Agreement”). The Everest Re Agreement contains a number of elements, including policy buy-outs
and partial buy-outs in exchange for a cash payment along with coverage-in-place features similar to those
contained in the August 26 Agreement, in exchange for certain releases and indemnifications by Trane. More
recently, on January 26, 2009, Trane entered into a coverage-in-place agreement with Columbia Casualty
Company, Continental Casualty Company, and Continental Insurance Company in its own capacity and as
successor-in-interest to Harbor Insurance Company and London Guarantee & Accident Company of New York
(“CNA Agreement”). The CNA Agreement provides for the reimbursement by the insurer signatories of a
portion of Trane’s costs for indemnification from Trane. Trane remains in settlement negotiations with the
insurer defendants in the NJ Litigation not encompassed within the August 26 Agreement, Everest Re
Agreement, and the CNA Agreement. Once concluded, we believe NJ Litigation will resolve coverage issues
with respect to approximately 95% of Trane’s recorded insurance receivable in connection with asbestos-related
liabilities.

The amounts recorded by the Company for asbestos-related liabilities and insurance-related assets are based on
currently available information. The Company’s actual liabilities or insurance recoveries could be significantly
higher or lower than those recorded if assumptions used in the Company’s or ARPC’s calculations vary
significantly from actual results. Key variables in these assumptions are identified above and include the number
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and type of new claims to be filed each year, the average cost of resolution of each such new claim, the resolution
of coverage issues with insurance carriers, and the solvency risk with respect to the Company’s insurance
carriers. Furthermore, predictions with respect to these variables are subject to greater uncertainty as the
projection period lengthens. Other factors that may affect the Company’s liability include uncertainties
surrounding the litigation process from jurisdiction to jurisdiction and from case to case, reforms that may be
made by state and federal courts, and the passage of state or federal tort reform legislation.

The aggregate amount of the stated limits in insurance policies available to the Company for asbestos-related
claims acquired over many years and from many different carriers, is substantial. However, limitations in that
coverage, primarily due to the considerations described above, are expected to result in the projected total
liability to claimants substantially exceeding the probable insurance recovery.

From receipt of its first asbestos claims more than twenty five years ago to December 31, 2008, the Company has
resolved (by settlement or dismissal) approximately 253,000 claims arising from the legacy Ingersoll Rand
businesses. The total amount of all settlements paid by the Company (excluding insurance recoveries) and by its
insurance carriers is approximately $351 million, for an average payment per resolved claim of $1,387. The
average payment per claim resolved during the year ended December 31, 2008 was $952. Because claims are
frequently filed and settled in large groups, the amount and timing of settlements, as well as the number of open
claims, can fluctuate significantly from period to period.

The table below provides additional information regarding asbestos-related claims filed against the legacy
Ingersoll Rand businesses, excluding those filed against Trane, reflecting updated information for the last three
years.

2006 2007 2008
Open claims - January 1 102,968 101,709 100,623
New claims filed 6,457 5,398 4,567
Claims settled (6,558) (5,005) (3,693)
Claims dismissed * (1,158) (1,479) (38,189)
Open claims - December 31 101,709 100,623 63,308

* The significant increase in dismissals in 2008 is attributed to the dismissal of large numbers of dormant and/or
inactive cases in Mississippi and New York. This amount reflects the Company’s emphasis on resolution of
higher value malignancy claims, particularly mesothelioma claims, rather than lower value non-malignancy
claims, which are more heavily represented in the Company’s historical settlements.

From receipt of the first asbestos claim more than twenty years ago through December 31, 2008, the Company
has resolved approximately 74,000 (by settlement or dismissal) claims arising from the legacy Trane business.
The Company and its insurance carriers have paid settlements of approximately $125.4 million on these claims,
which represents an average payment per resolved claim of $1,694. At December 31, 2008, there were 98,339
open claims pending against Trane. Because claims are frequently filed and settled in large groups, the amount
and timing of settlements, as well as the number of open claims, can fluctuate significantly from period to period.

The table below provides additional information regarding asbestos-related claims filed against the legacy Trane
businesses, reflecting updated information for the last three years.

2006 2007 2008
Open claims - January 1 113,730 104,570 105,023
New claims filed 4,440 3,019 3,626
Claims settled (848) (740) (600)
Claims dismissed (12,752) (1,826) (9,710)
Open claims - December 31 104,570 105,023 98,339
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At December 31, 2008, over 90 percent of the open claims against the Company are non-malignancy claims,
many of which have been placed on inactive or deferral dockets and the vast majority of which have little or no
settlement value against the Company, particularly in light of recent changes in the legal and judicial treatment of
such claims.

At December 31, 2008, the Company’s liability for asbestos related matters and the asset for probable asbestos-
related insurance recoveries totaled $1,195.2 million and $423.8 million, respectively, compared to $754.9
million and $249.8 million at December 31, 2007.

The (costs) income associated with the settlement and defense of asbestos related claims after insurance
recoveries were as follows:

December 31,

In millions 2008 2007
Continuing operations $ 1.5 $ -
Discontinued operations (5.9) (311.3)
Total $ (7.4 $ (311.3)

The Company records certain income and expenses associated with its asbestos liabilities and corresponding
insurance recoveries within discontinued operations, as they relate to previously divested businesses, primarily
Ingersoll-Dresser Pump, which was sold in 2000. Income and expenses associated with Trane’s asbestos
liabilities and corresponding insurance recoveries are recorded within continuing operations.

The European Commission Investigation

In November 2004, Trane was contacted by the European Commission as part of a multi-company investigation
into possible infringement of European Union competition law relating to the distribution of bathroom fixtures
and fittings in certain European countries. On March 28, 2007, Trane, along with a number of other companies,
received a Statement of Objections from the European Commission. The Statement of Objections, an
administrative complaint, alleges infringements of European Union competition rules by numerous bathroom
fixture and fittings companies, including Trane and certain of its European subsidiaries engaged in the Bath and
Kitchen business. Certain of these legal entities were transferred to WABCO as part of a legal reorganization in
connection with the spinoff of Trane’s Vehicle Control Systems business that occurred on July 31, 2007. Trane
and certain of its subsidiaries and, in light of that legal reorganization, certain of WABCO’s subsidiaries will be
jointly and severally liable for any fines that result from the investigation. However, pursuant to an
Indemnification and Cooperation Agreement among Trane and certain other parties (Indemnification
Agreement), American Standard Europe BVBA (renamed WABCO Europe BVBA) (WABCO Europe), which is
a subsidiary of WABCO following the reorganization, will be responsible for, and will indemnify Trane and its
subsidiaries (including certain subsidiaries formerly engaged in the Bath and Kitchen business) and their
respective affiliates against, any fines related to this investigation. Trane and the charged subsidiaries responded
to the European Commission on August 1, 2007 and July 31, 2007, respectively. A hearing with the European
Commission regarding the response to the Statement of Objections was conducted from November 12-14, 2007,
in Brussels. WABCO Europe and other former Trane subsidiaries participated in the hearing. Trane, however,
did not participate in the hearing.

In 2006, the European Commission adopted new fining guidelines (2006 Guidelines) and stated its intention to
apply these guidelines in all cases in which a Statement of Objections is issued after September 2006. In applying
the 2006 Guidelines, the Commission retains considerable discretion in calculating the fine although the
European Union regulations provide for a cap on the maximum fine equal to ten percent of Trane’s worldwide
revenue attributable to all of its products for the fiscal year prior to the year in which the fine is imposed. If the
maximum fine is levied in 2009, the total liability could be approximately $1.1 billion based on Trane’s last full
fiscal year of worldwide revenue, subject to a probable reduction for leniency of at least 20 percent provided
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WABCO Europe, as the leniency applicant, fulfilled all conditions set forth in the European Commission’s
leniency notice. WABCO has stated in its Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2008 that its ability
to satisfy its obligations under the Indemnification Agreement is contingent on its funding capability at the time
of the fine, which could be affected by, among other things, its ability to access its then existing credit facilities,
its ability to obtain alternative sources of financing, its ability to obtain some payment relief from the European
Commission or its ability to obtain a suspension of the payment obligation from the European Court of First
Instance.

Other Matters

As previously reported, on November 10, 2004, the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) issued an Order
directing that a number of public companies, including the Company, provide information relating to their
participation in transactions under the United Nations’ Oil for Food Program. Upon receipt of the Order, the
Company undertook a thorough review of its participation in the Oil for Food Program, provided the SEC with
information responsive to the Order and provided additional information requested by the SEC. During a
March 27, 2007 meeting with the SEC, at which a representative of the Department of Justice (DOJ) was also
present, the Company began discussions concerning the resolution of this matter with both the SEC and DOJ. On
October 31, 2007, the Company announced it had reached settlements with the SEC and DOJ relating to this
matter. Under the terms of the settlements, the Company paid a total of $6.7 million in penalties, interest and
disgorgement of profits. The Company has consented to the entry of a civil injunction in the SEC action and has
entered into a three-year deferred prosecution agreement (DPA) with the DOJ. Under both settlements, the
Company has implemented and will continue to implement improvements to its compliance program that are
consistent with its longstanding policy against improper payments. In the settlement documents, the Government
noted that the Company thoroughly cooperated with the investigation, that the Company had conducted its own
complete investigation of the conduct at issue, promptly and thoroughly reported its findings to them, and took
prompt remedial measures.

In a related matter, on July 10, 2007, representatives of the Italian Guardia di Finanza (Financial Police)
requested documents from Ingersoll-Rand Italiana S.p.A pertaining to certain Oil for Food transactions
undertaken by that subsidiary of the Company which resulted in charges being filed against that subsidiary. Such
transactions had previously been reported to the SEC and DOJ. At a December 12, 2008 hearing, all charges
against the subsidiary were dismissed.

Additionally, we have reported to the DOJ and SEC that we are currently investigating certain matters involving
Trane, including one relating to the Oil for Food Program, and which raise potential issues under the FCPA and
other applicable anti-corruption laws. We have indicated to the SEC and DOJ that we are conducting a thorough
investigation of these matters and that we would report back to them with our findings. The investigation of these
matters began in earnest promptly after our acquisition of Trane in June 2008 and is currently in progress.
Previously, we had reported to the SEC and DOJ potential FCPA issues relating to one of our businesses in
China, and we have reported back to them and shared our audit report, which indicated no FCPA violations.
These matters (and other matters which may arise or of which we become aware in the future) may be deemed to
violate the FCPA and other applicable anti-corruption laws. Such determinations could subject us to, among
other things, further enforcement actions by the SEC or the DOJ (if, for example, the DOJ deems us to have
violated the DPA), securities litigation and a general loss of investor confidence, any one of which could
adversely affect our business prospects and the market value of our stock.
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The following represents the changes in the Company’s product warranty liability for 2008 and 2007:

In millions 2008 2007
Balance at beginning of year $ 1469 $ 137.1
Reductions for payments (207.7) (68.5)
Accruals for warranties issued during the current period 246.7 80.1
Changes for accruals related to preexisting warranties (22.9) (7.8)
Acquisitions 483.3 -
Translation (5.6) 6.0
Balance at end of the year $ 6407 $ 1469

Certain office and warehouse facilities, transportation vehicles and data processing equipment are leased by the
Company. Total rental expense was $144.8 million in 2008, $72.2 million in 2007 and $68.2 million in 2006.
Minimum lease payments required under non-cancelable operating leases with terms in excess of one year for the
next five years and thereafter, are as follows: $169.9 million in 2009, $130.8 million in 2010, $102.3 million in
2011, $77.7 million in 2012, $64.3 million in 2013 and $102.5 million thereafter.

Trane has commitments and performance guarantees, including energy savings guarantees, totaling $108.4
million extending from 2008-2028. These guarantees are provided under long-term service and maintenance
contracts related to its air conditioning equipment and system controls. Through 2008, the Company has
experienced one insignificant loss under such arrangements and considers the probability of any significant
future losses to be remote.

The Company also has other contingent liabilities of $5.1 million. These liabilities primarily result from
performance bonds, guarantees and stand-by letters of credit associated with the prior sale of products from
divested businesses.

As part of the reorganization of IR-New Jersey in 2001, IR-Limited has fully and unconditionally guaranteed
payment of all of IR-New Jersey’s issued public debt securities. No other subsidiary of ours guarantees these
securities.

IR-New Jersey has unconditionally guaranteed payment of the principal, premium, if any, and interest on our
4.75% Senior Notes due in 2015 in aggregate principal amount of $300 million. The guarantee is unsecured and
provided on an unsubordinated basis. The guarantee ranks equally in right of payment with all of the existing and
future unsecured and unsubordinated debt of IR-New Jersey.

Public debt securities issued by IR Global Holding Company Limited are fully and unconditionally guaranteed
by IR-Limited. No other subsidiary of ours guarantees these securities.

NOTE 23 - FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Effective January 1, 2008, the Company adopted SFAS No. 157, “Fair Value Measurements,” (SFAS 157).
SFAS 157 establishes a framework for measuring fair value that is based on the inputs market participants use to
determine the fair value of an asset or liability and establishes a fair value hierarchy to prioritize those inputs.
The fair value hierarchy outlined in SFAS 157 is comprised of three levels that are described below:

e Level 1 — Inputs based on quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

e Level 2 — Inputs other than Level 1 quoted prices, such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities;
quoted prices in markets that are not active; or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated
by observable market data for substantially the full term of the asset or liability.

e Level 3 — Unobservable inputs based on little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair
value of the assets and liabilities.
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The fair value hierarchy requires an entity to maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of
unobservable inputs when measuring fair value. Observable inputs are obtained from independent sources and
can be validated by a third party, whereas unobservable inputs reflect assumptions regarding what a third party
would use in pricing an asset or liability based on the best information available under the circumstances. A
financial instrument’s categorization within the fair value hierarchy is based upon the lowest level of input that is
significant to the fair value measurement.

Effective February 12, 2008, the Company adopted FASB Staff Position SFAS 157-2, “Effective Date of FASB
Statement No. 157,” which defers the application date of the provisions of SFAS 157 for all nonfinancial assets
and liabilities except for items that are recognized or disclosed at fair value in the financial statements on a
recurring basis. Due to the deferral, the Company has delayed its implementation of the SFAS 157 provisions on
the fair value of goodwill, indefinite-lived intangible assets and nonfinancial long-lived assets.

Assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis at December 31, 2008 are as follows:

Fair value measurements Total
In millions Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Fair value
Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 5502 $ - $ - $ 550.2
Marketable securities 6.5 - - 6.5
Derivative instruments - 25.9 - 25.9
Securitization - - 83.6 83.6
Benefit trust assets 24.1 131.1 - 155.2
Total $ 580.8 $ 157.0 $ 83.6 $ 8214
Liabilities:
Derivative instruments $ - $  56.7 $ - $ 56.7
Benefit liabilities 21.5 175.4 - 196.9
Total $ 215 $ 2321 $ - $ 253.6

SFAS 157 defines fair value as the exchange price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a
liability (an exit price) in the principal or most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants on the measurement date. The Company determines the fair value of its
financial assets and liabilities using the following methodologies:

e Cash and cash equivalents — These amounts include cash on hand, demand deposits and all highly
liquid investments with original maturities at the time of purchase of three months or less and are held
in U.S and non-U.S. currencies.

*  Marketable securities — These securities include investments in publically traded stock of non-U.S.
companies held by non-U.S. subsidiaries of the Company. The fair value is obtained for the securities
based on observable market prices quoted on public stock exchanges.

e Derivatives instruments — These instruments include forward contracts related to non-U.S. currencies,
commodities and a cross-currency swap of foreign denominated debt. The fair value of the derivative
instruments are determined based on a pricing model that uses inputs from actively quoted currency
and commodity markets that are readily accessible and observable.

* Benefit trust assets — These assets include money market funds and insurance contracts that are the

underlying for the benefit assets. The fair value of the assets is based on observable market prices
quoted in a readily accessible and observable market.
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e Securitization — This asset is the interest the Company retains in receivables sold into a special purpose
entity. The fair value of the asset is based on a model that requires unobservable inputs.

* Benefit liabilities — These liabilities include deferred compensation and executive death benefits. The
fair value is based on the underlying investment portfolio of the deferred compensation and the specific
benefits guaranteed in a death benefit contract with each executive.

Effective January 1, 2008, the Company also adopted SFAS No. 159, “The Fair Value Option for Financial
Assets and Financial Liabilities — Including an amendment of FASB Statement No. 115,” (SFAS 159). SFAS 159
allows the Company the irrevocable option, at specified election dates, to measure financial assets and liabilities
at their current fair value, with the corresponding changes in fair value from period to period recognized in the
income statement. As of December 31, 2008, the Company has not elected to utilize the fair value option on any
of its financial assets or liabilities.

NOTE 24 - BUSINESS SEGMENT INFORMATION

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same as those described in the summary of significant
accounting policies except that the operating segments’ results are prepared on a management basis that is
consistent with the manner in which the Company disaggregates financial information for internal review and
decision making. The Company largely evaluates performance based on operating income and operating margins.
Intercompany sales between segments are considered immaterial.

The Company has divested various businesses over the past few years as it moves to being a leading global
diversified industrial enterprise. During 2007, the Company sold its Bobcat, Utility Equipment and Attachments
business units as well as its Road Development business unit. Segment information for all years has been revised
to exclude the results of these divestitures.

Each reportable segment is based primarily on the types of products it generates. The operating segments have
been aggregated as required by SFAS No. 131, “Disclosures About Segments of an Enterprise and Related
Information.” A description of the Company’s reportable segments is as follows:

The Air Conditioning Systems and Service segment provides heating, ventilation and air conditioning (HVAC)
systems that enhance the quality and comfort of the air in homes and buildings around the world. It offers
customers a broad range of energy-efficient HVAC systems, dehumidifying and air cleaning products, service
and parts support, advanced building controls as well as financing solutions under the American Standard
Heating and Air Conditioning and Trane brands. These brands have leading positions in commercial, residential,
institutional and industrial markets.

The Climate Control Technologies segment provides equipment and services to manage controlled-temperature
environments for food and other perishables throughout the world. Encompassing the transport and stationary
refrigeration markets, this segment offers customers a broad range of products and solutions such as refrigerated
display merchandisers, beverage coolers, auxiliary power units, walk-in storage coolers and freezers and
transport temperature control units. This segment includes the market leading brands of Hussmann and Thermo
King.

The Industrial Technologies segment provides products, services and solutions that enhance energy efficiency,
productivity and operations. It offers our global customers a diverse and innovative range of products including
compressed air systems, tools, pumps, fluid handling systems, golf and utility vehicles in addition to
environmentally friendly micro turbines. This segment includes the Club Car and Ingersoll Rand market leading
brands.

The Security Technologies segment is a leading global provider of products and services that make environments
safe, secure and productive. The segment’s market-leading products include electronic and biometric access
control systems, locks and locksets, door closers, floor closers, exit devices, steel doors and frames, portable
security devices, decorative hardware, cabinet hardware as well as time, attendance and personnel scheduling
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systems. These products serve a wide range of markets including the commercial and residential housing market,
healthcare, retail, maritime, transport industries as well as educational and governmental facilities. This segment
includes the CISA, LCN, Schlage and Von Duprin brands.

A summary of operations by reportable segments for the years ended December 31, were as follows:

Dollar amounts in millions 2008 2007 2006
Air Conditioning Systems and Services

Revenues $ 44013 $ - $ -
Operating income (loss) (3,145.7) - -
Operating income as a percentage of revenues -71.5% - -
Depreciation and amortization 275.6 - -
Capital expenditures 112.5 - -
Climate Control Technologies

Revenues 3,356.8 3,372.4 3,171.0
Operating income 278.9 382.6 356.0
Operating income as a percentage of revenues 8.3% 11.3% 11.2%
Depreciation and amortization 49.6 48.9 52.1
Capital expenditures 64.8 38.9 25.6
Industrial Technologies

Revenues 2,938.3 2,877.1 2,577.7
Operating income 353.7 392.0 351.8
Operating income as a percentage of revenues 12.0% 13.6% 13.6%
Depreciation and amortization 41.6 36.2 324
Capital expenditures 52.9 41.2 55.6
Security Technologies

Revenues 2,531.0 2,513.6 2,285.0
Operating income 100.4 433.5 400.2
Operating income as a percentage of revenues 4.0% 17.2% 17.5%
Depreciation and amortization 47.5 46.6 42.6
Capital expenditures 54.7 34.4 43.6
Total revenues $ 132274 $ 8,763.1 $ 8,033.7
Operating income (loss) from reportable segments (2,412.7) 1,208.1 1,108.0
Unallocated corporate expense (161.1) (150.3) (109.5)
Total operating income (10ss) $ 25738 $ 1,057.8 $  998.5
Total operating income (loss) as a percentage of revenues -19.5% 12.1% 12.4%
Depreciation and amortization from reportable segments 414.3 131.7 127.1
Unallocated depreciation and amortization 38.8 7.1 21.7
Total depreciation and amortization $ 453.1 $ 1388 $ 1488
Capital expenditures from reportable segments 284.9 114.5 124.8
Corporate capital expenditures 21.1 5.2 20.0
Total capital expenditures $ 306.0 $ 1197 $ 1448
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Revenues by destination and long-lived assets by geographic area for the years ended December 31 were as
follows:

In millions 2008 2007 2006
Revenues

United States $ 17,7094 $ 4,756.0 $ 4,570.9
Non-U.S. 5,518.0 4,007.1 3,462.8
Total $ 13,2274 $ 8,763.1 $ 8,033.7
In millions 2008 2007

Long-lived assets

United States $ 3,706.3 $ 820.5

Non-U.S. 753.9 639.6

Total $ 44602 $ 1,460.1

NOTE 25 - GUARANTOR FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Ingersoll-Rand Company Limited, a Bermuda company (IR-Limited) is the successor to Ingersoll-Rand
Company, a New Jersey corporation (IR-New Jersey), following a corporate reorganization (the reorganization)
that became effective on December 31, 2001. The reorganization was accomplished through a merger of a newly
formed subsidiary of IR-Limited. IR-Limited and its subsidiaries continue to conduct the businesses previously
conducted by IR-New Jersey and its subsidiaries. The reorganization has been accounted for as a reorganization
of entities under common control and accordingly, did not result in any changes to the consolidated amounts of
assets, liabilities and shareholders’ equity.

As part of the reorganization, IR-Limited guaranteed all of the issued public debt securities of IR-New Jersey.
The subsidiary issuer, IR-New Jersey, is 100% owned by the parent, IR-Limited, the guarantees are full and
unconditional, and no other subsidiary of the Company guarantees the securities.

IR-Limited issued Class B common shares to IR-New Jersey in exchange for a $3.6 billion note and shares of
certain IR-New Jersey subsidiaries. The note, which is due in 2011, has a fixed rate of interest of 11% per annum
payable semi-annually and imposes certain restrictive covenants upon IR-New Jersey. At December 31, 2008,
$1.0 billion of the original $3.6 billion note remains outstanding. The Class B common shares are non-voting and
pay dividends comparable to the Class A common shares. In 2002, IR-Limited contributed the note to a wholly
owned subsidiary, which subsequently transferred portions of the note to several other subsidiaries, all of which
are included in the “Other Subsidiaries” below. Accordingly, the subsidiaries of IR-Limited remain creditors of
IR-New Jersey.

IR-New Jersey has unconditionally guaranteed payment of the principal, premium, if any, and interest on the
Company’s 4.75% Senior Notes due in 2015 in the aggregate principal amount of $300 million. The guarantee is
unsecured and provided on an unsubordinated basis. The guarantee ranks equally in right of payment with all of
the existing and future unsecured and unsubordinated debt of IR-New Jersey.

The Company has revised the guarantor financial statements for all periods presented in order to reflect Ingersoll-
Rand Global Holding Company Limited (IR Global Holding) as a stand-alone subsidiary. IR Global Holding, a
100% owned subsidiary of IR-Limited, issued public debt that is guaranteed by IR-Limited. As part of the
process to revise the condensed financial statements, the Company noted errors within the consolidation process
of the subsidiaries. Total consolidated results were not impacted by these revisions; however, certain amounts
reported within the IR-New Jersey and Other Subsidiary columns have been corrected. The Company determined
that these errors were immaterial to the Company’s financial statements. All periods have been revised in the
current presentation.
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The condensed consolidating financial statements present IR-Limited, IR Global Holding and IR-New Jersey
investments in their subsidiaries using the equity method of accounting. Intercompany investments in the
non-voting Class B common shares are accounted for on the cost method and are reduced by intercompany
dividends. In accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, the amounts related to the issuance of
the Class B shares have been presented as contra accounts and included within Other Shareholders’ Equity since
the Class B issuance on December 31, 2001. The notes payable continue to be reflected as a liability on the
balance sheet of IR-New Jersey and are enforceable in accordance with their terms.

See Note 12 and 22 for a further discussion on the public debt issuance and related guarantees.

The following condensed consolidated financial information for IR-Limited, IR Global Holding, IR-New Jersey,
and all their other subsidiaries is included so that separate financial statements of IR Global Holding and IR-New
Jersey are not required to be filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission.

Condensed Consolidating Income Statement
For the year ended December 31, 2008

IR IR Global IR Other Consolidating IR Limited

In millions Limited Holding New Jersey Subsidiaries Adjustments Consolidated
Net revenues $ — $ — $ 898.5 $12,328.9 $ — $13,227.4
Cost of goods

sold — — (664.3) (9,083.8) — (9,748.1)
Selling and

administrative

expenses 41.7) 0.5) (292.0) (2,008.9) — (2,343.1)
Asset

impairment — — — (3,710.0) — (3,710.0)
Operating (loss)

income 41.7) 0.5) (57.8) (2,473.8) — (2,573.8)
Equity earnings

in affiliates

(net of tax) (2,459.4) (1,257.3) 118.6 (279.5) 3,877.6 —
Interest expense (15.5) (108.9) (73.2) (47.8) — (245.4)
Intercompany

interest and

fees (95.8) (168.2) (353.9) 617.9 — —
Other, net (17.1) 26.9 102.9 (69.5) — 43.2
Earnings (loss)

before income

taxes (2,629.5) (1,508.0) (263.4) (2,252.7) 3,877.6 (2,776.0)
Benefit

(provision) for

income taxes — (0.6) 67.4 141.8 — 208.6
Earnings (loss)

from

continuing

operations (2,629.5) (1,508.6) (196.0) (2,110.9) 3,877.6 (2,567.4)
Discontinued

operations,

net of tax 4.7 — (83.5) 214 — (57.4)
Net earnings

(loss) $(2,624.8)  $(1,508.6) $(279.5) $(2,089.5) $3,877.6 $(2,624.8)
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Condensed Consolidating Income Statement

For the year ended December 31, 2007

IR IR Global

In millions Limited Holding

IR
New Jersey

Other
Subsidiaries

Consolidating
Adjustments

IR Limited
Consolidated

Net revenues $ - $ -
Cost of goods

sold - -
Selling and

administrative

expenses

(32.7) (0.6)

$ 9119

(629.2)

(302.3)

$ 7.851.2

(5,642.8)

(1,097.7)

$ -

$ 8,763.1

(6,272.0)

(1,433.3)

Operating
(loss)
income

Equity
earnings in
affiliates
(net of tax)

Interest
expense

Intercompany
interest and
fees

Other, net

(32.7) (0.6)

4,038.4 3,234.2
(39.8) -

(53.8) (155.4)
54.6 2.9

(19.6)

873.1

(69.9)

(684.0)
71.4

1,110.7

765.2

(26.5)

893.2
(113.0)

(8,910.9)

1,057.8

(136.2)

15.9

Earnings
(loss)
before
income
taxes

Benefit
(provision)
for income
taxes - -

3,966.7 3,081.1

171.0

167.8

2,629.6

(372.2)

(8,910.9)

937.5

(204.4)

Earnings
(loss) from
continuing
operations

Discontinued
operations,
net of tax

3,966.7 3,081.1

338.8

426.4

2,257.4

2,807.2

(8,910.9)

733.1

3,233.6

Net earnings

(loss) $ 3,966.7 $ 3,081.1

$§ 7652

$ 5,064.6

$ (8,910.9)

$ 3,966.7

F-53



Condensed Consolidating Income Statement
For the year ended December 31, 2006

IR IR Global IR

In millions Limited Holding New Jersey

Other
Subsidiaries

Consolidating
Adjustments

IR Limited
Consolidated

Net revenues $ - 8 - $ 9220
Cost of goods

sold - -
Selling and

administrative

expenses

(658.7)

(16.3) (0.9) (252.3)

$ 71117

(5,109.7)

(997.3)

$ -

$ 8,033.7

(5,768.4)

(1,266.8)

Operating
(loss)
income

Equity
earnings in
affiliates
(net of tax)

Interest
expense

Intercompany
interest and
fees (32.9) (76.0)

Other, net 54.4 1.9

(16.3) 0.9 11.0

1,057.6 889.0 4109

(30.3) - (77.6)

(644.2)
64.2

1,004.7

(37.3)

(25.7)

753.1
(127.8)

(2,320.2)

998.5

(133.6)

(7.3)

Earnings (loss)
before
income
taxes

Benefit
(provision)
for income
taxes - -

1,032.5 814.0 (235.7)

192.1

1,567.0

(284.7)

(2,320.2)

857.6

(92.6)

Earnings (loss)
from
continuing
operations

Discontinued
operations,
net of tax - - 6.3

1,032.5 814.0 (43.6)

1,282.3

261.2

(2,320.2)

765.0

267.5

Net earnings

(loss) $ 10325 $ 8140 $ (37.3)

$ 11,5435

$ (2,320.2)

$ 1,032.5

F-54



Condensed Consolidating Balance Sheet

December 31, 2008
IR IR Global IR Other Consolidating IR Limited
In millions Limited Holding New Jersey  Subsidiaries  Adjustments Consolidated
Current assets:
Cash and cash
equivalents $ - $ 1.1 $ 8.6 $ 5405 $ - $ 5502
Accounts and notes
receivable, net - - 224.7 2,203.8 - 2,428.5
Inventories - - 71.4 1,543.7 - 1,615.1
Other current assets 5.0 3.3 166.5 631.1 - 805.9
Accounts and notes
receivable affiliates 433.1 1,911.5 4,367.1 36,804.3 (43,516.0) -
Total current assets 438.1 1,915.9 4,838.3 41,7234 (43,516.0) 5,399.7
Investment in affiliates 10,093.7 12,3374 7,420.0 65,156.2 (95,007.3) -
Property, plant and
equipment, net - - 161.9 1,806.6 - 1,968.5
Intangible assets, net - - 72.6 11,761.6 - 11,834.2
Other noncurrent assets (3.0) 12.1 742.3 970.7 - 1,722.1
Total assets $10,528.8 $14,265.4 $13,235.1 $121,418.5 $(138,523.3) $20,924.5
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and
accruals $ 0.5 $ 37.4 $ 194.0 $ 2,929.1 $ - $ 3,161.0
Short-term borrowings
and current maturities
of long-term debt - 1,752.7 353.2 244.5 - 2,350.4
Accounts and note
payable affiliates 3,409.7 5,230.6 5,526.5 29,349.2 (43,516.0) -
Total current
liabilities 3,410.2 7,020.7 6,073.7 32,522.8 (43,516.0) 5,511.4
Long-term debt 299.2 1,598.7 395.7 480.1 - 2,773.7
Note payable affiliate - - 1,047.4 - (1,047.4) -
Other noncurrent
liabilities 158.0 2.9 2,194.4 3,622.7 - 5,978.0
Total liabilities 3,867.4 8,622.3 9,711.2 36,625.6 (44,563.4) 14,263.1
Shareholders’ equity:
Class A common shares 370.9 (52.1) - - - 318.8
Class B common shares 197.2 - - - (197.2) -
Other shareholders’
equity 8,930.7 5,645.0 4,446.0 87,278.2 (99,506.5) 6,793.4
Accumulated other
comprehensive
income (loss) (129.3) 50.2 (523.3) (176.2) 327.8 (450.8)
9,369.5 5,643.1 3,922.7 87,102.0 (99,375.9) 6,601.4
Less: Contra account (2,708.1) - (398.8) (2,309.1) 5,416.0 -
Total shareholders’
equity 6,661.4 5,643.1 3,523.9 84,792.9 (93,959.9) 6,601.4
Total liabilities and
equity $10,528.8 $14,265.4 $13,235.1 $121,418.5 $(138,523.3) $20,924.5
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Condensed Consolidating Balance Sheet

December 31, 2007

IR IR Global IR Other Consolidating IR Limited
In millions Limited Holding New Jersey  Subsidiaries  Adjustments  Consolidated
Current assets:
Cash and cash
equivalents $ 06 $ 19791 $ 5454 $ 222102 $ - $ 47353
Accounts and notes
receivable 0.4 - 263.8 1,396.5 - 1,660.7
Inventories - - 76.4 750.8 - 827.2
Other current assets - 0.2 136.7 340.6 - 477.5
Accounts and notes
receivable affiliates 252.6 916.2 5,150.6 33,482.0 (39,801.4) -
Total current assets 253.6 2,895.5 6,172.9 38,180.1 (39,801.4) 7,700.7
Investment in affiliates 9,795.0 8,050.3 9,487.9 38,083.3 (65,416.5) -
Property, plant and
equipment, net - - 151.1 753.8 - 904.9
Intangible assets, net - - 72.5 4,645.4 - 4,717.9
Other assets 1.5 - 704.5 346.7 - 1,052.7
Total assets $ 10,050.1 $ 10,9458 $ 16,5889 $ 82,009.3 $ (1052179 $ 14,376.2
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and
accruals $ 69 §$ 46 $ 527.1 $ 1,956.1 $ - $  2,494.7
Short-term borrowings
and current maturities
of long-term debt - - 555.4 185.6 - 741.0
Accounts and note
payable affiliates 1,639.1 5,779.7 7,001.7 25,380.9 (39,801.4) -
Total current
liabilities 1,646.0 5,784.3 8,084.2 27,522.6 (39,801.4) 3,235.7
Long-term debt 299.1 - 403.2 10.4 - 712.7
Note payable affiliate - - 2,097.4 - (2,097.4) -
Other liabilities 197.1 0.4 1,916.4 406.0 - 2,519.9
Total liabilities 2,142.2 5,784.7 12,501.2 27,939.0 (41,898.8) 6,468.3
Shareholders’ equity:
Class A common shares 370.0 97.4) - - - 272.6
Class B common shares 270.6 - - - (270.6) -
Other shareholders’
equity 11,046.9 5,115.6 4,900.3 57,564.7 (71,238.7) 7,388.8
Accumulated other
comprehensive
income (loss) 567.9 52.8 (397.4) 527.8 (504.6) 246.5
12,2554 5,071.0 4,502.9 58,092.5 (72,013.9) 7,907.9
Less: Contra account (4,347.5) 90.1 (415.2) (4,022.2) 8,694.8 -
Total shareholders’
equity 7,907.9 5,161.1 4,087.7 54,070.3 (63,319.1) 7,907.9
Total liabilities and
equity $ 10,050.1 $ 109458 $ 16,588.9 $ 82,009.3 $ (1052179 § 14,376.2
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Condensed Consolidating Statement of Cash Flows

For the year ended December 31, 2008

IR IR Global IR Other IR Limited

In millions Limited Holding New Jersey  Subsidiaries ~ Consolidated
Net cash (used in) provided by

continuing operating activities $ (742) $ (82.4) $(708.3) $1,221.7 $ 356.8
Net cash (used in) provided by

discontinued operating activities — — (2.6) (23.3) (25.9)
Cash flows from investing activities:
Capital expenditures — — (31.0) (275.0) (306.0)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant

and equipment — — (8.4) 85.8 77.4
Acquisitions, net of cash — — — (7,107.3) (7,107.3)
Proceeds from business dispositions — — 21.7 31.2 52.9
Proceeds from the sale of marketable

securities — — 8.0 0.2) 7.8
Other — — (7.9) (23.3) (31.2)
Net cash (used in) provided by

continuing investing activities — — (17.6) (7,288.8) (7,306.4)
Net cash (used in) provided by

discontinued investing activities — — — — —
Cash flows from financing activities:
Net proceeds (repayments) in debt — 3,351.4 (209.7) (157.3) 2,984 .4
Debt issue costs — (23.0) — — (23.0)
Net inter-company (payments)

proceeds 516.6 (5,275.8) 365.5 4,393.7 —
Proceeds from the exercise of stock

options 18.5 — — — 18.5
Excess tax benefit from share-based

compensation — — 19.5 (6.4) 13.1
Dividends (paid) received (461.5) 53.8 16.4 178.4 (212.9)
Repurchase of common shares by

subsidiary — (2.0) — — (2.0)
Net cash (used in) provided by

continuing financing activities 73.6 (1,895.6) 191.7 4,408.4 2,778.1
Net cash (used in) provided by

discontinued financing activities — — — — —
Effect of exchange rate changes on

cash and cash equivalents — — — 12.3 12.3
Net (decrease) increase in cash and

cash equivalents 0.6) (1,978.0) (536.8) (1,669.7) (4,185.1)
Cash and cash equivalents - beginning

of period 0.6 1,979.1 545.4 2,210.2 4,735.3
Cash and cash equivalents - end of

period § — $ 1.1 $ 8.6 $ 5405 $ 5502
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Condensed Consolidating Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended December 31, 2007

IR IR Global IR Other IR Limited

In millions Limited Holding New Jersey  Subsidiaries  Consolidated
Net cash (used in) provided by

continuing operating activities ~ $ (100.0) $ - $ @4578) $ 1,387.7 $ 829.9
Net cash (used in) provided by

discontinued operating activities - - (37.0) 103.2 66.2
Cash flows from investing

activities:
Capital expenditures - - (24.7) (95.0) (119.7)
Proceeds from sale of property,

plant and equipment - - 4.6 9.6 14.2
Acquisitions, net of cash - - 0.6) (25.1) (25.7)
Proceeds from business

dispositions - - 3,076.7 3,077.6 6,154.3
Proceeds from the sale of

marketable securities - - - 0.7 0.7
Other - - (0.3) 28.9 28.6
Net cash (used in) provided by

continuing investing activities - - 3,055.7 2,996.7 6,052.4
Net cash (used in) provided by

discontinued investing activities - - 4.7) (53.0) (57.7)
Cash flows from financing

activities:
Net proceeds (repayments) in debt (378.0) - (49.4) (122.3) (549.7)
Net inter-company (payments)

proceeds 776.2 3,924.1 (2,088.6) (2,611.7) -
Proceeds from the exercise of stock

options 160.2 - - - 160.2
Excess tax benefit from share-

based compensation - - 29.1 7.0 36.1
Dividends (paid) received (459.5) 54.9 16.4 178.4 (209.8)
Repurchase of common shares by

subsidiary - (1,999.9) - - (1,999.9)
Net cash (used in) provided by

continuing financing activities 98.9 1,979.1 (2,092.5) (2,548.6) (2,563.1)
Net cash (used in) provided by

discontinued financing activities - - - - -
Effect of exchange rate changes on

cash and cash equivalents - - - 51.8 51.8
Net (decrease) increase in cash and

cash equivalents (1.1) 1,979.1 463.7 1,937.8 4,379.5
Cash and cash equivalents -

beginning of period 1.7 - 81.7 272.4 355.8
Cash and cash equivalents - end of

period $ 06 $1,979.1 $ 5454 $ 2210.2 $ 47353
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Condensed Consolidating Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended December 31, 2006

IR IR Global IR Other IR Limited

In millions Limited Holding New Jersey  Subsidiaries Consolidated
Net cash (used in) provided by

continuing operating activities $ (©74) % - $ (833) $ 963.8 $ 8131
Net cash (used in) provided by

discontinued operating activities - - 173.4 (31.7) 141.7
Cash flows from investing activities:
Capital expenditures - - (43.8) (101.0) (144.8)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant

and equipment - - 0.9 8.7 9.6
Acquisitions, net of cash - - (11.8) (37.9) 49.7)
Proceeds from business dispositions - - - - -
Proceeds from the sale of marketable

securities - 151.4 - 4.4 155.8
Other - - - 0.4 0.4
Net cash (used in) provided by

continuing investing activities - 151.4 (54.7) (125.4) (28.7)
Net cash (used in) provided by

discontinued investing activities - - (8.7) (123.8) (132.5)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Net proceeds (repayments) in debt 379.1 - (499.7) (19.9) (140.5)
Net inter-company (payments)

proceeds (7.3) 847.0 323.1 (1,162.8) -
Proceeds from the exercise of stock

options 95.7 - - - 95.7
Excess tax benefit from stock-based

compensation - - 8.9 6.6 15.5
Dividends (paid) received (423.9) 22.3 15.6 168.4 (217.6)
Repurchase of common shares by

subsidiary - (1,096.3) - - (1,096.3)
Net cash (used in) provided by

continuing financing activities 43.6 (227.0) (152.1) (1,007.7) (1,343.2)
Net cash (used in) provided by

discontinued financing activities - - - - -
Effect of exchange rate changes on

cash and cash equivalents - - - 29.4 29.4
Net (decrease) increase in cash and

cash equivalents (23.8) (75.6) (125.4) (295.4) (520.2)
Cash and cash equivalents - beginning

of period 25.5 75.6 207.1 567.8 876.0
Cash and cash equivalents - end of

period $ 1.7 °$ - $ 817 $ 2724 $ 3558
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SCHEDULE II

INGERSOLL-RAND COMPANY LIMITED
VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2008, 2007 AND 2006
(Amounts in millions)

Allowances for Doubtful Accounts:

Balance December 31, 2005 $ 283
Net reductions in costs and expenses (11.4)
Deductions * (11.4)
Business acquisitions and divestitures, net 1.4
Currency translation 1.4

Balance December 31, 2006 8.3
Additions charged to costs and expenses 9.8
Deductions * (7.2)
Business acquisitions and divestitures, net 0.4
Currency translation 0.9

Balance December 31, 2007 12.2
Additions charged to costs and expenses 15.1
Deductions * (15.6)
Business acquisitions and divestitures, net 43.6
Currency translation “4.1)

Balance December 31, 2008 $ 512

(*) “Deductions” include accounts and advances written off, less recoveries.
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SCHEDULE 11
INGERSOLL-RAND COMPANY LIMITED
VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2008, 2007 AND 2006
(Amounts in millions)
Reserve for LIFO:

Balance December 31, 2005

$ 779
Additions 19.7
Reductions 2.2)
Balance December 31, 2006 954
Additions -
Reductions (11.1)
Balance December 31, 2007 84.3
Additions 384
Reductions 9.2)
Balance December 31, 2008 $ 1135
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Information for Shareholders

Directors

Ann C. Berzin
Former Chairman and Chief Executive Officer,
Financial Guaranty Insurance Company.

Jared L. Cohon
President, Carnegie Mellon University.

Gary D. Forsee
President, University of Missouri System.

Peter C. Godsoe
Retired Chairman, The Bank of Nova Scotia.

Edward E. Hagenlocker
Retired Vice Chairman of Ford Motor Company.

Herbert L. Henkel
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
of the Company.

Constance J. Horner
Former Deputy Secretary, U.S. Department
of Health and Human Services.

H. William Lichtenberger
Retired Chairman and Chief Executive Officer,
Praxair, Inc.

Theodore E. Martin
Retired President and Chief Executive Officer,
Barnes Group Inc.

Patricia Nachtigal
Senior Vice President and General
Counsel of the Company.

Orin R. Smith
Retired Chairman and Chief Executive Officer,
Engelhard Corporation.

Richard J. Swift
Retired Chairman and Chief Executive Officer,
Foster Wheeler Ltd.

Tony L. White
Retired Chairman, President and Chief
Executive Officer, Applied Biosystems Inc.

© Mixed Sources

Product group from well-managed
forests, controlled sources and
recycled wood or fiber

FSC www.fsc.org Cert no. SCS-COC-00648
© 1996 Forest Stewardship Council

Committees of the Board

Audit

R. J. Swift, Chair; A.C. Berzin,

P. C. Godsoe, E. E. Hagenlocker,
H. W. Lichtenberger, T. E. Martin.

Finance

H. W. Lichtenberger, Chair; A.C. Berzin,
P. C. Godsoe, E. E. Hagenlocker,

T. E. Martin, R. J. Swift.

Compensation
0. R. Smith, Chair; J. L. Cohon,
G. D. Forsee, C. J. Horner, T. L. White.

Corporate Governance

and Nominating

G. D. Forsee, Chair; J. L. Cohon,

C. J. Horner, O. R. Smith, T. L. White.

Senior Executive Team

Herbert L. Henkel*
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Michael W. Lamach*
President and Chief Operating Officer

Marcia J. Avedon
Senior Vice President

James R. Bolch
Senior Vice President

William B. Gauld
Senior Vice President

Steven B. Hochhauser
Senior Vice President

Patricia Nachtigal*
Senior Vice President and
General Counsel

David R. Pannier

Senior Vice President

Steven R. Shawley*
Senior Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer
Didier Teirlinck

Senior Vice President

David Kuhl
Vice President and Treasurer

Lawrence R. Kurland
Vice President

Richard W. Randall
Vice President

Barbara A. Santoro*
Vice President, Corporate
Governance and Secretary

Edward Schlesinger
Vice President

Patrick S. Shannon
Vice President

Jeff Zhenning Song
Vice President

John D. Soriano
Vice President

Richard J. Weller*
Vice President and Corporate Controller

*Officer of Ingersoll-Rand Company Limited

Corporate Data

Shareholder Information Services

The company’s 2008 annual report on Form 10-K as filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission, and other company
information, is available through Ingersoll Rand’s website,
www.ingersollrand.com. Securities analysts, portfolio managers
and representatives of institutional investors seeking information
about the company should contact:

Joseph P. Fimbianti
Director, Investor Relations
732-652-6718

Dividend Reinvestment and Cash Payment Plan
Shareholders may wish to take advantage of our automatic
dividend reinvestment and cash payment plan. The plan allows
for full or partial dividend reinvestment, and additional cash
investments up to $120,000 per year, in Ingersoll Rand Class A
common shares for a fee of $0.10 per share, which includes
brokerage fees and commissions. If you are interested in joining
the plan and need an authorization form or more background
information, write to the Secretary in care of Ingersoll-Rand
Company, One Centennial Avenue, Piscataway, NJ 08855,

or call The Bank of New York at 800.524.4458.

Annual General Meeting
June 3, 2009, 2:30 pm

Crowne Plaza Dublin-Northwood
Northwood Park

Santry Demesne, Santry

Dublin 9, Ireland

Stock Exchange
New York

NYSE

Transfer Agent, Registrar and

Dividend Reinvestment Agent

The Bank of New York Mellon

Telephone inquiries: 800.524.4458

Web site: www.bnymellon.com/shareowner/isd

Address shareholder inquiries to:

Shareholder Relations Department—11E
P.O. Box 11258

Church Street Station

New York, NY 10286-1258

Send certificates for transfers and address changes to:

Receive and Deliver Department—11W
P.O. Box 11002

Church Street Station

New York, NY 10286-1002

’B Ingersoll Rand

Inspiring Progress™



@ Ingersoll Rand

Inspiring Progress™

Ingersoll Rand is a global diversified firm providing products, services and solutions to enhance
the quality and comfort of air in homes and buildings, transport and protect food and perishables,
secure homes and commercial properties, and increase industrial productivity and efficiency.
Driven by a 100-year-old tradition of technological innovation, we enable our customers to

create progress and a positive impact in their world.

ingersollrand.com

© 2009 Ingersoll-Rand Company
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